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the Civil War until today.
To our family.
"I am to speak to you tonight of the civil war, by which this vast country—this continent is convulsed. The fate of the greatest of all Republics trembles in the balance... The lesson of the hour is written down in characters of blood and fire."
—Frederick Douglass
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In the early April dusk of 1866, nearing the first anniversary of Abraham Lincoln's assassination, a large Springfield crowd filed into Representatives Hall of the imposing Illinois State Capitol building. In this great gallery a year earlier the president's rapidly blackening body had lain in state, with thousands of his fellow townspeople filing by to say goodbye. A few could still recall the day twenty-eight years earlier that the gangly young lawyer had ridden into town.
They were gathering on the anniversary to hear a lecture titled "The Assassination and Its Consequences," and it brought back more than just memories of Lincoln's funeral. In this vast room Lincoln had accepted the 1858 Republican Senate nomination, delivering his controversial "House Divided" speech; though losing that contest to his longtime rival Stephen Douglas, the obscure lawyer found himself unexpectedly propelled to the presidency. In this stately stone building, Lincoln had appeared over two hundred times before the state supreme court; had meticulously researched in the law library his Cooper Union speech; and had gone each evening to a relaxed men's club for political talk, tales, and conviviality.
Governor Richard Ogles by, an old friend of the late president, escorted the evening's presenter up to the speaker's desk. By coincidence, Oglesby had been in Washington on the last day of the president's life, dropping by the White House to chat with his exhausted but cheerful friend, who was clearly savoring the end of the brutal war. This night, before "a large audience, composed of the most intelligent, refined and cultured of our citizens," the governor introduced the speaker, renowned abolitionist orator Frederick Douglass. The Republican-leaning Illinois State Journal noted that in his introduction Oglesby "paid a well deserved need of praise to the colored race, whose devotion to our country in its hour of peril assisted in ridding our land of rebellion . . ."1 The less enthused Springfield Register described the evening in different terms: "The radical negro party of this city are reduced to the desperate straights [sic] of importing the negro Douglass to bolster up their tottering party organization . . . This won't save you, gentlemen. Such men as Fred. Douglass . . . have ruined the country already."2
Douglass stepped forward and was "greeted with prolonged applause—a fitting tribute to a worthy man." Though he had been presenting his talk on Lincoln's assassination throughout the country for several months, standing where Lincoln spoke gave grave emphasis to his opening point that only great figures truly educated this world. "Prior to the Civil War there was apparently no danger menacing our country, but a few far seeing men foresaw the calamities that have come upon us, and their warnings were treated as idle talk . . . The few listen and the many pass on, unheeding the precipice over which they are being hurled." The speaker soon thundered in full flow, the packed crowd captivated in his spell. A highly experienced public orator, Frederick Douglass, by force of words fused to the impressive personal dignity in his majestic bearing, had transformed himself from the slave child Frederick Bailey into an internationally known figure who calmly claimed his place in the world. In his time, only fellow abolitionist Wendell Phillips equaled him as a speaker, but no other orator could compare to the redemptive power of the life story he embodied. His narrative was compelling for more than just his daring escape from slavery on the eastern shore of Maryland. Through years of dogged and at times extremely dangerous touring from town to town, by writing a bestselling personal testimony of his struggle to freedom, by editing one of the nation's most notable black newspapers, and finally, through his service as a recruiting agent for black soldiers, Frederick Douglass had become the voice of his people.
With his splendid mane of graying hair swept back from his broad forehead, blazing brown eyes, deep regal voice, and overwhelmingly powerful physical presence, Douglass awed white and black listeners alike. He had been a slave, yet in this commanding personal appeal, audiences had no trouble believing President Lincoln had invited this man to the White House. The personal meetings of Douglass and President Lincoln in Washington during the Civil War had represented a racial revolution in themselves, and Douglass reminded his audience of the stunning social impact of the conflict. He forcefully recalled, "Mr. Lincoln was a tall man—morally and intellectually, as well as physically—and like the high peak of a mountain, he caught the light of the coming dispensation . . . At the time of his death, slavery was abolished, and liberty established; and he who today argues in behalf of slavery or any of its horrid pretensions, stamps upon the grave of Abraham Lincoln." Douglass then added words more revealing than his listeners would ever know about the president he had dealt with: "He did not profess to be a Moses, and turn Pharaoh."3
Frederick Douglass
While the president in his essential decency had never expressed the slightest temptation to "turn Pharaoh," the uncertain tides of war and the nation's deep reservoir of hatred toward Douglass's people threatened at every crisis to turn this unparalleled opportunity for a great Exodus into disaster. Lincoln had spoken truly of his personal convictions when he wrote: "If Slavery is not wrong, nothing is wrong."4But Lincoln had been born in the slave state of Kentucky and had married into the slave-owning Todd family of Lexington. His only truly intimate friend, Joshua Speed, had returned to Kentucky after his Springfield days to oversee a slave plantation. Further, Lincoln had been nurtured in "Free Soil" Illinois with its fervent antiblack laws and had long been an open and steadfast opponent to radical abolitionism. It was not surprising that this man had been a reluctant liberator.
The intent of Douglass's talk was not to dwell in that past, but to confront new realities facing a victorious North and a world without Lincoln, struck down by "the crime of all crimes, the sum of all villainies." This speech was not marked by triumph, but rather by a looming menace that all the gains of the Civil War might be surrendered. "The danger impending over us is the cold, cruel wanton surrender and betrayal of our friends and allies,"5cried Douglass, referring to the many thousands of slaves who streamed into Union lines as "contraband," the men and women who had picked the crops, cooked the food, and fed valuable information to the army, and most of all, the 180,000 black soldiers at last granted the right to carry a musket. One in ten Union soldiers who had served was black, and Lincoln, before his death, rightly noted that these men had provided the deciding edge of victory.
Though he did not say so that night, Douglass had spent the last four years engaged in a long and public contest with a president who was slow to emancipate, reluctant to put black soldiers into battle, and at his death had made no firm commitment to give the vote to the black man, except possibly perhaps for "the very intelligent, and . . . those who serve our cause as soldiers." 6 All these struggles between the two men were set aside by Douglass this night.
When it had counted, at critical twists and turns of the war, Lincoln, in fact, had become an effective collaborator in Douglass's decades-long pursuit of the total and irrevocable destruction of slavery. The odds of this black abolitionist agitator and a cautious prairie lawyer ever meeting—much less profoundly influencing each other as allies—seemed unlikely. Yet the violent lessons of the war had drawn them together in what Douglass in 1862 called "characters of blood and fire."7A strange partnership even in their own time, in the midst of deep and weighty disagreements, they managed to forge a strong mutual understanding and respect. In the end, Douglass's understanding of the meaning of this war and his personal mission—the liberation of black Americans—was to be inescapably bound up in the life, and the death, of the paradoxical and enigmatic President Lincoln.
Lincoln's mission was to save the Union, while Douglass's mission was different and two-pronged: emancipation through this conflict and then equality in the future. The latter quest speaks with particular power and relevance through the years. At the heart of Douglass's message was the belief that the nation must confront the interconnectedness of black and white. Many, including Lincoln, had tried to evade this reality. Douglass understood that the Union itself would not survive without the monumental contribution of African-Americans, though their rightful place in the country would not be secured until white Americans respected their rights and allowed them opportunities within the lifeblood of the nation. Douglass prophesied that for a nation to be redeemed, we would need each other, then and now. Lincoln needed the black soldier to win his war; Douglass needed Lincoln to win his people's freedom; and in the end, they needed each other to move the nation forward. Their relationship, their struggle, tells us much about ourselves as a people and about why the failure to fully achieve Douglass's vision of equality means our Civil War is not yet over.
It is a remarkable fact that by 1950 Frederick Douglass was a nearly forgotten man, except perhaps for schoolchildren still encouraged to read his first and briefest autobiography. When the historian Philip Foner transcribed hundreds of pages of forgotten speeches and long-scattered letters in the late 1940s, certain that Douglass was a missing key figure in our history, to his astonishment, "No commercial publisher or even university press displayed the slightest interest in making available the letters, editorials, and speeches of this man of towering dimensions."8Finally, a small radical press consented to publish them. The power of Douglass's voice, once again in circulation, served to spark a considerable reevaluation and renewal of interest in Douglass and his world of radical abolitionism.
The Civil War has often been called America's Iliad, but it has not been noted enough that we are still engaged in writing it. Frederick Douglass is a relatively new player in the Lincoln saga, and the reason for this is relatively simple: Lincoln, as the Great Emancipator, has always been portrayed as the sole wise and benevolent actor in the great drama of the Civil War. With cumulative force, early Lincoln biographers presented a man bedeviled by fierce and unrelenting Radical Republicans and obsessive abolitionists, whose fanaticism helped push the nation into an "unnecessary war." As the new president came to power, the nation stumbled almost heedlessly into a needless sectional war over slavery. Both sides of this great and tragic conflict fought nobly and with great courage, "brother against brother." It was a simple narrative, and since it possessed so many reassuring elements, it long constituted a compelling and comfortable story that stood the test of many generations.
The silence in those earlier biographies about the role of Douglass in the Civil War era reflected an oddity that historians of the last forty years have had to struggle with: how could one accurately tell the story of the Civil War without referring to 180,000 black troops in the Union army, or to the tidal wave of black people who freed themselves by crossing Union lines, forcing Lincoln's hand to face the challenge of emancipation (a reality that was not Lincoln's so much to give as to recognize); or to the radical abolitionists, including the overlooked Frederick Douglass, who were perhaps more the tale's heroes than its villains? And that perhaps Lincoln, still undeniably great, might not have been the only actor on the stage—that the war was a complex, messy, and complicated tale, and that its hero was, in fact, flawed in ways that the old story would not allow.
The Civil Rights era made these historical questions not merely valid but socially inescapable. In Memphis the night before he was killed, Martin Luther King Jr. evoked a panorama of scenes in history he would be tempted to see: "I would come on up even to 1863, and watch a vacillating president by the name of Abraham Lincoln finally come up to the conclusion that he had to sign the Emancipation Proclamation."9The old vision of Lincoln as the secular savior of the black people was becoming tarnished, fairly or unfairly, with a new narrative, exemplified by Ebony magazine's editor Lerone Bennett's searing and angry Forced into Glory: Abraham Lincoln's White Dream, a book that pointed out, quite accurately, that Lincoln had been a white supremacist sharing the racial prejudices of his times. This disenchantment with Lincoln had in truth started with W. E. B. Du Bois, who as early as 1922 had been compelled to recant harsh words about Lincoln.
In this climate, a figure such as Frederick Douglass reemerged in his old power. Because of the way we have largely ignored the role of African-Americans in the epic of the Civil War, and in the muted and almost amnesiac manner in which the story of the resulting failure of the Reconstruction era has been told, Americans have been largely blind to a startling truth: that the epic of the emancipation of four million slaves remains one of the greatest stories in world history. In that magnificent story, Douglass had been a national hero. He was a fighter, facing down death from early slave breakers many times in his youth and facing down rioting mobs throughout his travels. The writing of three autobiographies had well suited him for stepping into this ennobling heroic role, for he understood that his life had always been the story of his people redeemed, that somehow his personal odyssey to fame and worldwide attention was both a vindication and a symbol for what it was possible for a black man to achieve—in a nation that refused to offer manhood, equality, even the right to vote.
One reason he emerges as a figure second only to Lincoln is that he spoke the truth, spoke it to powerful figures who did not wish to hear it, accurately predicted the path the war would take, and offered everything he had, including the lives of his children, to gain freedom for others. In a talk he gave all across the North in 1864 entitled "The Mission of the War," this greatness and clarity of vision still speak. Calling the conflict "a solitary and ghastly horror," he asked, "Now, for what is all this desolation, ruin, shame, suffering and sorrow? Can anybody want the answer? . . . We all know it is Slavery." Yet in the midst of the numbing loss, he dared to face the larger meaning of this violence. "But even from the length of this struggle, we who mourn over it may well enough draw some consolation when we reflect upon the vastness and grandeur of its mission . . . The blow we strike is not merely to free a country or a continent—but the whole world from slavery—for when slavery fails here—it will fall everywhere." He added, "We have no business to mourn our mission."
He forcefully reminded his hundreds of listeners, and thousands more through the reprinting of his words—for no black man in America had ever reached so many Americans—that four things must happen in order that this daunting yet grand mission be accomplished: that this war "at untold cost of blood and treasure, shall be and of right ought to be, an Abolition War"; and that the peace to come must be "an Abolition peace." That every black man and woman be "entitled to all the rights, protections and opportunities for achieving distinction" as all other citizens; and lastly, that the black man must have the vote.10
Though he had sat and talked with Lincoln in the White House only five months earlier, and had been impressed with the president's personal qualities of honesty, earnestness, and above all, a refreshing and unusual mutuality, man to man, without any evident racial overtones, he now boldly addressed a president who was, he felt, incapable of seeing the mission of the war in this way. "Our chief danger lies in the absence of all moral feeling in the utterances of our rulers . . . the President told the country virtually that the abolition or non-abolition of Slavery was a matter of indifference to him. He would save the Union with Slavery or without Slavery."11
Not even the Emancipation Proclamation, issued under the banner of military necessity twelve months before, could possibly fulfill the pressing mission of destroying slavery once and for all. The president had made clear for three years that saving the Union was his goal, and from that first shot at Fort Sumter, Douglass had been equally clear that this goal was not enough. The hope of reunion with the South was doomed unless the higher mission of eradicating slavery was brought to the fore. "What business, then, have we to be pouring out our treasure and shedding our best blood like water for that worn-out, dead and buried Union, which had already become a calamity and a curse?"12This direct challenge to Lincoln was only part of a larger story of Lincoln and Douglass's dispute over the meaning of the war, and thus, the truth of America.
Their first face-to-face conversation remains one of the pivotal moments in American history—when a former slave could enter the office of the president for conversation and consultation upon significant issues and festering problems, and more remarkable still, when Lincoln could seem to enjoy Douglass's opinions and views, no matter how contrary to his own. And it is true that Douglass freely recalled, "Lincoln is the first white man I ever spent an hour with who did not remind me I was a Negro."13
Yet these admirable sentiments do not come close to encompassing the true nature of the contest between them, as when after the first inaugural address Douglass contemptuously noted of the new president, "What an excellent slave hound he is . . .,"14Or as he wrote in 1862, ". . . Mr. Lincoln assumes the language and arguments of an itinerant Colonization lecturer, showing all the inconsistencies, his pride of race and blood, his contempt for Negroes and his canting hypocrisy."15Douglass wrote in a letter to New York editor Theodore Tilton, just after his second meeting in 1864 with Lincoln in the White House, "When there was any shadow of a hope that a man of a more decided anti-slavery conviction and policy could be elected, I was not for Mr. Lincoln."16
Lincoln possessed an unusual ability to absorb criticism and rise above political abuse that beggars our imagination today. Douglass himself certainly came to understand that this cautious and measured politician had indeed been the essential man in this national crisis, perhaps the only national leader in his time who could have won union and emancipation both. Douglass saw Lincoln in all his imperfections and perceived "slowness" in response to the black cry for freedom, yet he stated in the dedication of the Freed-men's monument of Lincoln in 1876 that blacks were correct to revere him: "We came to the conclusion that the hour and the man of our redemption had somehow met in the person of Abraham Lincoln."17
Some readers will find Lincoln the reluctant liberator disturbing. No matter how many times the "real" Lincoln is presented, there seems to be a collective cultural reassertion of his mythic persona, a figure whose larger-than-life mystique places him almost beyond the reach of ordinary historical inquiry. Taking a fresh and direct look at the records of what Lincoln and Douglass said and did, and at how their relationship affected the "fiery trial" of the Civil War, is to respect the vast challenges they faced and mastered. The secret of Lincoln's instinctive bonding to one of his most severe critics is that the president sensed that he and Douglass shared common ground, as was evident in Lincoln's Gettysburg Address, where for all time Lincoln calmly and simply evoked a vision of America's "new birth of freedom."
Americans have always moved instinctively to a self-understanding of themselves as being a people with a special, almost sacred, national mission, ever since John Winthrop's 1630 "Shining City on a Hill" sermon noting "the eyes of all people are upon us."18All across the American saga, poet, preacher, and politician alike have noted this powerful mission of being, as Whitman put it, "custodians of the future of humanity."19For Lincoln, the crisis of slavery had to be faced not solely for the Civil War generation but "for a vast future also." Jefferson, not Lincoln, had been the first to use the evocative phrase of America being "the last best hope of mankind."20This was a tall order in 1861, for a society in which four million men and women were slaves and in which the author of those very words had been a slave owner on the bucolic, peaceful crest of Monticello.
Both Lincoln and Douglass instinctively knew that the fate of America was irrevocably bound up in the "peculiar institution" of slavery, and that the war was nothing less than a violent rebirth that would either ratify or would forever nullify this destiny. Neither victory for the North nor the abolition of slavery was ever preordained. Any compromise before the guns of Fort Sumter would have left those four million slaves trapped. If Bull Run had gone the North's way, then the North's widely held vision of a quick resolution of the war would also have left slavery in place.
If General George B. McClellan had possessed the courage to drive home the Peninsula campaign in 1862, or had the Grant-like willingness to fully risk his men on the line in order to destroy Robert E. Lee at Antietam, the South might have collapsed—but well before emancipation. Victory would have been won by a powerful general who adamantly, and publicly, wished slavery to continue undisturbed.
If Lee had not possessed the headstrong will to send Longstreet's men on Pickett's Charge, but instead had maneuvered his army toward Harrisburg and Philadelphia, then Europe might well have decisively moved into the conflict and stymied any further prosecution of the war by the Lincoln administration. Had Atlanta not fallen when it did, Lincoln would likely have lost the 1864 election to McClellan, effectively leaving slavery alive.
During the war, Douglass warily assessed all of these dire possibilities and knew exactly how thin the line of success truly was. The cause of abolitionism was largely upheld by people for whom slavery was an abstraction. Bearing its scars across his back, Douglass knew slavery's realities in a way they never could, infusing him with a sense of desperation and danger at every twist and turn of the war. The price of saving the Union at several points looked to be nothing less than the sacrifice of his people. Above all, he understood that Lincoln was fighting a different war than he was.
Fearful that the Emancipation Proclamation, presented and released only as a desperate military necessity, would itself become null upon any early cessation of the war, whether in Union victory or in its defeat, Douglass viewed the conflict as far more than the progress of the Union army. For him, the war was a complicated and dangerous psychological maneuvering to produce an emerging sense that the Confederacy and the "peculiar institution" of slavery must be fully defeated at one and the same time. This realization among Northerners was achingly slow to grow and, even until the last year of the war, was never assured. The truth of the war was that there were many plausible scenarios of victory for Lincoln that could have spelled disaster for Douglass's mission. Moreover, there were no assurances that the North could subdue the South before its own political will exhausted itself.
The vast throng milled excitedly about the town square, almost twelve thousand people filling the normally quiet little town of Ottawa, Illinois, on a steamy late summer day in 1858. It seemed the whole populace of the state had turned out for this first of seven debates, with a fevered anticipation born of the expectation that this senatorial election would dramatically affect the nation's future and would be razor close. In the seventy years of the young republic, there had never been a political race quite like this one. Reporters were anxious to cover the novel debate format, with one eastern scribe proclaiming, "The Prairies are on fire."1
The two candidates had known each other for more than twenty-two years, rivals from the first. The wary antagonists had come to the burgeoning free state of Illinois as settlers from other states, Abraham Lincoln from Kentucky by way of Indiana, Stephen Douglas from Vermont by way of upstate New York. As poor and nearly itinerant young men, they had located in adjacent central counties, one to Sangamon, the other to Morgan. Lincoln, the Springfield Whig who idealized Henry Clay, soon found himself embroiled in constant battle with Douglas, the "Young America" Democrat who envisioned himself the next Andrew Jackson. Though each had mastered the law, both clearly thrived on the slashing pell-mell of politics, which drove their rivalry even more fiercely. Both worked hard to turn themselves into prosperous and self-styled western men—straight-talking, confident, humorous, effective speakers who felt no need to follow the strictures of classic oratory as practiced back east.
Senator Stephen A. Douglas, nicknamed "the Little Giant" by some, was a small rotund man, barely over five feet tall. Stephen Douglas (who dropped the second "s" from his name when he went west) was running for the Senate for the third time, a nationally prominent figure perennially mentioned as a Democratic candidate for president. If he could defeat his long-time but obscure challenger now, the presidential nomination for 1860 would be his. But the senator, unlike his supporters, did not underestimate his rival. Upon learning of his opponent's nomination, he said, "I shall have my hands full. He is the strong man of the party—full of wit, facts, dates—and the best stump speaker, with his droll ways and dry jokes, in the West. He is as honest as he is shrewd, and if I beat him my victory will be hardly won."2
Abraham Lincoln, 1859. Photograph by Samuel M. Fassett.
Douglas's adversary was a well-respected leader in the rapidly developing Republican party in the state, but in truth, Lincoln had virtually dropped out of politics after a brief and not very successful two-year stint in Congress twelve years earlier, and he was now a successful railroad lawyer. Abraham Lincoln did not have as high an estimation of his opponent as Douglas had of him, despite Stephen Douglas's manifest success. He resented Douglas's agile ability to twist his opponent's words in debate, and, he confided to a friend, the senator's ability to tell a lie to ten thousand listeners one day and to deny it to five thousand the next.3Most of all, Lincoln bristled at the way their political fortunes had so dramatically diverged. Lincoln was never a man to reveal much about his inner state, feelings, hopes, resentments, but many years later, an undated fragment written before this period of frustrated self-analysis was discovered in Lincoln's writings, and the lawyer did not spare himself in a raw comparison: "We were both young men then, he a trifle younger than I. Even then, we were both ambitious; I, perhaps, quite as much as he. With me, the race of ambition has been a failure—a flat failure; with him it has been one of splendid success."4
The election was likely to be Lincoln's last chance to reverse that course of fortune, and unexpectedly, his prospects were increasingly promising. The senator was now in severe trouble in his home state, and Lincoln's new Republican party was clearly on the rise. The two men had been shadow-boxing in speeches for four years over the one issue that compelled the nation's fierce interest, the spread of slavery into western territories soon to become states. Before the agreement for these debates, dueling speeches in Springfield and Chicago had already well prepared the ground of battle and future lines of attack, and the seven debates up and down the state were now attracting strong interest from all over a country convulsed over the fate of slavery.
Why was the whole nation riveted to this one senatorial race? Lincoln was not exaggerating the fame and importance of the Little Giant when he had said the previous month "that he is a very great man, and that the largest of us are very small ones."5After all, Stephen Douglas was the man who had helped pass the Compromise of 1850 that averted civil war, the man who also, almost inexplicably, four years later single-handedly smashed the 1820 Missouri Compromise with stunning legislation that allowed the vast territories of Kansas and Nebraska to enter the Union as either slave or free states. Instead of all the old painfully worked out compromises of decades past, Stephen Douglas trumpeted the doctrine of popular sovereignty, letting the people vote! What could be more reasonable, more democratic, than to put the whole issue of slavery to the test of the people in each territory as they formed these new states?
His northern supporters were, however, unnerved by the recent Dred Scott Supreme Court decision that clearly undermined Douglas's dream of letting the territories simply vote slavery up or down (Douglas famously claimed "not to care"). Chief Justice Roger B. Taney, a Maryland slave owner, had shocked many northerners with this notorious decision proclaiming that blacks were "beings of an inferior order, and altogether unfit to associate with the white race . . . and so far inferior, that they had no rights which the white man was bound to respect."6Further, the decision effectively claimed no state, whether it claimed to be free or not, could legally exclude slavery. Still, Douglas was such a dominating national figure that he felt his notion of popular sovereignty could still put an end to the endless disputes and rising crises over slavery—that he could save the Union and claim the presidency.
Senator Stephen Douglas
As Lincoln was now anxious to remind the voters of the free state of Illinois, the problem was that Douglas's popular sovereignty dramatically increased these tensions and the mutual distrust between North and South. Each incoming state, particularly "Bloody Kansas," was now an open battle zone, and the prospects for peace among the states lessened with every fiery speech, every insult, every exchange of bullets, every election. The senator might still be a giant in national politics, but the voters of his state were angry and restive, and he was in danger of losing all.
If there is any cardinal rule in politics, particularly when an incumbent is in trouble, it is this: Move to the offensive, hard. On August 21 on the great platform in Ottawa, Douglas was slated to speak first. Outfitted in a white broad-brimmed plantation hat, a bright blue coat with great brass buttons that contrasted with his cream vest and pants, he was hard to miss. Engaging, compelling, he gesticulated in strong slashing motions, strode the stage with utter confidence. Barely ten minutes into his remarks, he struck: "Lincoln was to bring into the Abolition camp the old line Whigs, and transfer them over to Giddings, Chase, Fred Douglass, and Parson Lovejoy, who were ready to receive them and christen them to their new faith."7He claimed the faith was called the "Black Republicans." He hit hard again five minutes later, invoking Frederick Douglass's name a second and then a third time.
Lincoln might be in favor of equal rights for blacks, asserted the senator, but not he: "I believe this Government was made on the white basis. I believe it was made by the white man, for the benefit of white men and their posterity for ever . . . I do not question Mr. Lincoln's conscientious belief that the negro was made his equal, and hence is his brother; but for my own part, I do not regard the negro as my equal, and positively deny that he is my brother or any kin to me whatsoever." Then a fourth time, he claimed his old friend deserved a medal from "Fred Douglass for his Abolitionism."8
When his turn at last came, Lincoln replied that the senator's claimed indifference to whether slavery was to be voted up or down was really a covert method of threatening even free states with the acceptance of slavery. And Lincoln truly despised slavery: "I hate it because of the monstrous injustice of slavery itself. I hate it because it deprives our republican example of its just influence in the world—enables the enemies of free institutions, with plausibility, to taunt us as hypocrites . . ."9Yet Douglas's blows had found their mark, because Lincoln then tried to blunt the effectiveness of the senator's accusation.
If millions of slaves could not all be shipped to Liberia, then what? "Free them, and make them politically and socially our equals? My own feelings will not admit of this," Lincoln said, "and if mine would, we well know that those of the great mass of white people would not . . . We cannot, then, make them equals."10
Without a strong answer to Douglas now, Lincoln's victory would be an impossibility. After all, he was attempting to win the Senate seat of a state that, though free, had strong and effective Black Laws that refused any black resident the right to vote, join the state militia, testify against a white person in court, or serve on a jury. Interracial marriage was illegal. The Black Laws had long imposed steep fines and local injunctions against blacks living in Illinois but just five years earlier the state had passed a law making any further black settlement illegal. In his long political career, Lincoln had not spoken against these laws—nor did he do so now: "I have no purpose to introduce political and social equality between the white and the black races. There is a physical difference between the two, which, in my judgment, will probably forever forbid their living together upon the footing of perfect equality, and inasmuch as it becomes a necessity that there must be a difference, I, as well as Judge Douglas, am in favor of the race to which I belong having the superior position."11
From the vast historical record of Lincoln's recorded words, from those written by his hand, transcribed by reporters, or comments remembered later by friend and foe alike, Lincoln sincerely believed this controversial passage, even though certainly forced by political necessity to speak these words. Yet, he added these lines: " . . . there is no reason in the world why the negro is not entitled to all the natural rights enumerated in the Declaration of Independence, the right to life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness." While he might agree with Douglas that no black was his equal "in moral or intellectual endowment," Lincoln chose, when he edited the debates for publication, to put these words in italic so they would not be missed: "But in the right to eat the bread, without the leave of anybody else, which his own hand earns, he is my equal and the equal of Judge Douglas, and the equal of every living man. "12
Most observers, and perhaps Lincoln himself, thought that Douglas got the better of him in that first debate in Ottawa. However, Lincoln recovered and found his stride at the next debate stop of Freeport. He started out more aggressively, posing an important question to Douglas, forcing the senator to explicitly state that northern voters had the clear right to outlaw slavery, despite the recent Dred Scott decision. The Freeport Doctrine that Douglas endorsed that afternoon would later heighten southern Democratic voters' distrust of him, but it is unlikely Lincoln was thinking that far ahead. More immediately, Lincoln wanted voters to severely doubt the truthfulness of their senator, as he made the point repeatedly that the Little Giant was part of a great conspiracy along with President James Buchanan, former president Franklin Pierce, and Chief Justice Roger B. Taney to make slavery "perpetual and national."13This effort to make Illinois citizens conclude that their senator wanted slavery in every state, north or south, was an audacious one, hardly grounded in truth. Douglas bitterly resented the charge, which made Lincoln only more eager to repeat the taunt throughout the debates.
Yet this explosive charge was not actually indicative of Lincoln's usual style, as he generally treated political opponents with cool, reasoned disagreement laced with a sly humor. One observer of the debates, Carl Schurz, who later became a friend and political advisor, remembered Lincoln's "tone of earnest truthfulness, of elevated, noble sentiment, and of kindly sympathy."14 Lincoln's clear, high-pitched almost falsetto western twang rang out to the edges of the crowd, and to the nation beyond. Though even his greatest admirers could see what a long gawky figure Abraham Lincoln struck, there was also something strangely compelling in his speaking that made people quickly forget the rumpled clothes, the awkward flatfooted walk, the tousled wild hair, the thin, scrawny neck. His longtime law partner, William Herndon, acknowledged that when Lincoln began speaking, his voice was "shrill-squeaking-piping, unpleasant," but that as he warmed up and eased into the flow of his address, then it became "harmonious, melodious—musical, if you please."15
At six foot four, Lincoln appeared oddly elongated, with his considerable strength masked by narrow shoulders, huge hands, and long legs out of proportion with his frame. His complexion was rough and heavily wrinkled, his nose massive and jutting, his thin mouth expansive, his cheeks sunken. Most strange of all, his deep-set gray eyes, pensive and somber, did not match—his heavy-lidded and hooded right eye gave him a cold, off-center stare. Some described him as ugly, others were almost spellbound by his singular demeanor, as if these extreme features formed a visage distinctly majestic. He did not seem at all sensitive about his looks, and in fact delighted in making fun of himself.
Stephen Douglas was not so innocent in his humor. Over and over again, Douglas would declare Abraham Lincoln to be in secret league with the fiery black speaker and editor Frederick Douglass. In some sense, it is odd that the Lincoln-Douglas debates have such an exalted reputation, for they are full of abuse, racial insults, extraneous diversions and sallies, exemplified by Douglas's most devastating story: "I have reason to recollect that some people in this country think that Fred Douglass is a very good man. The last time I came here to make a speech . . . I saw a carriage, and a magnificent one it was, drive up and take a position on the outside of the crowd; a beautiful young lady was sitting on the box seat, whilst Fred. Douglass and her mother reclined inside, and the owner of the carriage acted as driver." The crowd laughed and jeered, as Douglas made it clear that Lincoln's politics meant they would soon be driving the despised Douglass around with their wives and daughters. And why had the abolitionist Douglass been in town? Why, to speak "for his friend Lincoln as the champion of the black man."16
In all, Stephen Douglas goaded Lincoln in the debates by mentioning Frederick Douglass by name fifteen times, even repeating the carriage story to the crowd's delight at the next debate in Jonesboro, Illinois. Lincoln made no direct reply to either the carriage tale or to the continuing taunts of his supposed Black Republican identity. When he had the next chance to speak first, at Charlestown (the town in the debates closest to the Mason-Dixon line, and most sympathetic to the South), Lincoln tried a new tactic to fend off this poisonous and very effective attack, and also to indirectly address the anxious sexual subtext of what having a man like Fred Douglass seated next to a white wife and daughter might mean for the good voters of Illinois. Lincoln used the old politician's trick of pretending he had not planned to discuss the topic in that day's debate, but that, providentially, an "elderly gentleman" had just earnestly asked him to discuss black and white equality—so he thought he might just repeat he did not believe in any such thing, "that I am not nor ever have been in favor of making voters or jurors of negroes, nor of qualifying them to hold office, nor to intermarry with white people."
He continued, articulating beliefs widely held by voters from both political parties and, truth be known, many abolitionists themselves, that these bars to equality were due to "a physical difference between the white and black races which I believe will forever prevent the races living together on terms of social and political equality." If they were to be forced to coexist, there must be a superior race, "and I as much as any other man am in favor of having the superior position assigned to the white race." Then he struck a particularly Lincolnian note, bemused, ironic, amusing—and a devastatingly effective political reply. In believing whites were above the black race, he still did not "perceive that because the white man is to have the superior position the negro should be denied everything. I do not understand that because I do not want a negro woman for a slave I must necessarily want her for a wife."17
Still, Douglas made one more attempt at Charlestown to evoke the dark shadow of Frederick Douglass and his cohorts, before dropping the abolitionist's name in the remaining three debates. Reminding his listeners that Lincoln's Black Republican party had been chasing him around the state for years, he made an interesting rhetorical twist in this age of the Fugitive Slave Act: "They had the same negro hunting me down, and they now have a negro traversing the northern counties of the state and speaking in behalf of Lincoln . . . in order to show how much interest the colored brethren felt in the success of their brother Abe." Adding that it would take too much of his remaining time to read selections from it, the senator noted a recent address by Frederick Douglass in Poughkeepsie, New York, in which this nemesis "conjures all the friends of negro equality and negro citizenship to rally as one man around Abraham Lincoln, the perfect embodiment of their principles, and by all means to defeat Stephen A. Douglas."18
Frederick Douglass's Poughkeepsie address appears to contain his first mention of Lincoln, though the emerging Republican candidate's name was offered (a common mistake until the election of 1860) as "Abram." The grand platform collapsed just before his speech, sending all "in one conglomerate mass of pine, hemlock and humanity."19Falling down with the throng, his head was struck by a splintering board, yet Douglass still managed to rise and speak for well over an hour.
Delivered in early August of 1858 just before the debates, Frederick Douglass's speech was among the first to comment on the battle between Lincoln and Douglas. Noting that the nation had existed only eighty-two years and thirty-one days, Douglass honed in on the fact that this senatorial campaign was about the nature of the Declaration of Independence itself. "The contest going on just now in the state of Illinois is worthy of attention. Stephen A. Douglas, author of the Kansas-Nebraska bill, is energetically endeavoring to hold his seat in the United States Senate, and Mr. Abram Lincoln is endeavoring as energetically to get that seat for himself." He added quickly that this was only "a partial view of the subject. The truth is, that Slavery and Anti-Slavery are at the bottom of the contest."20
Senator Douglas was correct in noting that Frederick Douglass was keenly gunning for him. In the abolitionist's view, the senator's troubles placed him in "an extravagance of political profligacy which can be neither forgiven or forgotten . . . " Still, Douglass knew there was no counting the Little Giant out, for he had money, influence, and great talent. In the end, he was "one of the most restless, ambitious, boldest and most unscrupulous enemies with whom the cause of the colored man has had to contend." With a mocking reference to their sharing a name, Frederick Douglass added, "It seems to me that the white Douglas should occasionally meet his desserts at the hands of a black one. Once I thought he was about to make the name respectable, but now I despair of him, and must do the best I can for it myself."
Concluding, he added, "I now leave him in the hands of Mr. Lincoln . . ." In this prescient speech, Douglass not only accurately predicted the great importance of the Senate race, but admiringly quoted at length Lincoln's recent oration at the beginning of the campaign, forever known as the House Divided speech. Though Lincoln was clearly not in the abolitionist camp, Douglass admired the lawyer's tough-minded vision of a nation that could not "endure permanently half Slave and half Free." He called Lincoln's bold and closely reasoned address "a great speech."21
The remaining debates ground on along the same well-trod themes, with little more rhetorical fireworks or inspirational tropes. The contestants were growing tired, and there were only so many ways to lay out their themes— Senator Douglas contended that Lincoln was somehow a radical abolitionist, despite all he said and what was in his (admittedly spare) political record; and Lincoln claimed that Douglas, despite his proclaimed neutrality toward slavery, was in a secret cabal to extend "the peculiar institution" not only into the western territories but into the free states. Neither candidate's attempt to sway the voters of Illinois was based entirely on fact.
Only in the closing words of the last debate in Alton, on October 15, 1858, were words said that somehow elevated the entire exercise and indicated what the future course of the nation might hold. Lincoln stated how odd, and troubling, it was for his rival to put himself before the people by refusing to state a position on slavery, to run on a platform "upon the basis of caring nothing about the very thing that every body does care the most about'" Lincoln finally, with only minutes more remaining to him, stated in stark and moving terms what was beyond the surface discussion over the western expansion of slavery: "It is the eternal struggle between the two principles—right and wrong—throughout the world. They are the two principles that have stood face to face from the beginning of time; and will ever continue to struggle. The one is the common right of humanity and the other the divine right of kings. It is the same principle in whatever shape it develops itself. It is the same spirit that says, 'You work and toil and earn bread, and I'll eat it.' "22
So the great debates ended, and the combatants, in exhaustion, awaited the people's verdict—though not by their direct vote, as in this time each county elected state legislators, who then in turn voted for the new senator by their party affiliation. Despite Lincoln's long-held optimism that he would win the popular vote, the senator had strong advantages in enough individual counties, the only vote that really mattered. The Republicans did indeed poll a slight majority, but on Election Day 1858, Stephen Douglas was returned to the Senate by the state legislature's vote, 54 to 46. While Lincoln had the satisfaction of being able to claim he had indeed defeated his rival in sheer votes, the disheartening reality was that he was not going to the Senate.
Personally devastated, Lincoln, who by this time in his life had become adept at handling painful disappointment and thwarted ambition, reflected, rightly, that he had made a powerful contribution to the national debate on the future of slavery, one that would likely affect future campaigns. If he slid back into his accustomed obscurity, at least he had pressed the Little Giant as no one else had done before.
There are three reasons Lincoln did not return to anonymity after losing: his cool, logically compelling arguments against his forceful rival gave the newly emerging Republican party great hopes in the upcoming presidential contest; his personal realization that law was no longer consuming enough for his great vaunting inner ambition; and a singular and unusual political move for a losing candidate. In 1859, he helped arrange for the publishing of his personal scrapbook of the transcripts of the debates, and when they sold over thirty thousand copies, suddenly Lincoln was obscure no more.
The debates were not the first time the names of Abraham Lincoln and Frederick Douglass had been linked. Two years before, the Illinois State Register said of Lincoln, "his niggerism has as dark a hue as that of Garrison or Fred Douglass."23Douglass's fame was such that there were hundreds of references to the reformer all through the 1850s, especially when Lincoln was sharing a law practice with a fervent abolitionist, William Herndon. The innately conservative and cautious Lincoln was well served by his junior partner, whose reforming enthusiasms and attraction to New England Transcendental thought would have alerted him to the latest moves and innovations of the growing abolitionist parties, whether Free Soil, Liberty, Radical Abolitionist, and the extreme uncompromising edges of the new Republican movement.
Douglass and Senator Douglas had their own fascinating history. Frederick Douglass had long been determined to debate the senator himself, long before Lincoln's candidacy, saying of the Little Giant that no one had done more to intensify hatred of black people. Douglass spoke in several Illinois frontier towns long before the 1858 campaign. After seeing him in Chicago, the Illinois Daily Journal conceded in 1853 that Douglass was "the ablest and most accomplished speaker of the African race."24
The idea of a Douglass-Douglas debate would not die easily. In 1857, the same newspaper reported that a group of black Chicagoans passed resolutions "daring Senator Douglas to measure intellectual strength in debate with 'black Fred Douglass.' "25The group had decried the senator's epithets against their people, and they wanted to see their senator in debate with the foremost black orator in America. The white newspaper was excited at the prospect of a leader of the nation taking on Douglass.
As he had mentioned in the Lincoln debates, Stephen Douglas did indeed feel haunted by the former slave, who set up a speaking tour that closely followed his movements. The Illinois Daily Journal commented, "It has been quite common for white men to hunt negros, but we now find a negro hunting a white man!" One debate was even arranged but canceled by the senator, and he managed to evade his black political stalker in the next four years— daring only to evoke him in order to goad Lincoln.26
Frederick Douglass managed to convince many that a debate between him and Senator Douglas would be worthwhile. Douglass's hometown newspaper, the Rochester Democrat and American, wrote in 1859 that it would be interesting if friends of "the little giant in Illinois arrange for a joint debate between the two Douglases." But in a testament to the respect Lincoln was gaining across the country, they thought that it would "not be fair seeing how hard a task the Senator has in his contests with 'Long Abe.' "27
Almost as a consolation for not getting the chance to face the Little Giant, in the winter of 1858, Frederick Douglass embarked on a long Midwest tour through the prairies, making sure he spoke in many of the sites of the Lincoln-Douglas debates, with appearances in Freeport, Galesburg, and Ottawa.
Beginning with Freeport on February 15 and 16, Douglass called for immediate national emancipation. The FreeportJournal described him as "fluent and ready-willed," and said he "has a knack of saying impudent things about American institutions." The institution they referred to was slavery. The next night he was in Dixon, where the newspaper found this "Anglo-Ethiopian" to have "all the attributes of a great orator." In Mendota the following day, the Mendota Press Observer cited his rise from slavery without formal education and doubted whether "all history can furnish any instance more remarkable." Douglass won over the reporter with his wit, which he found to be a vindication of the black man's claims to humanity. Recognition of the fundamental humanity of black people was a major theme during the tour. Douglass would trace the achievements of the Egyptians and those of African descent all over the world, arguing that racial differences came from climates and geography instead of distinct inequalities. The Belvidere Standard dismissed such assertions, writing, "The lecture was a very good one, and interesting, but science is rather out of Fred's line."28
The pace of a lecture a day continued. At Dunn's Hall in Galesburg, Douglass found a larger receptive audience; they often interrupted him with applause, especially for his satirical impressions of self-deluded and self-serving slaveholders. Coming off this success, Douglass had a smaller crowd in Peoria, then a larger one, and finally an invitation to come back a week later for two more special lectures. Tickets were quickly made available at local bookstores, selling for fifteen cents for one and twenty-five cents for a pair. The local newspaper reported that even those who attended for the purpose of heckling came away "astonished and interested." Douglass, simply by standing before them, was nothing less than "a living example of what the negro can attain to." They found his very presence an effective antislavery argument. Douglass's final engagement was one of the largest audiences ever fit into Rouse's Hall.29
Perhaps the most moving episode of the tour came after Douglass's engagement in Belvidere. An older white man approached him, warmly touching his hand. Douglass was puzzled at first glance, but then remembered that this man had helped him when he had finally reached New Bedford, Massachusetts, as a fugitive from slavery. Mr. Cobb had not only employed Douglass sweeping chimneys, but had protected him from a white workman from Baltimore who was about to strike him with a shovel. Much had changed in twenty years. The fugitive chimney sweep was now a nationally known figure, speaking to thousands.30
By 1859, so too had the life of Abraham Lincoln changed, with his mounting presidential ambitions propelling him to travel widely, speaking to Republican groups from Kansas to Wisconsin to Ohio and all the New England states. Many wanted to hear the man who had battled the Little Giant so effectively. If his rival Stephen Douglas was indeed going to be the presidential nominee for the Democrats, the new and fledgling Republican party wanted to hear the powerful arguments that had so daunted him. Slowly, Lincoln's constant stream of speaking appearances made the lawyer admit of the approaching 1860 election, "The taste is in my mouth a little."31
In editing the senatorial debates for publication, Lincoln painstakingly pasted down the long yellowing newspaper columns he had so carefully collected and clipped, including those repeating the senator's wholesale fabrication of Lincoln's supposed tie to "Fred Douglass." Still, Lincoln made no further recorded reference then or later during the presidential campaign to having been falsely associated with the radical Douglass.
Indeed, it was precisely because Lincoln was so far from being a Black Republican that this unlikely Illinois politician slowly rose to national prominence, to gain widespread acceptance among the broad middle ground of his party. Still, to be an acceptable and passably agreeable compromise candidate was not likely to be enough to supplant the leading Republican, New York's wily, urbane Senator William Henry Seward.
For Douglass, escaping from slavery was a necessity rather than a choice. Slave masters stole more than a lifetime of one's labor, they stole the core of one's self. To resist was a revolutionary act, a political statement.
Yet the experience of freedom was more than escape from bondage. The talk Frederick Douglass delivered most frequently was not one on the abolitionist cause, but rather one about "Self-Made Men." In hundreds of speeches and articles, and most especially in his three published autobiographies, he asserted that his rise from slavery was more than merely living out the American economic dream; it was a radical inner transformation, a revolutionary redefinition of what being an American actually meant. Douglass was intent on being an equal citizen in a society that, in the 1857 Dred Scott decision of the United States Supreme Court, declared this to be impossible.
During his lifetime, Douglass never knew the month or year of his birth. He shared this melancholy fact of slave life in his first autobiography: "By far the larger part of the slaves know as little of their ages as horses know of theirs, and it is the wish of most masters within my knowledge to keep their slaves thus ignorant."1Records show he was born in February of 1818 in Talbot County, on the Eastern Shore of Maryland. His age was just one piece of knowledge that he longed for all his life. He also did not know who his father was. In his first autobiography, he wrote that his father was a white man, and he hinted that it was Capt. Aaron Anthony, his first owner. Anthony was remembered as a drunkard, tortured by the moral disparity between tender moments when he would call Douglass his "little Indian boy" and jealous rages when he would mercilessly whip slave women. By Douglass's last autobiography, Life and Times, he concluded his paternal search with a simple sentence, "Of my father I know nothing."2
Douglass remembered his mother, Harriet Bailey, though he only saw her a precious few times and always at night. Anthony separated mother and child by sending her to another family twelve miles away, yet despite the exertion of being a field hand, on some nights she took the long walk to let her son fall asleep on her shoulder. He remembered her as saying little and carrying a burdened and sad presence. By the time he awakened, she was always gone. Douglass was cared for some years by his maternal grandparents. When he turned seven, he learned his mother was dead. His reaction to her death was muted, for he hardly knew this woman who was a mother and a near stranger both. It was only in the years to come that he felt a lingering sadness and longing for her.
This pain and a need to search for something firm to stand on marked his lifelong relationship with the land and seascape of eastern Maryland, as well as the people who had claimed him as property. He once told Maryland lawyer James Hall what it felt like to be "separated from all the dear ones of my youth as if by the shadow of death," and he implored Hall to discover anything he could as to the circumstances of his early life. Few freed slaves ever had the money or the favorable circumstances to reach back into their past, but Douglass did, and he added that these "tidings from the place, the people, the friends, and the objects associated with my youthful days have for me an interest which you can better imagine than I can express."3In 1854 he wrote that the search for some kind of definite past was a powerful reason to hate slavery's cruelty: "The thought of only being a creature of the present and the past, troubled me, and I longed to have a future—a future with hope in it.4
Douglass's first owner lived on an Eastern Shore plantation owned by the distinguished Lloyd family. Young Frederick was selected to be the playmate of Lloyd's son, Daniel. Being around an educated and privileged boy broadened Douglass's earliest horizons. After Anthony died in 1826, his estate, including his slaves, was divided among his three children. Before the estate could be settled, his daughter, Lucretia Anthony Auld, died and her widower husband, Thomas Auld, became Douglass's second owner. A few years before Anthony's death, the Aulds had arranged for Douglass to spend his crucial early adolescent years with Thomas's brother and sister-in-law, Hugh and Sophia Auld, in Baltimore. There he rubbed shoulders with free blacks and sensed a wider world beyond servitude. Douglass believed that just the opportunity to leave behind plantation life, even for a few years, had ensured his spirit was not broken at a young age. During his time in Baltimore, his new master's wife, Sophia Auld, showed him kindness that revealed to him that white people were varied and capable of something beyond cruelty.
The motherless Douglass felt tenderness toward the woman who began to teach him to read. When Sophia Auld offered to teach him the ABCs, this brief kindness was harshly interrupted by her husband, Hugh, who claimed "Learning . . . would forever unfit him to be a slave." These words were to the young boy "a new and special revelation," enlightening him in a moment that the true path to freedom lay in the power of expression. "What he dreaded, I most desired," Douglass later wrote.5In his brief years near the docks of Baltimore, he befriended local white boys and bribed them to help him learn to read.
Being in Baltimore also allowed Douglass to purchase a book, the most important fifty cents he ever spent. Caleb Bingham, a Massachusetts educator with abolitionist sympathies, had edited and collected in 1797 a wide variety of great and patriotic oratory in a profoundly influential book called The Columbian Orator. The boy not only read and absorbed its messages of personal liberty, but used The Columbian Orator to train himself as a public speaker, reading its speeches aloud and practicing them "with Rules calculated to Improve Youth and Others in the Ornamental and Useful Art of Eloquence." 6 Douglass's self-understanding radically shifted when he read a passage titled "Dialogue Between a Master and Slave," in which the slave is able to so masterfully refute his owner's argument for bondage that he is in the end emancipated. At the age of twelve, Douglass became obsessed with the passage. Never had he heard such impressive and subversive abolitionist ideas articulated. He tried to forget the power of what he had read, but everywhere he turned, he was reminded of the condition in which he was trapped, one he now understood to be unnatural. The Columbian Orator showed eloquence and oratory as the most crucial weapon against injustice.
He felt from a very young age that he was somehow special, marked for some great purpose. This inner belief of greatness did not minimize the obstacles and crushing oppression he was forced to overcome, but his charismatic personality combined with certain special circumstances allowed this belief to survive savage beatings, periods of depression, and repeated failures to escape to freedom. His glowering handsome features and forceful physical presence, even in the condition of slavery, made him an impressive figure. Yet, something else distinguished him: that hunger to read and write which he accomplished through his own wiles and through the focused application of his strong intelligence. Above all, he learned to speak eloquently before crowds, where his special talent for weaving a compelling story in a powerful conversational style reinforced this inner conviction of a special destiny. While Douglass was a slave in Baltimore, a black preacher named Charles Lawson told him that he saw the young man going on to do a mighty work for the Lord. Despite all that was moving against him, Douglass felt God had chosen him for a great mission.
At age fifteen, however, he was sent back to the Eastern Shore to the town of St. Michaels, to return to intensive field labor. He later wrote that the years back in farm work almost destroyed his sense of self, much less his hope of freedom. To be an obedient slave, one must live without thought. After the Baltimore years and his tantalizing taste of the power of reading, Douglass was a hard man to render numb. In Douglass's Narrative, he described the tough contest between keeping alive an inner sense of self and a kind of blankness, a numbed "beast-like stupor" of ceaseless labor.7As he was the only slave in the region who could read, his owners distrusted him and strove to break him. This long vicious battle over his will and sense of self only served in the end to reinforce his self-image as separate, special, and eager for release.
The land around St. Michaels is a narrow geographic area where the Chesapeake Bay is never very far from sight, with its rich salt smell and blue vistas. Working in these fields offered Douglass continual views of the sea, just as the harbor of Baltimore had done. He wrote movingly of standing before the Chesapeake waters, watching the freedom of vessels moving with the wind, spending hours staring at them "with saddened heart and tearful eye." He saw mighty ships sail off to places that he could not go.8Such views also were a constant reminder that it was possible to somehow, someday, leave this place, to escape the confines of his master's fields and this narrow near-life.
During this time, young Frederick Bailey, as he was named then, encountered Edward Covey. Slave owners sent insubordinate slaves to Covey so that he could destroy any resolve or resistance left in their constitution. For months, the fifteen-year-old endured the slave breaker's presence, leading to a whipping a week upon his already-scarred back, and the young man was close to cracking.
Finally, Covey thrashed a hickory slat against Frederick's head, causing a wound so painful that Frederick ran to his master to beg for help, to no avail. An older slave named Sandy encountered Frederick during his dejected walk back to Covey and did his best to treat his wound. As Frederick climbed down the ladder in the barn, Covey rushed from behind to bind the boy's strong legs with a rope. As he resisted, Covey grabbed on hard, sending them both falling to the barn floor. At this moment, something odd happened inside of the young man. A sudden, desperate spirit of resistance filled him and without regards to the consequences, he resolved never to be beaten again, even if it meant his death. He rose to his feet and grabbed the shocked white man by his throat. This was the last thing the slave breaker expected. Covey broke free and yelled, "Are you going to resist, you scoundrel?" The overseer and his prey battled in the searing August sun for two long hours to a standstill. Valuing his infamous reputation, Covey told no one about the fight and never whipped Frederick again.9
After a failed attempt to escape in 1836, the eighteen-year-old Frederick Bailey found himself waiting to learn his fate in a local jail cell. He faced the worst jeopardy yet as he was liable to be severely punished and resold to slave traders who would send him deeper into the South, where eventual escape might be all but impossible. At the last moment, Thomas Auld decided instead to send Frederick back to Baltimore.
Though life back in Baltimore allowed considerably more comfort and safety, and even with discussions with Auld on how he might someday be able to buy his freedom, Frederick continued to chafe under his straitened life. Then he met Anna Murray, a young woman who would be a catalyst for realizing his dream of freedom. Five years older than Douglass, she was a native of Maryland. Her parents had been slaves, but she was born unbound. Feeling the need to be self-sufficient, she had moved to Baltimore at seventeen to work for a white family.
While there was a powerful social division in antebellum black Baltimore between being free and enslaved, the enterprising Douglass won her trust and heart. The ambitious young man's dream of freedom enthralled her, and she contributed her hard-earned savings to his plan. With a train ticket, a disguise as a sailor, seaman's papers that would not bear too much close examination, and the great good fortune of not being betrayed along the way, Douglass took four boats and three trains to arrive in bustling New York with a sensation he had never before felt: freedom.
After Anna joined him in New York, they were married and eventually settled in New Bedford, Massachusetts. As a fugitive, though, he was not safe. This was the new reality of Douglass's life, even in the free states of the North. Douglass did hard, low-paying menial work as a ship's caulker—but at least he now earned for himself, struggling for enough money to support a new and quickly growing family. Moreover, as he eked out a strenuous new life, the process of self-creation continued, especially in one crucial way. In talking with a man who was harboring him in his first weeks of freedom, it was suggested that he take the name of a romantic Scottish hero named Douglas, from Walter Scott's novel The Lady of the Lake. There was no more Frederick Bailey. He freely chose a new name from a fictional protagonist who bravely fought to reclaim his rightful inheritance.
Though he believed his future lay in physically demanding jobs, Douglass still hankered after learning, especially in regard to the alluring world of abolitionism. He attended an antislavery conference on Nantucket in August 1841. William Coffin, one of the white organizers, recognized him in the audience from a church where Douglass sometimes spoke and asked him to share his story with the crowd. His listeners found him to be a commanding and persuasive speaker. William Lloyd Garrison, who witnessed the moment, was stunned and called the young man a prodigy. His natural talent was so apparent that these organizers immediately offered him a job as a traveling antislavery agent.
Woman's suffrage pioneer Elizabeth Cady Stanton described first hearing Douglass in these early days, saying that he stood "like an African prince, conscious of his dignity and power, grand wit, satire and indignation." She looked around at the greatest abolitionist orators utterly fixated on Douglass's magnetic stage presence, "laughing and crying by turns with his rapid flights from pathos to humor." For the rest of that day, "All other speakers seemed tame after Douglass." 10 Seemingly overnight he became an abolitionist luminary, a man telling the story of his escape into freedom so compellingly, so vividly, that he quickly claimed the attention of first the freedom circuit and then the nation.
There was only one problem with this success. He related his staggering story of rising up from slavery with such sophistication, such sudden and inspiring eloquence that many refused to believe that he was only three years out of bondage. Traveling across the country speaking with reformers, Douglass gained access to more and more books, newspapers, and conversations with his fellow abolitionist agitators—and these all served to stimulate his eager and retentive mind. John Collins, a white abolitionist who often traveled with him, reminded him to "Give us the facts . . . we will take care of the philosophy." They were uncomfortable not just with his opinions, but also with the increasingly polished and fluent way he expressed them. George Foster told him, "People won't believe you ever was a slave, Frederick, if you keep on this way." Collins patronizingly added, "Better to have a little of the plantation manner of speech than not; 'tis not best that you seem too learned."11
From that first moment when Douglass walked to the front of that Nantucket room and unleashed his rhetorical fire, his chief mentor and early protector was William Lloyd Garrison. The mild-looking, bespectacled man hid behind his gentle countenance an inner fire, a radicalism that, tied to the powerful authenticity of Douglass's own story, made the two a persuasive and effective team for many years. With Garrison's encouragement, he and Anna settled in Lynn, Massachusetts, with Douglass completely giving his heart to the small and publicly shunned abolitionist movement.
William Lloyd Garrison
Douglass's personal charisma and renowned eloquence made him an important public figure, though in antebellum America it was astonishing that any black man could claim such status. He spoke mostly from rough manuscripts, and from surviving multiple newspaper transcriptions of certain speeches he gave repeatedly, we know that they differed according to the venue and the feeling of the moment. He departed freely from his notes, such was his sure confidence as an orator. This element of his fame, the accomplished manner in which he varied his tone from thunderous rousing calls to sly mimicry, then moments of earthy humor, all these things galvanized his listeners. One observer remembered seeing Douglass stalk from one edge of the platform to another, "all roused up like a Numidian Lion," concluding he was seeing something more than an eloquent address: "He was an insurgent slave taking hold on the right of speech."12
From 1841 on, his life was one of incessant, grueling travel. Each year was punctuated by these long speaking circuits across all of the northern states, though he felt increasingly nervous whenever speaking engagements came within striking distance of the South. What made him interesting, exotic, and controversial in the free states made him a marked man whenever he neared the border state of Kentucky, his old home state of Maryland, and even southern Pennsylvania, where kidnapping was commonplace. His was a difficult and lonely life. It was not simply the dusty travel, the wear of three-hour lectures on his throat, the poor food along the way, but the debilitating sense of danger and degradation at every stop. Though a famous orator, and increasingly well-paid, he was still a black man. The difficulties of arranging travel, managing to find a place to stay the night, wondering what kind of mob might greet him at the site of each night's speech—none of these things ever subsided before the Civil War.
Frederick Douglass, circa 1850, after 1847 daguerreotype by an unidentified artist
Then, in 1845, he made one of the most audacious moves of his life. The publication of his memoir of his early years in slavery, Narrative of the Life of Frederick Douglass, an American Slave, was a provocation in itself, but Douglass also dared to reveal personal information about his life as a free man. These facts were enticing to those who wanted the young abolitionist speaker snatched back into the slavery out of which he had come. He almost taunted his former owner Thomas Auld to recapture him by not only revealing the name his owner had known him by, Frederick Augustus Washington Bailey, but by actually mailing the slaveholder a copy of the book. When the book became an unexpected bestseller, worried friends realized that he was now in some danger and arranged for him to go to England to represent the American abolitionist movement. At the time, this escape to England was a disheartening reminder that no matter with what confidence and dexterity Douglass comported himself on abolitionism platforms of the North, he was still someone's property back in Maryland. More southern men than just Auld wanted him back and silenced.
The 1845 visit to England made Douglass an international figure and without question the most prominent black abolitionist on either side of the Atlantic. At speeches all over the north of England and Scotland, thousands came to hear him. In the midst of such interest bordering on adulation, he was reminded that in Britain he was perceived as a different category of person. "Why, sir, the Americans do not know that I am a man. They talk of me as a box of goods; they speak of me in connection with sheep, horses and cattle. But here, how different! Why, sir, the very dogs of old England know that I am a man!"13Then, he had written to his abolitionist mentor, William Lloyd Garrison, that the English experience was a powerful one, with "the entire absence of anything that looked like racial prejudice against me, on account of the colour of my skin—contrasted so strongly with my long and bitter experience in the United States, that I look with wonder and amazement at the transition."14
The trip was extremely successful; generous British admirers had gathered enough money to pay off his old owner. At last he was a free man. Upon his return from his sojourn in England, Douglass celebrated his newfound freedom by forging a new life in many directions. He moved Anna and their young children into a new home in Rochester, New York, and decided to offer a strong voice by editing The North Star, a rival newspaper to Garrison's Liberator. He did this, he admitted, "without a day's schooling . . . I could hardly spell two words correctly . . ."15This decision to create a black-owned and edited newspaper was to become a painful wedge in his old partnership with Garrison. In the end, Douglass's inner need to make his own way, to express his own brand of abolitionism, could not be denied or repressed, no matter how much he owed to the man who had first urged him to greatness. There was a destiny for him that Garrison could not support. Garrison had needed a former slave to tell a tale of salvation; Douglass wanted something more, to push himself to the very limit of his abilities and talents. Not even Garrison's sincere and radical abolitionism could accept such independence and personal autonomy on the part of a black man.
In the mid-nineteenth century, Rochester, the City of Flowers, was known to have few rivals for beauty among American cities. Blossoming tulips, roses, and fruit trees adorned the city. A resident wrote to a friend in 1827, "Rochester is the best place we have yet seen for giving strangers an idea of the newness of this country."16For Douglass, looking to begin anew, it had seemed the perfect place for a self-made man, one intent on being a writer, editor, and publisher, not only an abolitionist circuit speaker.
Though it looked like an old New England town, Rochester was first founded in 1817. The city grew quickly, gaining 8,000 residents in ten years. It went from forest to boomtown overnight. Much of its success came from the opening of the Erie Canal and, later, being on the route of the New York Central railroad. The awe-inspiring power and beauty of the waterfalls of the Genesee River helped Rochester earn its place in early America's folklore in 1829, when a daring man named Sam Patch jumped 120 feet into the main falls. Widely publicized beforehand, a mesmerized crowd watched the inebriated Patch's arms flailing all the way down, a leap from which he would never emerge.17
Rochester's black population was small, numbering less than 3 percent of the population in 1834. Yet, Douglass found abolitionist allies—white and black—that proved especially useful for conducting the Underground Railroad. Rochester was the last stop for thousands of frantic flights to freedom ending in Canada, across Lake Ontario. It was not uncommon for Douglass to arrive at work at the North Star press offices with tired and hungry fugitives waiting on the steps for his aid. As "superintendent" of the Rochester station, Douglass knew the obscure places to hide: barns, lofts, woodsheds, attics, anywhere a fugitive could be safe for a time. His newspaper office even had a trap door leading to a clandestine stairway. Douglass and his wife, Anna, fed them and gave them train fare to complete their journey, or placed them in boats heading across the lake. One evening Douglass realized he had eleven fugitives staying with his family. Despite the danger, he would later say, "I never did more congenial, attractive, fascinating and satisfactory work." Although he was realistic about the overall effectiveness of the Underground Railroad, he admitted that " . . . as a means of destroying slavery, it was like an attempt to bail out the ocean with a teaspoon . . .,"18Having been a slave, however, even one less soul in bondage brought him great joy. The southern shore of Lake Ontario was a vista of freedom for his soul and the route to freedom for many fugitives.19
The North Star debuted in 1847 with the slogan, "Right is of no Sex— Truth is of no Color—God is Father of us all, and we are all Brethren." Writing for this antislavery periodical day after day, week after week, forced Douglass to refine and further articulate his ideas. Years later he felt that the clarity with which he spoke during the Civil War had come from the long nights of work and developing his thinking in the newspaper years of the 1850s. The pressure of constant deadlines meant this life "was the best school possible for me." Often Douglass would write all day and then hop on a train for a town hosting his evening speaking engagement. If the engagement finished in time, he would catch a train back to Rochester, otherwise he stayed the night in whatever hamlet he found himself, still managing to be back in his office as early as possible. The office was not elaborate—simply a small single room with an old printing press, cases of type all along the wall, a desk for Douglass to write, and a fireplace to warm him through long Rochester winters.20
Douglass was a very careful man in dealing out the details of his personal life. Matters of the heart, especially, were kept carefully hidden, even as he seemed to fully share his redemptive journey from slave to citizen. In hundreds of pages of autobiography, he related what he felt he needed to in order to accomplish his life's mission of ending slavery—and not a whit more. Each slave, every black soul, was meant to be redeemed in Douglass's Pilgrim i Progress to freedom; inner confusions, the toll of constant racial belit-tlements, and struggles within his own immediate family had no part in the tale he wished to tell. Above all, he wished to portray himself as someone whose potential not even slavery could destroy.
In essentially raising himself—without the ordinary supports of family or sustained childhood friendships—he was slavery's child, growing up in emotionally barren and harsh circumstances, a desert devoid of love and simple protection. That the damage done was so hidden and carefully managed is a remarkable sign of powerful internal strength. In an era that celebrated the doctrine of self-creation, he was after all truly the self-created man par excellence.
Dating back to Tom Paine's vision that in America "we have it in our power to begin the world over again,"21self-creation is the American ideal. The intensity and fervor of Douglass's oft-delivered addresses on this theme reflect something more arduous than simply the ideology of the economically rising man. In his Collected Papers, three versions of the talk—often revised and refreshed to reflect further ruminations upon his own life—are preserved, from 1859 to a final draft in 1893. (In this final draft, he calls Abraham Lincoln: "the King of American self-made men; the man who rose highest and will be remembered as the most popular and beloved President since Washington. This man came to us, not from the schools or from the mansions of eases and luxury, but from the backwoods.")22
Douglass championed hard work, industry, and well-tempered zeal as qualities crucial for greatness that is earned, not given. He defined such souls as "men, who under peculiar difficulties and without ordinary helps of favoring circumstances, have attained knowledge, usefulness, power and position . . ."In clear reference to his own "peculiar difficulties," he further defined the obstacles to selfhood: "not only without the voluntary assistance or friendly co-operation of society, but often in open and derisive defiance of all the efforts of society . . . to repress, retard and keep them down." In the end, these men were "indebted to themselves for themselves." From poverty and from "hunger, rags, and destitution, they have come; motherless and fatherless, they have come, and may come."
Douglass used these extraordinarily personal references as instructive themes in his frequent "self-made" discourses. The extreme impoverishment, both emotional and economic, of his early years was displayed for more than personal vindication or self-aggrandizement—it was transformed into an extremely eloquent and persuasive argument for the vast unrealized potential of his people. He pointed to "genuine heroism" of anyone who could triumph against such imposing odds, but that was not really the point of the lecture: "Every instance of such success is an example and a help to humanity."23
The most revealing aspect of his "self-made" talk, however, is a little noted coda at its conclusion. Despite the admiration such men deserved, Douglass confessed, "I am far from considering them the best made men. Their symmetry is often marred by the effects of their extra exertion . . . the long and rugged road over which they have been compelled to travel, have left their marks, sometimes quite visibly and unpleasantly, upon them." (He then alluded to editor Horace Greeley, who was said to be a self-made man who "worshipped his maker.") He added, "A self-made man is also likely to be full of contrarieties. He may be large, but at the same time, awkward; swift, but ungraceful; a man of power, but deficient in the polish and amiable proportions of the affluent and regularly educated man."24
Douglass clearly felt these "contrarieties," though few would have witnessed outer awkwardness in his own regal and refined demeanor—but the description applied extraordinarily well to Abraham Lincoln, whose awkwardness and lack of urbane polish was legendary.
All night long in dense fog, Frederick Douglass's ship, the Nova Sco-tian, lay just outside of Liverpool, the great English port promising both freedom and a long exile from his homeland, wife, five children, and a vocation. Sending up rockets, blowing whistles, burning blue lights, and firing cannon into the murk did nothing to part the disorienting haze. It was late November 1859 and Douglass found himself once again cast into the role of fugitive with no way of envisaging his future course.
As he waited for the crowded docks of bustling Liverpool to at last come into view, Douglass faced a different kind of danger. Although Douglass was now technically a free man, this present threat was as perilous to his freedom as his first anxious escape to England twelve years before. As he prepared to give his "Self-Made Men" lecture at Philadelphia's National Hall, word reached him that in the aftermath of the Harpers Ferry raid, letters from him had been found in Captain John Brown's belongings, which put him in grave danger. Governor Henry Wise of Virginia wanted Douglass indicted for abetting Brown's recent bloody attempt to seize a federal arsenal. He even sent a private detective to track him down beyond the continental United States. If any boat intercepted a British ship carrying Douglass, Wise announced, he wanted the "privilege of seeing him well hung."1Worse, President James Buchanan, clearly anxious to appease the governor, had ordered federal marshals to arrest Douglass. They had been only steps behind him for weeks. Douglass had been extraordinarily lucky so far to have evaded them. After the daring raid electrified the country, a terrified South wanted vengeance. Strangely, through either a sense of wounded innocence or bravado, Douglass wasted valuable time in Philadelphia by casually going about his previous plans. With word of Governor Wise's declaration spreading, every minute was imperative.
At this point, someone Douglass did not even know likely saved his life. Officials in Washington, D.C., sent a telegraph to the sheriff of Philadelphia County to apprehend Douglass. The telegraph came in to a local operator named James Hern, who happened to be an avowed abolitionist. Hern managed to delay the delivery of the telegraph three vital hours, just long enough for a warning of its content to reach Douglass. By the time the telegraph arrived on the sheriff's desk, Douglass had left Philadelphia and was on his way home to Rochester.
Douglass had allowed himself to think his home city would be safer, but he had been home only a matter of minutes when he learned that law enforcement agents were closing in on him. The choice was now clear: he needed a way out of the country. His long experience as a trusted conductor on the Underground Railroad now came into play, as he was spirited from Rochester across Lake Ontario to momentary safety in Clifton, Canada, then to Hamilton, Toronto, and finally a hasty all-night train trip to Montreal. Yet even there, rumors of capture swirled about him, so he moved on to Quebec, with "the snow eight inches deep, cracking under one's feet with the sharp cover-your-ears sound . . . The sleigh bells are ringing, and the Frenchmen and their ponies are dashing through the streets . . . " He enjoyed the sights of the Old Town for only a day, and on November 12, he set sail for England.2 Boarding the ship, he wondered if he might be going into exile for the rest of his life.
All this had come from Douglass having listened over the years, sometimes with admiration and sometimes with severe misgiving, to his friend Captain Brown's audacious schemes for a southern slave insurrection. There had been so many conversations, hushed late night consultations, expectant discussions of invasion over unrolled maps. Most recently, Douglass and Brown had shared an anguished farewell in an isolated stone quarry in Cham-bersburg, Pennsylvania, after Douglass finally refused to join in the doomed crusade.
Although Brown had shown in Kansas that he was not afraid of a little blood on his hands (or pools of it from five broadsword-hacked men on the creeks of Osawatomie, Kansas), the long years of frustrated planning, fundraising, delays, and perplexing changes of direction had made it seem as if Brown's violent scheme would go unfulfilled forever. But then, less than a month after their last conversation in Chambersburg, the old man had suddenly struck, at last making good on his long-nurtured plan of slave revolution.
Though every aspect of the ill-thought-out plan had gone disastrously wrong, proving to be exactly the fiasco Douglass had feared it would be, it was strange how little this had mattered to Brown's desired hope of terrorizing the slaveholders he so abhorred. While nearly the whole raiding party had been quickly and effectively killed or captured, Brown, as he awaited hanging, had a martyr's satisfaction in suddenly finding himself a hated specter of insurrection to the South and, as well, an unexpected hero to many in the North. Abraham Lincoln, invited to speak at the prestigious Cooper Union Institute in New York in 1860, took the opportunity to reflect another common reaction among the free states: "John Brown's effort was peculiar. It was not a slave insurrection. It was an attempt by white men to get up a revolt among slaves, in which the slaves refused to participate. In fact, it was so absurd that the slaves, with all their ignorance, saw plainly enough that it could not succeed."3
John Brown
Whether a failure or not, the Harpers Ferry attack revealed in southern hearts a deep-rooted and growing fear of slave rebellion, especially one abetted by perceived northern fanatics. Even a plainly incompetent company of twenty-two men quickly became a looming threat intent on destroying their whole way of life. When letters from Frederick Douglass were found in Brown's captured baggage, Douglass had been quickly and dangerously drawn into the net of retribution.
Ironically, he had never wished to know any of the specifics of John Brown's planned attack on the vulnerable federal arsenal at Harpers Ferry. Still, more than twelve years ago Brown had shared with Douglass at their very first meeting in 1847 an overarching hope of someday stirring slaves to rebellion. Fresh from his return from his first trip to England, after giving a speech, Douglass was invited into the Brown home in Springfield, Massachusetts, where the antislavery Brown was then living. After a plain meal of beef soup, Brown took the opportunity to try out his revolutionary ideas on the prominent black leader. By his fireside, Brown cautiously shared with Douglass his initial vision, which was not so much a general slave uprising as the creation of a small army operating in a series of quick incursions in the very heart of the South, using the shelter of the Allegheny Mountains for protection. Douglass remembered the captain as "lean, strong, and sinewy, of the best New England mold, built for times of trouble . . . " He found the white man impressive, his mouth "strong and square," with blue-gray eyes "full of light and fire."4
Their friendship continued over the next decade, and slowly, as Douglass drew away from the nonviolent moral suasion policy of the Garrisonians, he became more sympathetic to Brown's willingness to employ violence to attack slavery, especially after the passage of the 1850 Fugitive Slave Law. Still, something held him back, despite his respect and fondness for Brown.
To Douglass's relief, he at last found himself safe on British soil, in the clear now. The trip to Europe had been long planned, but his need to escape quickly through Canada had hastened his departure. He courageously used his many speeches and appearances in Scotland and England over the next five months to make clear his admiration for his now-infamous friend, freely admitting he had not been as bold, as dedicated unto death as John Brown. In years to come, he had to endure the taunts of those who claimed he was a coward, unwilling to dare all at Harpers Ferry.
Douglass, who faced down death many times in his career, was clearly not a coward, but he freely admitted he was intent on staying alive to pursue his own goals, so that he could follow his own way to defeat slavery. He had been beaten on a Massachusetts railway car in protest over segregated travel and had endured savage beatings while enslaved. But Douglass claimed that the closest he had ever come to death was on an 1843 speaking tour in the small town of Pendleton, Indiana. As Douglass began their program, William White, a white abolitionist friend, observed a menacing group of men gathering at the edges of the crowd. Suddenly, the scene descended into violence, and Douglass saw White trapped in the midst of the mob. Seizing a club, Douglass swung wildly as he rushed into the ferocious crowd. As Douglass's weapon was knocked out of his hands, he tried to run, but he was hurled to the ground. An assailant clubbed Douglass's hand, shattering it. White saw the club raised again for a second blow to the prostrate Douglass, and sprinting toward his wounded comrade, he threw his body against the rioter. The blow averted, Douglass stumbled up, and he and his companion managed to dash away from their attackers. Years after the narrow escape, that violent morning still haunted his dreams. He often found himself going to sleep troubled, "thinking about Pendleton." For a reminder, he only had to look down at a hand that had never healed correctly, paining him the rest of his life.5
Frederick Douglass was well acquainted with danger; whenever critics maintained that he should have joined Brown at Harpers Ferry, he had no trouble rejecting the idea. His gifts were dramatically different from Brown's. For the rest of his days, his praise for Brown's sacrificial spirit would be unstinted and sincere, yet in the end, he had decided that he must live for his cause, not be a martyr to it.
In a letter written on the ship for readers of his newspaper (now renamed Frederick Douglass' Paper) and mailed upon his arrival in England, he reminded his countrymen, "John Brown has not failed. He has dropped an idea, equal to a thousand bombshells into the very Bastille of slavery. That idea will live and grow, and one day will, unless slavery is otherwise abolished, cover Virginia with sorrow and blood."6
While in England, Douglass's warm memories and familiar sights from his earlier sojourn comforted him in his exile, and he quickly took up his accustomed task of swaying as many listeners as he could reach. The crowds in the British Isles were ready once again to flock to his lectures, anxious to see the man so closely associated with John Brown. On the platform, Douglass's eyes burned with cool intensity. His voice was rich and sonorous, easily filling vast halls with the practiced dramatic pauses and cadences of a preacher. He was now forty-two and his body still had the powerful bearing of youth, broad shoulders and powerful arms imbuing him with an even greater presence. It was not hard to imagine that this man had once relied on his body for grueling physical labor. Francis Grimke, a fellow abolitionist and black clergyman, thought "Michelangelo would have delighted to chisel in marble, or cast in bronze that noble form and figure!" Spiritualist Margaret Fox remarked that his lectures "would set the people Crazy," adding she thought that he was "as fine looking as Ever."7
He held his impressive six-foot frame so firmly upright that he gave the impression of being taller than he was. When he spoke in public, his fluid and graceful movements conveyed a natural dignity and self-confident air. As Unitarian minister and abolitionist Thomas Wentworth Higginson once strolled with Douglass, he thought to himself, "Make the most of this opportunity. You never before have walked the streets with so distinguished-looking a man, and you never will again."8
On December 7, 1859, Douglass's youngest child, twelve-year-old Annie, wrote him news from home:
My Dear Father,
I am proceeding in my gramar very well for my teacher says so. I am in the first reader and I can read. I expect that you will have a german letter from me in a very short time. I have learned another piece and it is a Ami Slavery. I am going to speak it in school. My piece is this.
He is not the man for me
Who buys or sells a slave
Not he who will not set him free
But send him to his grave
But he whose noble heart beats warm
For all men's life and liberty
Who loves alike each human form
That's the man for me.
It is in the Garland of Freedom and four verses of it. My letter will not be very long. Poor Mr. Brown is dead. That hard hearted man said he must die, and they took him in an open field and about a half mile from the jail and hung him . . .
From your affectionate Daughter,
Annie Douglass."9
The Douglass of 1859 was indeed a much more confident and accomplished man than the fugitive speaker of 1845. There was no escaping the exhilaration of this experience of freedom, abundantly displayed in Glasgow, Scotland, on March 26, 1860, in "American Constitution and the Slave," one of the most impressive speeches of his life. The address marked the end of his long and painful process of pulling away from his Garrisonian abolitionist roots and summation of his journey to independent thinking. Douglass's shift from Garrison's view (along with his having had the audacity to start his own newspaper) had made his old friend an implacable enemy.
To fully break from Garrison and his philosophies was wrenching, but Douglass had tired of conceding to the South their argument that the United States Constitution was a proslavery document. Further, he now resisted William Lloyd Garrison's often expressed notion that seceding from the Union was a viable option for northern states. Instead, Douglass came to view the Declaration of Independence's proclamation that "all men are created equal" as the proper lens through which to understand the essential meaning of the Constitution. The Declaration spelled out America's ideals, leaving a firm hope for the redemption of the nation under the subsequent Constitution with the additions of the Bill of Rights.
To Garrison, however, Douglass's changing ideas were nothing less than "base and selfish."10Garrison was never one to tolerate such dissent, and their political differences turned personal and messy, to the point that Garrison's Liberator newspaper published allegations of an adulterous liaison between Douglass and his generous supporter and close ally Julia Griffiths, a white Englishwoman, who for some years had actually lived in the Douglass home.
The startling allegation was quickly and fervently denied, but with so many personal letters from that period lost or destroyed, it is today impossible to know if Garrison's audacious condemnation of his old friend was in fact true. Douglass published a calm, reassuring letter from his wife, Anna (though Anna had for years stoutly refused to learn to read or write), denying any strain or trouble from Julia Griffiths's presence in their lives. Eventually, the dispute settled into banked coals of simmering resentment, leaving real damage done to the abolitionist movement and untold personal anguish to Douglass himself. In the aftermath of the embarrassing imbroglio, Julia returned to England in 1855. Long after her marriage to an English clergyman named Crofts she continued to write Douglass and advise him with warmth and concern. The relationship was so sustaining and vital to Douglass that in 1859 he went directly from Liverpool to her new home in Halifax, from which he began his extensive speaking tour in England.
After years of self-taught legal and political study, he now felt fully prepared to repudiate Garrison's rejection of the Constitution. In the end, the nation's founding document "leans to freedom, not to slavery," and this could save the country. With a presidential contest impending back home, Douglass believed such truths made abolitionist hopes realistic, though the leading Republican candidate, New York senator William H. Seward, was hardly a raving abolitionist and Stephen Douglas loomed in the background as a viable Democratic candidate. Still, Douglass firmly staked his ground, believing "the way to abolish slavery in America is to vote such men into power as will use their power for the Abolition of slavery." It is hard to miss in this speech a wistful note that with great events on the horizon, he was achingly far from being able to influence such an outcome.
The background of this major address was his answering the taunts of Garrison abolitionists about changing his mind on these important ideas. His answer to them was direct and affecting, a rare personal opening for a man who seldom opened his heart. "When I escaped from slavery, twenty-two years ago, the world was all new to me, and if I had been in a hogshead with the bung in, I could not have been much more ignorant of many things than I was then. All I knew was that I had two elbows and a good appetite, and that I was a human being—a sort of non-descript creature, but still struggling for life." In this state of unfolding development, he had fallen under the spell of Garrison and his allies, and in his rapid and fervent efforts of creating himself as a speaker and as a man, he had naturally accepted their views and perspectives. "They were my friends, the friends of my people, and nothing was more natural than that I should receive as gospel all they told me."11
During his five months in exile, Douglass had moved on from the well-intentioned influences of past mentors to confront the meaning—the mission—of his life. Though he had planned to spend more time in England and was about to embark for the continent for further travel, to France and perhaps Germany, fate seized him in early 1860 with a cruel and shocking turn that propelled him home. He returned in time to witness the election of a new president and the long-foretold shattering of his country into warring factions.
On March 13, 1860, Douglass received a letter from home saying his youngest child was dead. In shock and guilt, he resolved to return home, immediately. Annie's death changed everything, and the England idyll was over in a bitter instant. No matter what possible dangers awaited him, he felt he had no choice as a father and husband but to return home to Rochester without delay.
A family friend described the little girl as "the gentle, darling little Annie, with her winning, modest shyness, but happy to trust to the friendly face of the lady who held her small, soft, velvety hand kindly while talking to her father and mother." Her sister called her "blithe and lively." In Douglass's own newspaper, Annie was affectionately called the "pet of her father." She possessed a carefree cheerfulness unmatched in the family.12
Yet even at her young age, she had developed a passion for the work of her father. In fact, it was a belief within the family that shock from the death of John Brown had somehow contributed to her death. To Annie, "poor Mr. Brown" was not an abstract martyr; he had stayed with the Douglass family for a long stretch in 1858 and insisted on paying three dollars a week in board. During this time, the stern old man occasionally showed a more tender side, captivating the imagination of young Annie when she sat on his knee.13In front of Douglass's children, Brown used planed boards and dividers to depict a chain of fortification in the mountains for his abolitionist guerillas. Douglass often did not quite know what to make of the wild designs, commenting that "I was less interested in these drawings than my children were." Annie obviously had had great difficulty processing Brown's death—perhaps Douglass could have helped her deal with this grief had he not been in England during that highly sensitive time.14
Douglass's oldest daughter, Rosetta, reported in a family letter that they had heard from their father, and "his grief was great." But it is her next sentence that is particularly powerful: "I trust that the next letter will evince more composure of mind." Such anguished sadness was to be expected from a father who has lost a child. (Later, in Douglass's narrative, he quickly passes over Annie's death. In their brevity and simplicity, however, these few sentences capture Douglass's heart: calling her the "light and life of my house," he was "deeply distressed by this bereavement.")15Letters from those close to him suggest that Douglass grieved many years over his daughter's death. Friends continued to show concern for Douglass's sorrow throughout the Civil War.
For a girl with ardent attachments to her father combined with an "excitable temperament," her father's self-exile with no immediate prospect of return apparently caused her great anxiety for his safety. Hearing adults talk of Brown's death and her father's possible future punishment, Annie retreated from the world, losing her power to speak or hear. The medical cause of her death was never clear, and it seems odd to have Douglass's interpretation of her death in a letter he wrote "To My British Anti-Slavery Friends," as "resulting, no doubt, from over-anxiety for the safety of her father, and deep sorrow for the death of dear old John Brown, upon whose knee she had often sat only a few months before."16In that letter, he promised to return to finish his speaking tour, but it was not to be. Claims of America pressed in on every side.17
Acting upon a quick impulse without careful thought, he took the first outgoing ship headed to America. Determined to be with his family, he now displayed as much courage as he had ever summoned in a long career. The prospect of being a free man in Europe was a heady prospect, especially if circumstances forced such an exile upon him. Had Annie not died, it is impossible to know when Douglass might have returned to the United States. He knew well that he might be risking his life when he boarded to return to his homeland. A fall and a severe injury to his shoulder only worsened the misery of the return trip.18
The city of Rochester that Douglass returned to after Annie's death had been his home for more than ten years. His homecoming from England in 1860 proved to be quiet and subdued. He prudently laid low upon rejoining his grieving family because for weeks, he still feared extradition to Virginia. Yet, luck was with him in that the congressional committee appointed to track down John Brown's allies and supporters had dissolved into a largely fruitless effort and in the end found no evidence tying Douglass to the plotting of the raid. In addition, with the nation absorbed with the upcoming presidential contest, even southern congressmen had seemed to lose their bloodlust for revenge over Harpers Ferry. With the whole country facing potential disaster, Brown's raid had receded, a precursor to an infinitely larger looming cataclysm. Douglass, having feared the worst, found himself pleasantly amazed that the danger to him seemed to be fading. The congressional committee eventually gave up its work, and within three months Douglass returned to the high visibility he had previously enjoyed. As the presidential campaign year of 1860 proceeded, Douglass stood ready to influence its outcome as effectively as he could by a new grueling, nearly frantic speaking tour.
It was his newspaper, Frederick Douglass'Paper, that made his life difficult. He wondered if he should end the effort. Upon his return from England, there is disappointment and exhaustion in his words, describing "nearly thirteen years of effort . . . I am now very sorry to give up the effort." The temptation to give up his life as an editor and publisher was not a pose, but a symptom of the dismal state Douglass was feeling in 1860. These difficulties had a long story, and Douglass well understood why so many black-edited newspapers failed. In 1848, he had mortgaged his home to keep the paper from collapsing. At one point, he was fifteen hundred dollars in debt, no trifling sum in 1855. Finding subscribers was a constant struggle throughout this period, though he averaged around 3,000 subscribers. Overhead costs always seemed to mount. When Douglass returned from England, he found the paper running at around a $30 deficit per week. He decided at once to cease publication, but the pleas of readers convinced him to continue. Soon he was losing $50 a week.19
From month to month, his speaking engagements kept the enterprise afloat. As much as the paper meant to him, Douglass wearily confided to a friend, "I see nothing for me but to let the paper go down."20Yet time and time again, generous gifts from abolitionist and philanthropist Gerrit Smith had kept the newspaper alive in an era when Douglass's voice was a powerful national influence. The best he could do was to keep the paper alive as a monthly publication, with reduced pages and paper size.
The home he retreated to after his exhausting daily pace was a half-hour walk from the pressroom situated in the center of downtown Rochester. Sitting on a hill, surrounded by gardens, fruit trees and farmland, it seemed to be an island away from the world for Douglass. This rural retreat, their second home in Rochester, was far enough from the city to allow Douglass to rest from his intense busy public life and into a private world, one shrouded in secrecy that no amount of research is likely to fully pierce.21
His marriage to Anna was both a comfort as well as a hidden source of pain and unfulfillment over the years. She was dutiful, loyal, supportive, and clearly valued her husband as a great man, worthy of her total focus. They were both devoted to their children, and the home they created was filled with children growing with encouragement from him and firm discipline and care from her. Rosetta, whose short biography of her mother is the fullest account of Anna that survives, was the oldest, born in 1839; Lewis followed the next year. Two more boys, Frederick, Jr. and Charles, were born before Douglass went to England in 1845, and Annie was born in 1849 after his return as a free man.
Yet, despite his devotion to his children, in 1848 Douglass had described himself as a "most unhappy man." Moreover, three years before the Civil War, Douglass wrote to a friend that, "if I should write down all her complaints there would be no room even to put my name at the bottom."22
Douglass and Anna had profoundly different approaches to the world of ideas. He constantly pressured her to absorb new ideas, but she never shared his intellectual interests. She never learned to read, although he set up numerous opportunities for her to do so. Douglass's feelings on their differences were never clearer than when he was commenting on a letter, noting someone had to read it "over and over again until Dear Anna shall fully understand their contents."23
Anna provided her husband a firm foundation, a clean home, food and comforts, clean linens, smoothly ironed suits. All these practical things were the work of her own hands, as was caring for the fugitive slaves that came into the Douglass household. When Douglass was ill during his frequent bouts with bronchitis, she sat by his bedside and cared for him. Yet, her dedication to these tasks in lieu of mental stimulation was problematic for a man with a restless mind like Douglass. The relationship also suffered from their frequent separations, as he traveled incessantly, including two long stays in Europe. Rosetta wrote that when he was home, "Father was mother's honored guest."24
Anna Douglass
Regardless of the state of their marriage, Douglass was extraordinarily proud of his family, perhaps especially so because as a boy he had suffered having all family supports stripped away. Anna raised their five children, and he was devoted to them even if he was the epitome of the absentee father. She was frugal and stern with the children, and they realized they would have a more successful chance pleading their case with their father after transgressions. Her criticisms could be blunt and harsh, whether she directed them at family members or guests.
Anna had friends in New Bedford and Lynn, but she never grew close with anyone in Rochester, retreating into her home and into herself. Douglass wanted her to travel more with him, but Anna simply felt more comfortable tending to matters in the home and in her garden. Mostly, she felt unease around the plethora of white visitors her husband brought to the house. After preparing and serving the meal, she was content to retire to the back porch and her rocking chair. Rosetta, however, recalled her mother talking with her father about certain current events, especially in the anti-slavery movement.25
The marriage may have been strained also by Douglass's inviting white female friends and associates to stay in the family home for long stretches of time. His relationship with Julia Griffiths provoked many rumors. When the writer Ottilie Assing entered his life in the early 1850s, she most certainly claimed his bed. Assing spent summers in the Douglass family home over a decade and Douglass often stayed with her in her home in Hoboken, New Jersey. Assing was German-born and raised on European cultural values and liberal revolutions. She had come to America at age thirty-three to work as a journalist and immediately comprehended the promise of the abolitionist movement. When she heard about the strikingly handsome former slave Frederick Douglass, she desired to meet this great man. As emotional as she was intellectual, she excited and captivated Douglass. They would garden, cook, play croquet, and read together. Her letters to her sister describe an idyllic scene of two lovers feeding peaches and cherries to each other, while enjoying the lush, picturesque region around Rochester. They hiked the mountains, explored the countryside, strolled and sailed along the Genesee River.26
Douglass's letters over three decades reveal that, outside of his family, those closest to him were European women, especially Julia Griffiths and Rosine Draz (another friend from his English sojourns). Like Assing, they were educated, intellectual women, who shared unwavering devotion and adoration of him.
His twenty-five-year relationship with Assing never caused Douglass to leave his marriage for several reasons. Because of his role as the most prominent black leader in America, divorce in the 1860s was simply not an option. After all, Douglass's career was bound up in a vivid presentation of his own life for the perceived benefit of his people; in an era when divorce was uncommon and disdained, it would have devastated his public persona and influence. Furthermore, Douglass wrote that he believed slavery created a crippling social system with no use for family. Thus, to give up the family he had created in lieu of the one denied to him would be to abandon part of what he had won by becoming free. Regardless of Assing, Douglass did have a profound love for his family, not just in an abstract sense but in the day-today reality of his life. He may or may not have felt guilt for a love life that he did not try hard to hide within the family itself, yet his actions throughout the Civil War years show how much his children truly meant to him, and the extent to which he would go to protect and help them.
On the eve of the great presidential race, Douglass felt lost in "months of anxiety, sickness, sorrow and death."27Memories from a tortured past, a floundering paper, a fading marriage, a secret interracial affair, and the death of his youngest and most beloved daughter were all part of the mountain of baggage Douglass was carrying. These disappointments and his pressing need to keep much of himself hidden to the world wore at him, along with the constant fatigue of touring about the country.
Ottilie Assing
Yet, these personal problems were not the only causes of his profound despair. The excitement and firm idealism of the late 1840s had been tested by a long decade of setbacks, and a case could be made that abolitionism was weaker than ever by 1860 in terms of national support, despite the fact that increasing numbers of white northerners identified with the cause. On the political side, the previous decade had begun with the enactment of the Fugitive Slave Law that federally sanctioned taking any black person into slavery with virtually no legal recourse. Even worse, in 1857 the Dred Scott decision by Chief Justice Roger B. Taney's Supreme Court acknowledged slavery as an institution with no legal restraints and boundaries, even in the free states, despite those states' laws against the "peculiar institution." After all of Douglass's heartfelt and heartrending speeches, all the meetings and prayers for the cause, it was profoundly dispiriting for those toiling for more than twenty-five years to read the chief justice's words: "The black man had no rights that the white man had any right to respect." The ruling made brutally clear that black people were not, and might never be, citizens of the United States. The decade concluded with John Brown's execution in Virginia.
By April, notwithstanding his despair, Douglass was speaking widely, reclaiming his status as the most prominent black voice in America. The times were indeed discouraging, but events were also arising that were remarkable and potentially fruitful in terms of who might replace the ineffective and dithering President James Buchanan. In that month, at the Democratic national convention, Stephen Douglas's chances for the presidency were dealt a deathblow when his party broke into two sectional factions, with southern delegates distrustful of him and at the last moment deciding to back Ken-tuckian John C. Breckenridge instead. Then, in early May the newly formed Constitutional Union party nominated John Bell, further splitting the Democratic opposition. For a political organization as young as the Republican party, suddenly its prospects were bright and the nomination highly prized. That candidate would be the next president.
As the Republicans gathered in Chicago in mid-May, Illinois native son candidate Abraham Lincoln (likely angling for an advantageous position to be his state's next senator) seemingly out of nowhere became, on the third ballot, the party's compromise candidate, everyone's favored second choice. Douglass had long thought his New York senator, William Seward, would garner the honor. In his paper, he lamented that Seward, who had been instrumental in shaping Republican antislavery ideology, was "shoved aside to make room for a man whose abilities are untried and whose political history too meager to form a basis on which to judge his future."28The first true western candidate, Lincoln was as little harmed by the sudden emergence of his rail-splitter persona as by the shrewd dealing of his campaign managers. In the end, he won because delegates had developed an admiration for his clear, cogent speeches that had so effectively demarcated a winning position against Stephen Douglas.
Wasting not a moment, Douglass assessed his man in positive terms, something fellow abolitionists for the most part resisted, in an editorial headed "The Chicago Nominations." He claimed Lincoln was "a radical Republican, and is fully committed to the doctrine of the 'irrepressible conflict.'" In his debates with Senator Douglas, he came fully up to "the highest mark of Republicanism, and he is a man of will and nerve . . ." Noting that "Illinois will form a sort of pivot," he felt "the old personal rivalry between him [Douglas] and Mr. Lincoln will render the campaign especially spicy."29Douglass predicted to a friend that if Lincoln won the election, Seward would be the nominee in 1864.30
For the most part, Douglass in his public writings about Lincoln during the election season endeavored to keep a positive tone. Remembering Lincoln's 1858 stern warning that the nation could not endure half-slave, half-free, he realized Lincoln might not be an abolitionist but seemed to be a man of strong character and perceptive insight into the national predicament. Douglass called him "calm, cool, deliberate." He complimented Lincoln's " . . . well balanced head; great firmness of will" and called him "one of the most frank, honest men in political life." Yet, he had to admit even these good qualities hardly qualified him to be a presidential nominee, especially in such a critical hour. He doubted that Lincoln knew anything of literary culture or diplomatic skill. At best, the Republicans nominated him based on their faith in his potential.31
In August of 1860 Douglass wrote a doubt-ridden article entitled "The Prospect in the Future." He told his readers that the work of the last twenty-five years had "reached a point of weary hopelessness." A month before, Douglass had told fellow journalist and abolitionist James Redpath that although he had labored to write and speak, it was for people without "ears or hearts for the appeals of justice and humanity." Slaveholders were "beyond the reach of moral and humane consideration," and the only thing that could end slavery was the threat of death to them. He was reduced to "little hope of the freedom of the slave by peaceful means."32
As the summer of I860 faded into autumn, Douglass became more excited about the upcoming presidential contest than any previous election. He decided to throw himself into the race with "former faith and more ardent hope than ever before."33He was excited because the choice was extraordinarily clear as to whether an American's vote would hinder or help the slave. He believed that this election would be an opportunity to educate the American people on his emancipation agenda. Whom he would actually vote for was a more complicated question.
There were other facts that gave Douglass serious pause. As the election drew closer, Douglass learned Lincoln had not signed a petition in the Illinois legislature that would give black people the right to give evidence in court against a white person. Lincoln was against black suffrage and showed little aversion to implementation of the Fugitive Slave Law. What worried Douglass more was a lesson from the nation's recent history. The past few presidents had also been relative political unknowns, selected over more substantive candidates based on their having accumulated fewer enemies. They had turned out to be weak, vacillating leaders, of the disastrous ilk of Franklin Pierce and the overwhelmed James Buchanan, then presiding over the impending sundering of the country. What Douglass saw was "one host of incompetent kin folks takes the place of another." Douglass found the thought of this trend continuing deeply distressing, and this nonentity Lincoln promised more of the same. In this crucial election, "the road to the Presidency does not lead through the swamps of compromise and concession any longer."34
Douglass was never satisfied with the new Republican party for one simple reason: They were more against slavery's political power and sway than against slavery itself. He thought they opposed slavery in places only where white people did not want to deal with the institution, or for that matter, the actuality of black fellow citizens. Republicans wished to keep the western territories free of slavery under a stirring cry for "free labor," all the wrhile enacting laws to restrict the free blacks living amongst them. Douglass ridiculed this covert racism.
Douglass was realistic enough to know a political party that pushed abolition and equality—as the Liberty party showed all too well in its ineffective appeal—would face electoral disaster. Thus, he developed mixed feelings about the election, knowing a Republican victory could present new possibilities for hurting the proslavery powers and clearing the way for more moral antislavery advocacy—even as he still felt compelled to support explicitly abolitionist candidates. In the end, he believed the significance of this vital election was "The slaveholders know that the day of their power is over when a Republican President is elected." Practically speaking, he desired Lincoln's victory, but could not cast his personal vote, which the state of New York allowed, for anyone not in favor of immediate, unconditional emancipation.35
His stance drew criticism. One Republican party member had written to him the year before: "The only difference between us is, that one acts on the practical side of the question, and the other on the theoretic. It is all very fine to talk about the short-comings of the Republican Party, but the question is, What are you going to do about it?"36The answer was to vote for his friend Gerrit Smith, whose futile candidacy might still send a message about the political power of radical abolitionism. Still, in the back of his mind was the hope that a Lincoln victory would begin a new era of antislavery advocacy, and even better, that the president would come to demonstrate "growth in grace."37
As the election drew closer, most of Douglass's energies went toward a campaign to defeat a New York state law necessitating that a black man have at least two hundred and fifty dollars in real property to be able to vote. He spoke throughout the state about this injustice and wrote a pamphlet entitled "The Suffrage Question in Relation to Colored Voters in the State of New York." On November 4, Election Day, Douglass stood at a polling place in Rochester from dawn to dusk. Douglass's cause failed by a two-to-one margin, but there was bigger news from the day.38
Abraham Lincoln was elected sixteenth president of the United States, a minority president to be sure with less than 40 percent of the vote, but elected nonetheless with 180 electoral votes. His rival Stephen Douglas received respectable vote totals from both North and South, but ended his national career, getting only 12 electoral votes from Missouri and New Jersey, far fewer than John Breckenridge, 72, and John Bell, 39.
On election day, Lincoln betrayed no nervousness—recent state elections in Pennsylvania and Ohio had already indicated that, with his opponents so divided, his election was almost assured. He spent most of the evening in the telegraph office until past midnight, when news from New York confirmed his election, and then he ambled home to inform his wife, Mary.
Four days later, South Carolina began the process of formal secession from the Union. Lincoln seemed sanguine, writing, "Rest fully assured, that the good people of the South who will put themselves in the same temper and mood towards me which you do, will find no cause to complain of me." In the next four months, the president-elect issued no policy statement or made any effort to quell the rising tide of secession. He maintained a steady silence in public, only occasionally writing letters to his supporters in stalwart and encouraging words with little policy to them.39
Lincoln seemed to feel that he understood the southern mind and heart, that his good will would somehow prevail in the crisis, despite each day's further unsettling news. The only firm signal he sent from Springfield was to reinforce a stance he had articulated many times in the last six years, ever since his Peoria speech of 1854, that stopping the extension of slavery was his sole unyielding line of policy. To Illinois senator Lyman Trumbull, a convenient conduit for getting the policy word out, Lincoln wrote, "Let there be no compromise on the question of extending slavery. If there be, all our labor is lost, and, ere long, must be done again . . . Have none of it. Stand firm. The tug has to come, & better now, than any time hereafter."40
Douglass assessed that Lincoln still believed in the South's constitutional right to hold slaves, despite his personal opposition to slavery's extension. Yet, there was no denying Lincoln's election signaled the breaking of slavery's effective stranglehold on the country's political workings, what abolitionists labeled "the slave power." A Republican president represented the end of decades of the nation taking "the law from the lips of an exacting, haughty and imperious slave oligarchy." The North had shown strength at last, because they had elected "if not an Abolitionist, at least an anti-slavery reputation to the Presidency of the United States."41
Though pleased, Douglass went on to warn that the Republicans would have to be pushed to take action against slavery. Worrying that the abolition movement might in fact lose momentum because of a perception that they at last had an ally in power, Douglass rallied radical abolitionists to "writing, publishing, organizing, lecturing, holding meetings, with the earnest aim not to prevent the extension of slavery, but to abolish the system altogether."42 They would need newfound energy and a unified voice to pressure Lincoln.
Abraham Lincoln was essentially secretive in nature, reticent to let others peer too deeply into his inner self. Mary Lincoln wrote that he kept his emotions to himself, always. "Even between ourselves, when our deep and touching sorrows, were one and the same, his expressions were few."1The only son of four to survive into maturity, Robert Lincoln, a deeply reticent man himself, could recall only a few close conversations with his father and none that revealed any sense of the inner man. Those who knew Lincoln best did not deceive themselves that they truly understood him, or were in his close confidence, personally or politically. He was mysterious, bewildering to his friends and allies, and part of his sway, his powerfully attractive hold on others, was in this deep silence as to his plans, hopes, intentions, and, especially, his past. Judge David Davis, who probably spent as much time with Lincoln on the legal circuit as any man, called his friend, "the most reticent—Secretive man I ever saw—or Expect to see."2William Herndon, his longtime law partner, called Lincoln "the most closed mouth person there ever was," and added in notes to himself of his friend that he was "a profound mystery—an enigma—a sphinx—a riddle . . . incommunicative— silent—reticent—secretive . . ."3
Lincoln was reluctant to share much of his early life, even when it was clearly to his advantage as a politician to do so. Responding to requests for his life story, he twice wrote a few paragraphs about his early years, and only in the context of being forced to produce effective campaign literature, for which he was painfully curt and short, stating, "There is not much of it, for the reason, I suppose, that there is not much of me. If any thing be made out of it, I wish it to be modest, and not to go beyond the material."4One editor, John Scripps of the Chicago Press and Tribune, later described his difficulty in getting Lincoln to relate any of his early life: "He seemed to be painfully impressed with the extreme poverty of his early surroundings—the utter absence of all romantic and heroic elements. 'Why, Scripps,' said he on one occasion, 'it is a great piece of folly to attempt to make anything out of my early life. It can all be condensed into a single sentence, and that sentence you will find in "Gray's Elegy": 'The short and simple annals of the poor.' That's my life, and that's all you or any one else can make of it.' "5
Above all, Lincoln resisted revisiting his youth, or dwelling on aspects of his life that he clearly found painful to recall, particularly the extreme deprivations of his past. He said in an early political speech, "we were all slaves one time or another," but that being white, he could free himself while a slave could not. He pointed to a friend, adding, "He used to be a slave, but he has made himself free, and I used to be a slave, but now I am so free that they let me practice law."6This whimsical note hardly conveys the extent of Lincoln's deep abhorrence of his childhood's grinding poverty and emotional neglect, particularly from his father Thomas's abusive behavior. In a poem written when he was thirty-seven, Lincoln described the desolate nature of prairie life, and the "loved ones lost/In dreamy shadows . . ." The poem contains the lines:
I hear the lone survivors tell
How nought from death could save,
Til every sound appears a knell,
And every spot a grave.
I range the fields with pensive tread,
And pace the hollow rooms;
And feel (companions of the dead)
I'm living in the tombs.7
He had endured the death of his mother, Nancy, when he was eight years old. His only sister, Sally, died in childbirth when he was nineteen. Young Lincoln had every reason to be left numbed and embittered from the touch of death.
Lincoln took considerable pride in his success in law and his escape from the poverty of his origins. He rarely visited his Coles County relatives though, as a successful lawyer in Springfield, he lived only a few hours' travel from them. There is no record of any member of his family ever being invited to his Springfield home. More intensely, he avoided his father as best he could, and after turning down a request to visit the dying Thomas Lincoln, refused to attend his funeral. Lincoln never made a positive utterance about his father. There were deep chasms between the two men and Lincoln felt he knew what it was to be exploited and demoralized. His law partner William Herndon reported that Lincoln said "his father taught him to work; but he never taught him to love it." Lincoln wanted nothing to do with his origins, with the exception of his stepmother, Sarah, to whom he felt fondly grateful.
Lincoln calling himself a slave illustrates a great deal about how he arrived at his concept of freedom. He considered himself to have been in a state akin to oppression because of the manual labor, poverty, and lack of opportunity. Although he had never put on false airs, with his accent, manners, and tousled clothing certainly reflecting his western beginnings, he was privately chagrined at having been portrayed as the rail-splitter candidate. What Abraham Lincoln, Esq., ultimately became—through force of will, a passionate belief in work, and a shrewd and penetrating intelligence—was a wealthy railroad corporate lawyer, not rail-splitter.
President-elect Lincoln needed a place to plan for his new administration and to greet the hundreds of guests, reporters, and office seekers clambering for his attention, so he used the governor's corner office in the Springfield State House, recently vacant because of the death of Governor William Bissell. Abraham Lincoln walked each morning from his home on Eighth Street to climb the great steps to the spacious offices on the second floor.
There was no time to celebrate his unlikely rise to power as he struggled to keep up with his suddenly burgeoning correspondence, as well as playing host to a perpetual stream of visitors. Three weeks after the election, Henry Villard of the New York Herald watched Lincoln take a moment to relax with friends, with the president-elect in an expansive mood. When it was suggested that it was too bad that when he entered office as president, his first problem would be the question of slavery, Lincoln "told the story of the Kentucky justice of the peace whose first case was a criminal prosecution for the abuse of slaves. Unable to find any precedents, he exclaimed at last angrily: 'I will be damned if I don't feel almost sorry for being elected when the niggers is the first thing I have to attend to.' "8
It was ironic that a man who had entered politics thirty years before, absorbed with typical Whig topics such as internal improvements, tariffs, taxes, and westward expansion, now had chief responsibility for the fate of some four and a half million people held in slavery. This was the issue that would define his political life and beyond, his legacy and legend. Still, while Lincoln was no abolitionist, or even by instinct a reformer, he possessed a deep abhorrence of slavery. Finding slavery distasteful and contradictory to his vision of "free men, free labor," however, was far from casting his lot with the abolitionists; and working against the spread of slavery into the western territories was a long way from wishing to see it eradicated in the South. Through most of his presidency, Lincoln would be adamant that even if slavery were to finally end, slaveholders should have the right to a gradual (up to the year 1900 in one proposal), voluntary, and fully compensated "emancipation."
Lincoln was born in the slave state of Kentucky in 1809, though his parents attended a church opposed to slavery. When Lincoln was seven, in 1816, his father moved the family to Indiana, to settle in a county with only five black people. This limited number was not surprising because strict laws discouraged free blacks from entering the Northwest Territory.
One of the great quandaries of Lincoln's life was in explaining how he, not by temperament or philosophy in any sense an abolitionist, would still be a politician who disliked slavery in such a steadfast and visceral way. Perhaps the explanation lies in Lincoln's lifelong aversion to cruelty of any kind, and even more importantly, from the manner in which slavery so clearly violated the economic principle that an individual's labor was one's own. No man believed in the surging and hopeful capacity of the "self-made man" ideology more than Lincoln, whose entire political philosophy was firmly based on the notion that to rise, to re-create yourself through labor and hard work, was the essence of the American experiment.
From the beginning of his political career, Lincoln took his own roots in manual labor and near-poverty on the western frontier and fused them with a Whig economic philosophy that he never abandoned. In 1847, he stated that the purpose of politics was to secure "to each laborer the whole product of his labor, or as nearly as possible, is a most worthy object of any good government." 9 There are dozens of such formulations in Lincoln's public statements, but he summed up his belief that the essence of America was not simply upward social and class mobility, but the primacy of labor and the right of all to profit from their work. As he said in the great debates and repeated many times, notably to fellow Kentuckian and abolitionist Cassius M. Clay, "I always thought that the man who made the corn should eat the corn."10
Lincoln demonstrated his aversion to slavery while a young state legislator in Illinois. In 1837, Lincoln and Daniel Stone were the only members to sign onto a resolution that affirmed "that the institution of slavery is founded on both injustice and bad policy." However, the two men also noted in the same remonstrance that abolitionism too must be blamed for this dire state of affairs, that those extremists actually tended "to increase than to abate its evils."11
During two brief years as a congressman in Washington, Lincoln first voted against ending slavery in the capital city, but later introduced a measure that would have allowed compensated and gradual emancipation in the District of Columbia. However during this time, and in the years he concentrated on his law practice, he came to believe there was no good solution to the problem of slavery.
When his sole term as a congressman ended, Lincoln retreated from politics until slavery brought him back from the lonely roads of the Illinois legal circuit. When Stephen Douglas introduced the Kansas-Nebraska Act in 1854, it nullified the old Missouri Compromise and opened the vast western territories to slavery. A visceral outraged reaction to this proposal, from a man he heartily distrusted, drew Lincoln back into politics. Between 1854 and I860, Lincoln's addresses held to a central theme of excluding slavery from new territories as the first step toward slavery's decline and eventual extinction.
For many who shared his Free Soil ideology, this aversion to slavery was not out of compassion for the slave's plight, but from a strong desire to exclude black people from the new territories, whether they were slave or free. During his time serving in Washington, Lincoln's home state easily passed a constitutional article forbidding black people from entering the state. Ensuring that this land would be for enterprising white men, not wealthy slaveholders and their hated slaves, gave these ideas appeal. Lincoln did not endorse these laws, but he did not repudiate them either.
Although Lincoln abhorred slavery, some of his friends were slaveholders. In 1855 after visiting Joshua Speed on his Farmington plantation outside of Louisville, Kentucky, the young lawyer wrote to his friend's sister Mary about seeing twelve slaves being transported on a passing boat. The twelve enslaved people were chained in two groups, with the clevises around their left wrists connected back to the main chain. He said they looked "like so many fish upon a trot-line," but Lincoln still saw their humanity, which many in his time did not.
In this condition they were being separated forever from the scenes of their childhood, their friends, their fathers and mothers, and brothers and sisters, and many of them, from their wives and children, and going into perpetual slavery where the lash of the master is proverbially more ruthless and unrelenting than any other where . . . ,12
This was not the only time Lincoln referred to this incident. Many years later, writing to his slaveholding friend Joshua Speed, Lincoln carefully but honestly confronted their strong differences on the issue of slavery, "I confess I hate to see the poor creatures hunted down, and caught, and carried back to their stripes, and unrewarded toils; but I bite my lip and keep quiet." Then he brought up the long-ago memory of those slaves tied together on that steamboat: " . . . ten or a dozen slaves, shackled together with irons. That sight was a continual torment to me; and I see something like it every time I touch the Ohio, or any other slave border." Still, to Speed, he resisted the label of abolitionist, stating, "I now do no more than oppose the extension of slavery."13
His abhorrence of slavery was more abstract than personal. He believed the institution betrayed the Declaration of Independence's clear intent, allowing those who hated democracy to effectively deny its true power. In the end, the problem with slavery was that it "enables the enemies of free institutions, with plausibility, to taunt us as hypocrites."14Even so, Lincoln could not accept the abolitionist agenda either.
Lincoln did not deal with slavery with moral indifference. He repeatedly called it an evil, describing slavery as cancerous or a dangerous snake, and wished it would be contained in such a way that it would eventually be excised or wither away. However, he did not know if extinction could possibly happen in his lifetime, for he believed the Constitution protected the right of southerners to sustain the practice. As a lawyer, his relations with slavery revealed this ambivalence. In more than one Illinois case, Lincoln and Herndon— his partner was adamantly an abolitionist—defended the rights of newly freed slaves and beleaguered black clients. In 1847, however, Lincoln prosecuted the case of Robert Matson, a Kentucky slave owner trying to recover his runaway slaves in Coles County. The slaves claimed that they were free in a free state, but Lincoln pointed out that Matson deserved to retain them as slaves because of the so-called right of transit. He lost the case.15
Still, Lincoln genuinely could never comprehend southern assertions that blacks were "property in the same sense that hogs and horses are." Lincoln could clearly see "mind, feeling, souls, family affections, hopes, joys, sorrows—something that made them more than hogs or horses."16Despite this sensitivity, Lincoln had little familiarity with black people as individuals. After his election, a story began circulating that he had attended a gathering of free black people presenting Governor Salmon Chase of Ohio with a silver pitcher. Lincoln called the story a fiction and curtly wrote, "I never was in a meeting of negroes in my life . . . ,"17
While the black community was one he did not know well, he did befriend William de Fleurville, better known as "Billy the Barber." The Haitian emigrant first made his living cutting hair in Baltimore but headed west for new opportunities. He made it only as far as Illinois, where Lincoln met the hungry, desperate man in a tavern. Luckily for de Fleurville, Lincoln immediately recognized their common wit and resolved to help him set up a business in Springfield. Lincoln assisted him in obtaining a shop and found him his first clients. In time, the barbershop would be a second home for Lincoln, with law books strewn about the room as evidence of Lincoln's affinity for the place. Billy the Barber would go on to be a beloved fixture in an otherwise racist community.18
Opposition to slavery's extension did not mean Lincoln believed in social equality between the races. He long labored toward the goal of removing black people from the United States through voluntary colonization. Active in the Illinois State Colonization Society, he served in leadership positions, addressing the membership and donating money. In this, he was following Henry Clay, his ideal of a statesman. As a slave owner, Clay might have been expected to stoutly defend slavery, but he knew the institution well enough to be antislavery in his sentiments. Lincoln loved him for his "devotion to the cause of human liberty—a strong sympathy with the oppressed everywhere, and an ardent wish for their elevation." When Clay died, Lincoln was selected to offer his Springfield eulogy, in which he quoted his hero on colonization: "They must blow out the moral lights around us, and extinguish that greatest torch . . ." Lincoln used Clay's own summation: "There is a moral fitness in the idea of returning to Africa her children . . ." To this, the young politician added a heartfelt, "Every succeeding year has added strength to the hope of its realization. May it indeed be realized!"19
Lincoln thought that politicians, such as Stephen Douglas, who accused him of championing black equality were raising a false issue; the real issue that mattered was that one sector of America looked upon the slavery as wrong while another "does not look upon it as a wrong."20He tried to present a calm demeanor when confronted with these effective taunts, but he showed his frustration privately, angrily scribbling on an undated piece of paper: "Negro equality! Fudge!! How long, in the government of a God, great enough to make and maintain this Universe, shall there continue knaves to vend, and fools to gulp, so low a piece of demagougeism [sic] as this."21
In the end, though so much of his political career was predicated on the slavery controversy, he admitted, "If all the earthly power were given to me, I should not know what to do, as to the existing institution."22This frustration was not a political position, but a sincere perplexity as to what must be done. The idea that the nation would tear itself apart over slavery was an agony for him, and something in him resisted the idea that southerners could be sincere in their threat of secession, and beyond that, war. Deep down he trusted, as Jefferson had before him, that the corrosive nature of slavery would eventually cause it to collapse upon itself, that it would die an appropriate death. Exactly how this might happen was beyond his imagination, and perhaps his perplexity was mixed with equal measures of wishful thinking and denial.
Frederick Douglass saw Lincoln's election as a shift, a change, a potential opening, and people long accustomed to disappointment will happily take even chaos instead of the status quo and the stagnant. At the very least, Douglass believed anything that incensed the South the way the rise of Lincoln seemed to must be a positive development.
Rumors of secession by the South were now spreading. These were bewildering days as an anxious nation felt caught in a whirlwind that threatened a frightening new reality. Had the South truly reached a point where they felt they could no longer remain? Would the nation not endure a full century?
While the thought of conflict between North and South was something Douglass had long dreamed of, such a thought truly horrified most northerners, conjuring a sense of bloody apocalypse, not a time of jubilee. Douglass anticipated new opportunities for abolitionists after Lincoln's election, but he and other prominent radicals soon found fresh anger directed at them with a vitriol they had not encountered before. If the country was falling apart because of slavery, many began to violently blame abolitionists like Douglass for the coming schism. In Knoxville, Tennessee, a ferocious crowd mistook a man for Douglass and attacked him with bludgeons and knives.23
He was to learn this more personally in, of all places, Boston. The experience would be another of his close brushes with death.
On the frozen morning of December 3, Douglass walked into the Tremont Temple, the imposing building that stood only feet away from the Park Street Church, where William Lloyd Garrison had made his first anti-slavery speech in the city thirty years ago. Boston had sheltered Garrison's pioneering antislavery newspaper, the Liberator, as well as the equally powerful voices of black radicals such as David Walker and Maria Stewart. The forceful and effective black community had led a civil rights revolution culminating in the first racial integration of an American city's school system in 1855. Douglass assumed he was entering a city venerated as a beacon of antislavery reform; instead, it was a powder keg.
Douglass was prepared to speak at an event organized to commemorate the first anniversary of John Brown's martyrdom. There was an electric air to the proceedings, as hundreds of abolitionist sympathizers filed into the hall. Also entering were conservative Boston residents, some from affluent Beacon Hill town houses across the Boston Common, people whose profits in business ventures had long been linked to southern cotton for the looms of Lawrence and Lowell. Working-class Bostonians entered too, many of them dock workers from Boston's North End, tied to the South through the Democratic politics of the Little Giant and hatred of economic competition from free blacks. Although these two groups did not share financial standing, they had mutual contempt for abolitionists whom they perceived to be splitting the nation in two.
From the moment organizer and journalist John Redpath called the meeting to order, the hissing began. J. Stella Martin, a black minister, tried his best to quiet the crowd and to begin electing officers for the meeting, but he received a similar response from the restive crowd. Martin told the abrasive audience, "I hope this is not South Carolina." Redpath walked off the stage, then down an aisle to where the most heckling seemed to be coming from. He had grown up in Scotland and showed that his literary sophistication did not outweigh his penchant for a fight. He grabbed a critic by the collar and began dragging him to the door. Redpath repeatedly tried to heave him out of the proceedings, but the man's friends surrounded him and successfully freed the startled spectator.
Martin was still on stage attempting to yell over the crowd and bring the assembly to order. Democrats screamed that he would not silence them. Abolitionists in the hall gave three cheers for Frederick Douglass. Franklin San-born, a wealthy abolitionist who had been implicated in John Brown's raid, tried to assist Martin, pleading, "This is not the Boston I have known."
The crowd cried "Put him out," and a man broke onto the stage, shaking his fist at the speakers. They shouted "Where's the Union?" and one man shrieked that John Brown was in hell. All Douglass heard was mad laughter and competing cheers in the growing chaos. Martin called for police to restore order, and when they appeared, the superintendent of the theater appealed for the crowd to respect those that had rented the hall. This seemed to work for a few moments.
Then a surprising motion went up for an antiabolitionist named Richard S. Fay, recently failed candidate for Congress and son of a well-known judge, to be chairman. His supporters were the majority in the hall, and the motion passed with deafening support.
Police now swarmed the hall. Dock workers raised their fists and older men lifted their canes as they pushed toward the stage. They sensed they now controlled the meeting. As Fay started to address the fuming crowd, Douglass was ready to make his presence felt. Rising on stage, he asked, "Mr. Chairman, will you allow me one word?"
Tremont Temple
Fay angrily replied, "No! not yet!" A deafening noise rose from the shocked abolitionists, whose celebration was being hijacked. Fay then lamented the possible dissolution of the Union while Douglass kept trying to interrupt him. The crowd cried, "Order! Order! Sit Down! Throttle him." The Reverend Martin told his supporters in the hall, "We do not recognize him as chairman."
Coldly, Fay countered, "If you keep quiet while I speak, you will hear some truths which you do not hear at home." As the police moved through the hall pulling apart those exchanging blows, Fay read resolutions condemning John Brown, determined to reassure the South that Massachusetts did not sympathize with the "martyr."
Douglass forcefully interrupted again, and though Fay's supporters called for him to quickly end the assembly, he told Douglass to speak quickly. Fay's people did not want to hear Douglass, and they stood on their seats to jeer him. Douglass bellowed over the shouts, "This is one of the most impudent. . . barefaced . . . outrageous acts on free speech . . . that I have ever witnessed in Boston or elsewhere . . . I know your masters."
The crowd chanted, "Treason, treason! Police! Police! Put him out! Put him out!"
He continued, "I have served the same master that you are serving." Men screamed as he continued, "You are serving the slaveholders. Sir, there is a law which we are bound to obey, and the Abolitionists are most prompt to obey it. It is the law written in the Constitution of the United States, saying, 'all men are born free and equal.' " Douglass coolly added that this applied even to "the stout, big-fisted fellow down there, who has just insulted me." Douglass's supporters roared with laughter. Fay's men were indignant, demanding "Put a rope round his neck."
The police moved to the front of the stage and Douglass assured them, "I will sit down when my time is out." He fearlessly taunted again, "If I was a slave-driver, and had hold of that man for five minutes, I would let more daylight through his skin than ever got there before." At this taunt, Fay and his men declared that Douglass was finished and began to fling chairs at him. Word of the proceedings now spread around the streets of Boston, and more antiabolitionists came rushing in. Yet Douglass would not stop, howling, "I will not yield the floor." As the level of crowd violence rose higher, the police seized Douglass to carry him away.
Douglass broke free from their hands and ran to the other end of the platform. Three cheers went up for him. Members of the mob gleefully shrieked, "Put him out." The chief of police announced, "If you retire, you will stop the police from performing a very unpleasant duty." Douglass still tried to speak, "We will not yield our place on the platform. No, by God!"
Some agitators drew their guns and pointed at the black speakers still on the stage. Women screeched in fear. Police now began to hurl black men out of the hall, and Douglass's followers abruptly seemed far less committed to stay and fight for their lives than he did. A journalist watched with astonishment as Douglass, fighting "like a trained pugilist," took on scores of white men. Casting men off him, Douglass "cleared through the crowd to the rostrum, which he clutched with an air that indicated his determination to hold to his place."
Police officers swarmed around him, taking hold of his body, one jerking Douglass by his hair. The officers were now emotionally with the crowd instead of protecting the speakers, and some angered officers took hold of Douglass and dragged him to the edge of the Tremont Temple stage. They then violently threw him down the stairs. Still conscious and fighting, Douglass rose to escape as his assailants pursued him until he was out of the hall.
With Douglass and his followers seemingly routed, the southern sympathizers now set to write new resolutions denouncing the incendiary abolitionist assembly which was now effectively in shambles. Still, it was not over. From the back of the auditorium, astonishingly, Douglass walked back in with clothes torn, hair disheveled, and eyes blazing with rage. To the shock of the crowd, he walked right down the aisle. No eyes left him and no hands touched him. Once he got on stage, he looked around for a few moments and then situated himself. Sitting in silent resolve, it was clear that Douglass would not be moved until he was ready to leave on his own accord. The police chief confirmed that, on orders of the mayor, this meeting was over.
The horde did not let up during the day, knocking down any black men they found, beating and trampling them, and smashing the windows of black households. One free man fought back by hacking at a white man's leg with a hatchet. Abolitionist orator Wendell Phillips and women he was walking with on the Common were stalked by men howling, "Stone him!" "Hit him with a brick!" "Hang him!"24
That night, abolitionists reconvened at the Joy Street Baptist Church, which for decades, in an alleyway on the backside of Beacon Hill, had been the heart of Boston's black community. Furious white men were outside the church, lobbing rocks at the windows. When it was Douglass's turn to speak, the lessons of that morning were clear. The topic of that meeting had been "How Can American Slavery Be Abolished?" The fury Douglass had seen in the New England whites left no doubt as to both the staggering nature of the challenge they all faced—and the unavoidable solution. Now he would spend his life "in advocating John Brown's way of accomplishing our object."25
In further reflecting on Lincoln's election, Douglass was staggered that the South would bother with the secession movement. In assessing the Republican stance, he could not figure what the southern firebrands had to gain—if they just took Lincoln's platform at face value, they could achieve all that they had ever wanted. In believing that the new president in his moderation was in fact abolitionism's "most powerful enemy," he thought the new administration could well be "the best protectors of slavery," and if this were so, the South had nothing to fear. "Slavery will be as safe, and safer, in the Union under such a president, than it can be under any President of a Southern Confederacy." Only if they seceded would Lincoln "would then be entirely absolved from his slave-hunting, slave-catching, and slave-killing pledges and the South would have to defend slavery with its own guns, and hunt her negroes with her own dogs."26
The unsettling events of December, however, culminated with stunning news flashing through the telegraph wires on December 20 that the Union now truly faced its greatest crisis in the seventy-two years since the ratification of the Constitution. By unanimous vote at the secession conference meeting in Charleston, South Carolina formally dissolved its ties with the United States. With that vote, the visage of war loomed nearer than ever. The epicenter of disunion, Charleston was important because it promised to be the flash point of war in a more immediate way: The day after Christmas, Ken-tuckian Major Robert Anderson transferred his federal troops from Fort Moultrie to the more easily defended Fort Sumter in the Charleston harbor. It was one of few remaining federal redoubts in northern control, and the secessionists were clear that it could not remain.
The president-elect in this crisis atmosphere wrote a reassuring letter to an old friend, Alexander H. Stephens, knowing the Georgia congressman was publicly advocating against the wisdom of secession. As he had maintained so many times, Lincoln stated that he would never interfere with slavery where it already existed: "The South would be in no more danger in this respect, than it was in the days of Washington." Then he added a just summary of what was still dividing them all, despite these repeated vows of nonintervention. "You think slavery is right and ought to be extended; while we think it is wrong and ought to be restricted. That I suppose is the rub."27This point was the rub indeed, and the resulting friction was set to explode.
The final conflict that Douglass had so long predicted was now drawing closer. As December 1860 ended, the imminent secession of six other Deep South states looked inevitable, and eight other states pondered their course. Once secession began, Douglass was determined to command a national stage from which he would allow no man to remove him.
The four long months leading to Lincoln's inauguration were filled with anxiety, as South Carolina's actions sank in and the telegraph wires burned with more secession news. On January 9, Mississippi withdrew from the Union; the next day Florida; the next after that Alabama; on January 19 Georgia passed its ordinance of secession and on January 26, Louisiana; Texas followed suit on the first day of February. As the cascade of secession continued, federal forts and garrisons also fell, quickly creating the potential flash point of Fort Sumter in Charleston harbor as a lonely holdout to federal authority. Like others, Frederick Douglass felt acutely nervous over the course of events but for a reason few shared. What he most feared were last-minute concessions to the South that would deal a weighty blow to abolitionist interests. Douglass thought the antiabolitionist mobs in Boston, Philadelphia, Rochester, and elsewhere were furthering the South's demands and aggressive stance. He pleaded with those who blamed abolitionists for the nation's dire prospects to recognize the true threat, and he asked, "Now what disturbs, divides and threatens to bring on civil war, and to break up and ruin this country, but slavery. Who but one morally blind can fail to see it; and who but a moral coward can hesitate to declare it."1
Though it seemed an impossible political goal, Douglass still asserted that immediate and full emancipation was actually the only means to any lasting peace. Such a drastic measure was now "a matter of life and death."2 The South more than the North seemed to understand this, and that was why they were so ready to fight, although in some sense their political position had never seemed so promising. Though the new president was still silent on the matter of emancipation, his long train of statements on allowing slavery to be protected where it already existed held steady. Still, it was possible, from the southern perspective that the president-elect's refusal to offer any sort of "compromise" (which abolitionists considered simple capitulation) indicated that Lincoln was indeed an enemy to any future that they imagined.
Either way, Lincoln's firm history of refusing slavery's expansion into the emerging western states meant that sooner or later the slave states would be overwhelmed in Congress by the further admission of free-state politicians. The South saw that their previous hold on the levers of power was now irretrievably broken. Even if the Republican agenda held firm, without touching slavery where it existed, few southerners felt sanguine about seeing the presidency and both houses of Congress move inexorably into the control of those who believed slavery was a moral wrong. Those advocating secession were looking not simply at Lincoln's election, but at the meaning of his election for decades to come.
From the northern perspective, however, this view of things seemed strange and close to paranoid. The rise of the Republican party did not signal that abolitionism was anything more than a fringe movement, and there was little taste for anything abroad other than keeping the widely unpopular Fugitive Slave Law, a draconian measure that allowed slaveholders to take black people into the South with virtually no legal recourse. As Douglass had seen all too well, there was in fact a rising tide of hope in the North that an overarching compromise such as Henry Clay's 1850 effort could somehow yoke the clashing sections together one more time. Douglass spoke for many abolitionists when he implored the North not to give in again. He called the efforts of politicians for such compromise as "cowardly, guilty and fantastical."3
But compromise efforts did emerge, including one that proposed to write slavery into the Constitution. The Crittenden Compromise was introduced to Congress on December 18. Kentucky senator John Crittenden, a man whose admiration of Henry Clay was as great as Lincoln's, spoke on the floor of the Senate on January 9, 1861, in favor of the multifaceted plan, and though its prospects seemed dim, others were hoping the president-elect would eventually break his silence to support it. On the surface, its chief provision was to reimpose the old 1820 Missouri Compromise limits on slavery, only allowing slave states below the 36°30' latitude, but it also proposed a new constitutional amendment stating slavery in its current states would be free of federal intervention forever. Since Lincoln was clearly against expansion of slavery into the western territories and had based his whole reentry into politics on this sole idea, it was improbable he would endorse any new slave states, north or south of that famous line. But would he support the amendment that preserved slavery in perpetuity? There was no word from Lincoln, and by January 16, it appeared dead in the Senate, but there was a long period still until the new president was inaugurated.
Douglass saw this as one of the most dangerous threats yet seen to possibly ending slavery in America. He was appalled that Republicans he had championed, such as William Seward, seemed increasingly comfortable with such ideas. Douglass warned his readers, "We are, therefore, now in danger of having an open palpable Covenant with Death, and Agreement with Hell." Though he did not believe the Constitution to be inherently proslavery, work in Congress was now moving forward to change that forever. This was, in the abolitionist's eyes, a moment of extreme peril. As frightened politicians thought to fix the Union, it seemed the rejoining "must be again cemented with the slave's blood." If the North relinquished what antislavery principles it had, "The plantation rule will thus extend itself over the North, and the Negro will be hated, persecuted and despised as never before." Further, Douglass feared for the safety of any abolitionist around the country.4
In a strange quirk of history, the presidents-elect of both the North and South left their homes on the same day, February 11, for their places of inauguration, Lincoln from Springfield and Jefferson Davis from his Mississippi farm. A week later in Montgomery, Alabama, Davis was sworn in as the first president of the Confederate States of America. Despite these events, Lincoln's twelve-day train procession to Washington was marked by a strange series of statements along the way. In Columbus, Ohio, he told the state legislature, "I have not maintained silence from any want of real anxiety. It is a good thing that there is no more than anxiety, for there is nothing going wrong. It is a consoling circumstance that when we look out there is nothing that really hurts anybody. We entertain different views upon political questions, but nobody is suffering anything."5In Cleveland, he added, "I think that there is no occasion for any excitement. The crisis, as it is called, is altogether an artificial crisis . . ."6
Artificial or not, it seemed real enough to detective Alan Pinkerton, who after death threats against the president-elect whisked him overnight into Washington and deposited him at Willard's Hotel at six A.M. The train tour was over, and Lincoln had nine days until Inaugural Day to pull together a speech, a cabinet, an administration, and a nation.
One of the few hints that Lincoln was apprehensive of what awaited him was when he had admitted earlier in New York, "It is true that while I hold myself without much mock modesty, the humblest of all individuals that have ever been elevated to the Presidency, I have a more difficult task to perform than any one of them."7The frightening results of the folly and indecision of the last administration much less the southern insurrection certainly made this statement hardly hyperbole. The new president would take office with the military in pitiable shape, most of the talented West Point graduates already in the process of joining the Confederate army, many of the Union's forts and ports wrenched from his control, a significant proportion of Congress absent or soon to be, the Treasury's coffers virtually empty, the chief justice his sworn enemy, and the nation shorn in two. George Washington had formed a government from nothing; Abraham Lincoln had to form a government from chaos.
A few days before the inauguration, Douglass was feeling hopeful about Lincoln's intentions, as the man had given no indication that he would in any way capitulate to the South's demands. The editor took this as a sign that Lincoln would not betray the ideals upon which voters elected him. If he was correct, he knew the South would never accept this president, that "the context must now be decided, and decided forever, which of the two, Freedom or Slavery, shall give law to this Republic. Let the conflict come."8
Abraham Lincoln was inaugurated the sixteenth president of the United States on the early morning of March 4, in a tense city where blue winter sunshine could not disguise its gloom. Troops lined the streets and snipers were arrayed atop federal buildings. As Lincoln rode from the White House to the Capitol, one spectator commented, "It seemed more like escorting a prisoner to his doom than a President to his inauguration."9Despite the ominous atmosphere, Lincoln in a dry and coolly reasonable address sought to appeal to his countrymen, principally to his southern listeners (if there were any at that point) to save the Union. He stoutly maintained that "the Union of these States is perpetual." Secession was, in this sense, an illusion that his government would never recognize as legitimate. As president, sworn to uphold the nation's laws, he would address the insurrection by fulfilling his oath. That need not mean war—"In your hands, my dissatisfied fellow countrymen, and not in mine, is the momentous issue of civil war. The government will not assail you"
Yet he was more than willing to meet his disaffected countrymen halfway. There would be no interference with slavery or any state's "domestic institutions." He would enforce the Fugitive Slave Law (as odious as he found it). He would even support the draconian Crittenden constitutional amendment permitting slavery (like the existence of the Union) in perpetuity. Lincoln essentially offered to make the entire basis of the Civil War a nonexistent factor.
In a shift of tone, he concluded with an evocative flourish: "The mystic chords of memory, stretching from every battle-field, and patriot grave, to every living heart and hearthstone, all over this broad land, will yet swell the chorus of the Union, when again touched, as surely they will be, by the better angels of our nature."10
As the day ended, Lincoln walked into his office for the very first time, and he was greeted with the news that Major Robert Anderson felt he did not have the supplies to hold out until the Union navy could resupply him. Fort Sumter was the first item on the desk, and there was no time left to compromise.
Douglass had had high hopes that the new president would step into the leadership void, but he was severely disappointed when he read Lincoln's inaugural address, both for the coldness it displayed toward the slaves and the conciliatory, even kind, attitude offered to the South. The words he seized upon were "I have no purpose, directly or indirectly, to interfere with the institution of slavery in the States where it exists. I believe I have no lawful right to do so, and I have no inclination to do so."11It seemed to him that the adding of the word "inclination" was superfluously callous, if not morally obtuse.
In his rage, Douglass declared that Lincoln had begun his presidency by "announcing his complete loyalty to slavery."12In regard to a constitutional amendment that would write slavery permanently into the nation's constitution, Lincoln said he favored such a step, saying "[H]olding such a provision to now be implied constitutional law, I have no objection to its being made express, and irrevocable."13
From Douglass's vantage point, what kind of antislavery president was this? Lincoln spent a considerable amount of his speech reassuring the South that he would indeed enforce the Fugitive Slave Law.
In this straightforward signal to the South that even slave laws would be faithfully served, Douglass declared in his April Monthly, "what an excellent slave hound he is . . ." Douglass saw what his radical allies had been saying all along in their opposition to the Republican candidate, and he furiously turned on Lincoln, condemning his "slave hunting, slave catching and slave killing pledges." Sickened, Douglass felt he had been betrayed. A livid Douglass wrote,
Some thought we had in Mr. Lincoln the nerve and decision of an OLIVER CROMWELL; but the result shows that we merely have a continuation of the PIERCES and BUCHANANS, and that the Republican President bends the knee to slavery as readily as any of his infamous predecessors.
Douglass felt humiliated by Lincoln's weakness. This attitude of benevolence and conciliation would only embolden the southern traitors when Lincoln should "blast their high blown pride." Sadly, Douglass concluded, "Mr. Lincoln opens his address by announcing his complete loyalty to slavery in the slave states. He stands upon the same moral level, and is in no respect better than they."14
Yet somehow, these same slaveholders did not hear in this speech any such moral similarity. What they read in Lincoln's appeal was another anti-slavery screed, and so the nation moved headlong into a bloodbath.
Lincoln was acutely aware that the stakes of the war extended beyond the nation and its borders. The Confederacy's hope to expand and create an empire based on the model of southern slavery had been openly espoused, most notably by Alexander Stephens, his old friend who was now vice president under Jefferson Davis. Stephens proclaimed these states formed only "the nucleus of a growing power, which, if we are true to ourselves, our destiny, and high mission, will become the controlling power on this continent." 15 The annexation of Cuba often had been discussed before the war, and if the South were to win its liberation, that expansion effort would likely continue, with an eye to countries in Central America.
Prior to the war, Alexander Stephens had served with Lincoln in Congress, and they continued a correspondence up to the war and communicated about tentative peace offers during the war itself. In a March 1861 speech in Savannah, Stephens attempted to interpret why this great collision had come, admitting that slavery was, as Thomas Jefferson had predicted long ago, the "rock upon which the old Union is split." But he doubted that Jefferson had fully understood the true nature of slavery, falsely believing it to be an evil, a social institution that the nation would find a way to outgrow. This was "fundamentally wrong," Stephens proclaimed; Jefferson's error was believing in "the equality of the races": "Our new Government is founded upon exactly the opposite ideas; its foundations are laid, its cornerstone rests, upon the great truth that the negro is not equal to the white man, that the slavery, subordination to the superior race, is his natural and moral condition." Stephens added that his new government "is the first, in the history of the world, based on this great physical, philosophical, and moral truth . . . ,"16
Lincoln understood what powerful elements of the Confederate government coveted and why this demanded a war waged until such ambitions were checked. He made it clear, however, that if war came, it would not be from his hands. Yet, the unthinkable seemed more likely each day as state after state left the Union, and rushed steps toward establishing a new Confederate States of America proceeded, most notably with elected representatives and newly appointed president Jefferson Davis preparing an army for their "nation's" defense. The hastening dynamic of secession seemed inexorable.
William Lloyd Garrison and Wendell Phillips, leading radical abolitionists, had for more than a decade advocated disunion, ridding the northern states of the taint and corrupting influence of slavery. After espousing this course for so long, many abolitionists were shocked that what they had wished for was coming to fruition. With a clearer mind, Douglass viewed these events as nothing less than a calamity. He had always been more than a little dubious of his fellow abolitionists (particularly those who had never been personally exposed to slavery nor had been slaves); their proclamations had often smacked of moral posturing rather than a way of freeing slaves.
For the North to secede from the South would have been to abandon forever the slaves to their fate, leaving abolitionists basking in their moral purity. It reeked of recklessness, and now they were tasting their own disunion-ist remedy. Douglass asked a question that demanded a realistic answer: "Will the South become less intensely slave-holding, and the North more antislavery?" Douglass thought not. In these drastic times, Douglass wanted Lincoln to speak forcefully on how he would fight to hold on to all parts of the country. Not to do so would quickly create for northern abolitionists a powerless situation that his English abolitionist friends had long experienced as they looked on American slavery, as "a thing of foreign interest over which we have no power, and therefore, no responsibility." Successful southern secession would "end the thirty years moral warfare with the accursed slave system." As the nation dissolved, patriotic feelings stirred in him. In his writings he evoked "the mighty rivers and fertile fields that bind it together" and other patriotic images to help Americans understand that true separation was impossible.17
It was a strange time of political limbo as the southern states fell, one by one, like dominoes, into the seduction of separation. In this void, the president seemed a nonentity. Douglass was vexed by the president who seemed neither strong enough to preserve the Union, nor moral enough to champion emancipation.18In Rochester, New York, the Democrat and Chronicle reported, "On no occasion since the days of the Revolution have our citizens undergone the same degree of anxious exciting suspense that characterizes every hour of the day."19
In the middle of the night of April 12, 1861, firebrands in South Carolina let loose sustained artillery fire upon Fort Sumter, the spectacular cannonade lighting up the Charleston harbor. The suspense at last over, the war that so many had predicted, and so few envisioned in its future course of savagery, was upon them all. Douglass exclaimed, "Thank God!—the slaveholders themselves have saved our cause from ruin!"20
Confusion gripped cities and towns around the country. Six days after shots rang out at Fort Sumter, at a public meeting held in Rochester, thousands of citizens crowded the City Hall. Speaker after speaker called on free men to defend the Union, to enlist and respond to Lincoln's call for volunteers. Douglass described these days as "deep, intense, heartfelt, widespread and thrilling excitement."21He welcomed war because, as he told a friend in words similar to Lincoln's, "I have little hope of the freedom of the slave by peaceable means."22As he awoke in the morning and as he tried to fall asleep at night, his thoughts shifted from buoyant expectations of what this war could beget to despondency on whether the immense opportunity at hand would be lost in compromises by feeble leaders. He feared premature capitulation by the North, before the war could engulf slavery.
On the day the first local soldiers would depart Rochester, American flags hung from every building in town and patriotic designs flew from telegraph poles. The first eight companies from Rochester left on May 3 on trains bound for Elmira. Douglass was one of the twenty thousand who crowded State Street to watch the troops parade. His emotions swelled as he watched wives embracing departing husbands and heard the mournful cries of mothers who did not know if they would see their sons again. Though it was not a thought held by many in this throng, he held slavery responsible for every aching moments in these families' lives.23
But this was not his only emotion as the men marched to their destinies. The black man also watched these boldly outfitted men with envy, wondering when and if the country would afford the same opportunity to his people. Douglass wrote that he was ready to go and would have gladly marched in these ranks. Only days before, he had told residents to "let a few colored regiments go down South and assist in setting their brothers free, and they could and would do this work effectively for our government." Someone stopped Douglass in the street and asked what his people would do in this conflict. Douglass responded, "Would to God you would let us do something!" 24
Intimately understanding how the social structures of the South worked, Douglass told audiences that it would quickly and efficiently put black men to work building fortifications and doing other hard labor to aid the war effort. Clearly, the Union was not taking equal advantage of the vast resources his people could offer. He detested the racism he saw in the North's refusal to employ black men, asking northerners why they thought that they were too aristocratic to march by the side of a black man.25He also predicted, "If this conflict shall expand to the grand dimensions which events seem to indicate, the iron arm of the black man may be called into service."26
His life mission of destroying slavery now had a means and purpose—to put free blacks into the battle. To do so, he encouraged blacks to organize themselves into martial societies and companies, to buy arms and learn to use them. Douglass declared, "Let's not only be ready on call, but be casting about for an opportunity to strike for the freedom of the slave, and for the rights of human nature." He began articulating these goals in monthly lectures on Sunday afternoons at the Spring Street A.M.E. Zion Church in Rochester. Every month the crowds grew, until church leaders realized they needed to find a larger space if they were going to continue sponsoring Douglass's addresses. Along with his monthly newspaper, these speeches gave him the opportunity to push for an abolition war.27He told an audience on April 28, ". . . the control of events has been taken out of our hands . . . we have fallen into the mighty current of eternal principles—invisible forces, which are shaping and fashioning events as they wish, using us only as instruments to work out their own results in our National destiny." The understanding of freedom and the war that Lincoln would come to would be strikingly similar. Douglass predicted in April, "But the time may yet come when the President shall proclaim liberty through all the land." This was a conflict that "will, and must, if continued, take on a broader margin. The law of its life is growth."28
Though the Lincoln administration would resist emancipation for a time, the war would change because the " 'inexorable logic of events' will force it upon them in the end; that the war now being waged in this land is a war for and against slavery; and that it can never be effectively put down till one or the other of these vital forces is completely destroyed."29
For years, Douglass had dismissed colonization plans. He clung to his dreams of black people living free and equal in the United States, so whether white or black people advocated these schemes of a mass exodus, he did not accept them. However, in the months before war broke out, the prospects had been discouraging enough for him to begin entertaining notions of leaving America. When James Redpath, who had organized the Tremont Temple debacle, offered him a free trip on a steamer chartered by the Haitian Bureau to investigate whether his people's future might be more promising on this revolutionary island, Douglass justified the trip to his readers: "We propose to act in view of the settled fact that many of [the black population] are already resolved to look for homes beyond the boundaries of the United States."30
Douglass was unconvinced about emigration plans but was unabashedly elated to stand "upon the soil of San Domingo, the theater of many stirring events and heroic achievements, the work of a people, bone of our bone, and flesh of our flesh."31Over the years he had often spoken of the thirteen years of blood-soaked slave rebellion in Haiti that had ended in the creation of a free black republic. Behind the fearless leadership of men such as Toussaint L'Ouverture, the enslaved people battled their French oppressors from plantation to fiery plantation. By 1804, Haitians had won the right to rule their own country and determine their own destiny. The world had never before seen a slave uprising create a free nation. This uprising had long been an inspiration to Douglass's struggle in America, as it repudiated myths of black cowardice and ignorance. He wanted to experience a government administered by black people more than fifty years on from their revolution. If American blacks were to emigrate, at least Haiti's proximity to their native land would mean they remained "within hearing distance of the wails of our brothers and sisters in bonds."32Although emancipation had swept throughout Europe, slavery continued in the United States, Cuba, and Brazil. Haiti was the ultimate beacon of hopefulness.
Douglass had scheduled a six-to-eight-week trip for May with his daughter Rosetta and Ottilie Assing. The trio were to set sail to Port-au-Prince from New Haven, Connecticut, on April 25. But when war broke out at Fort Sumter on April 12, Douglass faced a monumental decision. With the war at hand, could he afford to lose writing and speaking time by being abroad? Could this conflict eventually create an everlasting home for his people in a form he could only dimly envision? What kind of message would it send if Douglass left America now, instead of springing into advocacy for an abolition war?
When readers opened their May edition of Douglass Monthly, it was bewildering. On its opening pages was a detailed review of Douglass's journey to Haiti, shocking enough since he had not previously mentioned the trip and had been such an avid colonization foe. Douglass topped his personal bombshell with the news of real bombshells falling upon Fort Sumter. And in the last paragraphs of the paper, in type set at the last moment, he announced the cancellation of his trip.
Douglass reported, "The last ten days have made a tremendous revolution in all things pertaining to the possible future of colored people in the United States." He vowed that he would "stay here and watch the current events and serve the cause of freedom and humanity in any way that shall be open to use during the struggle now going on between the slave power and government." He predicted that while northerners were confident of a quick and easy war, they would soon become better acquainted with the barbarity of slaveholders. He predicted, "The revolution through which we are passing is an excellent instructor." Once that happened, "they may be willing to make war upon [slavery], and in that case we stand ready to lend a hand in any way we can be of service. At any rate, this is not time for us to leave the country."33
As tempting as the trip to free Haiti appeared, in the end it was impossible for him to tear himself away from a conflict that had the potential to make freedom real. Douglass would give America one more chance. Whether the nation would fulfill his long-deferred dreams or break his toughened heart was another question. At any rate, his decision was clear: He would hope again.
On the first day of May, Douglass wrote to a friend of his twenty-year activist career: "The clouds and darkness which surrounded its morning— and which have brooded over it most of the way—seem now disappearing in the opening prospects of my long enslaved people . . . We have drifted into the deep current of Eternal Laws—and must be carried where they lead."34
Fighting had hardly begun when Douglass published heroic accounts of black soldiers in the American Revolution and the War of 1812 in the May 1861 issue of Douglass'Monthly. His message was unmistakable: LET THE SLAVES AND FREE COLORED PEOPLE BE CALLED INTO SERVICE AND FORMED INTO A LIBERATING ARMY.1
Realizing intense racism would make the prospect of free black men in blue a daunting sell, the editor began the long appeal to northern whites to think of their own welfare, to be practical about how to win this war they had stumbled into and must somehow finish. He did not share the widely held belief that the war would be quick, with a symbolic battle or two to teach the secessionists that they could achieve their goals politically. (Many Union politicians were anxious to pacify the new Confederacy once war had been tasted and found unpalatable.) Arming blacks in the South who were newly freed by Union soldiers would instantly rob the Confederacy of its chief labor source—each freed slave was one less worker for Jefferson Davis, and each gun in the hand of a black soldier further increased the Union odds. To resist this logic was senseless: "We are still hugging the delusion that we can crush out treason without hurting the traitors."2
Douglass wrote of Union generals who, in infuriating contrast to this logic, turned fugitive slaves away from their lines, thus depriving themselves of crucial intelligence sources. He predicted the physical result would be a land drenched in blood, as the enslaved would awake from a long stupor with prodigious force. The old vision of John Brown still tugged at Douglass, who was captivated by the enticing notion of free black regiments marching into the heart of the South with a stunning effect on its morale.
He was by no means the only black man wanting to fight in this war. Black men met and passed resolutions offering to fight for their country in cities such as Boston, Providence, Cleveland, Detroit, Pittsburgh, New York, and Washington. In Philadelphia, men began drilling outside of their Masonic Hall.3Wherever the volunteer offers came from, the Lincoln administration was fierce and unrelenting in response: Their services were not needed or desired.
Meanwhile, the Confederacy was not so blind and took full advantage of their vast pool of enslaved labor, with every worker freeing up a white southern man to fight. The Memphis Avalanche reported, "Upwards of 1,000 negroes, armed with spades and pickaxes, have passed through the city within the past few days."4The rebels need not send them to battle, but the Confederacy was making use of their black population to do manual labor in a way that the North refused to do. Douglass knew this would be the case when he wrote in June, "The very stomach of this rebellion is the negro in the condition of a slave. The negro is the key of the situation—the pivot upon which the whole rebellion turns."5
The North was very far from understanding this pivot, but unfortunately it was not the only problem going unaddressed. Douglass used his unquestionable knowledge of the psychology of the enslaved (as well as those who had wrenched themselves free of it) to assert that if the North did not offer slaves their freedom, give them something to entice them, they would numbly continue to serve their masters and that government. In the first months of the war, he made a case that he would repeat to Secretary of War Edwin M. Stanton in two years: "Who can blame them? They are men, and like men governed by their interests . . . capable of love and hate. They can be friends, and they can be foes."6The current policy was making them foes, when they could be inestimably valuable friends.
Douglass believed that to alter this policy, the Lincoln administration needed to be swayed in any way possible. It required more antislavery meetings, abolition agents, editorials, and personal letters, and a mountain of labor for himself. Most of all, in this time before any battles had been fought, Douglass hoped that Lincoln would learn to assert himself and develop the kind of inflexible firmness associated with such presidents as Andrew Jackson.7Lincoln, wholly inexperienced in government organization, military knowledge, and diplomatic expertise, somehow had to exercise the authority to forcefully remind the South that he was still the lawfully elected president, that their claims of creating a new nation were false, and that the United States was in a state of fractious rebellion, not dissolution.
To that end, Lincoln was pushing General Irving McDowell and the un-proven Union army to engage the equally unproven Confederate forces. Everyone was anxious for action. As Douglass wrote at the beginning of July, "The war has made little progress, physical or moral."8At last, the Union army departed Washington on July 16, intent on engaging and quickly snuffing out the rebellion. Their path intersected with the Confederate army at Manassas Junction, next to Bull Run creek, twenty-five miles south of Washington, close enough so that politicians and other prominent Washingtonians traveled down and set up picnic parties for what they believed to be the first and last battle of this war. In the heat of July 21, the killing commenced.
Union forces were close to breaking through the Confederate flank on the lush green Henry House Hill, but an eccentric Virginia Military Academy professor named Thomas Jackson arrested their progress, earning the nickname "Stonewall" for his stand. J. E. B. Stuart, a dashing cavalry dragoon in a purple-plumed hat, and his men charged out of the woods at the perfect time, running into the jammed-in Union army and slicing their way through northern companies outfitted in their distinctive blue and white Zouave uniforms. The rout was on. The North's lack of military discipline was dangerously apparent as its ranks gave way to bloody chaos. The federal army did not formally regroup until back in the District of Columbia, with many men retreating at a run, never stopping until they saw the sight of the Capitol. The fantasy of an undemanding war was over. Douglass hoped that this shock of losing would not lure back "the dark shadow of compromise."9
In a panicked Washington overrun by shaken soldiers, the next day the House of Representatives passed a resolution stating that ending existing southern institutions was not the goal of this war. The conflict, they said, was only to preserve the Union and the Constitution. The Senate passed a parallel measure three days later. They were making it clear to both sides that the war was not over the eradication of slavery.
If the country could achieve peace, it would because they had "bound up the fate of the Republic and that of the slave in the same bundle, and the one and the other must survive or perish together," Douglass had written in May 1861. Slavery was a national affliction shackling both races: "The Republic has put one end of the chain upon the ankle of the bondman, and the other end about its own neck." In effect, both races needed emancipation to truly be free.10
Months later, with the war going badly, and with frustration growing in the North, Douglass would still claim, "No President, no Cabinet, no army can withstand the mighty current of events."11His message was consistent. Slavery caused this war, so it must end with the destruction of the cruel custom, otherwise the war would end in true defeat. There was no alternative, and it was fanciful to think otherwise.
Since Douglass's early assessments of how the war would play out proved so accurate, it is difficult today to understand how radical and unpopular these ideas were, though the incident at Tremont Temple indicates the reality Douglass faced. Prejudice toward blacks twisted views of the conflict in powerful ways. Astonishingly, the New York Times wrote that the war would be occurring even if there were not a slave in America because "The issue is between anarchy and order,—between Government and lawlessness,—between the authority of the Constitution and reckless will of those who seek its destruction." National Intelligencer echoed this sentiment with these stark words: "The existing war has no direct relation to slavery."12
In 1861, the notion of black men fighting in the war was laughable. The New York Times mockingly proposed "to Jeff. Davis that if he will rendezvous the whole of his black warriors somewhere on the coast of South Carolina, they will be delighted to meet them and him there, on any day he may name—he to general the black revolutionary cohorts, and Fred. Hannibal Douglass to lead the enemy." Such sallies would seem not just shortsighted in two years, but foolhardy from any sound strategic view. The North would find "black warriors" to be a necessity in victory, and Douglass would be a leader in recruiting them.13
Northerners were surprised and uneasy that European governments expressed little support for their cause, indicating the possibility of foreign recognition or even military support for the Confederacy. This would be a disaster for the Union. Douglass believed that the key to holding off foreign recognition of the Confederacy lay with the slavery issue. If the North could find the will to declare that they were fighting to expand freedom, other nations would then support them. As things stood, foreign governments saw the war as having no overarching moral dimension, as just the battling of states in conflict, a matter they cared little about (although the South did hold the trump card of King Cotton on their side). These nations needed some sort of well-defined differentiation of the North's goals from those of the slave-holding South.
Douglass, having been in Britain for five months in the previous year, knew that European countries were unclear as to what was driving the North in this war. He explained, "A lukewarm cause deserves only a lukewarm sympathy. When we deserve more, we shall receive more." Douglass believed a government indifferent to the malevolence of slavery would not attract allies, for "that attitude deprives us of the moral support of the world." His words were rather like Lincoln's from seven years earlier, speaking about slavery to a Peoria crowd, "I hate it because it deprives our republican example of its just influence in the world." The North was now blindly squandering its own "just influence" and paying the price.14
As a new president overwhelmed at the complexity of his task, Lincoln, of course, saw his way forward very differently. In his assessment, the possibility of foreign powers recognizing the Confederacy was a problem that could be dealt with as the war moved on, but there was one absolute pressing imperative that made Congress's recent vote on war goals compatible with his views. Every day, Lincoln was engaged with a delicate political balancing act to keep border states such as Kentucky, Tennessee, and most of all, Maryland in the Union. He felt the war was winnable (he hoped) with the states aligned as they were, but the loss of any of the border states tipped the equation and the war became an exercise in futility. Douglass never accepted this logic or this imperative, and he steadfastly advised, "Make this an abolition war, and you at once unite the world against the rebels."15Political leaders in Europe, who were inclined to favor the South since it served to weaken America in the play of world events, would have a difficult time justifying their opposition to that.
Lincoln, on the way to the White House, had declared at Independence Hall in Philadelphia that he "never had a feeling politically that did not spring from the sentiments embodied in the Declaration of Independence . . . It was that which gave promise that in due time the weights should be lifted from the shoulders of all men, and that all should have an equal chance."16 Douglass too turned to the Declaration for inspiration. The guarantee to "life, liberty and pursuit of happiness" was something that he believed outweighed any legal backing America had subsequently bequeathed slavery. Douglass asked the government to "unsheathe the sword to make this truth the law of the land to all its inhabitants and it will then deserve, and will receive the cordial and earnest sympathy of the lovers of liberty throughout the world."17
On August 6, a law passed both houses of Congress calling for the confiscation of property used "in aid of the rebellion." This little remembered statute was important because it started the long train of steps to the adoption in 1865 of the Thirteenth Amendment to the Constitution freeing all slaves. Perhaps the reason it is so overlooked is that the so-called Confiscation Act concerned not property at all, but human beings. Even abolitionist-leaning members of Congress were hamstrung by fierce resistance to the conflict being tied in any way to slavery, so the law dealt with the increasing tide of blacks freeing themselves and fleeing into Union lines in terms that their former owners would have recognized—as property. Still, for radical senators and representatives, this was an important first step in coping with the hundreds (and as the war continued, thousands) of black people that the Confederacy was depending on to assist the rebellion. The Confiscation Act was enacted in a vacuum of leadership from the Lincoln administration, which was choosing to let individual Union generals on the ground deal with the problem as they wished. These same politicians would play an important role in goading Lincoln forward, as they possessed legislative powers that agitators such as Douglass did not.
The Radical Republicans (labeled Jacobins by Lincoln's secretary John Hay) were actually a fairly diverse group, many of whom came to their convictions not through devotion to abolitionism but to a free-soil ideology aimed at the economic advancement of white men. Thus, many of the radicals, though they pushed hard at Lincoln's perceived slowness, in fact did not share Douglass's views on black equality. One of slavery's strongest foes, Senator Benjamin F. Wade, a mercurial Ohioan whose temper made him always willing to duel for his honor, swore that if the war "continues thirty years and bankrupts the whole nation, I hope to God there will be no peace until we can say there is not a slave in this land." Yet, like President Lincoln, Wade was also a firm proponent of colonizing black Americans out of the country. Even as he worked for emancipation, he hoped "to hear no more about Negro equality or anything of that kind. Sir, we shall be as glad to rid ourselves of these people, if we can do it consistently with justice, as anybody else."18
On the other hand, there were dedicated men like Representative Thad-deus Stevens and Senator Charles Sumner, each of whom had long fought for racial equality. Sumner had grown up living among the free black community of Boston on the back slope of Beacon Hill, and had teamed with black attorney Robert Morris to argue the first school desegregation case, Roberts v.the City of Boston. A humorless dandy of cosmopolitan tastes and acute intellect, Sumner was relentless, fearless, and did not mind causing offense. He was sometimes called, in his reckless and determined abolitionism, the "John Brown of Congress." Of Sumner, Douglass said, "none has uttered the feelings of the black man so well; none have hurled at slavery such a succession of moral thunderbolts as he."19He hurled many such thunderbolts at Lincoln, serving as a conscience and a goad. After the disaster at Bull Run, Sumner spent until midnight at the White House trying to convince Lincoln that it was time for full emancipation, that he had been advised by John Quincy Adams that in these war circumstances, the power to do so was his. Lincoln did not agree, but Sumner would be back. While delivering a eulogy for Senator Edward Baker, a friend of Lincoln killed at the battle of Ball's Bluff, Sumner used the joint session of the Senate and House to assail slavery. He looked right at Lincoln when he named slavery as the murderer of Lincoln's late friend. Lincoln stared back stonily. Yet the two men, as different as they were, developed an odd sort of friendship and mutual respect.20
Senator Charles Sumner
After the defeat at Bull Run, during the doldrums of the summer of 1861, it was difficult for abolitionists like Douglass and Sumner to see any prospects for improvement. Douglass did not know how to write about this event without giving comfort to the rebels, but it was impossible to deny things were not going well. He urged his readers to pressure the government "through the press, by petitions, by letters, by personal representations, and in every way, in a manner to convince it that the people of this great Republic are ready" for emancipation. Douglass demonstrated his grasp of presidential legal history, noting John Quincy Adams's theory that the government could abolish slavery as a war measure during a time of conflict. He believed this to be all the justification needed for Lincoln to take the great step. Indeed, it was this same point that Charles Sumner hammered away at with Lincoln, to no avail.21
At times Douglass felt beside himself, speaking to a nation in such painfully obvious denial. He kept hearing a national refrain that this was not a war about slavery; it was a "sectional war." What qualities about these two sections would produce war, Douglass wondered? Not the two languages, climate, or soils, "not a quarrel between cotton and corn—between live oak and live stock." In fact, "There is nothing existing between them to prevent national concord and enjoyment of the profoundest peace, but the existence of slavery." If they were going to wage war against the South, why not eliminate the only thing that truly divided them? So he pushed on to "make the Government and people an abolition Government and abolition people."22
Douglass poured his frustration into a letter to Rev. Samuel J. May. It was as though the government was convinced that "no good shall come to the Negro from this war." Why was a slaveholder bearing arms against the government treated better than a slave? Not closed to optimism, he still confessed "that it seems much like hoping against hope." He would keep waiting, but "Whenever the government is ready to make the war, a war for freedom and progress and will receive the service of black men on the same terms upon which it receives that of other men I pledge myself to do one man's work in supplying the Government."23This pledge would come to pass, though in ways he could not have imagined in the first months of war.
On the day Douglass wrote this letter, August 30, one general in the field was at last taking action to change the tone and tenor of the war. General John Fremont issued an order declaring martial law in Missouri, and then declaring slaves owned by disloyal citizens free. Fremont was a household name because his western odysseys before the Civil War had captivated America's imagination. Fremont had a gift for translating the unbounded, previously unexplored beauty of the West onto maps, and these heroic exploits catapulted a man whose surveying skills exceeded his political ones into the Republican nomination for president in 1856. Four years before Lincoln's election, the country had not been ready for a party hostile to slavery's extension to win the White House. Now Fremont the Pathfinder was leaping far ahead of Lincoln's policies by conferring freedom to slaves in a crucial border state, and the president was ashen when he heard the news. This radical move was the last thing his border state policy needed. However, in Rochester, Douglass shouted for joy when he read the proclamation. He elatedly believed that the Pathfinder had found a trail to victory in this war, striking right at the rebellion's heart.24
Lincoln responded quickly, telling Fremont that his actions "will alarm our Southern Union friends, and turn them against us—perhaps ruin our rather fair prospect for Kentucky." The vision of his birth state seceding and raising arms against the Union was of continual torment to Lincoln. Fremont responded that Lincoln of course could overrule him, but he would not modify his order because "it would imply that I myself thought it wrong."25
Fremont's wife, Jessie, as bright as she was outspoken, met with Lincoln in a late night meeting to plead her husband's case. According to her, Lincoln coldly responded, "It was a war for a great national idea, the Union and . . . General Fremont should not have dragged the Negro into it." Lincoln felt he had no choice but to officially withdraw the order, not only because it so frightened the border states, but because he realized a new president must maintain control of his prerogatives and policies. He could not have his generals seizing the initiative.26
Douglass's resentment of Abraham Lincoln was growing. In disgust, Douglass described "the weakness, imbecility and absurdity of this policy . . ." Fremont's proclamation had been another test that Lincoln failed, as the lawyer inside him outweighed the warrior. When Douglass heard that Lincoln was considering relieving Fremont of duty, he thought the idea suicidal for the war effort, and that Lincoln only contemplated it because a much bolder man was threatening Lincoln's ambition. The Radical Republicans in Washington were irate; Douglass predicted, "In three years more the people will call for the man and his principles to end this war! and then they will sanction the death of slavery in the man of their choice." The comment would prove to be half-right.27
Regardless of what Lincoln did to Fremont, the issue of slavery was not going away. More than any politician, general, or activist, the slaves were themselves forcing the issue. Wherever the Union forces moved into southern territory, their advancing lines made closer and more attractive the prospect of freedom. It was almost as if the Promised Land was coming to them, the fabled North Star steering their way. Though such an exodus made perfect sense to the slaves, the North seemed unprepared for them to flood military lines. If Lincoln was determined to keep slavery out of this war, the message had not reached these travelers.
The fat, pugnacious General Benjamin Butler had dealt with this question of what to do with them by classifying them, innovatively, as war's "contraband." It was a racist, but clever, way to deal with a contentious issue, as those who opposed emancipation liked a term that continued to keep blacks labeled as property, even as those who favored freedom knew it was, in fact, a significant softening toward an emerging reality of emancipation. After all, who would not be in favor of taking away valuable property of an enemy? Moreover, the offensive phrase held practical value for abolitionists, helping to shift the prior policies of many Union generals who had cheerfully sent slaves by the hundreds back to their masters in the first months of the war. With decidedly mixed feelings, Douglass parodied the ridiculousness of it all by telling the story of an escaped black man in Clarksville, Tennessee, whose owner found him within Union lines and accused him of stealing a horse to aid his getaway. A federal officer responded, "I don't see how that can be. One piece of property steal another?"28
As the fall began, Douglass imagined a scenario: "If persons so humble as we could be allowed to speak to the President of the United States, we should ask him if this dark and terrible hour of the nation's extremity is a time for consulting a mere vulgar and unnatural prejudice." The article shows no sign that Douglass actually believed a meeting like this could ever occur. In his fantasy, Douglass said he would tell Lincoln of black soldiers who fought alongside General Jackson at New Orleans and how Jackson, cruel as he could be, did not deny their bravery. He wanted to enlighten the president on the black man's service in the Revolutionary War, or of the bravery of men like Nat Turner who struck at slavery without regard for their own life. In unmistakable terms, he wanted to tell the president what Douglass was proclaiming in all his public addresses, that "this is no time to fight only with your white hand, and allow your black hand to remain tied." No one had greater motivation to fight slaveholders than those they enslaved. Douglass asked, "Is he not a man? Can he not wield a sword, bear a gun, march and countermarch, and obey orders like any other?"29
If Douglass needed a reminder about his status for some in America, he received it in Syracuse, New York. He was slated to give a lecture entitled "The Rebellion, its Cause and Remedy" at Wieting Hall on Thursday and Friday, November 14 and 15, 1861. During the week, residents saw a handbill posted around the town. The title was "Nigger Fred Coming." It warned citizens of the upcoming lecture and asked, "Shall his vile sentiments again be tolerated in this community by a constitutional-liberty loving people? or shall we give him a warm reception at this time, for his insolence, as he deserves?" The writer made clear what they wanted done to this "coward and traitor," galvanizing antiabolitionists to "Rally, then, one and all, and drive him from our city!"30
The city was on edge in the hours leading up to Douglass's lecture. Violent mob action was on Syracuse's mind. Mayor Charles Andrews, a Republican, busied himself with preparations to see that a repeat of the Tremont Temple disaster would not happen in his city. He was serious enough to allocate $300 for the task. He organized the regular police and appointed a fifty-man special force for the occasion. The county sheriff and his resources joined in the efforts and those training troops at nearby Camp Munro assembled their men to take action sooner than the new soldiers would have thought. The owner of the hall refused to be frightened into canceling the lecture.31
When Douglass arrived at the hall to speak, he was stunned at the sight of a double guard of soldiers at each entrance. In fact, they had been there since late afternoon, standing with bayonets fixed. When it was time for Douglass to rise, Mayor Andrews locked arms with him and walked him to the podium, while soldiers presented themselves in the hall led by a particularly overweight major. The conservative Syracuse Daily Courier and Union railed against the Republican show of force that "beggaredail description—all to protect a negro from 'mob-violence,' fill the house with people, Fred's pockets with ten cent pieces, (at the expense of the city Government!)." They added that every disloyal Douglass speech was worth a thousand men toward the Confederate cause.32
For Douglass, the lead-up to his speech felt all too reminiscent of the previous December's speech in Boston. Yet he walked away from this event heartened, because this time those around him defended his right to speak. The effort that this mayor had taken to shield him was a promising sign in troubling times.
Some still hated and feared Douglass, but others were increasingly offering support and protection. Douglass's schedule of lecturing picked up, and he pressed his message wherever he could. He battled through frequent colds as he continued to suffer from chronic bronchitis. As his British friend Rosine Draz reminded him, "Do take care of your health. Do not use your voice when your chest is weak." Draz, his most active English correspondent, knew Douglass pushed hard into his work reframing this war because he believed in the cause, but she also believed that if he paused, his grief from Annie's death would threaten to overwhelm him again.33
As much as possible, Douglass focused on his work. In the Monthly, he printed a letter supporting full and immediate emancipation that he implored supporters to sign and mail to Congress, and petitions that he directed abolitionists to take from house to house to accumulate signatures. He hoped these letters and petitions would arrive in congressional offices "in such numbers, and in such arguments, as to leave no room for the Government to escape from the great work of liberation."34
A year to the day, Douglass was back on the same Tremont Temple stage where he had last done battle with words and fists. It was bitter December in Boston. Making a speech on the anniversary of such an ignominious occasion was in itself a statement of defiance for Douglass. But surprisingly, the speech he prepared did not remotely resemble the themes he had spoken of last year. His lecture was on the emerging art form of photography.
The lecture series, known as the "Fraternity Course," had featured some of the greatest minds in America—Emerson, Beecher, Phillips, and Sumner. Douglass's insecurity speaking on such a topic was evident immediately, as he professed that this type of address was hardly his area of expertise. With uncertainty in his voice, he began tracing the history of the captured image, this new art and its innovators. It had been only twenty-five years ago that Da-guerre had first manipulated light to record pictures, and now this advance was being practiced all over the globe. Douglass was having a hard time focusing the speech, drifting into philosophical ramblings on the femininity of photographical subjects to the medium's impact on politics, religion, and art. He theorized, "The whole soul of man is a sort of picture gallery." He wondered if photographs make their subject less or more glorious. Douglass seemed to lack a unifying theme for his thoughts.
Douglass had been speaking for the better part of an hour and was failing miserably. One correspondent in attendance thought that at this point the speech was "near being a total failure." Expounding on how a young Shakespearean character might look in a picture, he seemed to have a moment of realization about why he was really here. Then, his sense of mission took over.
With a sharp oratorical turn, he gave up photography and took the speech in an utterly different direction. For an overflowing crowd of such distinction and power, the images of Daguerre seemed trifling in comparison to the usual themes Douglass knew and cared about, victory and freedom. Douglass recovered the power and passion audiences knew him for, painting his own picture of a country where "every pillar in our great national temple is shaken . . . War and blood have burst forth with savage ferocity among brothers." He was setting up the message he infused into every issue of his paper. It was not sectionalism destroying the United States but something infinitely worse: "We have attempted to maintain a union in defiance of the moral chemistry of the universe."
His audience awakened, ready to engage the mercurial speaker. "We are striking with our white hand, while our black one is chained behind us." Proclaiming that the government must recruit black men to win this war, the country was now "catching slaves instead of arming them." With a growing rhetorical cadence, Douglass alleged, "We are endeavoring to heal over the rotten cancer, instead of cutting out its death dealing roots and fibers." He told the assembly he wanted to fight, now, but could only go to war as an officer's servant.
Then he recalled the events of the year before, the cries of hatred, the streets that were blocked, the doors shut to black men fleeing their assailants. Those firebrands had called for his blood, but he asked, where was that mob tonight? Bostonians and many across the North were starting to understand, "Nothing stands today where it stood yesterday. The choice which life presents, is ever more, between growth and decay, perfection and deterioration. There is no standing still, nor can be. Advance or recede, occupy or give place." The nation was heading toward final freedom for his people. He finished by linking this back to technological innovation. He endeavored to tie two virtually disparate speeches together, explaining that photography and ending slavery were both part of humanity's progress, their never-ending journey toward something better.
As Douglass stepped down from the dais, the crowd gave a powerful and enthusiastic ovation. For a second year, Douglass had saved himself in Tremont Temple.35
The year 1861 had been painful for Douglass. Three days before Christmas, he wrote to Gerrit Smith about "our rotten government." He found himself "bewildered by the spectacle of moral blindness infatuation and helpless imbecility which the Government of Lincoln presents. Is there no hope?"36The president's first Annual Message to the Congress (a tradition that later evolved into the State of the Union address) was another dagger to his hopes, as Lincoln wrote at length about sending blacks "at some place, or places, in a climate congenial to them."37Almost worse than realizing that this idea that echoed Henry Clay's old notion to colonize the black population was still alive in the war atmosphere was the new president's stated determination that, however he prosecuted this conflict, he was determined to keep it from degenerating "into a violent and remorseless revolutionary struggle."38Then what was this? If not a "revolutionary struggle," then was this a deadly crisis without a moral center? Douglass had not gone to Haiti because his belief that America could redeem itself was alive again. Now what?
The New York Times argued earlier in December that emancipation would be a public opinion disaster: "The time for the safe and successful treatment of the Slavery question, in its broadest aspects, has not yet comed "39
Amonth after the New Year began, Douglass was in Boston again. He was the fourth speaker in a series of talks hosted by a new group, the Emancipation League. Abolitionists founded the association to promote emancipation as a moral and military necessity. The group's leadership was dominated by the allies of William Lloyd Garrison, so it was notable that Douglass was invited because he and his former mentor were still estranged. Garrison had never been one to tolerate dissent, yet now the nonviolent Gar-risonians were all for winning the war and fighting against the division of the nation. Douglass could hardly hide his satisfaction, believing that these events proved him ten years ahead of them in his thinking.l
His February 1862 speech centered on the need for the nation to solve the issue of slavery, which, he said, involved "the whole question of life and death to the nation." Despite his brief flirtation with the idea of Haitian resettlement, Douglass was utterly committed to being an American. He clearly stated a message intended for Abraham Lincoln and every American who shared Lincoln's views: "In birth, in sentiment, in ideas, in hopes, in aspirations, and responsibilities, I am an American citizen."2
Douglass traveled from Philadelphia to Milford, Massachusetts, to Jersey City, to Naples and South Livonia, New York, telling white Americans, "We have sought to bind the chains of slavery on the limbs of the black man, without thinking that at last we should find the other end of that hateful chain about our own necks." He recounted the distinguished history of black troops in previous conflicts, comparing the Union's mediocre generals with national heroes who had been glad to have black soldiers under their command. He had traveled more than two thousand miles in January alone, battling throat problems and colds, no small matter for a man who often spoke for three hours a night.3
Rosetta Douglass
As he traveled, his family's letters trailed him. His eldest daughter, Rosetta, was twenty-two, and knew well the more vulnerable Douglass that her father kept hidden from the world. After the Civil War she would write, "You say you are a lonely man no one knows it better than myself and the causes." From an early age, she assumed a strong role in her father's life and corresponded with Douglass's female reformer friends. She also proved talented at the piano, mellifluous sounds the fiddle-playing Douglass loved to hear. He would respond by singing for her and neighborhood children on summer nights, often favoring "Nelly Was a Lady" and "My Old Kentucky Home." 4
When she was a little girl, several weeks into her education at a school in Rochester, she described her day to her father, which included the faculty isolating her the whole time, allowing her inside the building only when the white girls went outside. Although no white parents had asked for the separation, the principal did this in deference to the racial feelings of local citizens. Douglass was livid that anyone would humiliate Rosetta, and he boycotted the schools by hiring private tutors for his children. Desegregating the city's schools became one of his long-term projects, and nine years later segregation ended in Rochester schools. By then, Rosetta had finished her education at the progressive Oberlin College preparatory school.5
After graduation, Rosetta went to the Philadelphia area to teach. She found teaching to be difficult, and the shadow that her famous father cast made the prospects of failure more depressing. Her wish to please her father made her struggles teaching and her dislike of the family she was staying with even harder. She wrote, "I did not know I could be so unhappy . . . I would like to come home but—feel ashamed because I did so very much wish to get—school and pay my board and I then could feel independent."6
Her father also was unhappy. Douglass lamented what the renewal of the stalled war might bring. "It is enough to exhaust the patience of Job, to read every morning that 'all is quiet on the Potomac'"7 After the disaster of Bull Run, Lincoln had appointed young General George McClellan to mold an army that would be prepared the next time they went into conflict. McClellan was adept at drilling and sluggish in moving his men toward battle, much to Lincoln's frustration. Lincoln and his newly appointed secretary of war, Edwin M. Stanton, struggled to make the conservative general engage the enemy. Lincoln wanted to win; McClellan was content to force a draw, one that would make the South able to rejoin the Union with slavery intact, its social institutions untouched.
The general's contentment to let slavery go unharmed made him anathema to abolitionists like Douglass. Yet, the longer Lincoln retained McClellan as his general, the more Douglass took Lincoln to be a confused man. At New York City's Cooper Union Institute in February, a crowd of more than two thousand heard Douglass speak. He was convinced that people he encountered over the previous months were changing their views, seeing emancipation in a new light. But would Lincoln?8
There were strains in Lincoln's life that had nothing to do with the war. On February 20, his beloved son Willie died of a fever. A gifted, bright, and sweet child, said to be the most like his father of the four sons, this was a heavy blow, particularly to his wife, whose grief would border on madness for many months. Both Douglass and Lincoln went through the very personal devastation of losing children who were close in age. But the swift and pressing current of national affairs propelled Lincoln's life onward, despite grief.
Those in favor of emancipation were still trying to get a good read on Lincoln. On January 20, Lincoln met with two such men, Moncure Daniel Conway, Unitarian minister and outspoken abolitionist, and William Henry Channing, nephew of the illustrious minister. After their meeting with Lincoln, Conway reported that Lincoln told them that it was their responsibility, not his, to move public sentiment in support of the action they desired. In order to raise this enthusiasm for freeing the blacks, Lincoln told them they could "say anything you like about me, if that will help. Don't spare me!" After he finished laughing, he more seriously told them that action on this account was possible in the future.9
Meanwhile, Lincoln was not totally idle, quietly following his long-held belief that a cautious, long-term solution to the conundrum of slavery was the way forward. He was working on gradual, compensated emancipation plans. He wanted to pay slave owners fairly for their loss of "property," and in demonstrating his math for a senator, he wrote: "Less than one half-day's cost of this war would pay for all the slaves in Delaware at four hundred dollars per head." Further, "less than eighty-seven days' cost of this war would, at the same price, pay for all in Delaware, Maryland, District of Columbia, Kentucky and Missouri." He suggested a date in 1882 by when slavery would be over in these states. Lincoln felt it was better to spend this money on freeing people as opposed to killing them. To his bitter disappointment, however, his arranged meetings to press these ideas with border state representatives went nowhere. He would need another approach.10
Word of these efforts finally reached Douglass, and he took them as grounds to cautiously believe in Lincoln's sincere, though flawed, efforts again. As infuriatingly moderate and hesitant as these plans were, they were the first time in his life that he had seen a sitting American president advocate any form of freedom for his people.11Writing in an English newspaper, Douglass revealed that during February he had thought Lincoln a man intent on "repressing all anti-slavery sentiment at the North, and so to manage the war as that slavery should receive no detriment." He wanted the English to know, as they evaluated helping the Confederacy, that this news changed the equation. Douglass did not champion dealing with slavery in mild terms, as Lincoln's plans on gradual emancipation did, but the fact that the president was taking positive steps, however subtle, made Douglass consider the notion that "we have fairly reached the turning point of the moral struggle involved in this terrible war."12
Lincoln would need more pressure. Yet, Douglass optimistically told a Rochester audience in late March, "A blind man can see where the President's heart is . . . He is tall and strong but he is not done growing, he grows as the nation grows."13
This movement on gradual emancipation wasn't the only encouraging news for Douglass. Lincoln steadfastly upheld the execution of Nathaniel P. Gordon, a sea captain caught with 893 black people on a ship bound for the United States from Africa. Though domestic American bondage remained intact, international human trafficking was piracy; however, up to now no president had enforced the ultimate penalty for those involved in its perpetuation. Many thought Lincoln overzealous for demanding the life of this Maine man with a young wife and child, but as sympathetic a man as Lincoln was, he thought stealing souls from their native land for slavery's dark purposes was not forgivable in this world. The execution penalty stuck.14
For abolitionists, this was a matter beyond one man's life—it reflected, instead, a position on whether people could continue fueling slavery with new blood and not fear the consequences. After Gordon's execution, Ottilie Assing contentedly wrote, " . . . the captain's execution is therefore the first blow directly aimed at the trade itself in this country."15
Meanwhile, the Lincoln administration had also signed off on a measure backed by Charles Sumner, chairman of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, to bestow full diplomatic recognition to two black republics, Liberia and Haiti. There were critics of this action, but Lincoln was again showing a reformer spirit. James Redpath relayed the message to Haiti's president that the United States would not object to a black ambassador being sent. Lincoln's wording to Redpath still reflected his Illinois roots, quipping, "You can tell the President of Haiti that I shan't tear my shirt if he does send a nigger here!"16
Words like these made Douglass cringe, but he was more interested in action, especially when he heard Congress was considering a bill to abolish slavery in Washington, D.C. Douglass explained the symbolic importance of slavery's preservation in Washington in the March Monthly, stating ironically that it "must be kept alive as a token to all the world that America, after, as before the rebellion, is under the dominion of the slave power." The result was a "damning inconsistency of a free country with a slave capital."17Many white Washingtonians, with their southern sensibilities, dreaded the measure, believing it would bring an influx of shiftless free black people into their city. Lincoln had encouraged Sumner to push such legislation, which the House and Senate shortly after passed. However, even if he was ready for the underlying reality of the measure, Lincoln may have had concerns about the mechanics of this emancipation.18
In the days between the measure's congressional approval and the president's signature, Bishop Daniel A. Payne of the African Methodist Episcopal Church, physically slight but spiritually powerful, visited Lincoln and expressed his wish that Lincoln's pen would meet this paper.19The bill was passed on Friday night, April 11. On the following Monday, Payne met with Lincoln in the company of Representatives Elihu Washburn and Carl Schurz. The four sat by a fire and Payne asked, "I am here to learn whether or not you intend to sign the bill of emancipation?" He continued, "Mr. President, you will remember that on the eve of your departure from Springfield, Illinois, you begged the citizens of the republic to pray for you." They had done so and had also prayed they would be delivered from this wicked institution, he said. Lincoln, whom Payne found warm but not fluent in his conversation, responded, "Well, I must believe that God has led me thus far, for I am conscious that I never would have accomplished what has been done if he had not been with me to counsel and to shield." Yet he would not say whether or not he would sign the bill. After twenty minutes, Payne left for Lincoln pamphlets on what the A.M.E. Church was doing to improve the lives of black people, then departed.20
On April 16, as McClellan was just beginning his achingly slow advance on Richmond and the nation was still absorbing the vast number of deaths suffered in the near-loss of the battle of Shiloh in the west the week before, Lincoln signed the act abolishing slavery in the capital. It was something he had expressed support for since he was a congressman more than fifteen years ago. In a message to Congress, Lincoln wrote, "I have never doubted the constitutional authority of Congress to abolish slavery in this District; and I have ever desired to see the national capital freed from the institution in some satisfactory way."
He signed the act, but more troubling words followed. Lincoln was gratified that "the two principles of compensation, and colonization, are both recognized, and practically applied in the Act."21Part of the act's language concerned funds for black people to emigrate elsewhere. Douglass would soon learn more about Lincoln's affinity for programs that took black people out of the country. For now, however, he focused on the positive, as did the seventeen black churches all over Washington, whose worship services on Sunday thundered with rapturous praise as never before. Celebrations like this happened in free black communities all over the country, so long starved for news this splendid. In a letter of gratitude to Senator Sumner, Douglass revealed, "I trust I am not dreaming but the events taking place seem like a dream."22
Douglass had no doubt that this was the most significant result of the war thus far. Douglass sought to capitalize on the momentum. In an article titled, "Shall We Look Back?" he reminded readers that when something is set in motion, it tends to keep rolling—but its corollary was equally true, if that motion ceases, it is all the more difficult to get the object moving again. He pointed to this time of extraordinary opportunity that abolitionists could not let pass without pushing on. Emancipation in one city was a great boon, but the District of Columbia was small in comparison to a vast land where every sunrise brought more agonizing toil.23
The constant goal that Douglass pressed for was the still somewhat incredible notion that black men could fight for their own freedom in this conflict. It was no secret that encampments of black people who had taken flight from slavery were swelling by the thousands, and Douglass recommended that the government start furnishing "ARMS, NOT ALMS FOR THE CONTRABANDS." 24He was encouraged by the actions of General David Hunter, whose respect for authority was at best questionable. Working in Union-occupied parts of the South Carolina sea islands where white owners had abandoned their plantations, Hunter took charge of organizing the black men left behind. Instead of farming crops, he decided they would be more useful preparing to fight. On May 9, he issued a general order that freed those enslaved in Georgia, Florida, and South Carolina. Because Hunter believed military necessity forced martial law, which he declared to be incompatible with slavery, he thought he could accomplish what John Fremont had failed to do.
When news of Hunter's ambitious experiment reached the North, Douglass was elated and reprinted Hunter's letter to Secretary of War Edwin Stan-ton in his paper. Hunter maintained that black men would make fine soldiers: "The experiment of arming the Blacks, so far as I have made it, has been a complete and even marvelous success." Describing these men as eager to fight and attentive to military discipline, Hunter was seeking to challenge the deeply held racist belief that these men would be too dense and cowardly for the training of a soldier. Though these disorganized regiments would never take the field, the ramifications of the order were immediate and long term.25
Much of the nation felt very differently than the determined General Hunter. The New York Times wrote that arming black men was "laden with possible dangers to humanity." Peter Sturtevant told Lincoln from New York, "This act has done us more harm than a loss of two battles and has made Kentucky & Maryland almost against us if not wholly."26
On the other hand, German-American Republican Carl Schurz wrote to Lincoln that while the president could well feel it was necessary to annul this declaration, it was an issue that was not going away: "As our armies proceed farther South the force of circumstances will drive us into measures which were not in the original programme, but which necessity will oblige you to adopt." He hinted that freeing and arming black men might have to be part of a new program.27
Though he was well aware of this dynamic, Lincoln publicly distanced himself from the situation as thoroughly as he could, quickly issuing a proclamation stating that he "had no knowledge, information, or belief, of an intention on the part of General Hunter to issue such a proclamation." He made it clear that this action was void.
Yet Lincoln's document did not have the terse, cross quality he had addressed to Fremont after his declaration of freedom in the area he commanded. The ensuing months had seen an evolution of Lincoln's thinking on the matter, a change clearly indicated in the second paragraph of his nullification.
I further make known that whether it be competent for me, as Commander-in-Chief of the Army and Navy, to declare the Slaves of any state or states, free, and whether at any time, in any case, it shall have become a necessity indispensable to the maintenance of the government, to exercise such supposed power, are questions which, under my responsibility, I reserve to myself, and which I can not feel in leaving to the decision of commanders in the field.28
It was as much an assertion of the president's powers to emancipate people, a contentious issue, as it was a rebuke of Hunter. Was Lincoln opening the door to something?
As the spring of 1862 wore on, the president a told a group of clergymen inquiring about emancipation, "I can assure you that the subject is on my mind, by day and night, more than any other." Sumner was keeping it that way. At every opportunity Sumner, often with Thaddeus Stevens and fellow Massachusetts senator Henry Wilson, kept pressing the reluctant president. However, Lincoln said in April, "Well, Mr. Sumner, the only difference between you and me on this subject is a difference of a month or six weeks in time." At the end of May, Lincoln predicted that an emancipation measure might come within two months. Lincoln still felt the essential risk of action in the face of a nation that he sincerely believed was not ready to support emancipation. If several of the border states responded to emancipation by joining the Confederacy, if the morale of Union soldiers plummeted, the Union might be lost forever.29
Lincoln prided himself on his finely calibrated sense of where the public was, and he was seldom wrong once the war commenced. Midterm elections were in a few months, and Lincoln's reelection was only two years away. What would emancipation do to the rise of the first party to oppose slavery's extension? Moving ahead of public opinion could mean a very deep cut in their turnout, spelling disaster when coupled with his administration's ongoing military defeats. Lincoln told Sumner during this summer that a freedom decree would mean "half the officers would fling down their arms and three more States would rise." As he told a delegation from Congress when they pressed him, "This thunderbolt will keep."30
Many factors affected Lincoln's consideration of emancipation. His legal justification would have to be military necessity. Another concern was the nagging question of diplomatic necessity. After suffering defeat after defeat, he realized something had to change, that the path to victory he had sworn to follow was failing—and that failure would allow Britain and France to at last weigh in on the side of the South. He would later tell the painter Francis Carpenter, "Things had gone on from bad to worse, until I felt that we had reached the end of our rope on the plan of operations we had been pursuing; that we had about played our last card, and must change our tactics, or lose the game. I now determined upon the adoption of the emancipation policy . . ."31But Lincoln did not want to play his hand just yet.
Clearly, something powerful was stirring in the frustrated president. On June 19, Lincoln happily signed a measure ending forever slavery in all western territories, thus bringing to an effective close his long-ago debate with Stephen Douglas. A week later, with the Seven Days' battles beginning, a delegation of progressive friends visited with a request that slavery be ended. He answered, very uncharacteristically, that sometimes he thought that he "might be an instrument in God's hands of accomplishing a great work."32
As June progressed, Lincoln was handling two sensitive issues that tended to reinforce one another. Behind the scenes, even as he was progressing with an early draft of the proposed Emancipation Proclamation, he had to deal with the failure of General McClellan's much vaunted and painfully slow Peninsula advance on Richmond. In the seven pitched battles within sight of the church steeples of the rebel capital, the newly appointed Confederate general Robert E. Lee had confused and then thoroughly demoralized McClellan's much larger army. Despite coming so close to an overwhelming victory, McClellan felt forced to withdraw his army from the Peninsula campaign, and the efforts of the previous six months came to nothing.
Douglass was to give an oration on the Fourth of July in Himrods, New York. Upon arriving particularly early that morning, he could hardly believe he was in the right place. After stepping off the train, he surveyed his surroundings and took in about six cottages on a hillside, all painted white and about equal distance apart. In addition to the railroad station, there was a church and a grocery, and the economy of this backwoods village could evidently support two taverns. If this was not inauspicious enough, Douglass quickly realized that there was no one here to greet him and provide assurance that he had not gotten off at the wrong train stop.
Considering his limited options, he started off toward the small cluster of buildings. It did not take long for a resident to hail Douglass down and to apologize that in the town's haste to prepare for the celebration, they had forgotten the task of meeting their speaker. The friendly Himrods native took Douglass to the residence of his hosts, the Ayers family, where he could prepare for his address. As the morning went on, Douglass started to see the sleepy place come to life. American flags were unfurled everywhere, old men in military uniforms started drilling, pretty women in pink dresses looked on, and a band whose enthusiasm exceeded their talent struggled with some patriotic ditties. Now, every train that came into the station conveyed huge crowds of people, as did wagons from all directions. In a matter of hours, this hillside had gone from being empty to having two thousand people waiting for him to speak.33
Surrounded by pine trees and under a spotless blue sky, Douglass began his talk. Ten years before, he had given his famous Fourth of July speech in American history in Corinthian Hall in Rochester. On a day when Americans celebrate the liberty that unites them, Douglass had then used the occasion as a poignant protest for what separated his people from that vision:
What, to the American slave, is your 4th of July? I answer; a day that reveals to him, more than all other days in the year, the gross injustice and cruelty to which he is the constant victim. To him, your celebration is a sham; your boasted liberty, an unholy license; your national greatness, swelling vanity; your sounds of rejoicing are empty and heartless . . . 34
Ten years later, much had changed. Now he declared, "We are torn and rent asunder, we are desolated by large and powerful armies of our own kith and kin." Race was almost beside the point, as he deemed southerners his wayward American kin. He called the American Revolution a struggle "which your fathers, and my fathers began eighty-six years ago."
After recounting the growing role of slavery's power in the nation's history, Douglass moved on to the present. His evaluation of this administration was a taunt: "An Administration without a policy, is confessedly an administration without brains." Tellingly, Douglass listed Lincoln's rejection of the black man as a soldier in this war as his most salient mistake, and his second mistake was not issuing some kind of proclamation rendering all slaves free. In fact, it seemed Lincoln's abiding goal was to reconstruct the Union "on the old and corrupting basis of compromise." If Lincoln continued to pursue only one goal on a national basis, this Fourth of July would very soon be "a day of mourning instead of a day of transcendent joy and gladness."35
Despite the trio of positive signs from the spring, Lincoln still had not redefined the war's purpose. Furthermore, General McClellan's grand plans to capture Richmond had ended in seven days of battle marked by indecision on his part and the bold assertion of the Confederacy's new military leader, Robert E. Lee. As the discouraged federal army headed back to Washington, changes were in store for the beleaguered administration, some evident, like the demotion of McClellan, and some hidden. After the subsequent defeat of General John Pope in the second battle at Manassas, Lincoln made a hesitant, and surprising, move. On a carriage ride to a funeral, Lincoln had startled Secretary of State William Seward and Navy Secretary Gideon Welles by sharing his rumination that he was seriously considering sending a warning to the Confederacy—a presidential proclamation declaring their slaves free.
On July 22, he shocked the full cabinet by stating his intention and then proceeded to read a preliminary version of the decree. None of his cabinet members responded with enthusiasm, even the abolitionist and treasury secretary Salmon P. Chase was lukewarm. Seward, in his languid way, offered the shrewd observation that the president should only issue such an emancipation order upon some future Union victory, otherwise the world would look upon the proclamation "as the last shriek on the retreat."36The president agreed, putting the revolutionary measure in his desk, awaiting events.
August 14, 1862, was the first time a delegation of black men met with the president of the United States. Lincoln knew it was an important meeting and invited a reporter from the New York Tribune to make a full transcription. Reverend James Mitchell, an Indiana activist for colonization for fifteen years whom Lincoln had appointed commissioner of emigration within the Interior Department, was responsible for selecting these five black visitors— none were well-known black abolitionists. Mitchell had recently authored a pamphlet entitled Letter on the Relation of the White and African Races in the United States, Showing the Necessity of the Colonization of the Latter that described present troubles and future calamities if the two races were to share the same land. The document reflected the author's near-obsession with sex and racial purity, as Mitchell deplored "this repulsive admixture of blood" and "possible admixture of inferior blood."37
The "Deputation of Negroes," headed by District of Columbia's black leader Edward M. Thomas, was there more as a backdrop for Lincoln's remarks than for a conversation. Lincoln was not interested in their ideas or an exchange of dialogue. He was advancing an idea to their brethren around the country and meanwhile reassuring white people of his sincerity on colonization. It was the chief executive's chance to lay out a case to African-Americans for their voluntary exodus of the country. Lincoln did not mince words. He moved hastily through pleasantries as they sat down and stated that Congress had appropriated a large sum for their resettlement and that he favored this idea. Why should they leave this country? In answering this first question, Lincoln stated, "You and we are different races. We have between us a broader difference than exists between almost any other two races." This fact was "a great disadvantage to us both." Kindly, Lincoln admitted that blacks had had to "suffer very greatly." And whites, how had they suffered? The answer was simple, " . . . ours suffer from your presence." If this was conceded, "it affords a reason at least why we should be separated. You here are freemen I suppose."
One of them replied, "Yes sir."
The president added that their people were suffering "in my judgment, the greatest wrong inflicted on any people." He accurately described the daunting prospects they all faced. Go where they will in the United States and "the ban is still upon you." Lincoln then described the evil effects of slavery, not upon blacks but upon the white race. The most pressing was the war itself, "our white men cutting one another's throats, none knowing how far it will extend . . . " The five men listened as Lincoln added, "But for your race among us there could not be war, although many men engaged on either side do not care for you one way or the other . . . It is better for us both, therefore, to be separated."
The problem of colonization, as he saw it, was that free blacks, such as the men before him, were too comfortable to contemplate leaving for a foreign land. They might believe that upon winning freedom, social and financial advancement in this country was possible, but Lincoln emphatically said that was not the case. Lincoln reasoned that only the sacrifice of "intelligent colored men, such as are before me," by packing up and leaving, could convince whites to allow full emancipation to move forward. By staying, free blacks were in effect holding their enslaved brethren hostage. If they would free themselves of their attachment to America, they could go to Liberia, for example. Then he offered a home a little closer than Africa. What about Central America? It was hot enough, "thus being suited to your physical condition."
Thinking he had made a fair offer, Lincoln wanted to know how many people around the country they thought would be interested in making this readjustment. Could the president count on "a hundred tolerably intelligent men, with their wives and children, to 'cut their own fodder,' " and if not, then perhaps fifty? Even twenty-five men would "make a successful commencement."
Thomas told the president that the group "would hold a consultation and in a short time give an answer."
Lincoln responded, "Take your full time—no hurry at all."38
Douglass was furious when he read the transcript. At his most generous, he called Lincoln "silly and ridiculous." But the depths of Douglass's hurt and acrimony were better captured when he wrote that Lincoln acted as an "itinerant Colonization lecturer, showing all his inconsistencies, his pride of race and blood, his contempt for negroes and his caning hypocrisy."
Lincoln was using his bully pulpit to advance arguments that Douglass had been fighting hard against for two decades. Douglass thought the message to his people boiled down to, "I don't like you, you must clear out of the country." Douglass reiterated that the cause of this increasingly horrific war was not black people but the institution of subjugation that was trapping them. Douglass reviled ideas that he should abandon dreams of peace and opportunity for his family in America.39
Yet Douglass's writing in the Monthly after Lincoln's crude effort to highlight colonization was frankly more about his overall disillusionment with this president than about countering these specific arguments. After all, these colonization hopes of Lincoln were common, even among vehement abolitionists. To be antislavery was not always to be abolitionist, and to be an abolitionist did not always mean that, having freed black people, one wanted them staying around. Twelve years before, Salmon Chase, an early supporter of emancipation, wrote to Douglass that he had "always looked forward to the separation of the races," suggesting South America as a promising destination for them. Like so many of slavery's detractors, Chase simply did not think anything should have brought these two races together. This was one of Lincoln's essential points, and he was using this theme of colonization as a means to justify the release of his proclamation.40
In October, Douglass engaged in a public exchange of letters with Lincoln's postmaster general, Montgomery Blair, who, like his chief, felt the war should somehow move along the separation of the races. He tried to explain that American culture, with all of its flaws, was still the place, with its familiar customs, that felt like home. With pain apparent, Douglass pleaded, "But why, oh why! may not men of different races inhabit in peace and happiness this vast and wealthy country?"41He thought no idea hurt his people more than the one making "Africa, not America, their home. It is that wolfish idea that elbows us off the sidewalk, and denies us the rights of citizenship." Douglass battled this resettlement idea during the Civil War— even supposed allies had to be made to understand what connected black and white and bonded them together in this country was more than just slavery. Douglass tried to make them see that the bond was freedom and equality.42
The racism inherent in the Lincoln administration's colonization reasoning was consistent with the racism of the president's hesitant actions over the past year and a half. The Tribune report of this meeting left no doubt in Douglass that Lincoln was "quite a genuine representative of American prejudice and negro hatred and far more concerned for the preservation of slavery, and the favor of the Border Slave States, than for any sentiment of magnanimity or principle of justice and humanity." Most damning was how this caused Douglass to appraise Lincoln as a man. Reading the president's words, Douglass felt, "The genuine spark of humanity is missing in it, no sincere wish to improve the condition of the oppressed has dictated it."43To Douglass, Lincoln did not seem to be a public figure he would ever be able to trust or think of as an ally. Just ten days before his meeting with the black men, Lincoln said no to another delegation of "western gentlemen" who offered to raise two regiments of black soldiers to represent Indiana, adding that the Union could still use the men as common laborers. On the twenty-fifth, Secretary of War Stanton somewhat mitigated that refusal, authorizing the acceptance into service of some five thousand black soldiers in the Deep South to act as guards.
On August 25th, the hugely popular New York Tribune published a letter from the president. Lincoln was hastily responding to editor Horace Gree-ley's recent article "The Prayer of Twenty Millions," in which he had called for emancipation and chastised Lincoln for not enforcing the Confiscation Act with more vigor. Lincoln wrote,
My paramount object in this struggle is to save the Union, and is not either to save or to destroy slavery. If I could save the Union without freeing any slave I would do it, and if I could save it by freeing all the slaves I would do it; and if I could save it by freeing some and leaving others alone I would also do that. What I do about slavery, and the colored race, I do because I believe it helps to save the Union; and what I forbear, I forbear because I do not believe it would help to save the Union. I shall do less whenever I shall believe what I am doing hurts the cause, and I shall do more whenever . . . 44
His formulation of what he could and would do is classic Lincoln rhetoric, appearing straightforward, clear. But it was highly discouraging to those waiting for a document to free the slaves, those unaware that the Emancipation Proclamation was waiting in his desk, written and already discussed in cabinet session. The real truth behind the letter is there, almost in a code not easily broken, hidden in a logically ordered yet tangled thicket of words that serve ably the goal of misdirection. Nothing as written is strictly untrue, but anyone taking it at face value would have been totally misled as to what the future held for emancipation. The key words were " . . . and I shall do more whenever . . . " That "whenever" was fast approaching, but Lincoln felt no need to say so.
For Douglass, reading these words in the Tribune, seemingly relegating the moral issue to whatever course was most expedient for the Union, was dispiriting. Yet, he found something very promising in the last two lines of Lincoln's letter to Greeley and, by extension, to the public: "I shall adopt new views as fast as they shall appear to be true views. I have here stated my purpose according to my view of official duty; and I intend no modification of my oft-expressed personal wish that all men every where could be free."45 Lincoln drew a distinction between his understanding of the constitutional powers of a president and the ideals he held. By Lincoln's explicit affirmation, an openness to new views meant for Douglass that there was still hope that they could somehow move Lincoln.
Or that they already had.
Rosetta's time teaching was not getting any better and she told her father, "I hate this school. I am thinking of leaving." Douglass often sent her money, never inquiring to how she spent it but hoping her spirits might improve. Rosetta took comfort in thinking of Rochester, her parents and brothers, and knowing Douglass would welcome her home if that were her decision. She was struggling with long teaching hours, a mile and a half walk to and from the school, the unruly nature of her students, missing meals and sometimes feeling on the verge of fainting in front of her charges.46
Rosetta came as close as anyone to understanding her father's guarded nature. "I often think of your loneliness," she wrote, empathizing with his lack of close friends. Knowing that while he was a famous man with thousands of acquaintances all over the world, he was emotionally connected to few. She could sense his depression in the letters he sent her; as she told him, "Please don't grow despondent and write soon." She also possessed unusual sensitivity. It is common to find in her letters friendly words such as, "My love to Ms. Assing." Douglass worried that she was too careless in speaking of certain family business, but she reassured him, "father you are mistaken in supposing that I spread family differences." In the end, nothing could change her having "too great a family pride, pride for yourself to say anything to make people acquainted with such things with which they have no business."47
Douglass's old ties still held strong, particularly those to his British supporter Julia Griffiths Crofts. Douglass wrote her about the challenges of the war and even domestic issues, such as his worries about Rosetta's teaching problems. Griffiths Crofts also understood the severe stress Douglass felt over whether this war could bring about his ultimate goals. By virtue of the unpredictable nature of recent events, she described him as being in a "constant state of excitement." One possibility she dreaded was that Douglass might enlist if indeed his long-held dream of black soldiers became a reality. She warned, "Do not I beseech of you, be hurried away into taking up arms . . . your work is with your pen not With, a sword or guns!"48
Unaware that their enigmatic president was sitting on a measure that would dramatically recast the war, the Radical Republicans in Congress continued to press the administration to confront slavery. The passage of the Second Confiscation Act was a considerable blow aimed at the heart of the Confederacy. This act was based on the practicalities that General William Sherman, utterly unsympathetic to abolitionists, articulated to an old Confederate friend: "Even without the Confiscation Act, by the simple laws of War we ought to take your effective slaves. I don't say to free them, but to use their labor & deprive you of it."49The act decreed that the enslaved of those found guilty of treason toward the United States were free, and that those engaged in rebellion could be imprisoned and executed. The duty of the president was to seize rebels' property, which now meant their slaves. Congress instructed the Union army to stop returning those escaping from their chains back to their masters—unless their owner was loyal to the United States.
Toward the end of the Second Confiscation Act, Congress authorized Lincoln to "employ as many persons of African descent as he may deem necessary and proper for the suppression of this rebellion." This could mean merely manual labor—the common interpretation—yet the tantalizing allusion to organizing black troops was unmistakable. On the other hand, the act also permitted and allocated money for the president's desire to encourage black colonization.
In the second year of the war, with the Union armies thwarted on the field except for some signal victories along the Mississippi River, from New Orleans to Fort Donelson, it seemed that every positive step forward was accompanied with the poison pill of colonization, even the prospect of arming freed black people. In the same vein, Sumner presented Lincoln with a copy of George Livermore's An Historical Research: Opinions of the Founders of the Republic on Negroes as Slaves, as Citizens, and as Soldiers. As casualties mounted in the war, Lincoln also heard support for black troops from those who were hardly champions of racial justice. Governor Samuel J. Kirkwood of Iowa told Lincoln's chief general, Henry Halleck, that he would have no regrets if part of the Union dead would be black "and that all are not white men."50
Sumner believed that in their moments together, he glimpsed the careful and deliberate thought that Lincoln was bringing to an emancipation decision. To those who harped on criticisms of Lincoln, as Douglass did, Sumner wrote, "I am confident that if you knew him as I do, you would not make it."51
The future of the nation resided on his long sloping shoulders. As a student of history, Lincoln fully understood the importance of making the right decision on emancipation. For better or worse, what he decided would determine the fate of this democratic experiment, and the decision would send reverberations through the world for hundreds of years to come. As he said in his second annual message, the outcome of the war was "for a vast future also."52If the wrong move caused any border states to shift to the Confederacy, he would be responsible for the loss of his country. He had only the slimmest margin for political miscalculation in the months that led up to the Emancipation Proclamation. At the commencement of a cabinet meeting on September 2, Lincoln expressed half-jokingly that he was almost ready to hang himself.53
September 17, 1862, was the bloodiest day in American history. The instinct of Robert E. Lee was to be always on the offensive, and he had invaded the North for the first time in the war. Around the peaceful fields of Sharpsburg, Maryland, where the Antietam Creek ran, Lee encountered George McClellan's significantly larger Army of the Potomac. After the remarkable good fortune of finding Lee's battle plan wrapped in discarded cigar papers, McClellan should have had a decided advantage. Yet, fearing that the Confederate invaders possessed overwhelming numbers, McClellan hesitated for crucial hours. When battle did begin on the morning of September 17, a lack of Union coordination created almost three separate battles, a godsend to Lee, who was able to shift and adjust in response.
At five thirty A.M., the fighting started with Union forces advancing toward a modest, white German-American Baptist church. Vicious fighting filled the cornfields, with the advantage changing hands repeatedly. Storms of lead ripped apart crops and soldiers. Then the battle shifted to the center of the Confederate's entrenched position in front of a sunken piece of ground, worn down from years of wagon traffic. In a few short hours, more than five thousand casualties lay in a long trench that had become a conduit of blood. As in the fighting at the cornfields and church, there was no firm advantage either way. In midafternoon, the third phase of the battle centered on the incompetent Union general Ambrose Burnside attacking the southern end of the Confederate line, by attempting to cross the creek over a narrow stone bridge. Had he done it hours earlier, it could have won the day decisively, but one delay after another gave Lee precious time. The bridge itself became a deadly holdup for thousands of federal soldiers crossing it. General A. P. Hill's men had been on a wearing seventeen-mile trek from Harpers Ferry and arrived at just the right moment. At four thirty, they threw themselves into the progressing Union army and pushed Burnside's men back to the bridge across which they had just fought their way.
Lincoln meeting with McClellan at Antietam, Maryland,
October 3, 1862. Photograph by Alexander Gardner.
Over twenty-two thousand Americans were casualties on the day. Had McClellan attacked the next day, he might have been able to inflict fatal damage on the outnumbered and ailing Confederate forces, but he was too cautious and troubled by the ghastly nature of the day before. General Lee's loyal and damaged army turned back for Virginia. Though a military stalemate, the fact that it ended Lee's northern invasion rendered the battle a success for the Union. By virtue of not being an utter defeat, it seemed the closest thing yet to victory for the North in this theater of the war.
And it was all Lincoln needed. Five days after the armies clashed, Lincoln issued a document proclaiming his intention to fully emancipate all enslaved people held in rebel territory within three months. The text pronounced that as of January 1, 1863, all those held in slavery within any state rebelling against the government would be "forever free." Because the legal basis of the order was weak to the extreme, the whole act rested upon the doctrine of military necessity; thus, the border states were exempted from this emancipation since they were not at war with the federal government. In fact, several Union states, notably Maryland, preserved slavery within their borders until late in the war. In another oddity borne of its war footing, any southern state that reentered the Union would also be exempt from the act, thus "saving" slavery in the state.
The Emancipation Proclamation was always conceived as a ramshackle, temporary measure that, at best, moved the country along until a constitutional amendment could firmly and finally eradicate slavery. If the war ended quickly, even with a Union victory, the actual legal status of slavery was not clear—and with the United States Supreme Court still in the hands of Chief Justice Roger Taney, a case could be made that the war would have been fought to no abolitionist purpose whatsoever.
Lincoln's proclamation also declared that "such persons [former slaves] of suitable condition, will be received into the armed service of the United States to garrison forts, positions, stations, and other places, and to man vessels of all sorts in said service."1Lincoln did not state that black men would be fighting, but accepting them into the armed forces for these tasks was a monumental step.
Provisional or not, cautious and full of half-measures or not, the announcement was a bombshell for North and South. It certainly took Douglass by total surprise. Only days before, he had written to Gerrit Smith, "Your gloomiest predictions have been even now more than realized—and I shudder at what the future may still have in store for us." He felt that Lincoln was beholden to conservative army figures such as McClellan, who had no interest in emancipation. His letter continued, "I think the nation was never more completely in the hands of the slave power," and Lincoln was "doing his utmost to destroy the country."2
As the summer of 1862 ended, however, things looked infinitely more promising, and Douglass understood the Emancipation Proclamation's true revolutionary nature in a way that Lincoln's detractors ignore. Well understanding its limitations, Douglass cried, "We shout for joy that we live to record this righteous decree." To all those who had labored for freedom throughout the South, Douglass told them to "lift up now your voices with joy and thanksgiving." Not all was forgiven for this president, as "Abraham Lincoln may be slow, Abraham Lincoln may desire peace even at the price of leaving our terrible national sore untouched, to fester on for generations." Yet here was a sizable step forward.3
The idea of a proclamation that freed people in places Lincoln had no power over while it left black people in bondage in places that Lincoln could touch disturbed Douglass, but he "saw in its spirit a life and power far beyond its letter." Though the dry legal language belied it, Douglass sensed an expansive moral power being unleashed, a power that neither Lincoln nor anyone else could really control.4
Reactions of soldiers throughout the country were diverse. Consider the contrasting statements of two New York soldiers—one noted that the Proclamation had some soldiers "threatening to abandon the service, declaring that they came to fight for the Union and to maintain the Constitution," and another wrote, "Thank God . . . the contest is now between Slavery & freedom, & every honest man knows what he is fighting for." Others respected the practicality of the act. A Pennsylvania soldier made it clear, "I am no Nigger worshiper," yet slavery gave the South strength through labor so "nothing will end this war sooner" than emancipation.5
Douglass deemed that it would change how Europe viewed the war, putting the North finally on the right side of justice and civilization. From his own knowledge of Britain and his contacts there, he did not think these governments could now aid the Confederacy. An overlooked quality of Douglass's Civil War years was his influence on British public opinion, which was vital because their recognition of the Confederate States of America would have been disastrous. The elite of Britain had political and economic reasons to encourage the Confederacy. Britain was a world leader in antislavery advocacy, however, and the North could have lessened this lingering English sympathy for the Confederacy had they made emancipation an original war aim. No small debt is owed to abolitionists such as Douglass for the fact that the Confederacy never received the aid and recognition it desired from Britain during these first two years of war.6
Oddly, the initial reaction to the proclamation was not positive in England, where many viewed it as cold political maneuvering. The London Spectator observed, "The principle is not that a human being cannot justly own another, but that he cannot own him unless he is loyal to the United States." Some felt that out of desperate political opportunism Lincoln was inviting a gruesome racial war, something they should prevent out of an obligation to humanity. The London Times wrote, "the reign of the last PRESIDENT [was] to go out amid horrible massacres of white women and children, to be followed by the extermination of the black race in the South? Is LINCOLN yet a name not known to us as it will be known to posterity, and is it ultimately to be classed among that catalogue of monsters, the whole sale assassins and butchers of their kind." An English subscriber to the Douglass Monthly wrote a letter to Douglass in November on emancipation, asserting that "we see clearly this is not the object of the war."7
Ottilie Assing sent this perspective home to Germany: "As important and fateful as this proclamation will prove to be, one has to recognize that it again reveals itself as one of those halfway measures so characteristic of this president and his advisors." Douglass's friend Mary Carpenter, a distinguished reformer in her own right, wrote him, "I don't see that it can do very much as the slaves in the South will he free because Mr. Lincoln or all the people of the North declare them to be so." Douglass knew that, strictly speaking, she was correct.8
Douglass, in a long address to British readers in his October Monthly, explained what the Emancipation Proclamation meant in a larger sense. He thanked them for their moral support and the money they sent him for his antislavery efforts, and informed them that "Our arguments, appeals and entreaties combining with events, have at last moved the Government to this high duty, and opened up to the downtrodden millions the hope of speedy deliverance from a bondage whose horrors and crimes no pen can describe." The proclamation did not free anyone, but it showed that the American government, after sixty years, no longer placed itself on the side of slavery. Now they had turned the page to "the first chapter of a new history."9
Douglass had his British friend Henry Richardson send his writings on the proclamation to editors at the London Daily News, Daily Chronicle, Newcastle Guardian, Leeds Mercury, and other publications around the island. People all over England read Douglass's impassioned plea, full of vivid metaphorical imagery, that those in bondage would soon be free as long as the British did not extend their "potent and honored hand to the blood-stained fingers of the impious slaveholding Confederate States of America." It would take a few months for people to understand that the nature of the war had genuinely changed, and then British opinion shifted lastingly against intervention. Richardson told him, "I quite think there is a turn of tide observable, and that the Northern States are beginning to be looked upon with some favor. Your appeal has doubtless helped in this change."10
Still, there was danger lurking for the Union. William Gladstone, chancellor of the exchequer and a figure who was thought to be sympathetic to abolition, gave a surprising speech on October 7 proclaiming that the southern leaders "have made a nation." Winning the battle of Antietam had staved off disaster, but the Lincoln administration was not out of the woods. Any turn of events or another audacious victory by Robert E. Lee could send Britain to the side of cheap cotton and a divided America.
Lincoln knew that proclaiming the slaves free did not make them so; pushing the reach of their military and winning the war would. Finally despairing of McClellan's inaction and timidity, Lincoln and Stanton fired him, realizing that the Democrat might well oppose them in the upcoming presidential contest. Republicans had decided that the general was fighting to preserve the old nation on old terms, instead of smashing the Confederacy. Though Lincoln had held out longer than many of his advisors thought reasonable, Wendell Phillips said of McClellan that he might not have been a traitor, "but I say this, that if he had been a traitor from the crown of his head to the sole of his foot, he could not have served the South better than he has done as Commander-in-Chief."11
In mid-December, the armies in the eastern theater faced each other across the Rappahannock River. Fredericksburg, a picturesque Virginia town before war found it, was the scene of a grisly battle on December 13. In bitter cold, General Ambrose Burnside sent his soldiers across the river, through the town, and up the slopes toward Marye's Heights. Brigade after brigade bravely charged, but not a man reached a Confederate line entrenched behind a firmly built stone wall. From a position of cover, the rebel army unleashed blazing, merciless firepower. The Union suffered thirteen thousand casualties, far more than double the number of Confederate casualties. It was a massacre, and worse, an unnecessary and brutally incompetent one.
Lincoln grieved after the battle, "If there is a worse place than hell I am in it." Witnesses said when he heard the news of a disaster, he looked pale and in terrible pain. The governor of Pennsylvania remembered that he "groaned, . . . and showed great agony of spirit. He walked the floor, wringing his hands and uttering exclamations of grief . . ."12
In the wake of yet another military debacle, Douglass wanted badly to believe, as he had written earlier, that "Abraham Lincoln is not the man to reconsider, retract and contradict words."13Yet there was nothing firm yet about the issuing of the real proclamation at New Year's, and Lincoln was still signaling to many border state politicians that the offer of graduated, long-term emancipation was still on the table. For that matter, the act had been deliberately delayed for months so that even the South could reconsider the war itself (though not even Lincoln with his habitual good will believed they would).
The pressure had to be kept up, and Douglass showed his doubts when telling his readers, "Now for the work." Between late fall and the January date that the proclamation would go into effect, he asked every one of them to write, speak, and donate money to the cause of emancipation. The aim was to "make the North a unit in favor of the President's policy." They could leave "nothing to contingency, but work steadily to keep the public mind and heart up to the one grand object." If they did not do this, Douglass feared that Lincoln would not go through with his stated purpose. Many in the North did not share Douglass's joy at the action. The New York World believed Lincoln had betrayed the moderation of his inaugural address and was "fully adrift on the current of radical fanaticism." A wealthy Bostonian was appalled at the idea black people "should be made free by killing or poisoning their masters and mistresses."14
Uncomfortable with a proclamation that did not immediately take effect, Douglass in his articles urged Lincoln to put it into effect instantly, claiming that delay only aided the enemy by giving them time to move black people out of the reach of Union armies as well as to generate northern opposition. Beyond these valid concerns, what scared Douglass more was the idea of Lincoln backing out of this pledge. He wondered in a letter, "Are we not in danger of a compromise?" The thought that the North could give up was never far from his mind. His anxiety about whether this proclamation would become a reality was almost unbearable. John Jones, a friend from Chicago, wrote to Douglass, "we are held in suspense on the first of the month until we receive it." Douglass explained to another associate, "Oh! If one could strike December from the calendar."15
Few passages of Lincoln's have been as often quoted as his stirring ending to his second annual message to Congress. The political document for a moment reached out to express so much to all future Americans: "Fellow Citizens, we cannot escape history . . . The fiery trial through which we pass, will light us down, in honor or dishonor, to the latest generation." He said the ways to save the Union were known, and that the nation must "hold the power, and bear the responsibility." Then he expressed this salvation for the country: "In giving freedom to the slave, we assure freedom to the free— honorable alike in what we give, and what we preserve. We shall nobly save, or meanly lose, the last best, hope of earth."
Few words have been so inspirational, yet many ignore the direct context of the means to be employed to "nobly save." Preceding long passages provide a detailed outline of the gradual, compensation border state plan that Lincoln had been trying to sell, without success, for nearly a year. This plan, which offered to buy a way out of the violence of war, was closely allied to the colonization plan, which offered a means of "augmented, and considerable migration to both these countries (Liberia and Haiti), from the United States." He outlined, in passages seldom read by anyone other than professional historians, what each slave owner would get in return for the freedom of each slave in his possession, and added, "Congress may appropriate money and otherwise provide for colonizing free colored persons, with their own consent, at any place or places without the United States." He then estimated the length of this prolonged emancipation process: thirty-seven years. In other words, slave states (South and North) could participate in this compensation at any time until 1900. Lincoln noted that this plan would not please all equally but would, in his opinion, not only save the Union and stop the killing, but also save "both races from the evils of sudden derangement."16
What Lincoln wrote on December 1 brought Douglass only more anxiety. In his annual message, Lincoln affirmed, "I cannot make it better known than it already is, that I strongly favor colonization." Many radicals noted that Lincoln's annual message barely mentioned the possibility of a final Emancipation Proclamation, and instead discussed at length colonization and gradual, compensated emancipation. The annual message made Douglass question Lincoln's commitment to the proclamation, even if it was still part of his thinking.
Despite what Lincoln said in the message, abolitionists also noted the absence of any word on colonization in the preliminary Emancipation Proclamation offered in September, which they hoped was significant. For Lincoln's legacy and the memory of this order as a document of freedom, it was a fortunate omission. However, the omission was plainly not because Lincoln had abandoned these ideas. A far less remembered document that Lincoln signed the day before he placed his pen on the final Emancipation Proclamation is a contract applying federal funds to move five thousand black Americans to an island near Haiti.17
Compensated emancipation and colonization were concepts in firm partnership for Lincoln, mutually reinforcing one another. It was no coincidence that these acts were presented on consecutive days. Lincoln wanted to show white voters that emancipation would not necessarily mean free black people would be inundating their communities (an idea he also firmly rejects in his annual message). Indiana representative George W. Julian, writing of the proclamation, indicated that Lincoln "wished it distinctly understood that the deportation of the slaves was, in his mind, inseparably connected with the policy." In fact, Lincoln had told his cabinet as much the day after he released the Emancipation Proclamation, vowing, "the effort to colonize persons of African descent, with their consent, upon this continent, or else where, with the previously obtained consent of the Governments existing there, will be continued."18
Rosetta worried for her father, writing, "Are you entirely well or are you forcing yourself about." As she readied for a Christmas break from her school, she missed him and hoped he would find a way to visit soon. When she had a free moment, she loved to go into downtown Philadelphia to find a newspaper documenting her father's latest speech. More than anything, she longed to be in Boston on New Year's Day to see her father experience a crucial moment in all of their lives.19
Three days before the final proclamation was to be signed and sent out to the nation, Douglass spoke in his hometown. For December in upstate New York, it was uncharacteristically warm, and Douglass saw symbolism in this glorious weather. He told the crowd that it should not be a day for his words, but rather "a day for poetry and song, a new song."
Since he was a child he had been asking, "How long! How long oh! Eternal Power of the Universe, how long shall these things be?" He felt that God would reveal that answer in three days. He framed the Emancipation Proclamation as a definitive statement to and for a nation heading toward freedom, and Douglass wanted his audience to believe with him the abolition war he had relentlessly worked for had now arrived.
He also confessed, "The suspense is painful, but will soon be over." The range of opinions were so broad and passionate, Douglass saw that the "national head swings, pendulum like, now to the one side and now to the other. Alas, no man can tell which will prevail—and we are compelled to wait, hope, labor and pray." He believed that Lincoln, as inept as he had been, was not a liar. He estimated that Lincoln's word, "though clumsily uttered," was honest.20
Then again, just getting Lincoln to this point forced Douglass to compare the president to an ox that emancipation advocates were forced to drag along. The lack of enthusiasm in the preliminary proclamation's words still bothered Douglass; there was nothing resembling an "expression of sound moral feeling against Slavery." There was not a word of shame and regret for slavery's existence nor an extension of mercy. In the end, he suspected there was no motivation in this act that was moral as opposed to military necessity. And if this was indeed the case, Lincoln just might have few reservations about annulling the order.
The irony was that such a stated moral basis might have seemed far more shaky to Lincoln, whose principal governing instinct was to always first make an appeal to logic and reason; it was precisely the secure basis of military necessity that was keeping Lincoln so firmly on line, unbeknownst to Douglass. Somehow, Lincoln had to win this war, and he was convinced, though many in his administration were not, that the proclamation would help in the long run. It was a great gamble, but then again, with so many of his efforts coming up short, perhaps the time had come.
On January 1, Douglass was again at the Tremont Temple. Here he would learn whether Lincoln would force this turning point in the war. A staggering three thousand people crammed into the hall around ten A.M., brimming with enthusiasm. Looking back, he would write, "Our ship was on the open sea, tossed by a terrible storm; wave after wave was passing over us, and every hour was fraught with increasing peril." The Emancipation Proclamation was the lifeline he needed. Alone, it would not ultimately save them, with its questionable legal standing and inability to touch the border slave states, but it would keep them afloat for a while longer, and lead to a horizon no one could yet spy.21
One leader after another spoke from the stage, but most eyes kept checking the door for the telegraph messenger to come in with news of the proclamation. It was decided that they would break and reconvene at two P.M. At this time, Douglass spoke on the meaning of this day. He ruminated on the dark period they had passed through, characterized by the attack he had suffered in this very building before the outset of war. This proclamation was a ray of possibility that abolitionists must capitalize on. He reminded the audience that black men were keenly waiting for their chance to fight in this war.22
At seven thirty that night people gathered once again and the hours again passed by without information. Eight became nine and nine turned to ten. By eleven P.M., Douglass had been waiting for more than twelve hours, but he vowed he would not go home until morning. Douglass was growing frightened at this point. The crowd's optimism had given way to a pensive, apprehensive mood. Douglass wondered if Mrs. Lincoln's coming from a slaveholding family would cause Lincoln to relent. Perhaps Lincoln's tender nature was actually a weakness that some last-minute plea had swayed. How could he have overlooked the fact that Lincoln did not seem to be "a man of heroic measures"? For Douglass, "suspense became agony," as, "Every moment of waiting chilled our hopes, and strengthened our fears."23
The abolitionists had organized a line of messengers that extended to a telegraph machine in a local newspaper office. Finally, Judge Thomas Russell of Plymouth, Massachusetts, sprinted through the crowd, yelling, "It is coming! It is on the wires!!" The effect of his words was "startling beyond description." Old friends and strangers clutched each other, people prayed, sang, and cried to God all at the same time. In a moment, Russell had the proclamation in his hands. Lincoln had kept his word. As soon as black people could reach Union lines or Union lines could reach them, they were free. Douglass remembered, "I never saw enthusiasm before. I never saw joy before." People of all races, ages, and genders embraced. Hats and bonnets flew into the air. The noise was deafening. They shouted three cheers for Abraham Lincoln, while others thanked God with tears streaming down their face.24
Charles Slack stepped onto the stage with the proclamation in his hand and then read Lincoln's words above the joyous sounds. It was midnight and their lease on Tremont Temple was over. Someone suggested moving to Rev. Leonard Grimes's Twelfth Baptist Church, an appropriate place because aiding fugitives from slavery had been a cornerstone of this congregation from its inception. Grimes led a crowd almost delirious with excitement down the brick sidewalks of Beacon Hill, where the glow of streetlamps revealed his church on Phillips Street.
Douglass was in the heart of the celebration that packed every pew. They sung "Glory, Hallelujah," "Old John Brown," and "Blow Ye, the Trumpet Blow." One old black man stood up to say, "I was born in North Carolina, where my brother Douglass was born, thank God!" Douglass, laughing, did not have the heart to interrupt him with the information that he was from Maryland. The old man told the crowd that they had both escaped from the slavery and he had managed to take his wife with him. She was with him tonight to rejoice for this blow to the institution that threatened to tear them apart.25The party kept going until three in the morning and Douglass spoke for the third time during this emotional whirlwind of a day, but his mind was already moving on to other matters.
He was thinking about black troops. The black men he informally surveyed during the night said they were ready to fight. Was Lincoln ready to accept them?26
If Frederick Douglass had learned one thing from his years as a slave, it was this: "Power concedes nothing without a demand. It never did and never will. Find out just what any people will quietly submit to and you have found out the exact measure of injustice and wrong which will be imposed on them, and these will continue till they are resisted with either words or blows, or both."1If black Americans were to become full citizens of the United States, Douglass was utterly convinced it would happen only after they had personally fought for it. The Emancipation Proclamation was just a step toward a freedom that they would likely have to earn through violence.
Douglass desperately wanted to be a part of this experience of liberation, no matter what it might entail. He told friends that his speaking around the country was to somehow shift the North to support, grudgingly or not, both emancipation and black troops. This effort might not be in vain, and he wondered if it was beginning to dawn on the president that "The slaves' liberation is the country's salvation." Less than a month after his exuberant night of celebration in Boston, Douglass captured how his life had not changed all that much in a letter to newspaper editor Theodore Tilton, "For nearly twenty five years I have been at work—toiling over the country from town to town— speaking to tens where I could find tens—and hundreds—when favored with such numbers. I shall as usual be in the lecturing field this winter." He headed as far west as Chicago, then back east for speeches throughout Connecticut. Before leaving he wrote to Samuel J. May, "the people hear me gladly."2
The Emancipation Proclamation would be meaningless if the Union did not win this war. Despite his sense that the proclamation represented a vital turning point, even if the Union's military fortunes radically improved soon and the war ended in victory, Douglass knew the act was still just a presidential order in military guise, not a constitutional amendment. True liberation would only come after black men fought. It was clear to him (and was beginning to occur to those in the War Department) that without black soldiers, the North could not close this contest.
Radical abolitionists saw another dangerous element to the proclamation. Upon closer examination, it clearly was far less radical than the Second Confiscation Act already passed by Congress. As positive a step as it was, it appeared to be a shrewd maneuver by Lincoln to outflank both the radicals in Congress who were pressing him hard on slavery and the conservative Democrats who wanted nothing done on slavery at all. It was Lincoln's way of taming two sets of critics with one act, and the president stoically took whatever criticism came his way, knowing that if he antagonized both sides equally, he was probably as safe as he was going to get.
Douglass's post-Emancipation Proclamation speaking series climaxed in front of a large audience featuring the nation's reformer luminaries at Cooper Union in New York City. He hoped Greeley's Tribune, read throughout the country, would publish his entire address. This was his greatest opportunity yet to shape the nation's understanding of the Emancipation Proclamation and of what must happen next in the war.
First, Douglass wanted all Americans to see the good of being emancipated from a curse upon their nation. He proclaimed, "We are all liberated by this proclamation. Everybody is liberated." Lincoln would have agreed with this appraisal of slavery's socially and morally corrosive effect. Thus, in Douglass's estimation, Lincoln had not created a new truth but offered "in this dark hour of national peril, to apply an old truth, long ago acknowledged in theory by the nation"—the radical concept that all are born equal. For this reason, Douglass considered the Emancipation Proclamation to be among the great acts not just of United States history, but in the story of all humanity.
By acknowledging this ideal, Lincoln's emancipation act could also free the Union army from the racial prejudice hindering its progress. He asked his audience if they would rather drown than let the black man save them. As glorious as his view of this presidential action was, if it was not accompanied by enlisting black men, Douglass said it would be "worthless—a miserable mockery." To conquer the rebels and win this epic conflict, the North would have to conquer their own prejudices first.3
As the Emancipation Proclamation approached, he had written to Julia Griffiths Crofts of his desire to finally give up the onerous burden of his paper and join the war effort in some regard. It is clear that he was envisioning a more direct involvement. In her response, she says she cannot stop thinking about his letter, and ends up pleading with him, "you must not give up your paper? Her exasperation is such that she wished to "fly over the water" and convince Douglass to stay out of any military involvement. Griffiths Crofts was one of Douglass's closest friends, and her opinion carried great weight. But in this case, she did not fully understand Douglass.4
In contrast to Griffiths Crofts, H. Ford Douglas, a black male abolitionist, well understood Douglass's inclinations. He agreed with Douglass that black soldiers—not the Emancipation Proclamation—would be the only thing that could put an end to Lincoln's colonization impulses. Ford Douglas knew that white America doubted black men would fight. He told his friend that he was in the most prominent position to prove this assertion wrong. As the most famous black American, there was real pressure on Douglass to wear the uniform.5
Many white people found the idea of black men fighting both offensive and unrealistic. The National Intelligencer argued that black people were too clumsy to handle guns. If there were to be black soldiers, they recommended arming them with pikes. The widely read Harper's Weekly thought the idea unworthy of a civilized or Christian nation. The Dubuque Times thought it to be an insane and cowardly concession of the North's weakness. Border state politicians predicted that it would lead to the rape and killing of hundreds of white women throughout the country. Even in Douglass's hometown, the opposition was vocal. The Union and Advertiser told citizens to disregard "whatever Fred. Douglass may say about this matter." They thought it impossible for black men to win in a fight with white southerners and, in any case, doubted that Douglass could possibly raise such a regiment.6
Abraham Lincoln had been one of the severest critics of using blacks as soldiers just six months ago. In August he had told a delegation that "if we were to arm [the Negros], I fear that in a few weeks the arms would be in the hands of the rebels." Now some profound change was happening. Lincoln's pragmatism began to outweigh his previous sentiments, as he found applying this previously unused element toward victory indispensable. In March 1863, he wrote Tennessee governor Andrew Johnson, "The bare sight of fifty thousand armed and drilled black soldiers upon the banks of the Mississippi, would end the rebellion at once."7Regardless of policy changes, Lincoln's earlier dismissive words would have stung Douglass, and probably led Douglass to plead at Cooper Union in New York City on February 6, "Give them a chance! Give them a chance. I don't say they are great fighters. I don't say they will fight better than other men. All I say is, give them a chance."8
Douglass's radical abolitionist allies had also been pushing for black troops on the ground, and none more so than Massachusetts senator Charles Sumner, who, like Douglass, had cried out in 1861 that the Union must "carry Africa into the war." Though he had unusual sway with Lincoln, and indeed had developed a real, though push-pull friendship with the president, nothing had happened—yet. But the mounting death toll of Union soldiers and the stunning succession of losses on the battlefield were beginning to create an internal logic to opening up black recruitment. The old refusals were starting to waver, especially with the Emancipation Proclamation as a new factor. On January 25, a group of longtime Boston abolitionists and supporters of John Brown arranged a meeting with Lincoln and his secretary of war, Edwin Stanton. Wendell Phillips, Moncure Conway, and other members of the Emancipation League trooped into the president's office and went through much of the same dance that abolitionists had gone through with the administration many times before. The Boston group entered exasperated and persistent, with the president polite, cautious, and nonforthcoming. When pressed to give their hero Fremont a greater role, Lincoln replied, "Suppose I should put in the South these antislavery generals and governors, what would they do with the slaves that would come to them?" Then an odd-looking, wealthy businessman, George Luther Steams, whose flowing patriarchal beard made him look as if he had stepped in from the streets of Jerusalem instead of the meadows of Medford, Massachusetts, spoke up. "We would make Union soldiers of all who were capable of bearing arms." Not ready for that, Lincoln simply replied that his Emancipation Proclamation "knocked the bottom out of slavery." The impetuous young Conway said that without some military success, the bottom could be put back in.9
The discouraged group quickly learned upon their return to Boston that their state was in fact going to achieve their desired goal. During that same period, Massachusetts governor John Andrew (yet another thorn in Lincoln's side) had finally convinced Stanton to formally agree to a War Department-approved regiment of "volunteers of African descent."10The Massachusetts governor hurriedly headed home, hardly believing in the great shift in policy, and immediately hit a wall. His state had fewer than two thousand free black men. How were they to recruit such a historic regiment quickly, before the administration changed its mind?
Andrew wasted no time going back to George Steams, aware that his deep pockets and fame as financial supporter of John Brown would make him a perfect leader in this effort (for the rich merchant's lead pipe business was doing better than ever in the war, though the radical admitted, "Emancipation has been very hard on my purse.").11Steams quickly responded by forming the Black Committee to move beyond Massachusetts to the whole free North and even into Canada, and his energy and skill promptly confirmed Andrew's faith in him. The shy, slightly stuttering man came to life, believing that he at last was fulfilling the dream of John Brown that he had risked so much for years ago. Steams wrote to Gerrit Smith that his work now was "to make this a true John Brown Corps."12At first, the announcement of the formation of the "Colored Regiment" produced only a tiny number of recruits, and Andrew despaired. Steams said he would leave for the west the next day. He knew just where to go.
The chief reason that Steams was the right man for the job was his faith in and long friendship with Frederick Douglass. Steams boarded a train on February 23 to Rochester, intent on recruiting the orator as his chief spokesman. He simultaneously signed up many other black leaders to become recruiters, but only Douglass had the instant credibility and voice to spread the word. It seems incredible but true that it took only weeks to assemble such a vast national network of agents to sign up black recruits, with Steams basing himself in Buffalo to direct his men like "pieces on a chessboard."13
The King he quickly employed was Douglass. Remarkably, Douglass's great recruiting speech, "Men of Color, to Arms!" appeared in print only three days after Stearns's visit. This suggests a rush of inspiration Douglass experienced after Stearns's call, although he may have already written notes toward such a declaration, whether or not the government asked for his people's help. In any case, Douglass's excitement was palpable. He was soon telling friends that filling up the ranks of the Fifty-fourth Regiment of the Massachusetts volunteer Infantry was the best possible service he could perform for the country's welfare.14
The recruiting speech was an impassioned call to his people that in retrospect reads as an addendum to the Emancipation Proclamation itself, with all the power and moral grandeur that Lincoln's document lacked. Douglass saw the opportunity to promote the abolition war he wanted. For months, he had been traveling virtually without pause, usually riding all night after an address to the next night's site. During the month, he covered over two thousand miles, speaking from Boston to Chicago. Every speech or conversation he had during the time revolved around one conviction: "the ABOLITION OF SLAVERY IN EVERY PART OF OUR COUNTRY IS THE BEST AND ONLY WAY TO RESTORE OUR DISTRACTED AND WAR-SMITTEN NATION TO PERMANENT PEACE."15
Douglass began his recruiting at home. The first two men enlisted for the Massachusetts Fifty-fourth were his sons Lewis and Charles. Douglass told a friend that his boys would "go to peril all for Liberty and country."16 Douglass at the outset knew the risks of sending black troops to fight in the South. Armed black men, free or slave, violated the fundamental custom of American society, and their danger was magnified in the South. A white abolitionist friend of Douglass's, Martha Greene, sent a son to war, but did so with the government's protection of him in the event of capture. Southern policy was already clear—blacks were not soldiers, merely insurgent slaves, and death would be their lot. She told Douglass that Charles and Lewis would have "halters about their necks," even more so in the event that rebels discovered exactly who their father was. She was amazed and almost dismayed over "the depth of earnestness it must require in you to send yours."17 There was no hesitation now, however. His recruiting would be that much more effective with his beloved sons as leading examples.
Lewis was twenty-two and Charles eighteen when they signed up to begin recruitment for the Massachusetts Fifty-fourth. Douglass's middle son, Frederick Jr., was twenty at the time, and later in the year he signed on to assist in black recruitment in the Mississippi Valley. His father thought him the most practical of the brood, but this came from a cautious, hesitant nature. The fact that he chose not to fight fits with a pragmatism mixed with trepidation. Lewis and Charles were both slightly shorter than their father, with a darker skin tone and features that more resembled Anna's. Charles had a slender face, with innocent chestnut eyes like Rosetta's. Lewis had a more mature countenance, bearded and worn.18
Educated in Rochester public schools, the boys relished helping their father prepare his newspaper, as well as delivering it locally. Yet Douglass was often traveling during their childhood, and he wondered about the effect his being gone so much might have on them. He feared, and others noted, that they seemed to take after Anna more than him. Knowing the boys would likely struggle in his considerable shadow, he tried to offer his protection and care. Each had grown up reading the story of their father fighting back against the slave breaker Covey—perhaps all three sons saw the Civil War as the opportunity for their similar awakening to full manhood.
Lewis was the most confident and capable of them. Yet career prospects for a young black man continually discouraged him. Only a few months before the possibility of black enlistment, he was making plans to participate in a group emigrating to a Central American colony. The prospect of being in the vanguard of the black military represented a fresh start at proving himself on American soil, as his father had always hoped would be the case.19 Though he was professionally stifled, he was finding himself increasingly successful in his courtship of the beautiful Amelia Loguen, daughter of one of the highest-ranking men in the African Methodist Episcopal Zion Church. Compared to her, he thought himself the "vilest wretch on earth," though an "undefinable force attracts me to you, and I have no means of resisting it and would not if I had." Amelia now found herself among the thousands of young women praying no harm would befall their beloved.20
Once March came, Douglass recruited all over New York state. He visited Auburn, Ithaca, Buffalo, Geneva, Oswego, Utica, Little Falls, Canajo-harie, Glens Falls, Syracuse, Troy, Albany, and more. He did not have to strain hard to convey the fierce happiness he felt in this long-dreamed-of opportunity: "The iron gate of our prison stands half open. One gallant rush from the North will fling it wide open, while four millions of our brothers and sisters shall march out into liberty."
The government had long held back their "powerful black hand." Now the chance was here and it warranted their action. He explained that circumstances for enlistment were hardly ideal, but there was no time to delay. If white men won this war without their help, blacks would never truly gain their liberty. Worse, infinitely worse, if this war was lost, the opportunity to finally destroy slavery might never come again. Douglass cried, "Who would be free themselves must strike the blow."21
Regretting that it was not the state of New York calling them, Douglass told his black audiences to take up arms for Massachusetts. Sadly, at this point in his recruitment tour he transmitted erroneous information received from Steams, who got it from Governor Andrew, who thought he had it from the War Department: Douglass assured them that they would have the same wages, rations, equipment, bounty of one hundred dollars, and the same government protection as white soldiers. Some were skeptical, but Douglass told them that his twenty years as an abolitionist should make him worthy of trust: "I have assured myself on these points, and can speak with authority."
Most of all, Douglass conveyed that regardless of race, they were men. Every man should see his duty in a contest where right and wrong were so clear. If black men did not enlist, it would only justify racist ideas that they were cowards. He told them to enlist for their own self-respect. Men who became soldiers would be able to defend themselves long after the war. Douglass wanted these young black men armed for an uncertain future. If they did not serve, Douglass foresaw a national retreat into compromise, complete with a revocation of the Emancipation Proclamation. He enticed them with the simple notion that the American government was at last giving them the chance to kill white slaveholders. These men could carry a bloody abolition dream to the heart of the South.22
Douglass concluded by raising the names of great men martyred for freedom: Denmark Vesey, Nat Turner, John Brown. Black men had the golden opportunity to ease away animosity against their people and to win the gratitude of the country. Douglass offered to pay their way to the camp at Readville, outside of Boston. Some nights, when his words sent the crowd around him into a whirlwind of joy and jubilee, Douglass concluded by singing "John Brown's Body."23
In Syracuse, Douglass spoke at Zion's Church two weeks in a row, burning with energy. At the first meeting, twelve men came forward to serve. During the next week, word of Douglass's message spread throughout the community and seven more men signed up. When Douglass returned for his second speech, six more men volunteered, bringing Douglass's Syracuse total to twenty-five. They were poor men; one observer guessed that they arrived with about five dollars collectively among them. Yet they were attentive, smart individuals with strong, battle-ready bodies.
Ambrose Cook was only seventeen, green and impatient for a fight with a slaveholder. On the other hand, Thomas Leonard, with a grizzled white beard, was almost sixty. What he lacked in youthful spirit, he made up for with perspective on how valuable the chance to fight was. Leonard was disappointed when he found out from Douglass that there were not black officers. Douglass also felt this was a cowardly injustice on the part of the government, though not one outweighing the progress of being able to serve. Douglass compared that to a man refusing to touch water until he was a great swimmer. Leonard also thought better of it and remarked that they would fight so heroically that the government would be forced to change its mind about the officer question.24
Douglass paid a doctor fifteen cents per man to examine them a few days later. Once he approved them, Douglass sent his son Charles to put Leonard and the twenty-four other men on the train for Boston. Steams had worked a deal with a railroad company by which the men rode in first class without disturbances at a reduced rate. Douglass gave them plenty of ham and bread for the journey. Charles spent a few weeks making these trips back and forth from New York state to Boston until it was time for him to stay in camp.25
Syracuse was a successful trip, but in smaller towns, Douglass would labor for only a few individuals. His trip to Little Falls produced four soldiers and Canajoharie provided two. Douglass sometimes felt frustrated by having to make these humble appeals for often small results. Nevertheless, he pressed on, knowing the larger matters at stake. In Geneva, seventeen men were ready to enlist after hearing the confident power of Douglass's oration. Yet in the hours that followed, more than half of the volunteers changed their minds, two at the last second before their train started. It took determined work to fill a regiment.26
Using a donation from Douglass's radical philanthropist friend Gerrit Smith, Steams took care of Douglass's expenses plus ten dollars a week. Douglass privately felt it was not enough considering the demand of the work, but was too invested in the mission to grumble. Douglass wrote to Smith in the spring of 1863 that he saw "no hope for the American slave outside the salvation of the country." In the March issue of his Monthly, he wrote about the cruel possibility that Lincoln might rescind the Emancipation Proclamation for a compromise. He saw every recruit as being an argument against the possibility of returning black men to chains. By mid-April, he had sent more than one hundred men to the Fifty-fourth.27
Rosine Draz warned him that he was pushing himself too hard. She reminded him to pace himself because his people would need his strength for many years to come. She lamented that it was rare these days that he had time to return her letters, but did not want to jeopardize any minute he could spend on his quest. It was enough for her to pray for Douglass. Many of the prayers had to do with Douglass's letters about his going to war. She found the thought almost too horrible to contemplate, but assured him that she would do anything she could for his children if he did not survive the war. Her opinion was that his life was too precious for his people's welfare for him to sacrifice it. Julia Griffiths Crofts expressed these feelings more bluntly. Douglass sent her another letter declaring that if the New York legislature would sanction a regiment, he was ready to serve. She implored him not to accept any commission offered to him. Pleading for him to refrain, she continued, "never go south—or killed you most assuredly will be—you are, in many respects, a marked man"28
Douglass may have been tempted to serve because of letters from old friends who were in the service. George Evans, a white abolitionist who was able to fight from the beginning of the war, said that he saw the war transforming into an abolition war because of the determination of "the immense multitude of the flying fugitives" all over the Virginia countryside.29
As Douglass traveled to Boston to see his sons and the historic Fifty-fourth off to battle at the close of May, the North needed to find hope in something. As the other Army of the Potomac leaders had before him, Massachusetts's own "Fighting" Joe Hooker had missed his great chance. Against all classical military advice, the aggressive Robert E. Lee had brilliantly split his army in the Virginia wilderness and had sent Stonewall Jackson to surprise resting Union regiments. With federals running as if a force from hell had descended upon them, the Battle of Chancellorsville in early May had been a rout, another Union disaster. The only consolation, and it would prove to be a huge one, was that Jackson had been accidentally killed by his own men. Yet, this did not change the fact that the battle crushed confidence at home again. How is it possible to win a war when your army is thoroughly beaten over and over? How many more defeats like this could the North endure?
People around Boston desperately needed something to signal things were changing, that there was hope for their cause. The debut of the Massachusetts Fifty-fourth, the unveiling of the free black man as soldier, certainly signified something new. For Douglass, this was deliverance.
The Boston and Providence railroad ran a train along the great plain of Camp Meigs in Readville, where Massachusetts men trained to become part of the Union army. In the windy and muddy month of March 1863, white officers waited for the trains. At last the results of Stearns's agents produced a flood of recruits, who were promptly outfitted with their wool blue uniforms with the brass buttons that read U.S. and billeted in vast drafty and chilly wooden barracks. By March 25, four hundred men were in camp, and in eight weeks, the regiment reached full numbers at a thousand.
Steams, in his offices in Buffalo, notified Governor Andrew that they were two hundred men above the limit. Could they go beyond Stanton's orders and create another regiment? Andrew dared and said yes, and the Fifty-fifth was born.
By mid-May, all had been trained to march and turn, wheel and salute. Moreover, they all now held Enfield rifles. The nature of the Civil War was about to change irrevocably. All they needed now were the regimental colors, and on May 18, Frederick Douglass joined a flood of dignitaries to watch as four Massachusetts flags were presented to Col. Robert Gould Shaw, a young man from a proud abolitionist family. Shaw, a white Beacon Hill Brahmin only twenty-five-years old, initially thought himself unworthy to lead such a significant regiment. He also feared the loneliness and social stigma that would come from leading black troops. Eventually his ideals outweighed these considerations, and he commanded with a maturity far beyond his years. At the presentation of the colors, Shaw said, "May we have an opportunity to show that you have not made a mistake in intrusting the honor of the State to a colored regiment—the first State that has ever sent one to the war."30
Andrew then handed him his orders from Stanton. They were pulling out immediately, to report to General David Hunter's Hilton Head headquarters on the Sea Islands off South Carolina. The army was stationing them south of Charleston, near Fort Sumter where the war had begun. No one on that proud day could envision what one month would do to the ranks of the men before them. It is not recorded if Douglass spoke that day. He would also be there when, ten days later, the Fifty-fourth marched through Boston to the waterfront to sail to their fate.
Lewis was a sergeant major, a noncommissioned officer. Charles was an orderly, but stayed behind ill at Readville. The regiment formed their line at six thirty A.M. and boarded a train at Readville bound for Boston. No previous regiment had elicited such awed reaction. Beacon Street was jammed with excited onlookers, one newspaper putting the number at twenty thousand. The regiment neatly marched along the Boston Common while women waved handkerchiefs from the windows of the fine red-brick mansions, with flags and shouts of encouragement filling the air. As they paused in front of the State House, Governor Andrew proudly sent up a hurrah. They entered the Boston Common by way of the Charles Street gate and drilled for the cheering crowd. Around noon, the regiment marched toward State Street in the direction of the wharves, while throngs sang "John Brown's Body." They passed over the exact spot where Crispus Attucks fell in the Boston Massacre. At the last moment reality intruded on this remarkable day, when ruffians at the tail end of the parade finally disrupted an otherwise ideal march. Lewis was among those who were spit at and beaten. Some white men tried to grab their weapons, but these guns were now firmly in black hands.31
Police held back well-wishers and family as the men boarded the steamer De Molay, headed for Port Royal, South Carolina. By four o'clock, the sun started to set over the Boston Harbor on a clear, cool spring day and the steamer left its dock. As it sailed away from the great crowd at the wharves, one family member was not ready to say goodbye. Douglass was allowed to board the ship. Besides his eldest son, the regiment also contained over a hundred young men who had put their trust in him. He did not know all of them well but knew some of their stories and the small towns they had left behind for this mission. He went throughout the boat, bidding farewell to these young men he felt connected to, offering words of encouragement and strength.32
In a larger sense, the whole regiment was the product of Douglass's dreams, and they were his children. He had cried out for black troops from the outset of war. The faces of this sharply outfitted and well-drilled fighting force embodied Douglass's vision. Throughout the day, Douglass could hardly believe how grand they looked. It was understandable that he wanted a more intimate goodbye. The sight of land was fading when it was finally time for Douglass to board a tugboat and head slowly back to shore.33
Lewis Douglass stared at the long treacherous stretch of South Carolina beach. A fresh breeze blew through the ranks of six hundred men of the Fifty-fourth crouched down in the wet sand. Fog gathered over the sea as the sun set. Thunder mixed with the sound of the preceding artillery barrage. Having marched almost continuously for two days and having gone without food since morning, the men wished the wait over, the orders to charge now.
The evening battle of the 54th Massachusetts regiment,
depicted in Storming Tort Wagner by Kurz & Allison, 1890
At the end of the narrow sea path facing them was the confederate stronghold of Fort Wagner. Made of quartz sand and palmetto logs and stretching for the width of the island at that point, it was generously equipped with cannon and bristled with determined defenders. Ingeniously designed, Fort Wagner was a death trap, as Shaw and his men well knew, but the way to Charleston was through it—there was no way around. The dashing young man's face looked pale as he called out, "Now I want you to prove yourselves. The eyes of thousands will look on what you do tonight."
As they rose to start their long advance, the fort seemed to explode with fire. Lewis kept pace with those around him. Every few seconds he saw a shell clear a deadly space of about twenty feet in the ranks. He did his best to close the gaps around him. Trying to ignore the screams of downed comrades, at times he pressed through waist-deep water. After running the equivalent of ten football fields among flying lead, they reached the base of Fort Wagner and knelt in a long ditch. The time had come for Colonel Shaw to offer what officers must. His men followed as he ran on a pathway leading to the fort, yelling "Forward, Fifty-fourth!"34He scrambled up the bloodied sloping sand wall to the parapet, and then, his shadow set off by blazing gunfire, he rose up with his sword out. His regiment followed behind him with bayonets ready, but his bullet-ridden body fell.35
Lewis Douglass
With grape, canister, shell, and mines exploding around him, Lewis pushed forward toward the fiery rampart. Men fell all about him, with the returning fire savagely effective. A bullet grazed his leg, completely obliterating his sword sheath. The regiment gained the crest of the fortress through their hand-to-hand combat. However, they were outnumbered and trapped. Confederates were pushing back their progress. Lewis felt the battle was in the balance. He desperately looked behind him for reinforcements that he did not see. The fort's occupiers deliberately moved forward until Lewis had no choice but to join the retreat. He dodged shells and other missiles on the agonizingly long run back to safety. Badly wounded men who did not make it all the way back would drown during the night, as the tide continued to rise. It dawned on Douglass's son that he had no idea how he could have survived what had just happened.36
Lewis quickly understood the larger importance of what they had achieved. The Fifty-fourth may have failed to take Fort Wagner, but they validated the courage of black soldiers for all who saw the attack. Two days after the battle he wrote to Amelia, telling her that not a man flinched and their reputation would be of a fighting regiment. He also bid her farewell in the event of his death. He thought it highly unlikely that he could survive another such slaughter. He told her that "if I die I die in a good cause. I wish we had a hundred thousand colored troops we would put an end to this war."37
His parents were on his mind. Describing the regiment that his father helped to create as "cut to pieces," Lewis estimated that they had suffered three hundred casualties, including all but eight of the officers. He wrote to his parents, "If I die tonight I will not die a coward."38Douglass would later celebrate the importance of Fort Wagner, saying, "In that terrible battle, under the wing of night, more cavils in respect of the quality of negro manhood were set at rest than could have been during a century of ordinary life . . .,"39 This was undoubtedly true, and vitally important to his people and the eventual course of the war, but he kept his raw and immediate emotions under his usual steely control. Nothing survives that indicates how he actually received the news of the effective destruction of the regiment only a month into service, or of his son's almost miraculous survival. We do know how Steams learned of his men's fate, however, and his reaction reveals the strain close to terror that these men were under as they worked twelve-hour days to send boys into the maw of battle.
Steams was in Washington on July 19 arguing (with "great disgust") against Secretary Stanton about equal pay for the black regiments and the need for black officers. A friend asked Steams as he entered the Willard Hotel if he had heard the news—the death of Shaw and half the officers, the shredding of the regiment. Hearing the words that they had been "cut to pieces," the businessman collapsed into a chair in anguished silence, clasping the newspaper report. His son Frank remembered never seeing his father so upset. Steams immediately wrote Andrew, "My heart bleeds for our gallant officers and soldiers of the 54th. All did their duty nobly."40
The recruiting moved forward as the War Department closely watched the battles of Milliken's Bend, Mississippi, and Fort Wagner in which black troops fought. There was no willingness to pay the men equally or to commission black officers, but a basic policy was about to change, and so Steams was sent for. To his amazement, Stanton was pleased at his and Andrew's audacious recruiting and wished to make official the work of the Black Commission by making Steams an assistant adjutant-general with the effective rank of major. Accepting, he resolved to move his headquarters from Buffalo to Philadelphia.
The strain on Stearns's most effective agent was evident, however, especially to his old English friends. Rosine Draz saw the emotional strain this was taking on Douglass. After she sent Douglass money that she had raised for his causes, he tersely replied that she could have raised more, and that he ought to send the whole sum back until she could do better. She was shaken by his response and wrote back reminding him how much work had gone into these efforts and the joy she had felt sending the sum to him. To receive scorn instead of praise grieved her terribly. Douglass's uncharacteristically cross response reflected not only the anxiety he was experiencing for Lewis's trials but simple exhaustion. Mary Carpenter complimented his courage "not to shrink from any sacrifice that you may be called on to make or to hold back anything." She reminded him that his friends empathized and wanted to support him during the "trial of letting your sons join the army."41
How could Douglass stop when black troops were proving what he had long predicted? Nothing could help shift attitudes on slavery's ability to survive the war than what was being sacrificed on the field. The Massachusetts Fifty-fourth had unprecedented visibility as the first northern black regiment, but they were only one part of a larger movement of black soldiers proving their merit as spring became summer in 1863. Regiments largely composed of Louisiana natives fought fiercely at Milliken's Bend above Vicksburg and at Port Hudson on the Mississippi. At the latter, Captain Andre Cailloux, a wealthy, Paris-educated, free black man, shouted his orders in French, English, and Creole. With an arm almost totally shot off, he pressed on for up to six separate charges. Eventually it became clear that these charges were suicidal, but not before rebel guns had fatally struck Cailloux. Black soldiers found themselves holding the Union line under rebel assaults at Milliken's Bend. They protected it as the battle descended into vicious hand-to-hand matches. Both of these contests earned increasing praise from the generals sending reports back to Washington. However, nothing captured the country's attention like the Fifty-fourth's assault on Fort Wagner.42
Yet, Douglass was increasingly troubled. Slavery and equality were different matters, and what was disturbing Douglass was the continuing and obstinate discrimination against black troops. When Steams asked him to come to Philadelphia to speak at the National Hall on July 6 to address the increasing resistance of black men to this evident discrimination, Douglass went. Douglass had no trouble attracting a crowd—around five thousand black and white people packed the space to hear him. Greeted by thunderous applause, Douglass was more solemn than usual. On the question of whether black men should enlist despite this inequality, Douglass contended that fighting bravely would be the best way to gain equality. The speech came in a week that was probably the most crucial in the entire history of the war, as news filtered in about the defeat of Lee's invasion at Gettysburg, the capture of Vicksburg by Grant that put the Mississippi River under total Union control, and the outbreak of riots in New York City in resistance to the army draft.43
For three days and nights, dangerous mobs controlled the city and took out their anger on the black population. In one of the most impassioned passages from Douglass's Life and Times, he wrote:
It spared neither age nor sex; it hanged negroes simply because they were negroes; it murdered women in their homes, and burnt their homes over their heads; it dashed out the brains of young children against the lamp-posts; it burned the colored orphan asylum . . . and forced colored men, women and children to seek concealment in cellars or garrets or wheresoever else it could be found, until this high carnival of crime and reign of terror should pass away."44
In a career of close calls, this was one of Douglass's narrowest, as he was passing through New York when the riots broke out and, as he noted, his fame as the Union's most prominent recruiter would have made him a double target of rage.
In his Philadelphia talk, even as these momentous events were swirling around them, Douglass once again tried to motivate the potential black recruits in the face of blatant inequality. As they faced death, why could they not receive equal pay? "I shall not oppose this view. There is something deep down in the soul of every man present which assents to the justice of the claim thus made, and honors the manhood and self-respect which insists on it . . . I am content with nothing for the black man short of equal and exact justice." But there was one thing that needed to be considered—the ghastly existence of slavery itself. If the South won, or stalemated, or exhausted the North, it lived on, and nothing excused that. "Do not flatter yourselves, my friends, that you are more important to the government than the government is to you. You stand but as the plank to the ship. The rebellion can be put down without your help. Slavery can be abolished by white men, but liberty so won for the black man, while it may leave him an object of pity, can never make him an object of respect."45
All this, before the July 18 assault on Fort Wagner.
As the recruiting continued, the ranks of the Union army swelled with the infusion of thousands of blacks. Many white soldiers at first, and not surprisingly, resented fighting alongside black men. A dispute broke out in a New Jersey regiment stationed in the Sea Islands of South Carolina over going into battle with black men. When a captain contended that they were an inferior race, a comrade countered, "What do you say of Frederick Douglass, who has raised himself from slavery to a high position?" The captain had no response to that, but was still not convinced.46
Charles Douglass had learned that wearing the uniform only increased racism toward him when, as he was boarding a train to leave a Fourth of July celebration in Boston to return to camp with the Massachusetts Fifty-fifth, a group of Irishmen overheard him making disparaging comments about former Union commander George McClellan. One stepped in front of him with his fists up and swore, "McClellan's a good General, you black nigger. I don't care if you have a uniform on." With his father's audacity, Charles ran right at the considerably larger man and fought him until a police officer pulled them apart. Charles was livid, believing he could have whipped a dozen more men. With a loaded pistol on him, Charles wrote his father that he would use it the next time a white man laid a hand on him.47
This racism would have saddened Douglass, not surprised him. Before he had started recruiting, he had written words that presaged those of W. E. B. Du Bois before World War I: "We shall be fighting a double battle, against slavery at the South and against prejudice and proscription at the North . . ."48 Although he believed that no one who saw fifty thousand well-drilled soldiers could possibly retain their old notions of black inferiority, with so much blood already spilled, what increasingly made him share the anger of those young men he was lecturing was the formal and calculating way that the government was discriminating against black troops. This inequality took different forms.
The administration paid black men the wages of laborers instead of soldiers. White men received thirteen dollars per month and black men received ten dollars, minus a three-dollar clothing allowance. The administration claimed to be obeying the laws as they were then written, though many thought this was passively done out of deference to those still against black troops. It seemed that every letter a member of the Fifty-fourth received contained accounts of how their families were suffering. One soldier pleaded, "My wife and three little children at home are, in a manner, freezing and starving to death . . . How can men do their duty, with such agony in their minds?" Another soldier wrote to Lincoln, telling him of the battles they had fought on the South Carolina coast. He continued, "Now the main questions is. Are We Soldiers, or are we LABOURERS."49
Sergeant William Walker of the South Carolina Third Infantry (Colored) learned the tragic answer. He, like around 80 percent of the black men who fought, had escaped slavery.50 For these men in particular, the three dollars were critical for financially fraught families. He led a group to the tent of their commander where they stacked their weapons in protest and peacefully returned to their tents without their weapons. For this act, officers charged Walker with inciting a mutiny. A few weeks later, his life ended in front of a firing squad. Governor Andrew lamented, "The Government which found no law to pay him except as a nondescript and a contraband, nevertheless found law enough to shoot him as a soldier." Scholars often herald Lincoln's softhearted tendency to commute execution sentences. One then wonders why Walker was not worthy of such mercy?51
Private Wallace Baker of Charles's Massachusetts Fifty-fifth met a similar fate when his anger over the issue boiled over and he struck an officer. A witness remarked, "No man ever met his death with less trepidation than Wallace Baker." One inequality led to another, with black men making up 8 percent of the Union fighting force but more than 20 percent of the executions. As well, there were still no commissioned black officers, and this inequality was now the cause of almost as much unrest. The Lincoln administration believed this prohibition was a way to soften the shock of employing blacks as soldiers at all. One soldier wrote, "We want men we can understand and who can understand us . . . we want simple justice."52
Finally, and most deadly, soldiers did not feel protected by the government in the event of their capture. In December of 1862, Confederate president Jefferson Davis ordered southern armies to turn over captured black men to state governments which would deal with the prisoners according to state law. These laws punished black insurrections with death. However, the reality was that wounded or surrendered soldiers would not even make it that far. Members of Lewis's regiment were found bound and executed near the sites of their South Carolina battles. One black soldier captured in Virginia escaped to recount that he watched as defenseless friends were led away to the woods and hung, executed on the banks of a river, and had their skulls crushed by the butt ends of muskets.53
Confederates themselves left the most chilling accounts of what happened to black soldiers after battles. G. W. Grayson, serving in Florida, compared the aftermath of a battle to quail hunting. Rebels combed through fields first and, ignoring cries for mercy, executed whom they found. They then proceeded to a nearby creek where black men hid with only their noses above water. Grayson thought his comrades seemed like wild beasts as they dragged the black men out of the water and murdered them.54
Hannah Johnson was the mother of a Massachusetts Fifty-fourth private whom she had brought out of slavery in Louisiana to raise in upstate New York. After her enormous efforts to ensure a better future for him, she was reluctant to let him fight. Eventually she did because she believed "Mr. Lincoln will never let them sell out colored soldier for slaves . . . he will rettallyate and stop it." In a letter to Lincoln, she told him that her son had proved himself as a man at Fort Wagner and deserved his protection. Although it seemed cruel, she implored him to react in kind or the Confederates would not end their brutality. She also asked him about rumors that he would rescind the Emancipation Proclamation. Begging him to never do such a thing, she added, "When you are dead and in Heaven, in a thousand years that action of yours will make the Angels sing your praises I know it."55
The discrimination pained Douglass on a number of levels. It jeopardized not only the lives of his sons, but also the lives of young men whom he had publicly and prominently promised would have equal treatment. This is what Steams had understood to be the arrangement, but that did not change how those who believed his assurances would view him. As reports of these discriminations reached the North, recruiting became more difficult.
At a New York City recruiting meeting at Shiloh Church, Douglass finished his recruitment oration and, like a preacher saving those who would come forward, Douglass asked who would join the army. Only one man stood up. Douglass was appalled and called the audience cowards. A man named Robert Johnson stood up and told Douglass that it was not weakness that kept them from enlisting but respect for their manhood, that Johnson would not subject himself to such unfairness. This argument left Douglass in a quandary: No one more than Douglass had asked black men to assert and protect themselves.56
Such addresses were masterful and compelling, but Douglass could not keep making them. The sickening realization of betrayal crept over him. On August 1, he wrote a letter explaining why Steams would not see him at an upcoming recruiting event in Pittsburgh. Douglass's dream had confronted a painful reality. He so badly wanted to keep recruiting black men to fight, but until circumstances changed, he could no longer be the one to tell them to ignore discriminations that could well cost them their lives. Thinking of all the abuses these young men already suffered, Douglass felt he owed them that much. His recruiting was supposed to come from his heart and without qualification. He had let his own sons prepare to sacrifice their lives for a callous government unwilling to protect them. Perhaps he had been naive, too eager to think clearly, or had just overestimated the humanity of the commander in chief. Douglass's letter had nothing but love for Steams. He was very clear as to who was solely responsible for his disillusionment: Abraham Lincoln.
In the first months of his recruiting, he had thought Lincoln's silence on inequality and Confederate ruthlessness belied strong action to come. After all, issuing the Emancipation Proclamation had sent Douglass's hopes soaring. That faith was nearly gone. There were so many moments when Lincoln could have asserted himself against such obvious wrongs. Douglass asked, "How many 54ths must be cut to pieces, its mutilated prisoners killed and its living sold into Slavery, to be tortured to death by inches before Mr. Lincoln shall say 'Hold, enough!'" Deafening silence was the response. He believed that Lincoln felt nothing at the thought of black men massacred. Until the North executed southerners for every black life taken, Douglass held Lincoln as responsible as Jefferson Davis. Douglass's guilt mixed with sadness and anger, for he had been complicit in allowing young men to be "betrayed into bloody hands by the very Government in whose defense they were heroically fighting."57
Steams knew Douglass was right about the administration needing to take a firmer stand. He also knew how devastating Douglass's denunciations could be for the war effort. Fortunately, Steams was a very clever man. He wrote back that if Douglass's issues were with Lincoln, then he should address them to Lincoln. Face to face.
Douglass had written that abolitionists should "speak out trumpet-tongued in the ears of Mr. Lincoln and his Government." Steams took this literally and thought Douglass should lead the way.58
Douglass liked the idea.
August of 1863 was oppressively hot, with temperatures climbing to 104 degrees, streets steaming. There was no refuge from mosquitoes that found the filthy, odorous waterways to be an ideal home in Washington. The miasmic smell of sewage and garbage was thick in the air. The sewage draining into drinking water made many sick, including Willie Lincoln, who possibly died from typhoid fever. Along Pennsylvania Avenue, there were cheap saloons, slaughterhouses, and markets. Fish and oyster peddlers stood on the corners, geese and hogs roamed through the streets. Through the city wafted the stench of dead horses, cows, cats, and other animals decomposing in and around the canals that ran close alongside the city's blocks and within easy sight of the White House.
The wounded and dying soldiers in the makeshift hospitals all over the city reinforced the overpowering stench of death, making it impossible to forget that the nation was at war.l Wounded men lay in unsanitary quarters in what had been mansions, schools, federal buildings, churches, and hotels from Judiciary Square to Washington Circle. Crippled men hobbled on their new crutches, adjusting to a life without limbs. They were the lucky ones. For many of their companions, these sweltering, putrid spaces would be their last images of life. The profession of undertaker burgeoned everywhere; Dr. Hutton & Co. on E Street between Eleventh and Twelfth bragged, "Bodies Embalmed by us NEVER TURN BLACK!"2
Journalist Noah Brooks estimated that Washington was the dirtiest city in America. He thought the moral sleaze rivaled the physical filth. Drunks and scoundrels of every kind overran what was virtually an urban military encampment. In the month before Douglass arrived, there were seven murders in one week. Going out at night in Washington, which had a feeble police force, was not recommended. The most frequented whorehouses were close to the White House, in mansions around Lafayette Square and the south side of Pennsylvania Avenue. A city official estimated that there were 450 brothels and five thousand prostitutes.3
Charles Dickens, visiting twenty years earlier, mockingly wrote that Washington had "spacious avenues that begin in nothing, and lead nowhere; streets, mile-long, that only want houses, roads, and inhabitants; public buildings that need but a public to be complete." Washington was then the fourteenth largest American city, with just over sixty thousand residents. Before the war, congressmen had felt they were living in a village with half-built markers of a great city. One could find a good baseball game near the Potomac River, but not the sophisticated entertainments of New York, though perhaps John Ford's new theater would bring some cultural development.4
Slavery had ended in the city only a year ago. Under the "black code," if white authorities caught a free black person without a residence permit, they could sell them into slavery. Offenses as trivial as bathing in the canals or flying a kite in the wrong place could be met with lashes. For black soldiers who passed through, rocks and the fists of civilians were hard realities. Many still called the local jail the "Washington Slave Pen" because of the manner in which Lincoln's friend and appointee Ward H. Lamon kept escaped blacks. Emancipation was a great boon, but Washington was still a repressive city.5
On this Monday morning, August 10, the Daily National Republican reported that Navy Yard engineer James Robinson had dragged a black man named James Wedge from his house and beaten him so severely that Wedge was left crippled. For this assault, Robinson was fined $5.94. If Douglass had wanted to reach the White House by the rickety, horse-drawn streetcars, he would have had to find one that had a sign, COLORED PERSONS MAY RIDE IN THIS CAR.6
Early this morning, Frederick Douglass arrived in the office of Kansas senator Samuel Pomeroy. Douglass carried with him a note from George Steams charging Douglass with representing him for business related to recruiting for the government. Pomeroy was a man whose courage was not in doubt. Washington was so racist that Douglass believed it would be a daring act for Pomeroy to walk down the street with him. Though Pomeroy was a Massachusetts man and had served as a state representative on Beacon Hill in the early 1850s, he had moved to the Kansas territory as it erupted in violence over whether it would enter the Union as a free or slave state. When the town of Lawrence was under attack from slavery supporters, residents chose Pomeroy as chair of a committee of public safety. He did all he could to stem the powerful attacks of "border ruffians," but despite his efforts, the town was eventually pillaged and burned.7
Douglass considered the abolitionist Pomeroy a friend but did not endorse his work on voluntary black emigration plans. When his son Lewis wanted to go with a group Pomeroy was organizing to Central America, Douglass wrote with sadness to Pomeroy, "To see my children usefully and happily settled in this, the land of their birth and ancestors, has been the hope and ambition of my manhood." Douglass could see neither justice nor wisdom in the colonization project. As Lincoln pushed the idea to colonize Chiriqui (in Panama) in 1862, he turned to Pomeroy for help. The project was on hold by October 1863, but this was more because of the resistance of Central American governments and the corruption of some of the proprietors. Still, it was not at all clear at this time that either Lincoln or Pomeroy had terminated the initiative.8
Douglass and Pomeroy headed over to the War Department. Douglass's first meeting of the day would be with Secretary of War Edwin Stanton.9Despite his far-flung travels, Douglass had not been in Washington before, and he was thrilled to look up for the first time at the Freedom statue that adorned the Capitol dome, recently set in place. The great dome had been half-finished at the beginning of the war, and despite the tightness of the federal budget, Lincoln decided that work should go on—that its completion would be a morale boost to the country in the midst of war.10
Assistant Secretary Charles Dana greeted Douglass and Pomeroy. Douglass had known Dana since the idealistic Harvard graduate had lived on the Brook Farm in Massachusetts, a Utopian experiment steeped in socialism. They had continued their friendship during Dana's fifteen years at the New York Tribune. Dana now served as Stanton's watchdog on Ulysses S. Grant, the controversial new luminary of the Union army who had won Union control of the Mississippi River after the recent victory in the long siege at Vicksburg. Rumors of Grant's fondness for drink dogged Grant, but since he seemed to be the only Union general who won victories, Lincoln was inclined to leave him alone on this subject (and even talked of sending a case of whatever it was Grant drank to his other generals). Taking time away from these and other matters, Dana walked Douglass into the office of his incisively sharp and usually irritable superior, located on the second floor and behind a constantly crowded reception room.11
Edwin Masters Stanton was the sort of man who always seemed to have had a poor night of sleep. The short, thick, impressively gray bearded and usually sweaty Quaker glanced at Douglass through his round wire-rimmed glasses with little interest. It took Douglass only seconds to realize he was dealing with a man with little concern for niceties. Lincoln's secretary John Hay said that he would rather suffer pox in a hospital than ask Stanton for a favor. His flat eyes conveyed time was of the essence, and Douglass imagined him thinking, "Well, what do you want? I have no time to waste upon you or anybody else, and I shall waste none. Speak quick, or I shall leave you." It did not increase Douglass's ease that Stanton was standing at his tall desk during the entire meeting, as he did with all visitors. The impatient but brilliant secretary of war found it was a none-too-subtle way of shifting power to his side of the room.12
Secretary of War Edwin Stanton
Stanton's stern abruptness served to shield Lincoln from things and people he preferred not to confront, and the president himself said, "I want to oblige everybody when I can; and Stanton and I have an understanding that if I send an order to him which cannot be granted, he is to refuse it. This he sometimes does."13(This system would perhaps be exercised toward Douglass himself in the next month.) Stanton was close and intensely loyal to his chief, although before the war Stanton, a Democrat, had ruthlessly mocked him. Few people liked the secretary of war, but Lincoln liked his utter focus on winning the war, and so they spent countless hours together in the War Department and the Telegraph Office, waiting for word from distant battlefields.
Douglass quickly contemplated how he could keep this meeting as brief and clear as possible. He laid out the matters he was intending to bring to the president's attention: unequal pay, no black officers, and the frightening lack of protection for black soldiers. The status of this last issue had, however, changed substantially in the last eleven days. In Douglass's resignation letter to Steams, the main issue he had bemoaned was lack of protection for black troops. Douglass's patience had run out at just the moment Lincoln finally took action. On the last day of July, the administration published an order from the president that, regardless of class, color or condition, the government would try to protect soldiers of color. To put a black soldier back into slavery (particularly if that man had been free in the North) was "barbarism, and a crime against the civilization of the age." For each Union soldier executed, they would deal with a Confederate in kind. Further, the administration would respond to any Union soldier sold into slavery by placing an enemy soldier in hard labor.14Douglass had long pleaded for the administration to do something—and Lincoln had done it. Yet because so many hopeful acts, such as Congress's Second Confiscation Act, had previously floundered in execution, Douglass still planned to press Stanton and Lincoln on this visit to ensure that they would put the brutal order into action.
Douglass then chose to elaborate on a larger point. He told the Secretary of War that there were two extreme opinions hurting his people. While some painted them as demons, others saw them as angels. Some people's expectations were crushingly low, others naively high.
Stanton did not follow where he was going with this. In what respect did Douglass mean?
Douglass went on to explain the reason he was saying this to the man ultimately responsible for all black soldiers was because there would be ambitious, brave soldiers, but there would also be base, cowardly fellows. Douglass implored the secretary to treat them all simply as men, and as normal men who reacted and responded to the same things that affected white soldiers. Why would they enlist if the government would not pay them fairly? Why would they perform well if there was no chance of their advancement in the ranks? In this, they were no different than others.15
Stanton's manner changed as he seemed to understand the kind of man he was dealing with. Comprehending Douglass's intelligence, his formerly skeptical and curt manner seemed to melt a bit. Stanton sincerely explained how difficult a position the administration was in when it came to supporting the simple idea—and then reality—of black soldiers. No one had to explain to Douglass the extent and depth of the prejudice that his young men faced. In addition, Stanton offered, the administration was dealing with the laws as Congress had passed them. He felt Congress had yet to codify that black men were no longer entitled simply to the benefits of a laborer. His personal wish was that black troops could soon obtain equal treatment.16
Then Stanton stated a startling proposition. Would Douglass go south as an assistant adjutant to Adjutant General Lorenzo Thomas to recruit and organize black troops in the Mississippi valley?17
Douglass was taken aback. He explained that he was already working for Stearns's recruiting in the North (not mentioning the fact that he had actually resigned a week and a half ago). That led Stanton to Douglass's second surprise. Stanton said he and Steams had already discussed the idea, and that Steams was behind it. Douglass reported to Steams a few days later that Stanton was "imperative in his manner," telling Douglass that he would send him the commission and travel instructions immediately. Stanton asked how long Douglass needed to get ready. Douglass estimated that he needed two weeks to prepare. That was fine with Stanton, who agreed to send the papers to Rochester. Their meeting had lasted thirty minutes. Stanton concluded without the pleasantries he so detested.18
Douglass readily understood the importance of what was being asked of him, and the sacrifice he would need to make to go South. There was a clear limit to the number of potential free black soldiers, but the vast Mississippi delta could become the Union army's mother lode, providing a torrent of men freed from slavery who sought military service as a way into freedom. Lorenzo Thomas and Douglass came from vastly different backgrounds. Although Thomas had spent the last forty years, his entire adult life, in the military, he had not spent them in the field but in War Department offices, meticulously managing regulations and rules.
Stanton found General Thomas useless, suspecting the bottle had helped him through all these years of pedantry. He had been looking for a way to get rid of Thomas, so when a project far away from Washington that needed superior organizational skills arose, he knew just the man for the job. Stanton gave Thomas twenty-four hours to pack up and head west. Yet Thomas took on the project with more passion than anyone ever dreamed the elderly paper-pusher possessed. He spoke with sincere passion to prejudiced white officers whom he wanted to lead the freedmen, as well as to the "contrabands" flooding into Union lines. Many thousands were now living in makeshift camps where the conditions were appalling. Without proper food, clothes, or shelter, with vermin eating away at their bodies, the dead were piled into carts for mass burial. Thomas quickly visited these hellish places, appalled and ready to change these people's dire prospects. He was no Douglass, but his efforts were relentless and soon began yielding great gains in enlistment. Lincoln commented that Thomas seemed to be the perfect instrument for a task he wanted done vigorously. Thomas pressed himself so hard that sickness and exhaustion nearly killed him in the searing Mississippi sun.19
Frederick Douglass
The job Douglass accepted would be a dangerous one. Lieutenant Eben White was engaged in a similar endeavor while strolling around a Maryland plantation. When the farm's patriarch and his son discovered what White was doing there, they ran into their field with a shotgun and blasted the Union officer in the chest. Standing above his dead body, they shot him twice more and bashed in his head with the butt of their gun. Equally horrifying was the fate of Lieutenant Oscar Orillion, who was leading twenty black soldiers on a recruiting mission in Louisiana. The unit was captured by a Confederate cavalry force, and they were later found hung, their bodies cut to pieces. These killings sent a clear message about how the Confederacy felt about recruiting their slaves to carry a gun.20
The areas that Stanton intended Douglass to recruit in were along the Mississippi River, where entire social structures were being turned on their head and the Civil War was rapidly revolutionizing American life. The people who fled slavery to find Union lines—their sacrifices and risks—remain a largely untold story, yet was as vital to the course of the war as any battle. Archy Caughn was one of these men who ran toward federal troops in Tennessee. A furious owner named Bartlet Ciles recovered the captured and petrified Caughn. Ciles tied Caughn's hands, took him to nearby woods, removed his left ear with a sharp knife, and then castrated him. Sometimes even reaching a northern force did not mean safety. A Union officer named Thomas Ewing Jr. remembered a group of three black men, a woman, and a young girl, and boy who had escaped slavery. They followed behind the regiment that was sheltering them, but fell too far back during one particularly arduous march. When someone rode back to check on them, he found only lifeless bodies murdered by rebel guerrillas.21
It was not just those who trekked to the perilous lines around the Union army that suffered, but also those they left behind. Patsey Leach was a slave in Scott County, Kentucky, when her husband Julius ran away to join the passing Union army. For Julius's decision, their owner Warren Wiley whipped her continuously and mercilessly. While she bore his punishment, her husband was outfitted in the Union blue and placed in a regiment. Julius's unit passed the Wiley estate three weeks later. Three weeks was all it took in this new world for a master to see his slave empowered as a soldier. Wiley watched Patsey as she proudly saw her husband march by. Only a week later, Julius was killed in battle. When Wiley heard of his former slave's fate, he took Julius's inconsolable widow into their kitchen and tied her hands. He ripped off all of Patsey's clothes and bent her naked body over so he could whip her to within an inch of life. Wiley told her this was what she deserved for letting her husband kill white people.22
This was an abolition war, and it was being fought in ways that West Point generals could have hardly dreamed of.
Anyone could stroll across the White House lawn and pass through the imposing columns of the vast portico where people of all classes lingered. The front foyer fed into a long, beautifully carpeted hallway where a bronze screen separated the public White House from the family sphere. Upon his arrival, Douglass waited like all other supplicants for the president's time in a reception room painted elegantly in dark blues, decorated with blue furniture laced with silver satin, broadly framed mirrors, a fireplace festooned in marble, and a velvety blue carpet. The room was crowded, which was not unusual. It was often filled with everyone from senators seeking counsel to scalawags looking for jobs.23
The president rose hours before facing the onslaught of people— guests, diplomats, office seekers, generals, and common soldiers. His staff thought him mad for exposing himself to so many people on a daily basis, but Lincoln insisted. He called the exercise "taking a public opinion bath." Lincoln usually wrote for two hours before a moderate breakfast of an egg and coffee at nine. In this peace before the storm, he could answer letters and muse on subjects that confounded him. Then it was time to open himself to the multitudes. The visitors sent business cards in to him and a servant would return to the reception room and read out the name of the party Lincoln would see.24
Douglass pressed his way through the crowd and handed his card to one of Lincoln's attendants. He looked about him at a room of only white faces staring at him with puzzlement. Douglass tried to ignore their gazes and retreated into his thoughts at how he might be received. He expected to wait for most of the rest of the day, though he had heard of people waiting here every day for a week. Douglass also pondered the possibility that Lincoln would not invite him in at all. He remembered bitterly how the delegation of black men who had visited Lincoln in 1862 received only callous comments and then embarrassment, as Lincoln blamed them for the war. Douglass wondered whether Lincoln would turn him away, tell him to leave these questions to others. He thought about how, under the Dred Scott decision, the Supreme Court still did not consider him to be a citizen of this country, yet here he stood. It could have been a glorious feeling but was not. It felt like a terrible responsibility to bear, and he wished he could leave and have someone else take his position along with this duty.25
"Mr. Douglass!"
The voice of Lincoln's messenger cut through the room. Douglass was being invited in. He could hardly believe it. It was only about two minutes ago that he had handed over his card. Now he pushed the self-doubt to the back of his mind and elbowed his way forward. Someone mocked, "Yes damn it, I knew they would let the nigger through." The jealous crowd laughed around him. Douglass would joke that his heckler was probably a Peace Democrat.26
Douglass caught Lincoln at a time when he should have been feeling somewhat relieved about the war. The previous month should have been the best of the war, with Grant ending the siege of Vicksburg and the Army of the Potomac defeating General Lee during three furious days in the quiet Pennsylvania town of Gettysburg. But Lincoln was far from cheerful, because there was another way to view the events of July. General George Meade had fought a victorious defensive battle at Gettysburg, then let the defeated army limp back across the Potomac. When Lincoln discovered that an opportunity to finally destroy Lee's maimed army had slipped away, he sadly resolved that the war would go on. The draft riots in New York reflected surging popular sentiment that a compromise should end this war. The Confederacy could certainly bide its time for thirteen months until an election would end his presidency and the war effort. With General Lee's men now recovering in Virginia, had the best and last chance to win the war just slipped away?
Having to work through an August like this did not help his mood. It would have been far more pleasant to be with Mary and his sons Robert and Tad, who were staying in the White Mountains of New Hampshire. Lincoln kept them updated on what they were missing in Washington. Two days before Douglass visited Lincoln, the president complained about the stifling heat and described his distress over Tad's favorite goat being missing. Lincoln played detective in recounting that the "Nanny Goat" was last seen chewing on his young son's bed. The gardener had also complained of the animal's effect on the White House lawn. The affectionate goat's whereabouts were unknown. 27
The president's office was adjacent to the reception room. It was a small and simple square-shaped office. Surprisingly few secretaries were there to assist the president, as they scurried around their leader. One of the two doorways led to the office of John Nicolay, one of these secretaries, while the other opened into the hallway where the servant holding the business cards sat. The only decorations were documents and military maps strewn extensively around him, his toil. They were in such disarray that Douglass thought perhaps Lincoln was in the midst of some kind of reorganization project. A muddle of papers obscured an oak table's cloth covering. Against the south wall, a desk with pigeonholes for papers stood. There were two unadorned sofas and an assortment of chairs scattered throughout the room. A poor, discolored picture of Andrew Jackson—no friend to Douglass's people—hung above a fireplace. Nothing in here denoted ceremonial regality. Two windows allowed Lincoln and his visitor to look out at the Potomac with the mansions of Arlington, Virginia, beyond. In peaceful days, Robert E. Lee had lived just beyond that river.28
His name was announced to Lincoln as he walked through the door. The president's face brightened when he heard the name. He was sitting rather informally in a low armchair between the two windows with his expansive legs seeming to reach into different parts of the room. Douglass hesitated until Lincoln's eyes lifted from the paper he was examining. As Lincoln stood up, it seemed to Douglass like a rather extensive process, as the man's long, lean frame kept rising and rising until finally Douglass was looking up at the president. There was never any spring in Lincoln's step, never landing or departing on his heels, but keeping them parallel to the ground. A body that looked like it needed oiling just went up and down again. Lincoln's chest was too narrow for the long, bony arms that hung down. While Douglass's build was mighty, Lincoln's thinness seemed out of proportion. Lincoln was eight years older and aging faster than Douglass, his health reflecting the anxieties that plagued his mind. He was down to 180 pounds, which, at six foot four inches, meant "the great emancipator" looked nearly emaciated.29
The president looked overworked and tired. Quickly examining the long lines of care sketched deeply in Lincoln's features, Douglass saw a patient man whose suffering was thinly veiled. A joke Lincoln identified with concerned two hunters meeting and one telling the other that he had vowed to shoot any man he ever met uglier than him. The other hunter scanned him and exclaimed, "If I am any worse looking than you are, for Gods sake shoot me and git me out of the way!" And when political rivals had called Lincoln two-faced, he wryly asked why he would have chosen to wear the face he did. Yes, Douglass thought, Lincoln was homely, but in a very human sense. These eyes, he reflected, evoked the tenderness of a mother, while his pronounced nose, cheekbones and ears suggested the fortitude of a frontier father.30
Douglass was tense at first, but Lincoln's warm smile and the open extension of his great hand put Douglass at ease. Douglass started to tell the president who he was, but Lincoln blandly interjected, "Mr. Douglass, you need not tell me who you are. I know who you are. Mr. Seward has told me all about you." Secretary of State William Seward had first subscribed to Douglass's paper more than a decade ago. They had corresponded during the years that Douglass had published in the then-senator's state.31
Lincoln offered Douglass a place beside him. As Douglass sat down, the waves of misgiving he had felt minutes before disappeared. He wrote later of an immediate sense that he was in the presence of an honest man doing his best to save a nation. Douglass wanted to keep his opening words short and began by telling Lincoln how recruiting black men for service had started fruitfully. Now it was becoming unachievable because black men did not trust Douglass's words on the government's treatment of them. Douglass would cleverly frame the discrimination issues as harming Lincoln's interests in attracting soldiers. He stated, "Mr. President, I have been recruiting colored troops, and if you want me to succeed I must be able to assure them . . . " Lincoln asked Douglass to be more specific.32
Douglass began feeling freer to reveal his opinions, seeing that Lincoln was ready to listen. He stated the three issues he hoped to bring to Lincoln's attention. In Douglass's opinion, black men "while in the service shall have pay equal to that of white soldiers." Douglass almost expected Lincoln to interrupt, but Lincoln did not. He continued, "secondly, that when they shall perform acts of bravery in battle, which would secure promotion to white soldiers, the like promotion shall be accorded colored soldiers." Douglass thanked Lincoln for his recent order to protect the troops. Yet it was not enough just to issue this warning. Douglass was asking for something more, sternly uttering, "If the threat of Jefferson Davis is carried out, you, President Lincoln, will retaliate in kind."33
Douglass finished laying out his protests and Lincoln contemplated them before speaking. Lincoln, still silent, looked troubled. He was a careful thinker who preferred to consider a point in his own mind before he articulated it. Douglass was surprised by the way the president didn't hide that his own mind was working its way through these vexing issues. Douglass equated this with openness to new ideas.34
Lincoln finally replied, "Mr. Douglass, you know that it was with great difficulty that I could get the colored soldiers, or get colored men, into the army at all. You know the prejudices existing against them; you know the doubt that was felt in regard to their ability as soldiers, and it was necessary at the first that we should make some discrimination against them; they were on trial."
It was not an ideal answer, but Douglass knew it was a candid one. Lincoln reminded Douglass of the larger picture. Black men being able to fight in the war was a great gain for the entire race. It was against serious risks of popular opinion that Lincoln had allowed this to go ahead. Some were angered that black men had equal uniforms and others bemoaned that blacks no longer just held pickaxes and shovels. Lincoln honestly felt that men should be enlisting under any conditions considering the exceptional nature of this opportunity. He still viewed it as an experiment that could succeed or fail. Be that as it may, the pay discrepancy was a concession to those that opposed their presence in the military. Lincoln impressed Douglass with how candidly he was speaking. The president felt that they would end up with equal pay before the end of the war. He finished, "Nevertheless, though we cannot offer them at present the same pay as we pay the white soldiers, that will be done, Mr. Douglass, and you may say to your people that they will eventually be paid . . . dollar for dollar, equal with other soldiers."
Going on, Lincoln related that he found the protection issue to be thornier. Douglass glimpsed how hard it was for a tender man to preside over a bloodbath, as he saw pain in Lincoln's eyes and voice. Lincoln simply asked, "Where will it stop?" Lincoln had issued the order but trembled at the thought of a cycle of endless retribution killings between the two governments. He confessed, "If I could get hold of the men that murdered your troops, murdered our prisoners of war, I would execute them, but I cannot take men that may not have had anything to do with this murdering of our soldiers and execute them."
The thought of killing one man for the crime of another was sickening to Lincoln. It was his reluctant conclusion, "No, Mr. Douglass, I don't see where it would stop; beside, I understand they are beginning to treat our colored soldiers as prisoners of war."35
Lincoln wanted to believe in the "better angels" of the Confederate's nature. Unfortunately, neither man had yet seen the worst barbaric behavior that the war would bring. Douglass was in a hard position because he found himself moved by the spirit of mercy Lincoln was expressing. He did not think the president's logic was right, but knew that Lincoln himself was right. Lincoln was essentially telling him that he did not intend to follow through on the document Douglass had so long wanted him to issue. He argued back that Lincoln would ultimately be saving more lives if he could bear to go through with some executions. Why issue it at all if he did not have the grit to enforce it?36
As to the officer question, Lincoln simply said that he would sign any commissions that Stanton sent him, regardless of the soldier's color. It was a slightly evasive answer, deferring action on the issue. On the other hand, Douglass understood this to mean he would sign off on the commission Stanton had only hours before said he would issue to him. Once Lincoln confirmed Douglass's new position, this would in effect make public the president's new support of black officers.
Then Lincoln revealed he knew more about Douglass than he had initially let on. Douglass was taken aback when Lincoln mentioned a speech he had read of Douglass's given somewhere in New York; Lincoln had stumbled across it in a newspaper he was perusing. Douglass had declared in the speech that it was not the military and political disasters that disheartened him the most. It was, Lincoln quoted Douglass, the "tardy, hesitating and vacillating policy of the President of the United States." This was from Douglass's Cooper Union speech, which had run in the New York Tribune on February 13, 1862. Lincoln did not bring up this critical speech with any hint of acrimony in his voice. His next statement stuck with Douglass more than anything else said that afternoon. Lincoln knew people called him tardy and hesitating concerning these matters, but he wanted Douglass to remember, "No man can say that having once taken the position I have contradicted it or retreated from it."37
This launched them into a discussion on his retaliatory proclamation. Although Douglass may have felt it was late, Lincoln asserted that had he issued it earlier, critics would decry executing white men for the good of black men. He needed the bravery and success of black soldiers to prime public opinion for government action. Lincoln called this the "preparatory work" for the order. If the order came too early, the result would have been more hatred poured upon Douglass's people. It was a difficult answer for Douglass to accept, but he could not deny that it affirmed a point he had pressed for months: Courageous conduct by black soldiers would transform America.38
It had been a stimulating exchange for both of them. Douglass told Lincoln of the commission Stanton had just offered and said he would accept it. Douglass was full of newfound faith in the kindness of the nation's leader, and Lincoln revealed how much he valued Douglass's thoughts. Lincoln then wrote for Douglass a pass that identified Douglass to be a "loyal, free, man, and is, hence, entitled to travel, unmolested,—We trust he will be recognized everywhere, as a free man, and a gentleman." This pass would have protected Douglass in his journey to recruit in the Mississippi Valley.
As Douglass rose to leave, Lincoln remarked in his affable manner, "Douglass, never come to Washington without calling upon me."39
Lincoln's assurance that he did not retreat from his actions was a sincere commitment, but the president, in private reflection, realized that harsh circumstances surrounding him meant he might not be able to fulfill his promises. Others knew that too; three days before Douglass came to Washington, Charles Sumner sent Lincoln a letter expressing his own fears that the Emancipation Proclamation would be abandoned. The stubborn senator told Lincoln that when justice was done for the black man, the country might then deserve success in the war effort.l
A reflection Lincoln wrote to himself in August considered what he would do if the Confederacy made an offer to return to the Union under the condition that slavery could remain as it had been before the Civil War. Dreading a new lease on life for slavery, he knew it would be a nightmarish political dilemma. How could he justify the continuation of killing for a cause many of his fellow citizens did not support? Support for the war, as it currently existed, was wearing thin despite the July victories. He finally resolved to himself that his government would never return a free person to bondage. Even so, he could imagine the Supreme Court, still under recalcitrant Roger Taney, forcing him to do so.2
Then too, the election was a year away.
Even if the future was in doubt, Douglass felt his meeting with the president had been gratifying. Being a guarded judge of character, especially when it came to white men, Douglass was impressed by Lincoln's sincerity. Douglass predicted that Lincoln would go down in history not as great, wise, or eloquent, but certainly as an honest man. During the visit, he had been received as a gentleman. Never did Douglass feel reminded of their difference in color by either compliment or condescension. He did not take this fact lightly, being unable to remember a similar occurrence during his dealings with powerful men over the past twenty years. During a speech in Philadelphia, he summed up his feelings on the meeting: "I tell you I felt big in there."3
Lincoln had been giving much thought to black soldiers during the week they met. The day before Douglass visited, Lincoln composed a letter to General Ulysses Grant on the importance of recruiting black soldiers in the West. He found it to be "a resource which if vigorously applied now, will soon close the contest... It works doubly, weakening the enemy & strengthening us."
Lincoln felt that with the Mississippi valley and delta in their control, the region along the mighty river was ripe for recruiting. One hundred thousand black troops would provide great relief to the white men who were already fighting.4
Grant replied to Lincoln on August 23, concurring with Lincoln's assessments and declaring that, from what he had seen in the field, emancipation was "the heaviest blow yet given the Confederacy." He viewed the black man as a powerful ally and was pleased with what he was seeing in terms of their fighting abilities. The Confederates would do all they could to prevent black men from joining the army, but Grant would send recruiting officers wherever the army extended.5
Lincoln told visitors to the White House on August 19 that black men were now so vital to the effort that the war would be lost in three weeks if they abandoned this new drive. Emancipation had given him two hundred thousand men who could be soldiers, and it would provide more. Senator Zachariah Chandler wrote to a fellow senator, "Every Negro regiment of a thousand men presents just one thousand unanswerable arguments against the revocation of the President's proclamation."6
On September 3, Springfield, Illinois, hosted a rally to show support for the war that their native son was struggling to sustain. Three months earlier, Lincoln's hometown, situated in a county that leaned Democratic, witnessed one of the largest midwestern peace meetings. James Conkling asked Lincoln to come home and stand with those who still believed the war was worth fighting. Returning to the warmth of Springfield to articulate a validation of the war was tempting. Lincoln's secretaries observed how eagerly he cherished the hope of speaking to adoring crowds as he had done so many times before. After two weeks of deliberation, Lincoln forlornly concluded his responsibilities in Washington were too pressing to go. Instead, he sent a carefully crafted letter that he wanted his old friend to read on his behalf. Throughout his presidency, Lincoln spoke very rarely in public and came to rely on written messages, sometimes in letters to political allies, sometimes to newspapers, and in this case, in a speech to be read by someone else.7
After a night to think it over, he sent a second draft and gave Conkling some speaking advice: "Read it very slowly." Three days later, he sent a third draft that included a reference to Grant, a man who had never supported abolitionist causes but was now a successful and rising general and believed that emancipation was strengthening the Union cause.
In the speech, Lincoln uncharacteristically went right to the jugular of his opponents. He asked his critics to choose between peace and union. Compromise was not possible, and if they thought he should let the Confederacy go, then they ought to come out and say it. Springfield was packed with somewhere between forty and seventy thousand people from all over the state, many having slept the night in their wagons. They thronged to hear Conkling read Lincoln's blunt truth as he had come to see it: " . . . to be plain, you are dissatisfied with me about the negro."8
Lincoln conceded that there were different opinions on the issue. He wished all could be free; others felt differently. Some thought the Emancipation Proclamation was unconstitutional; Lincoln considered it otherwise. He continued in a devastating deadpan note, "You say you will not fight to free negros. Some of them seem willing to fight for you; but, no matter."
Keep fighting to save the Union, Lincoln implored, as he had issued the Emancipation Proclamation to aid in just that goal. But they needed to keep in mind one central fact of human nature, that black men were serving under a promise they would be made free, for "Negros, like other people, act upon Motives." If they were risking their lives based on this pledge, how could the nation retreat from it?
When the day of freedom arrives, "there will be some black men who can remember that, with silent tongue, and clenched teeth, and steady eye, and well-poised bayonet, they have helped mankind on to this great consummation." On the other hand, there would be white men who would not forget that "with malignant hearts, and deceitful speech, they have strove to hinder it." Lincoln had never before spoken so powerfully about black soldiers. The contrast of white men who would so cowardly compromise and black men in the field so nobly sacrificing makes this speech a true line of demarcation in Lincoln's public conviction that he could never allow slavery to continue after all that these black men had dared. These words were widely republished in every northern newspaper. His assistant William O. Stoddard remembered Lincoln reading a version of the letter before he let it be mailed, with Lincoln putting particular emphasis on the line about the gallantry of black soldiers.
The administration's offer of a commission to Douglass to recruit in the Mississippi Valley was of great comfort to him. The pay issue was not resolved, but his meeting with Lincoln had led him to have faith in the "educating tendency of the conflict." He was convinced that Lincoln was honest, and that allowed him to go back to his recruiting efforts. One of Douglass's other major objections had been that by resisting black officers, the administration was not open to opportunities for these men. Yet by offering Douglass this position, the administration had done exactly what Douglass had advocated. His earlier resignation letter had made very clear that Douglass wanted to continue this work but could not until certain circumstances changed. Stanton may have caught Douglass off guard, but he was offering Douglass something that he had long coveted.
After his monumental days in Washington, Douglass returned to Rochester to tie up personal and professional matters. Stanton had said it would not take long for the commission to arrive. Douglass now faced a weighty decision: What to do with his monthly paper? Through sixteen long years, harsh financial times, and days when he was exhausted from the speech the night before, through all this he had kept the paper going. No matter how far his public engagements had taken him, he always made it back home to keep publishing. This valuable monthly transatlantic platform was at stake. The fact that he was giving up his paper conveyed how much the commission meant to him.
As he composed a farewell letter to his readers, "emotions are excited for which I shall not attempt to find words to give suitable expression." He felt like a huge chapter of his life was closing, one that had brought him tremendous joy. Moreover, for many of his closest friends who lived an ocean away, the paper was what had kept them connected. In its pages, they could keep track of their friend's activities from month to month.
He wrote that this felt like a painful parting. Part of him must have been relieved not to have the stress of the paper's financial precariousness, but it was gratifying to make clear that money trouble had not ended the paper, as this might reflect on the future viability of black-owned newspapers. Nor was there any intention on his part to stop writing on issues related to an evil that was not yet defeated.
The reason he was writing this farewell letter was simple: "I can better serve my poor bleeding country-men whose great opportunity has now come, by going south and summoning them to assert their just liberty, than I can do by staying here." He proudly reported his placement with General Lorenzo Thomas. Slavery had taken up the sword, so he predicted by the sword it would die.
Despite all the advice he had received from others that he should not join the war, he wrote that it was natural for him to play a part in the physical struggle to end slavery. Conceding that some would disagree with his decision, he could not hide his desire to be closer to where the blood of slaveholders would be shed. With a full heart, he brought a sixteen-year relationship with his readers to a close.9
With that emotional piece of business taken care of, Douglass waited for the commission that would take him south. After Edwin Stanton met with Douglass on August 10, the secretary of war had C. W. Foster of the Adjutant General's Office in the War Department write to a depot quartermaster to arrange public payment for Douglass's journey from Rochester to Vicksburg, Mississippi. Three days later Foster wrote to Douglass in Rochester, relating that Stanton now wanted Douglass to proceed to Vicksburg, Mississippi, where he would report in person to Brigadier General Lorenzo Thomas. Douglass found a copy of the order for his transportation at government expense, but something was missing in the envelope.10
There was no commission.
Waiting a few more days and receiving nothing, Douglass sent an anxious letter to Stanton, saying he was ready to meet Thomas in Vicksburg now that he had obtained the receipt of his transportation. However, before he left home, he wanted to know under what conditions he was entering the service. Straining to be polite, Douglass asked why there was no commission in the package. Stanton had clearly said he would be an officer under General Thomas. Had their agreement changed?11
In the days that followed, Douglass's confusion only increased. He had given up so much for this commission. On August 18, Douglass wrote his friend Thomas Webster, who was coordinating the recruitment of black soldiers in Pennsylvania, hoping to see him before he left for Mississippi. Still assuming the undertaking was happening, Douglass was uneasy. He wrote his friend that he was unsure about the conditions of his service, as well as the rank, pay, and duty. The agitated Douglass wondered if Stanton found it amusing to keep him in the dark about these critical matters. Did the administration think they were a monarchy, where they could command a man without regard to his life? The last thing Douglass needed was more worry, as he acknowledged that he lived in a state of constant fear for the safety of his sons. Perhaps realizing he was already divulging more sentiment than was typical for him, he reassured his friend that he would obey whatever Stanton decided.12
Stanton did not answer Douglass's letter; Foster did so but evasively. As if Douglass had written about money, which he had not, Foster responded that it would still be Steams compensating him for his service. Douglass was utterly mystified. Who was paying his salary was not at all germane to the inquiry he had made. He simply wanted to know whether he was an officer of the United States military or not. They had stymied his query again. Yet Foster had implicitly answered the question. If Douglass were to be an officer, why would George Steams be paying him, instead of the United States government?
Foster's letter concluded sharply, dismissing Douglass's questions and telling him "It is of course expected that you go." The War Department was not interested in a long discussion with a black man concerning rank. Foster restated the assignment—to aid General Thomas in recruiting black men— and expected him to get to it.13
It was not just the missing commission, but what Douglass perceived as a dismissive disingenuousness that angered him. He was offended by Stanton's refusal to level with him. He curtly wrote to the secretary of war that if he would only talk about who was paying him, that he might as well be conversing with that man on the status of his duty. He clothed the sentiment in courteous language, but the message was now coming clear. Stanton did not want to tell Douglass he was backing out of the understanding they had, so Douglass, in his sense of preserving his self-respect, had no desire to speak further with him.14
Ottilie Assing could not understand why Stanton did not have the courage to act on, or even address, what seemed to be originally his idea. What she saw happening was Stanton employing "petty excuses and intentional misunderstandings, so that Douglass, fully aware of the game that was being played, broke off the discussions completely disgusted and dismayed."15
Between Stanton's unwillingness to address whether or not Douglass would receive a commission and the time that lapsed as August became September, it became clear to Douglass that he would not have an opportunity that had come to mean much to him. Without answers, the theory he settled on was that the government was not ready to bestow any honors on a black man, and certainly not official military rank. Douglass said he did not doubt Stanton's sincerity in the moment of their meeting. He thought that after further reflection Stanton had decided it was too soon for such an action. It was not a personal rejection, but a rebuff to the black man's ability to be anything more than a private in the army, a grievance that after all had been so crucial to his Washington lobbying.16
On a personal level, he considered it a broken promise. It was his fond hope to go south to work, but he would not do it under these circumstances for a number of reasons. He felt the vulnerability of going into such dangerous territory without any rank to protect him. Douglass was still a marked man in much of America. More than that, seeing himself as a distinguished man in his mid-forties, serving without an officer's rank did not fit the part. It was an insult not just to himself but to the dignity of the people he longed to represent. In any case, his worth to his people as an advocate whose words were nationally received was more valuable than his laboring anonymously in the service. Furthermore, with two sons serving in the military and Frederick Jr. now helping recruit where his father would have gone, he felt that they embodied the sacrifice he was already making.17
Perhaps out of wishful thinking, Douglass never assigned blame to Lincoln. At least publicly, he never cast doubt on Lincoln's assurance to him that he would sign any commission Stanton sent him, although it was clear that Stanton had known of the idea from an exchange with Steams a few days before meeting with Douglass, while Lincoln may have only learned about it during Douglass's visit. Douglass may have never blamed Lincoln because he did not want to publicly jeopardize the value of their developing relationship, but privately he suspected Lincoln's role in reneging on the commission. Ottilie Assing never forgave Lincoln for Douglass's not receiving the commission. Her strong feelings reflect the distress that she saw him suffer.18
As for the newspaper, it was embarrassing to have ended one of his great life's works for nothing. In his autobiography, Life and Times, this episode of his life bears the one-word title "Disappointment." Still, slavery was very much alive, and there was much work ahead of him. His mission would have to be fulfilled another way.19
Without a commission or a newspaper, Douglass took a brief break from his work, just to be a father and take on the new role of grandfather. Rosetta had abruptly given up her floundering teaching venture to marry a newly freed young man named Nathan Sprague. For a daughter so fixated on her father, it was not surprising that Sprague's background would be similar to that of Douglass. He was said to have descended from Maryland governor Samuel Sprigg and was free through a daring escape from slavery. Unfortunately for Rosetta, the similarities were too few. Nathan managed to fail at an extensive list of professional endeavors, many of which ended with a weary father-in-law parting with money. For now, the young couple moved into the Rochester property and Rosetta gave birth to a child. After the heartbreaking loss of his youngest daughter, he was pleased to welcome a new child named Annie into his life. Julia Griffiths Crofts yearned to see the joy of a baby girl playing in the kind arms of Douglass among the old trees that surrounded his estate. She imagined "Grandpa Douglass" feeding the child his favorite "Maryland biscuits."20
There was other news. Douglass's middle son, Charles, reported a rumor going around that Massachusetts Governor John Andrew might defy the War Department's resistance on black officers and commission Charles's older brother, Lewis, as a lieutenant. Charles found that "Lewis is highly spoken of in Boston and New Bedford . . . Everyone says that he will receive the first commission." As for what Charles heard of the regiment so brutalized at Fort Wagner, "the 54 boys have been worked hard but they are plucky yet and want to be in a fight." Lewis had been rewarded a furlough to return to New York because of his "good conduct in the field."21
But Lewis was falling deeper into an illness that would prevent his return to action. The water that he had been drinking in South Carolina was contaminated and many others in his regiment were experiencing its sickening effects. For three weeks in October, Douglass sat at his son's bedside, tending to his needs and talking of these past few chaotic months. He told Gerrit Smith that his battle-tested young man was mending slowly. Griffiths Crofts wrote, "Poor dear Lewis—I trust he will soon recover."22
As he nursed his son, Douglass imagined what would happen if the Union could just win this war. Fulfilling his duties as a father, the thought crossed his mind that if his great goal could somehow be achieved, it would please him to quietly retire with his growing family.23Douglass had already received an invitation from the Cooper Union Institute to speak early in the new year.24He knew that he would have to produce something significant for an address that would be nationally covered. Unfortunately, he only found himself depressed when he read the newspapers. In the eastern battlefields, there was no action and no progress as the Army of the Potomac awaited a new general to take over from George Meade. They would have to wait, for Grant had one last duty to fulfill in the west, righting the bloody Union loss at Chickamauga and raising the siege in Chattanooga.
Douglass composed one of his most important addresses, "The Mission of the War." On November 17, he tried out an early version of the speech at Corinthian Hall in Rochester, where he had given his first speeches defining the war. He had no trouble filling the hall and hundreds were turned away. Afterward, he felt very good about using this new message in travels around the country.25
He journeyed to Boston, where he spoke and spent time saying goodbye to his son Charles, who had also endured sickness through the summer. Charles was finally ready to ship off with two hundred other men to fill the depleted ranks of the Massachusetts Fifty-fourth. He had been told a few weeks before to be ready at a moment's notice to set out for Morris Island, South Carolina. Having heard of the bloody engagements that Lewis had been in, Charles retained little desire to experience war's glory firsthand. Confusion over how long he rested from his illness led a commander to at one point list him as a deserter. Charles assured his father, "I will never desert, I will take a bullet first." That said, he was doing anything he could to extend his time in Massachusetts. Charles asked for an autographed picture of his father to give to a Swedish-born Lieutenant Wulff who, Charles believed, could request that Lewis be left in camp.26
Charles Douglass
While Lewis had been stationed in the Carolina islands, Charles had been dealing with his own hardships. Falling sick soon after arriving at camp in Massachusetts, Charles had a long stay in a makeshift hospital that left him thinking he would like to care for the others around him. For a young man who had grown up so far from suffering, it was a cruel baptism. His letters to Douglass in September convey disbelief at just how miserable the army allowed conditions to be for incapacitated black troops. Though he was a private, hardly a trained doctor or nurse, he spent many agonizingly long nights as the only man on duty in the sick ward. When men took a turn for the worse in darkness, Charles was helpless. He recounted, "I was up all night and stood over those that died and laid them out, wrote to their friends, and in fact done most all that was to do except doctor them." All he could do was ease their agony.
Away from the makeshift hospital until evening one day, upon returning he was told "that there had been no doctor there all that day and there is one man then that will die and others that are very sick." Before the regiment shipped out, the conditions improved, but there still seemed to be a lack of medical care at the camp. For those still here, Charles pronounced, "now they are treated worse than dogs."
Spending so many days and nights around the sick only worsened his own condition. Charles wondered if the government knew that it was nearly starving them to death. The army gave them tiny rations that were supposed to last a week. Charles boiled large pots of bland stew so their rations would last a little longer. No authorities were interested in his complaints. Charles objected that "hospital rations were small and that we could not draw full rations that is a funny way to starve a lot of men . . . we were used mean." When old friends ran into him, they hardly recognized the withered Charles. He told them that the transformation was not from sickness but from the lack of rations given to the sick. Begging his father to "think hard of me," he warned "a person will do most anything before they will starve" and he felt himself "falling away more and more."27
That illnesses struck Douglass's two fighting sons for a sizable portion of 1863 was no aberration. In the Civil War, disease killed more men than battle did; while the ratio for white soldiers of deaths by illness to deaths in combat was two to one, the rate for black soldiers was about ten to one. One in twelve white enlistees lost his life to infection, but a staggering one in five black soldiers met this fate. Poor prior health of many black men coming into the service from a life of bondage may explain part of the discrepancy, yet there were clearly critical elements of discrimination once they entered the service that proved to be fatal.
White commanders believed that black men could withstand more arduous work, especially in blistering sun and in lowland environments. They justified the dangerous work conditions because of their belief in physiological differences between the races. Many also assumed that the traditional slave diet ought to be replicated for the good of these men. This meant unremitting rations of pork and corn, with occasional variants of beef and wheat. Both of these assumptions created havoc with the health of free men and former slaves.
Whether or not Charles's commanders were correct in ordering him out of the hospital and off to South Carolina, many lives were also lost because white officers firmly believed that slaves were adept at faking illness to be spared severe toil. This proved to be a dire factor in pushing black soldiers back into action too quickly. As Charles discovered all too clearly, efforts to save black lives did not seem equal to those for white soldiers.28
Aside from the discrimination Charles witnessed in health matters, the continuing controversy over equal pay for black soldiers also infuriated him. He heard of Governor Andrew's solution, which was for Massachusetts to pay the three-dollar discrepancy between what the federal government paid white and black troops. He fumed whenever he thought of how they were denied "what was promised us." Of course, to many soldiers, the one who had passed on the faulty pledge had been his father. He hoped that "our boys wont except of any less than what they enlisted for."29
While in Boston saying goodbye to his second son headed into combat, Douglass gave his new speech again. He knew the speech well by now, having traveled from Rochester to Philadelphia to Boston, stopping at towns in between, spreading the word of this mission. He was back to the pace of travel he had been on for the better part of the war. Griffiths Crofts worried for him at his hectic pace, but added, "Never was a long-looked for letter more welcomed to anxious friend than yours . . . We are all thankful that you are still in Rochester [and] that the dangerous task of recruiting in the South is given up!" Her delight was palpable. Even so, she could not help but remind him how "the belief that you are gone to fight in the South" had hurt her fundraising efforts on his behalf in England. She continued to pray that he would "be preserved amidst all the danger around you [and] that your boys may escape the fire."30
Rosine Draz had thought that he was in the South "already and that you were exposed to most fearful dangers." When news reached her of what Douglass had decided, "I thanked God when I found my dear friend that you would not recklessly expose your precious life by going without the protection of Government in the midst of cruel enemies." Draz, an intensely religious woman, believed God had lifted up Douglass as his instrument to end slavery—and thus would never jeopardize his life in the South. She assured Douglass that eventually he would see "the fruits of your noble devoted labors. Take courage, my believed friend. God is near to save his people."31
Douglass returned to Washington on December 7 to speak at Henry Highland Garnet's Fifteenth Street Presbyterian Church on behalf of the Contraband Relief Society. In saying farewell at their summer meeting, Lincoln had told Douglass to come and see him whenever he was in Washington; the two men did not meet to renew that conversation because Lincoln had returned home from the dedication of the Gettysburg cemetery with a mild case of smallpox and was confined to his room. Still, as the president recovered, Lincoln sent a letter to Henry C. Wright, head of the Massachusetts Anti-Slavery Society, saying, "I shall not attempt to retract or modify the emancipation proclamation; nor shall I return to slavery any person who is free by the terms of that proclamation, or by any of the acts of Congress." In reading these words, Douglass was indeed confirmed in his sense that, once having moved forward, this president did not go back.32
Cooper Union Institute was packed as Douglass stepped forward to the podium. This was Douglass's third time to speak from the nation's most prestigious lecture hall, and he was about to deliver a speech that he had been preparing for all his life. In the same place four years earlier, Lincoln had spoken in clear, cogent themes that defined and clarified the issue of slavery, propelling him to the presidency. Douglass needed to define the meaning of this war and to link his own life's mission to the larger mission of the war itself. The North was tired of this war and the toll of its dead soldiers, and without such a redefinition, everything might be for naught. The
This night's sponsor was the Woman's Loyal League, a group advocating to amend the Constitution to end slavery. People arrived early to get good seats. Leaders of New York reform groups sat arrayed on the platform behind Douglass, and Oliver Johnson, the editor of the National Anti-Slavery Standard, introduced Douglass to the crowd's loud cheers and applause. His address lasted two hours, but they stayed with him through each peak and valley of his oratory, waving their hats, yelling "hear, hear," and rising to their feet in numerous ovations.1
This war, he said, would lead to either the nation's salvation or its ruin. The outcome was very much in doubt. It depended on whether the war "can teach a great nation respect for the long-despised claims of justice." Douglass called it cowardly to trust that God would intervene to fulfill the nation's charge. America's destiny was in their hands. He recounted the "desolation, ruin, shame, suffering and sorrow" of a war caused by slavery. They could now win a victory for all humanity in the epic struggle against human bondage. This nation would "have no business to mourn over our mission. We are writing the statutes of eternal justice and liberty in the blood of the worst of tyrants as a warning to all after-comers."2
Cooper Union Institute, shown in Harpers Weekly, March 30, 1861
In this speech, he tried not only to inspire a restless and war-weary people, he also tried to deal with the charge that he and other radical abolitionists were guilty of not wanting the war to end yet—not now, not with slavery untouched. That charge opened them up to bitter criticism and presented them as bloodthirsty and callous. Douglass was forthright in admitting that he was glad the war had not ended too quickly: "I say the longer the better if it must be so—in order to put an end to the hell black cause out of which the Rebellion has risen." But he answered quickly the deeper charge. "Say not that I am indifferent to the horrors and hardships of the war. In common with the American people generally, I feel the prolongation of the war a heavy calamity—private as well public. There are vacant spaces at my hearthstone which I shall rejoice to see filled again by the boys who once occupied them . . . " Then he asked all who mourned to reflect "upon the vastness and grandeur of its mission." The world had seen many wars, but not one like this: "The blow we strike is not merely to free a country and a continent—but the whole world from slavery—for when slavery fails here—it will fail everywhere. We have no business to mourn over our mission."
Douglass was glad to hear that Peace Democrats were proclaiming this war an "abolition war" and agreed with them emphatically. He restated that abolition was the "comprehensive and logical object of the war." Slavery—no other reason—had caused the South to disregard the ballot, republican institutions, and the Constitution.
The mission of the war had four components. First, this must be an abolition war. Second, no peace could be accepted if it was not an abolition peace. Third, as earned by their military service, America must regard black people as fellow citizens. Last, whether a soldier or citizen, blacks must be able to vote and live free of discrimination.
Douglass applauded the Emancipation Proclamation, but "excellent as that paper is—and much as it has accomplished temporarily—it settles nothing." For him, the problem was that Lincoln still spoke with moral indifference. He reminded them all that in Lincoln's annual message of 1863, he had painted emancipation as an emergency measure of wartime, believing that "the general government had no lawful power to effect emancipation in any State." Douglass thought Lincoln still had not shown he "understood and accepted its true mission." This lack of understanding was not necessary, for the Confederacy knew the conflict was over slavery, and John Brown had predicted it before a single cannon was fired.3
Lincoln had accepted a war to restore the old Union. He had been willing to "faithfully catch, hold and return runaway slaves," among other concessions to slaveholders. Despite the fondest wishes of the administration, the tide of events and great, almost mystical, forces were serving to propel this war toward the mission that Douglass articulated. He called it, "a growing war in every sense."
In his third Annual Message, Lincoln had also said of black soldiers, "So far as tested, it is difficult to say they are not as good soldiers as any."4As military operations extended into every corner of the land, the moral meaning of the war was also expanding. He recounted the proclamation, the recognition of Haiti and Liberia, the encouraging movement of border states turning away from slavery, and that black men now shouldered rifles. Yet the growing popularity of the Democrat Party's platform threatened all the progress that had come from the evolution of this conflict with an indifference to slavery's depravity. With an election looming in eight months, this was an hour of "hope as well as danger." Douglass ended the speech as he had begun:
No war but an Abolition war; no peace but an Abolition peace; liberty for all, chains for none; the black man a soldier in war, a laborer in peace; a voter at the South as well as at the North; America his permanent home, and all Americans his fellow-countrymen. Such, fellow-citizen, is my idea of the mission of the war. If accomplished, our glory as a nation will be complete, our peace will flow like a river, and our foundations will be the everlasting rocks.
This was Douglass's gospel. During February, he spread it through Portland, Maine; Trenton, New Jersey, and in Pennsylvania in Montgomery County, Newtown, Pineville, and Bucks County.5
Douglass's name was heard far and wide, and it turned up on Stanton's desk again in mid-February. General Benjamin Butler clipped an article from a Richmond newspaper, thinking the secretary of war would be interested in a glimpse into current Confederate psyche. The article had a rather distorted view of the prisoner exchange programs that would go on between the two sides: "If President Lincoln should signify that he is ready to permit a new negotiation to be entered upon, with a view to exchange, provided we send our commissioner to settle the terms with Frederick Douglass." Imploring the Confederate government to never negotiate with the hated black abolitionist, the writer waxed colorfully on the humiliation their soldiers would be subject to if an agreement influenced by Douglass determined their destiny. They wanted the Virginia legislature to introduce a measure forbidding them "to accept, as a federal agent of exchange . . . the mulatto Frederick."6
It was a puzzling piece detached from reality. Perhaps the South had heard of Lincoln and Douglass's meeting in which the protection of captured black soldiers was a principal issue. From there, it was quite a leap in imagination for Douglass to be representing the government's negotiations on the topic. It was a reminder of the fear and abhorrence Douglass brought to the minds of many in the South. The revolutionary nature of his meeting with the president was a powerful image.
At this time early in 1864, Lincoln asked Stanton for information and statistics about black citizens. He wanted to know how many men were enrolled in the military, how many had escaped from slavery since the Emancipation Proclamation, and how many were born free. The same day that Butler mailed to Stanton the southern fantasy of Douglass becoming Lincoln's personal negotiator, the president asked General Daniel Sickles to travel to New Orleans, through the Gulf region, and then north along the Atlantic coast in order to gather information on how black men were faring as soldiers, laborers, and most of all, as free people. Whether they were working for their old masters or for Union generals, placing them on abandoned plantations was of interest to Lincoln. In coming to grips with the sweeping new course he was setting for the nation, he wanted to understand whether life was better for them inside rebel lines or along the confused areas of northern occupation. He wanted to know what they were experiencing.7
On April 12, 1864, an incident on the muddy banks of the Mississippi River near Memphis showed the nation how real and dire the need to protect black soldiers from Confederate vengeance was becoming. Confederate General Nathan Bedford Forrest, a former slave trader, commanded the men who attacked Fort Pillow, a Union outpost in western Tennessee, that morning. Forrest's cavalry division surrounded a small fort defended by black and white regiments and demanded surrender. Acting Union commander William Bradford refused. The Confederates attacked, overrunning the fort and driving its occupants toward the bluffs along the river. Few of the black soldiers survived what followed.
One soldier remembered the fort becoming a "great slaughter pen," where "Blood—human blood—stood about in pools, and brains could have been gathered up in any quantity." Numerous accounts corroborate that it became an object of amusement among Forrest's men to shoot black soldiers in one leg, then make them stand and beg before murdering them. Rebels visited atrocities on Union white soldiers too, believing that they had betrayed Tennessee not only for remaining loyal to Lincoln but for fighting alongside black soldiers. Three women came across the seared body of Lieutenant John C. Akerstrom, who had been nailed to wood planks and burned alive.
Black women traveling with the army, along with their children, were shot and thrown into the Mississippi. When a Confederate officer saw one of his troops helping a black boy who looked about eight by putting him on his horse, he ordered the soldier to take him down and shoot him. The soldier objected, crying that he was "nothing more than a child."
The superior responded, "Damn the difference . . . Take him down and shoot him, or I'll shoot you instead." The soldier sadly lifted the youngster from his saddle, placed him on the ground and ended his life.8
Horrible as it was, Fort Pillow was not an isolated case. Six days later, black troops were not given the option of surrendering in Poison Spring, Arkansas; they were slaughtered. In Plymouth, North Carolina, eight days after Fort Pillow, white southern men took captured black soldiers; some were hung, others beaten to death with butt ends of muskets.9
It did not take long for these sickening stories to spread from the blood-soaked knolls around Fort Pillow throughout the nation. While northerners were largely indifferent to discrimination against black soldiers, Fort Pillow crossed a line of civilized behavior. The outraged cries of politicians and newspapers editors made this clear. In this new climate, Douglass did not want white Americans to believe that this was the inevitable result of whites and blacks fighting. Nor did he want them to suppose that the atrocities would necessarily deter black recruitment. His message was that it would only make black men more energized to enlist, as they would wish to avenge this atrocity.10
An address by Lincoln given at a Soldier's Relief gathering in Baltimore six days after the news of Fort Pillow touched on "A painful rumor, true I fear." Lincoln felt the massacre called into question his decision to allow black soldiers to fight in this war. He explained, "Upon a clear conviction of duty I resolved to turn that element of strength to account; and I am responsible for it to the American people, to the Christian world, to history, and on my final account to God."
Lincoln said of the black recruit, "there is no way but to give him all the protection given to any other soldier. The difficulty is not in stating the principle, but in practically applying it." Lincoln wanted the country to know that the issue grieved him greatly and he was searching for a solution. His first priority was discovering what actually happened, because he dreaded executing anyone upon false reports. If men trying to surrender were killed in cold blood, "the retribution shall as surely come. It will be a matter of grave consideration in what exact course to apply the retribution; but in the supposed case, it must come."11
But it never did. Lincoln asked his cabinet for opinions in writing on what course he should take in the government's reaction.12In a meeting on May 6, some in his cabinet argued for the execution of the officers responsible if they were ever caught; others advocated the killing of an equal number of war prisoners if the Confederate government admitted the massacre. Lincoln never went forward with either course, being more interested in winning the war as the ultimate reprisal.
Lincoln did take action on one matter that concerned Fort Pillow, however. Mary Elizabeth Wayt Booth was the widow of Lionel Booth, the white commander of the fort, who had been killed by sharpshooters early in the battle. She had gone to the sight of the battle in its grisly aftermath and learned the plight of black widows. Slavery had prevented legal marriage contracts, so those widows were without the proof necessary to receive government pensions. The twenty-four-year-old Booth traveled from Ohio to Washington, determined to bring this issue to the attention of the president. Her case seems to have genuinely affected Lincoln, as on the same day as their meeting he wrote to Senator Charles Sumner saying she had asked for "widows and children in fact, of colored soldiers who fall in our service be placed in law, the same as if their marriages were legal." Lincoln wished Congress could ensure their having "the benefit of the provisions made the widows & orphans of white soldiers." Six weeks later, a measure passed the House and Senate that included these black women. The widow pension was a redeeming moment in what is otherwise the darkest chapter in the history of black Civil War soldiers.13
On April 26, a beautiful Sunday morning, the Ninth, headed toward action in Virginia, paraded through Washington. It was a significant movement since the unit included black regiments recruited from Maryland, Pennsylvania, and Ohio, and the capital had never seen soldiers of color. They began their procession around eleven A.M., taking New York Avenue, a dusty road leading into the heart of the city. The troops halted at 14th Street, where the grand Willard's Hotel stood. Lincoln stood silently on the second floor balcony. Just two years ago, there had still been slavery in this city; now armed black men marched through it. When these men saw the president, military discipline gave way to euphoria. As they threw hats and screamed out his name, the president respectfully uncovered his head. His secretary, William Stoddard, asked what he thought of this remarkable sight. Lincoln tightened his lips and shut his eyes. He said, "It'll do, it'll do!"14
A letter he had written at the beginning of the month captured his quickly evolving views on the future of slavery. He spent the morning with three Ken-tuckians, including Governor Thomas Bramlette. Lincoln retained strong emotional ties to Kentucky, a state he believed he understood and certainly sympathized with. The delegation complained about the Union's recruitment of black men who might not yet be free, and Lincoln expressed a different opinion. Kentucky felt it should be exempt from the swift social changes from the Emancipation Proclamation since it had never seceded from the Union. One of the visitors, Albert G. Hodges, editor of the widely read Frankfort Commonwealth, suggested Lincoln record the contents of this "little speech" for a public letter.15
What Lincoln offered for many skeptical American eyes, not just his fellow Kentuckians, was the simple idea that if slavery was not wrong, "nothing is wrong." He added, "I can not remember when I did not so think, and feel." Yet, the presidency did not furnish him the right to act upon that which was not constitutional. He wondered, "Was it possible to lose the nation, and yet preserve the Constitution?" Recalling the incidents with his generals Fremont and Hunter, he had halted their military emancipation attempts because, at those points, "I did not yet think the indispensable necessity had come."16He reminded the nation about his many overtures to the border states for gradual, compensated emancipation. Those offers had been rebuffed and that helped set his course now—this moment of necessity had arrived.
By the end of 1863, Lincoln had faced a choice of "either surrendering the Union, and with it, the Constitution, or of laying strong hand upon the colored element. I chose the latter." A year later, the nation had not been marred; instead, it had gained thousands of soldiers. These were "palpable facts, about which, as facts, there can be no caviling. We have the men; and we could not have had them without the measure." Without those black troops, Lincoln did not see how winning the war was possible.
It is at this point in the letter (intended for the whole country to read) that Lincoln famously claimed "not to have controlled events, but confess plainly that events have controlled me." In defining controversial acts and defending a course of action that even he himself had not supported for two years, it is understandable that a politician would seek to portray himself as a vessel of fate, as a man subject to larger forces that he cannot control but must bow to. Lincoln contended that after three furious years, the state of affairs was not what any man or party intended or expected. "God alone can claim it." Yet, there is something more here, an emerging theme of Douglass's that would bear fruit in Lincoln's second inaugural address.
Frederick Douglass, in his January 1864 "Mission of the War" speech, said:
Few men, however great their wisdom, are permitted to see the end from the beginning. Events are mightier than our rulers, and these Divine forces, with overpowering logic, have fixed upon this war, against the wishes of our Government, the comprehensive character and mission I have ascribed to it.17
In pivotal speeches, both Lincoln and Douglass grasped that powers beyond human comprehension were somehow guiding this war's end. Each man knew the power of their individual purposes, but humbly accepted that they were to be pieces contributing to a larger course determining the destiny of their country.
General Grant had taken command of the Union troops in the East in March, and the long-promised summer offensive was now under way. The prospects were promising, and the North finally felt it had a general who could confront the superior tactics of Robert E. Lee. They knew they had the numbers and the military materiel, and the advantage of technology and supply lines, and naval superiority. All they needed was a victory, and Grant looked like the man for the task—tough, tenacious, willing to dare.
If Grant's offensive worked, the Confederacy could well collapse, and a war-weary Union might then reelect Lincoln. If, however, Lee performed his usual magic—for even when he was checked, as he had been at Antietam and Gettysburg, he always managed to keep his army together and nimbly escape to fight again—the Democrats might nominate the controversial and retired general George McClellan on a peace platform. Then the South would achieve something that, for all their victories over befuddled Union generals, they had not as yet achieved on the battlefield. McClellan's policies promised in effect a draw, and for the beleaguered Confederate government, that meant victory—and certainly, survival of the institution of slavery.
Union victories during the early summer collapsed. Almost as if Lee could read Grant's mind, he effortlessly stifled and thwarted the Union advance. For soldiers under General Grant's command during May and June, the horror was unspeakable. The battles of the Wilderness where hundreds of men died each hour and then more died in fires sparked in the dense forest—Spotsylvania, and Cold Harbor were butcheries. But unlike previous failed federal offensives, Grant did not pull back. He was not daunted by Lee's superior performance and drove on, swinging south, wheeling around again and again, seeking some advantage.
During Cold Harbor, there were seven thousand Union casualties in twenty minutes, a battle with no advantage to show for this monumental forfeiture of life.
Charles Douglass, now a sergeant with the Fifth Massachusetts Cavalry, fought near Petersburg, Virginia. On the last day of May, Charles took a minute to write to his father from Virginia, but even as his pen glided over the paper, he expected "to be called into battle every moment." The reality was that they had "been fighting ever since our Regt came here." He was seven miles from Petersburg as Grant's great offensive was grinding down into what promised to be a long siege. As he wrote, he could hear bombs falling. Hinting at his fears of entering this carnage, he wrote his father, "I am not over anxious but willing to meet the devil at any moment." He added, "Fort Pillow will be the battle cry."18
In the previous week, he had faced this question of killing in cold blood. As he patrolled alone on picket duty, Charles had spotted a man in gray ducking behind a tree that was about twelve yards away from him. Startled, Charles ordered him to move slowly out from his position. The rebel reluctantly showed his face and then slowly moved into the open. When he was fully exposed, Charles nervously cocked his pistol. The subtle sound of a click seemed to reverberate throughout the still woods. Terror flashed over the white soldier's face and his body froze. The white man asked Charles if he intended to murder him. Charles aimed the gun at the Confederate's head. No one would ever know if he decided to take the life of a man fighting for an institution stealing the lives of his own family members. All he would have to do was squeeze his index finger.
The sensitive Charles could fight, but he could not murder.
With a harsh voice, Charles answered no. He ordered the petrified man forward and promised to shoot him if he dared pause. Charles took the prisoner to his commanders but kept the Confederate's revolver and fifty dollars he found on him. This man survived, but there are accounts of other black soldiers outside of Petersburg dispensing revenge for Fort Pillow. During a roundup of Confederate prisoners, a member of the 117th New York witnessed a United States Colored Troops private spotting an unarmed white man; the private, "came up to him . . . and ran his bayonet through his heart."19
Death nearly caught up with Charles in mid-June. On the evening of June 16, he packed two days' rations because his battalion had drawn a difficult assignment. He and about four hundred comrades left camp at two in the morning. Moving closer to the front lines, he saw ambulance trains heading the other way carrying men with appalling wounds. It went through his head, "some of us were not coming back again." They ended their march five miles from Petersburg, next to General Benjamin Butler's forces.
Alongside other black regiments, they started down a hill and into a wheat field, driving the enemy into woods. Moving on, Charles was under "a withering fire from the rebel batteries." Trying to push forward, he kept tripping on the underbrush. He was in the second line. His colonel ordered Charles's line to fix bayonets and take on the rebel defense that had turned back the first wave. The officer yelled, "Come on, brave boys of the Fifth!" as he was struck in the shoulder. Under this deadly fire, Charles charged forward through the Confederate breastworks. He not only lived, but also helped to capture a piece of artillery. As Charles looked around, he saw only about twenty of the men from his company with whom he had started this two-mile rush. The worst wound he had was the skin of his shoulder ground raw from his bag.20
His brother Lewis was not as lucky. Recovered, Lewis rejoined his company; they were supporting a Maine Heavy Artillery unit pounding the Confederate side of the Petersburg siege. In the confusion of the barrage, Lewis mistakenly walked next to the tremendous discharge of a hundred-pound Parrot gun. Lewis felt "as though something inside my head had burst." Though nothing hit him, his head was so close to the exploding cannon that the impact felt as if he had taken a piece of lead. All Lewis could hear was a deafening hum. A watery substance started dripping from his ears and did not stop for days. Friends moved him to his tent, where intense pain in his head continued. A rapidly rising fever soon accompanied it. Lewis would be lying there near the siege, battling for equilibrium, for months to come.21
Lincoln. Treasury Secretary Salmon Chase had long coveted the presidency and was angling behind the scenes for the nomination. But Lincoln observed every move his officious cabinet member was making, and with finesse and infinite subtlety, laid the trap of overambition. Samuel Pomeroy, the Kansas senator who had shown Douglass around Washington when he had come to meet Lincoln, wrote a circular to promote Chase's candidacy. But this poorly executed and excessively derogatory pamphlet effectively killed his nomination before it had even begun, and the Republican Baltimore convention stuck with Lincoln. while moderates and conservatives all across the North, particularly in the Midwest, lamented the length and conduct of the war, radical abolitionists too had grievances against Abraham
In Rochester, Douglass observed police trying to deal with army deserters lingering around the city.1Their presence was a sign of a war dragging on and outlasting a public's will to fight it. With the tidal wave of summer's casualties and the evident blunting of Grant's advance, the North seemed to turn against the seemingly ill-fated president, and Frederick Douglass was no exception. Some abolitionists attached their hopes to General John Fremont, who had so audaciously defied Lincoln on emancipation in areas under his command in 1861. When the name of the failed general, but still beloved figure to abolitionists, arose as yet another challenger to Lincoln, Douglass did not dismiss the possibility he would support him. When those exasperated with Lincoln invited Douglass to attend a radical convention in Cleveland, Ohio, Douglass issued this signed public response:
I mean to complete abolition of every vestige, form and modification of Slavery in every part of the United States, perfect equality for the black man in every State before the law, in the jury-box and on the battle-field; ample and salutary retaliation for every instance of enslavement or slaughter of prisoners of any color. I mean that in the distribution of officers and honors under this Government no discrimination shall be made in favor of or against any class of citizens, whether black or white, of native or foreign birth. And supposed that the convention which is to meet at Cleveland means the same thing, I cheerfully give my name as one of the signers of the call.2
One reason Douglass opposed Lincoln only months after a historic meeting with him was the situation in Louisiana, the first southern state Lincoln could play an active role in reconstructing. For Douglass, this revealed much about Lincoln's vision for the nation if the Union were to win this war. This debate had roots in diverging opinions of the nature of this rebellion. Senator Charles Sumner believed in a concept he called "state suicide." He believed that states in rebellion had forfeited their previous status as democratic bodies within the country, and it would be Congress's duty to reconfigure them in ways that they determined to be best. This meant emancipation and black suffrage.
Lincoln, however, had never legally recognized the southern states' secession, believing this war was the work of certain misguided individuals who had seized control of these governments. When the government put down the rebellion, Lincoln expected states to adhere to the laws that governed them before. As this applied to Louisiana, Lincoln wanted a new state constitution drafted, to be approved by 10 percent of people in the state who would take an oath of loyalty to the Union. He saw this as reestablishing order and ending slavery as quickly as possible. Although Lincoln wished that black men with property or literacy would have the right to vote, "this was a question which they must decide for themselves." He did not think humanitarians should overrule states and constitutional rights.3Louisiana scheduled a constitutional convention for April 1864, with no indication that participants would incorporate equal suffrage for black men.
Leaders of the black community drew up a petition pleading for the right to vote based on their military service, their ownership of property, and the fact that many of them had been born free. The community selected Jean Baptiste Roudanez, a sugar plantation engineer, and Arnold Bertonneau, a wine merchant, to bring this document, signed by more than a thousand, to President Lincoln. Both had called for black military service early in the war, and Bertonneau eventually served.
On March 3, they followed Douglass's example and met with the president. Lincoln was again polite but unable to fulfill their hopes. "I regret, gentlemen, that you are not able to secure all your rights," a journalist quoted Lincoln as saying, "and that circumstances will not permit the government to confer them upon you." Their voting rights would not be Lincoln's perquisite for Louisiana's readmission to the Union. He wished them the best, but their fate was up to loyal people of Louisiana. Lincoln spoke as if he had no power of influencing the result.4
They may have left the White House discouraged, but Lincoln did take some action to assist them. He wrote to Michael Hahn, governor of the new free state of Louisiana, with a suggestion in anticipation of this constitutional convention. Lincoln asked if some black people, especially intelligent ones and those who had fought for the Union, could be awarded the vote. This was "only a suggestion, not to the public, but to you alone."5Lincoln, by referencing the "intelligent," was endorsing what would later become a hallmark of the Jim Crow era, literacy poll tests. On the other hand, supporting any black voters at all was ahead of many Americans and many northern states, including his home state of Illinois. As tepid and moderate as it was, this suggestion was also a clear step forward from Lincoln's prewar beliefs.
But for Frederick Douglass, action was more important than sentiment. In this case, he did not believe Lincoln was doing all he could. Douglass met Roudanez and Bertonneau a few days after their meeting in Washington, when they traveled to Boston for a dinner in honor of their cause. He was for the radical remaking of southern states by any means. In his "Mission of the War" speech, he had outlined his vision: "The New England schoolhouse is bound to take the place of the Southern whipping-post. Not because we love the negro, but the nation." Douglass believed that anything short of creating this reality would represent Lincoln's abandonment of those he was emancipating.
Douglass had been writing about the reconstruction of Louisiana for more than a year. General Nathaniel Banks, commander of the Department of the Gulf, had issued rules in the wake of the emancipation regulating black people in the region. If the white people were loyal to the Union, Banks supported black people going back to their original plantation, provided the land owner reasonably compensated them. He forbid the wandering about of those without employment, making it necessary for blacks not on a plantation to carry a pass. Douglass found this edict far too close to slavery and asked, "What is freedom? It is the right to choose one's own employment." Controlling all the factors of a person's work and punishing them when they do not obey was slavery. Douglass thought, "It defeats the beneficent intentions of the government, if it has beneficent intentions, in regard to the freedom of our people."6
Lincoln made no effort to amend this new—though strangely familiar— order. Half a year later, however, he did write to Banks: "Education for young blacks should be included in the plan." Without many other objections, he approved of Banks's work. Yet, by calling it "sufficient for this probationary period," Lincoln suggested that he might not endorse this as a permanent arrangement. For the moment, he was more concerned that Louisiana reentered the Union without slavery in its constitution, as the Emancipation Proclamation in fact did not apply to much of the state.7For Douglass, rules like these and the prevailing passivity on voting rights might, despite Union victory, pave the way for a perpetual slavery-like society.
In July, Congress passed the Wade-Davis Bill, which would have required 50 percent (instead of Lincoln's low percentage of 10) of a state's population to take an oath to the Union, slowing the process that Lincoln wanted to expedite. The Wade-Davis Bill also required immediate emancipation in these places. Lincoln pocket-vetoed it, fearing the damage it would do to his ongoing work in Louisiana and other states. Abolitionist anger soared.
Frederick Douglass's passionate speeches were heard or read by thousands every month, but made a particular impact on John Eaton, a young chaplain. General Ulysses Grant had plucked Eaton from an obscure regimental post in late 1862 to organize the dispossessed black people around the Union lines in Tennessee and extending into Mississippi. The thirty-five-year-old from quiet New Hampshire farmland had light brown hair, soft, boyish eyes, and a sharp mind. His reputation had grown out of following the battle action so closely that rebels captured the young minister, though they soon released him. With Grant's new assignment, he was faced with "men, women, and children in every stage of disease or decrepitude, often barely naked, with flesh torn by the terrible experiences of their escapes." Eaton had to keep them alive. Yet, he wanted to tackle a bigger question, that of self-sufficiency and ultimately citizenship. For Eaton, this boiled down to, "How was the slave to be transformed into a freeman?" This meant everything from organizing the labor of these thousands to more personal aspects of life. He loved seeing the eager former slave couples marry legally; a colleague once had presided over 119 weddings in an hour.8
Around the time of Douglass's first visit to the White House, Eaton had also sought an interview, believing Lincoln should know what he was learning about these freedmen. Lincoln was keenly interested in questions such as, "How far did they understand the changes that were coming to them, and what were they able to do for themselves?" He clearly wanted to absorb every detail of what Eaton knew, even asking him to come back the next morning.9
In late July 1864, almost exactly a year later, Eaton returned to the White House with more information. On his way east, he stopped in Toledo, Ohio, to see his brother. During his brief stay, he heard Douglass speak. He was so captivated that he sought Douglass out afterward to talk more about the abolitionist's views. By the time he reached Washington, Douglass was still on his mind.
At Lincoln's request, Eaton would be staying for a week so he could have more time to discuss the issue of newly freed black people, usually after Lincoln had finished his daily work. In their conversations, Lincoln once brought up John Brown and the ill-fated raid to liberate slaves. Lincoln admitted that he was revolted by the bloodshed at the time, but now he was ruminating on "every possible means by which the Negro could be secured in his freedom, and at the same time provide a source of strength to the Union." He wondered what sort of "grapevine telegraph" there was to inform enslaved people that freedom lay at Union lines. If such a system of communication could be developed or strengthened, the Confederacy would lose labor and the Union would gain soldiers. He asked Eaton what he thought, but the chaplain did not know enough about the slave community to say.
The tired president told the younger man that he knew there was an unforgiving torrent of criticism swirling outside his gates. Eaton agreed and recounted what he could remember from the Douglass speech. Though he had been talking about this issue for over a year, Douglass had been particularly dismayed that "The Confederates had threatened not to treat as prisoners of war any captured colored soldiers or their officers." The point hit home for Eaton because "I was one of those officers." He elaborated, "The Negro orator felt keenly that our measures of retaliation against cruelty to Negro soldiers were not sharp enough." It was four months since Fort Pillow, and no Confederate executions had ensued from Lincoln's harsh order. Eaton continued, "My heart was heavy with the mistreatment and suffering of the Negroes in the conquered territory over which my supervision extended." This was an issue where Eaton and Douglass could learn from each other. Douglass went far enough to decry that summer "the swindle by which our (the Federal) Government claims the respect of mankind for abolishing slavery— at the same time that it is practically re-establishing that hateful system in Louisiana."10
In a powerful letter sent to an English friend at this time, Douglass made one of the harshest statements he would ever make about Lincoln: "The President has virtually laid down this as the rule of his statesmen: Do evil by choice, rightfrom necessity"" He had asked why the black man was good enough to die for the government but not to elect it. When peace would come, Douglass believed, the plan was to "hand the negro back to the political power of the master, without a single element of strength to shield himself from the vindictive spirit sure to be roused against the whole colored race." Douglass's opinions that Eaton related to the president were similar in nature.11
Lincoln, only moments before comfortably accepting critiques of himself, seemed taken aback. Eaton perceived Lincoln to be hurt to an extent that surprised the minister. He asked if Douglass knew what he had written to the new governor of Louisiana about black suffrage. Eaton could only say that Douglass had not mentioned this letter. Lincoln rose from his chair as he spoke. He went over to his desk, picked up a copy of the letter and read,
I congratulate you on having fixed your name in history as the first Free State Governor of Louisiana. Now you are about to have a convention, which among other things, will probably define the elective franchise, I barely suggest for your private consideration whether some of the colored people may not be let in—as for instance, the very intelligent, and especially those who have fought gallantly in our ranks. They would probably help, in some trying time to come, to keep the jewel of liberty within the family of freedom.12
Lincoln was proud of lending support for black voting rights. The letter showed the effect black soldiers had upon him—he believed that they had earned the ballot.
The Louisiana Constitutional Convention, however, had not chosen to include black people in the franchise. Had Lincoln made black voting a requirement instead of a suggestion, maybe that would not have been the case. Lincoln knew the result, and a day before had written to General Banks, "I have just seen the new Constitution adopted by the Convention of Louisiana, and I am anxious that it shall be ratified by the people."13
After reading his letter, Eaton recalled, "The President of the United States and the greatest man of his time asked me, with that curious modesty characteristic of him, if I thought Mr. Douglass could be induced to come to see him." Eaton replied that he thought Douglass could.
Why was Lincoln so concerned about what this one man thought of him? In abolitionist circles, and particularly within the black community, Douglass's views would have sway in a time when Lincoln would be needing every vote he could muster. Still, no black man in 1864 could be considered terribly important politically. However, Lincoln said something else suggesting a more personal quality to why he valued Douglass's assessments. Lincoln said to Eaton, in his only considered comment about Frederick Douglass that we have, that there was some tie between them, and "considering the condition from which he had arisen and the obstacles that he had overcome, and the position to which he had attained he regarded him one of the most meritorious men, if not the most meritorious man in the United States."14
Douglass had clearly made quite an impression on the president. It was now Lincoln himself prompting a second meeting. In thinking about the ease and evident lack of prejudice that marked his meetings with Lincoln, Douglass maintained that this connection was forged in their both being self-made men. Though it might seem audacious to compare a president's early days with his own, Douglass was well aware of the grinding poverty of Lincoln's childhood, and he later pondered that this commonality was a source of their ease with one another. Douglass concluded, "I account partially for his kindness to me because of the similarity with which I had fought my way up, we both starting at the lowest rung of the ladder." So when receiving the invitation, Douglass resolved to go "most gladly."15
With the promise of victory and emancipation, not to mention Douglass's faith in Lincoln, in grave condition, the stakes could not have been higher.
It was August and Douglass was again in Washington. The temperature was pitched to its usual ferocity. Reporter Noah Brooks, friend of the beleaguered president, wrote "those days will appear to be the darkest of the many dark days through which passed the friends and lovers of the Federal Union." Grant's arrival in the East raised expectations that were now dashed, with the only movement in Virginia from the lengthening lists of the dead; "a deadly calm prevailed where so lately resounded the shouts of victory."16
Washington had experienced a shock three weeks before, when Confederate general Jubal Early and a force of under twenty thousand snuck away from the action in Virginia to head toward the Union capital. Maneuvering all the way to Silver Spring, Maryland, the rebels were close but never really threatened the city. It was another discouraging factor in the North's doldrums. At Fort Stevens, Lincoln became the only sitting U.S. president to come under enemy fire, as sniper bullets killed a man near Lincoln when he stood to observe the action.
Things had hardly been ideal when Douglass made his first visit, but the optimism that the victories at Gettysburg and Vicksburg had produced then had now vanished. Confederate leadership, facing their own dire prospects, knew the key to their independence might well lie in a Lincoln defeat in November. If the year continued at this rate of attrition, it was virtually assured the president would not be reelected.
Every aspect about Douglass and Lincoln's second meeting must be considered relative to the fact that Lincoln and much of the nation believed there would be a new president in a few months, and that the war might end in compromise. Lincoln remarked that summer, "You think I don't know I am going to be beaten, but I do and unless some great change takes place, badly beaten." Thurlow Weed, the ultimate political insider, told Lincoln "his re-election was an impossibity [sic]"' He felt, "The People are wild for Peace." New York Times editor Henry Raymond informed Lincoln, "The tide is strongly against us," and Lincoln would at this point even lose his home state. He recommended that Lincoln start negotiating with the Confederate government now, lest the next administration garner terms less favorable to their aims.17
No president had served a second term since Andrew Jackson in 1832, more than thirty years before. Regardless of Lincoln's situation, the nation was not accustomed to the idea of a president being in office more than four years, and there was a widespread sense that if any administration needed retirement, this was the one.
It was all the more gut-wrenchingly fitting that if Lincoln followed this trend, the man who would be replacing him was the recalcitrant general who had cost Lincoln so much valuable time. A week before, New York City, never a Lincoln stronghold, had witnessed a massive rally in support of George McClellan's candidacy. As many as hundred thousand people in Union Square celebrated with speakers, music, fireworks, cannon, and anti-Lincoln cheers. Without a dramatic change in the war itself, it would be McClellan facing Jefferson Davis next March.
One of the biggest stories of the summer also came from that city. It was a seventy-two-page pamphlet, available for twenty-five cents, entitled Miscegenation: The Theory of the Blending of the Races, Applied to the White Man and the Negro. Seemingly written from the perspective of an overzealous abolitionist, it was actually the scheme of two New York Democrat newspapermen. The document advocated racial mixing, attesting, "All that is needed to make us the finest race on earth is to engraft upon our stock the negro element which providence has placed by our side on this continent." They linked this concept to the current war, asserting that the government was nobly fighting this war for racial amalgamation. The last piece of the rancid political ploy was that the paper then reported how much support this document enjoyed from Republicans and abolitionists. The Democrats struggled to shift the focus of the election to exploit racial feelings. If nothing else, they were riling their base.18
While his party tried to cope with racial demagoguery, Lincoln was showing his own signs of progress on racial matters. There were indications that he had abandoned his old belief in colonization; in relief, his secretary John Hay wrote in his diary on the first day of July, "I am glad the President has sloughed off that idea of colonization." Lincoln wrote to Governor Andrew of his hope that Massachusetts could "afford a permanent home within her borders, for all, or even a large number of colored persons who will come to her."19
Lincoln was also asking Edwin Stanton for more statistics on the increasing tide of black troops and how many had come straight from enslavement. Stanton reported there were 71,976 at the time, 58,433 who were estimated to have come directly out of bondage. Lincoln told Josiah B. Grinnell, an Iowa congressman, "When you give the Negro these rights, when you put a gun in his hands, it prophesies something more." Lincoln was reflecting changes that other white people were going through around the country, prompted by the performance of black troops. Military commanders made their opinions clear. In west Tennessee, Colonel Frank A. Kendrick reported on commanding these soldiers, "The majority of the men were for the first time under fire, but their conduct did not disappoint my most sanguine anticipation, as, after the first few rounds, they received and returned the enemy's fire with the steadiness and deliberation of veterans." Assessments like this meant, as Samuel Denison in New Orleans wrote to Secretary of the Treasury Chase, that "the whole army, from colonels down, is thoroughly abolitionized. They have seen the negros drill and fight, and they want to give them a chance and put down slavery. I have not seen a soldier who has not this feeling."20
Earlier in the summer Lincoln had allowed black Washingtonians to use the White House grounds for an after-church outdoor lunch and fundraiser. It was a simple gesture, but a first for an American president.21By calling Douglass to the White House to advise him, Lincoln achieved another milestone in American history. On Thursday, August 18, he received a note informing him that Douglass was expected on a train getting into Washington at eleven o'clock in the morning. They would meet the following day.22
Also on Thursday, Leonard Swett, a particularly close Illinois friend, and Lincoln met to discuss the election at this juncture, after his Baltimore renomination. Swett expressed in a letter to his wife that "Lincoln's election is beyond any possible hope. It is probably clean gone now." Swett added that Lincoln should withdraw his name for the good of the party.23
But if Lincoln was going to be defeated, he had a radical notion of a task Frederick Douglass might do before the election.
That evening Douglass gave a speech at the Fifteenth Street Presbyterian Church. The church was packed from the pews to the gallery and a reporter guessed that the audience in the traditionally black church was about a third white. Douglass kept them waiting with a late arrival, but after an introduction from Reverend Henry Garnet, he spoke without either a prepared address or any notes. He thrilled the audience with his praise of the black soldiers. While celebrating them, he struck a different note with regard to Lincoln, declaring that he would not decide whether to vote for him until he knew if a more radical abolitionist candidate was entering the race. If slavery was to be killed, Douglass said that he did not expect to be "invited to the President's table," but hoped just to be treated as a citizen. It was an interesting comment because the next day he would be at the president's residence.24
Douglass sat waiting to be called in to see the president. Sitting near Douglass, anticipating their own visit with Lincoln, were two Wisconsin men, Alexander Randall, a former governor and diplomat to the Vatican, and Joseph Mills, a judge on the fifth judicial district.25
The room was dark as Mills caught sight of Douglass, silently reading in the corner of the room. They were fascinated by the black man waiting there. Mills recorded that this man "possessed a remarkable physiognomy," another way of saying they were mildly shocked to see a black waiting to meet with the president. Douglass so riveted Mills that he stood up to get a better look. As he stared unabashedly, Douglass felt the glare of this stranger's fixed gaze. Douglass swiftly lifted his focus from his book and forcefully met Mills's stare. Mills was taken aback by the power of one glance from Douglass. Caught off guard, he quipped, "Are you the president?" He pretended he had mistaken Douglass for Abraham Lincoln.
Douglass would be the subject of no man's ridicule. His response typified the manner in which Douglass carried himself through his entire life. With immeasurable dignity he answered, "I am Frederick Douglass."26
Douglass got in to see the president before the Wisconsin men did. The Lincoln he found shocked him. Lincoln had been a serious man before, but now he was in an "alarmed condition." To Douglass, "The dimmed light in his eye, and the deep lines in his strong American face, told plainly the story of the heavy burden of care that weighed upon his spirit." Douglass later remarked that he felt as if it would have been easier to dance at a funeral than to make a joke in front of the burdened Lincoln he met with. Of course, there was, famously, a more jovial and storytelling side to Lincoln, but they did not have a chance to know each other intimately enough for that. As Douglass concluded, "it was never my lot to find him in such a mood."27
Abraham Lincoln, 1864. Photograph by Anthony Berger at Brady's Studio.
Lincoln had always impressed his contemporaries as being a man with an intensely melancholy aspect in the best of times, but now a flood of events burdened his frayed spirits. Francis Carpenter, an artist who knew Lincoln's face well, said that summer that "his care-worn, troubled appearance was enough to bring tears of sympathy into the eyes of his most bitter opponents." The black wells under his eyes were marked and heavy. That Lincoln's emotional suffering intersected with a physical deterioration was evident to anyone who sat down with him. In December, another man who had known Lincoln before the war was stunned to find a Lincoln who "looked like death," with "pale, haggard features, furrowed with wrinkles, his sunken eyes."28
Lincoln also was encountering a man whose sadness was deep and enduring. At the end of May, Rosine Draz wrote to Douglass of his "poor crushed heart." She worried when he was hesitant to "speak of its grief even to your own friends." A month later, she wrote to him, "at last you will sink under the heavy burdens you are perpetually bearing." The war was a crushing burden for both Lincoln and Douglass, yet neither was about to lay their burden down, so they got down to business.29
Douglass wrote that at the time, "Everybody was thinking and dreaming of peace." The Daily National Lntelligencer that morning prominently featured an article entitled "How to Make Peace" that referred to peace missions. This would be the first matter of their meeting, for the issue of peace negotiations had been plaguing Lincoln all summer. Horace Greeley, who had been using the pages of his widely read paper to urge negotiations with the South, implored Lincoln to send representatives to Niagara Falls in order to meet with a group of men Greeley believed represented the Confederate government. Lincoln correctly suspected these men were not interested in brokering a peace, but just in damaging Lincoln's reelection prospects by fostering peace sentiments. While Greeley waited on the Canadian-American border for Lincoln's representative, he instead received a letter from Lincoln that clearly stated, "Any proposition which embraces the restoration of peace, the integrity of the whole Union, and the abandonment of slavery, and which comes by and with an authority that can control the armies now at war against the United States will be received and considered."30
Lincoln's letter may have rendered Greeley's plan a fiasco, but Lincoln was soon the one in trouble when his letter became public. Earlier in the war, Lincoln had promised to save the Union. This letter made emancipation sound like a new prerequisite for peace. The Cincinnati Enquirer interpreted the letter as saying every boy who died "will lose his life not for the Union, the Stars and Stripes, but for the negro." Many Americans were not willing to pay that cost for slavery as a condition for peace. Public opinion against Lincoln continued to plummet as the perception of emancipation as a war aim gained force.31
Frustrated with Lincoln's letter to Greeley, Charles Robinson, editor of the Green Bay Advocate, wrote a letter that he wanted personally delivered to Lincoln. The Wisconsin men whom Douglass had encountered minutes before he entered Lincoln's office had given this letter to the president three days before. It was a significant situation for Lincoln, because Robinson was a Democrat who had faithfully supported the war effort over the last four years but was now at his breaking point. With the election three months away, there were thousands like Robinson around the country—and if Lincoln lost him, the same would probably hold true of them. Robinson told Lincoln that he was used to "taking some hard knocks with some of my party" because he had defended Lincoln, even upholding "the freeing of the negroes as sound war policy." However, he found Lincoln's statement to be thoroughly disturbing. He believed, "This puts the whole war question on a new basis, and takes us War Democrats clear off our feet, leaving us no ground to stand upon." The point of his letter was to ask Lincoln to "suggest some interpretation of it" that would allow him and like-minded people to continue to support Lincoln. Otherwise, Lincoln was in even worse political trouble.32
The day after receiving the note, August 17, Lincoln drafted a reply but held it to give it more consideration. Before he discussed it with Mills and Randall, or even handed over the letter, Lincoln decided to discuss it with Frederick Douglass.
Lincoln was attempting to walk a fine line of pacifying anti-emancipation moderate voters without losing his abolitionist support. Almost no one's words carried more weight with this bloc around the country than Douglass's, so Lincoln was in effect testing whether he could retain his support while bringing the Robinsons of the world back into his camp.
From the start of the meeting, Lincoln seemed to Douglass deeply troubled by the attitude of Greeley and all his former supporters now calling for peace. Lincoln explained to Douglass that he was "accused of protracting the war beyond its legitimate object and of failing to make peace." What impressed Douglass in these first few minutes was how Lincoln seemed to have learned the hard lesson Douglass had been pressing all over the country from the very start of war: The Union should never accept peace under these circumstances. Lincoln asserted to Douglass "the danger of premature peace." Thus, he assured his guest of how little credence he put in "futile conferences with unauthorized persons, at Niagara Falls, or elsewhere." Douglass felt an immense relief.33
Lincoln still had the problem of convincing the American people to let him continue this conflict. He said that the country thought he was driving an abolition war (the very phrase Douglass championed) instead of still trying to save the Union. It looked like he might not be able to accomplish either, but he had drafted a letter that he believed could help. Lincoln then handed Douglass the letter he had been working on to respond to Robinson.
The paper Douglass held in his hands began with an equivocation, "To me it seems plain that saying re-union and abandonment of slavery would be considered, if offered, is not saying that nothing else or less would be considered, if offered." This set the tone for a letter trying to appease those against abolition without saying he was ready to abandon emancipation. Lincoln quoted what he had written to Greeley two years before, a passage that still made Douglass shudder: "What I do about slavery and the colored race, I do because I believe it helps to save the Union." Lincoln confirmed that he had written that sincerely, and that he had later authorized black soldiers because it greatly benefited the Union.
He also quoted himself in this provisional letter claiming that the pledge of freedom motivated black men to fight, "And the promise, being made, must be kept." If he was to forsake that oath, Lincoln asked his critics, "As matter of morals, could such treachery by any possibility, escape the curses of Heaven, or of any good man?" On a more practical level, discarding emancipation would mean, as Douglass well knew, "All recruiting of colored men would instantly cease, and all colored men now in our service, would instantly desert us. And rightfully too. Why should they give their lives for us, with full notice of our purpose to betray them?"
Lincoln was arguing to Robinson that he could not end the war without negro freedom because it would cost thousands of soldiers he could not replace. In fact, the election of any president who did not support emancipation would certainly lose the war even before they began negotiating for peace—because the Union army badly needed these black soldiers. Lincoln added lines that are quite revealing of his typical cast of mind, in his deep-set belief in reason and order: "It is not a question of sentiment or taste, but one of physical force, which may be measured, and estimated as horsepower, and steam power, are measured and estimated."
Lincoln's letter also finished with a phrase disconcerting to Douglass: "If Jefferson Davis wishes, for himself, or for the benefit of his friends at the North, to know what I would do if he were to offer peace and re-union, saying nothing about slavery, let him try me."34
Douglass had mere seconds to collect his thoughts, as the president asked him a crucial, but simple question: "Shall I send forth this letter?"35
Douglass sorted through his feelings. He did not mind the idea that Lincoln "stood ready to listen to any such propositions," in that it painted Lincoln as never standing in the way of peace. Lincoln had not taken back what he said in the Greeley letter, but his passivity bothered Douglass. Lincoln was saying that he could not take back emancipation even if he wished to. Douglass badly wanted a moral declaration from Lincoln on why they must all fight to end slavery, not a disingenuous pronouncement of Lincoln's power-lessness in the larger war equation.
Considering the message at the heart of the letter, Lincoln may have been expecting Douglass to like it more than he did. But Douglass saw something dangerous to the Union in the first and last line, as well as in the implicit message of issuing this at all. When he asked whether he should make it public, Douglass retorted, "Certainly not."
Explaining his answer, he contended that, "It could be given a broader meaning than you intend to convey—it would be taken as a complete surrender of your antislavery policy—and do you serious damage." Douglass thought that the previous letter had been clear in its stipulations for peace— and that by issuing this document, especially with the first and last lines seeming to be open to new peace conditions, he was in effect repudiating the earlier, stronger statement.
Douglass wanted Lincoln to weather this onslaught of criticism and stand committed to what he had previously said. Douglass had faith that it would not end the hope of winning this war. He did not ignore the practical realities of politics, however, suggesting to Lincoln, "In answer to your copperhead accusers—your friends can make this argument of your want of power—but you cannot wisely say a word on that point." If politicians around the country wanted to tell their constituents that Lincoln was powerless to annul the Emancipation Proclamation because of the effect it would have on the army, so be it. But for Lincoln himself to concede this rendered a serious blow to the moral case for abolition that Douglass was hoping to build into a permanent reality.
Douglass offered strength to the president on a decision that could have huge ramifications for Douglass's abolition war. When the war began Douglass offered ideas in the public arena, hoping against hope that they would somehow work their way to Lincoln. Now he had the chance to influence a Lincoln decision directly, and he did so with clarity and force.
At some point during Douglass's zealous advice not to release this letter, a secretary of Lincoln's announced "Governor Buckingham of Connecticut." Lincoln ignored the message and Douglass, puzzled, continued making his point. A few minutes later, the attendant made the same pronouncement.
Douglass arose from his seat and said, "I must not stay to prevent your interview with Governor Buckingham." Douglass knew immediately that this was not just any state governor, but one he viewed as noble and patriotic. William A. Buckingham was also someone for whom Lincoln held personal affection. While visiting his son Robert at Exeter in 1860, Lincoln had spoken around New England to raise his national profile. During a number of speeches in Connecticut, Lincoln had shared the podium with Buckingham. Lincoln knew he could count on Buckingham to be a reliable supplier of troops and support.
Douglass exclaimed, "Mr. Lincoln, I will retire."
Lincoln cut him off, "Oh, no, no, you shall not, I want Governor Buckingham to wait." He called out in a voice Douglass always found surprisingly high, "Tell Governor Buckingham to wait, for I want to have a long talk with my friend Frederick Douglass."
Douglass would later record, "This was probably the first time in the history of this Republic when its chief magistrate had found an occasion or shown a disposition to exercise such an act of impartiality between persons so widely different in their positions and supposed claims upon his attention." Douglass was being modest in describing his national importance, as Lincoln knew exactly what he was doing.
Lincoln had a shocking proposal to make, and Frederick Douglass was the only person he wanted for the assignment.
All of what they had discussed before, the opposition to the war, the fury at emancipation aims, the cries for peace, the North's abandonment of Lincoln—all this boiled down to a grim prospect that both men well understood: Lincoln would not be reelected, and the war would end in a peace that left the majority of slaves still in bondage. After all, Swett had given him this very fact the day before. If this was the real situation, what must be done? Lincoln had a solution that would need Douglass's expertise and effort.
Every day the war went on, the Emancipation Proclamation and the Confiscation Acts made it possible for women and men to find freedom when they reached Union army lines, or when these lines reached them. But Lincoln was not satisfied. He wanted to make the proclamation much more effective in these precious few remaining weeks. The war after all, might end in six months or less. In what Douglass described as a regretful tone, Lincoln lamented, "The slaves are not coming so rapidly and so numerously to us as I had hoped."
Douglass did his best to explain to Lincoln how skilled slaveholders were at keeping information from their laborers. For all he had thought about slavery, Lincoln had little practical experience of it. Douglass attempted to convey just how cut off from the world, from information that others took for granted, an enslaved person truly was. Douglass estimated that most did not actually know of the president's proclamation.
"Well," Lincoln pronounced, "I want you to set about devising some means of making them acquainted with it, and for bringing them into our lines." Douglass listened as Lincoln told him that he wanted a plan "by which we could get more of the slaves within our lines."
Lincoln sincerely wanted to know the best way they could induce blacks out of their situation in the South, for McClellan would surely not care. Lincoln related, with urgent words underlined by Douglass in a letter, "Now was there time—and that such only of them as succeeded in getting within our lines would be free after the war is over."
Douglass found Lincoln's words spoken with "great earnestness and much solicitude" while he listened with concentrated interest. Douglass immediately replied that it would take organizing a group of black scouts, following a plan owing much to John Brown's ideas, to venture beyond Union lines—despite the dangers of the war and capture—to spread word of the Emancipation Proclamation and lead whoever they could find toward freedom.
Lincoln asked Douglass to submit a written plan on how to implement this task. As Douglass left, Governor Buckingham strolled into Lincoln's office. He was a markedly handsome, white-haired man with chiseled cheekbones and a sharply angled nose. Douglass still feared that he might have been rankled by having to wait, but this was far from the case as Buckingham's manner was jovial.
Never was the revolutionary nature of the Civil War clearer. In two months, it would be the fifth anniversary of John Brown's raid on Harpers Ferry. At the time, Lincoln, ever the cautious politician, recovering from his senatorial loss and unsure of what role, if any, politics would play in his future, had denounced this type of zealous, violent exploit. Now, as president of the United States, he proposed a mission that bore Brown's stamp. The man to whom he was making this overture had been wanted for treason in connection with Brown and once might have been on the very same Virginia gallows with Brown.36
Douglass would not turn down Lincoln's proposal. At the time of their meeting, it is estimated that less than 5 percent of the enslaved population were freed because of the Emancipation Proclamation. Despite all the thousands in conscript camps, the progress of slaves finding emancipation was going slowly. Douglass had written in the November 1862 Monthly that he expected a slave insurrection to follow the proclamation. Yet that had not happened, and Lincoln was right to wonder if something could be done to hasten the process.37
Acute southern fears of a slave rebellion existed before and after Nat Turner, Denmark Vesey, and the onset of war. Incidents like the hanging of seventeen black men in Culpeper County, Virginia, in October 1862 under the accusation of insurrection were common across the Confederacy. What really chilled the slaveholder's spine was the fear that the North would use covert agents as catalysts to start slave uprisings, especially after the Emancipation Proclamation. Until Lincoln's meeting with Douglass, this had only been paranoia.38
Lincoln's idea did not come out of nowhere. In May 1863, James Gilmore of the New York Tribune furnished Lincoln with a copy of a proposal from Augustus Montgomery, a Tennessee Unionist, to General William Rosecrans that outlined a plan to induce black people throughout the South to rebel on the night of August 1. Lincoln would not publicly endorse the scheme, but there is no evidence that he objected to it.39However, nothing would come of it other than an anxious Jefferson Davis, who sent a copy that he obtained to all rebel governors. Clearly these ideas had been developing for a long time. That Lincoln had included in the Emancipation Proclamation a provision prohibiting Union army interference with any effort among black people to attain their freedom suggests how far back these ideas about slave insurrection went in his mind, though he was now inclined to contradict his earlier thinking. During the meeting with John Eaton that had prompted Douglass's second visit to Washington, Lincoln wondered aloud about what sort of communication system they needed to free more black people, by any means. Eaton did not have an answer, but Douglass did.
Douglass's mind was racing after this second meeting with Lincoln. There was much to digest. He had entered the meeting still thinking of the politician who said he would save the Union with or without slavery. Instead, what he found in Lincoln on that August day was a "deeper moral conviction against slavery than I had ever seen before in anything spoken or written by him."1
While gaining a newfound admiration for the president was encouraging, it did not outweigh a general distress Douglass felt because the country was unlikely to reelect Lincoln. He and the president must somehow free as many enslaved people as they could before November. Once Lincoln was out of office, there was little hope for the millions still in chains. Douglass was keenly aware of the current political climate, but something about hearing Lincoln's acknowledgment of it drove home this crushing reality like never before. In addition, Douglass feared Lincoln might not take his advice and might release his response to Charles Robinson's letter that would retreat from emancipationist aims.2
After seeing Douglass, Lincoln told his Wisconsin visitors, Judge Joseph Mills and former governor Alexander Randall, that he could not go back on his previous stipulations for the end to the war, no matter how it might affect his own political prospects. He could not live with himself by, in effect, turning back to bondage the men who had fought so hard: "I should be damned in time and eternity for so doing . . . The world shall know that I will keep my faith to friends and enemies, come what will." He never sent the letter.3
Later that afternoon, John Eaton encountered Douglass, who seemed a nervous wreck. During the trip, the orator was staying with William Lee, one of the most prominent black men in Washington. The strong presence of slavery in Washington until two years before existed alongside a tradition of black enterprise in the city. Lee's father, Alfred, had started a business selling feed in 1830. Having grown up around the store, William carried on and expanded its operation when his father died. Now William Lee was a wealthy man.4
Eaton called on Douglass at Lee's house on Bridge Street in Georgetown. The energetic chaplain was eager to hear how the meeting with the president had gone. Referring to Lincoln's queries on spreading word of the Emancipation Proclamation through the South, Douglass explained, "He asked me a number of questions, which I am preparing to answer in writing."5
Over the next ten days, Douglass consulted with as many black leaders as he could, attempting to formulate an effective plan. All whom he spoke with thought it was an inspired notion, and most thought he could actually accomplish this difficult goal. Ten days after the meeting, Douglass composed a letter to Lincoln with a detailed ten-page plan. Lincoln would appoint a general agent to employ twenty-five loyal men (whether the general agent might be Douglass himself, the letter did not say). This leader would assign the group to various areas near Union lines where they could maximize their effectiveness by reaching the most slaves. Once in position, they would find one or more local residents intimately familiar with the terrain they would be moving in. They would train as many local "conductors" as possible on how to run missions to steer people out of bondage and toward the army. These agents, paid two dollars a day, would clandestinely move behind enemy lines, keeping meticulous records of the locations of plantations they visited. They would also record the names of any people led from these places.
Douglass was adamant that they would have to possess the support of Union commanding officers on the ground to maximize the protection they would have during this dangerous work. Douglass also insisted that "provision be made that the slaves or Freed men thus brought within our lines shall receive subsistence until such of them as are fit shall enter the service of the Country or be otherwise employed and provided for." Every two weeks, an agent would send on a written report, with up-to-date numbers, to the general agent, who would then prepare an overall report for Lincoln's eyes. The general agent would work out of Washington with one clerk, along with a roving commission that would visit the various patrols to provide additional oversight on the progress and faithfulness of the agents. Douglass closed his description of what such an operation would look like saying, "I think it enough to give your Excellency an Idea of how the desirable work shall be executed."6
Douglass drew extensively on some of the plans that John Brown had written in Douglass's Rochester home when his children were young. But these plans also owed much to Underground Railroad conductors such as Harriet Tubman, who had perfected daring raids of escape in the South over the last ten years. Douglass was simply providing a national infrastructure to coordinate as many escapees as possible before the Emancipation Proclamation was annulled. When he wrote this letter to the White House on August 29, they did not have a day to waste.
Meanwhile at the White House, the same despondency on the fate of his reelection that caused Lincoln to ask Douglass for help prompted the president to write a remarkable memorandum. It read, "This morning, as for some days past, it seems exceedingly probable that this Administration will not be re-elected. Then it will be my duty to so co-operate with the President elect, as to save the Union between the Election and the inauguration; as he will have secured his election on such ground that he cannot possibly save it afterwards." Lincoln asked his cabinet members to sign the back of the folded and sealed paper, without knowledge of its contents.7
George McClellan's Democratic nomination became official in Chicago on August 29. McClellan's nomination cemented for Douglass as well as for many wavering and previously harshly critical radical abolitionists the idea that they must at last support Lincoln. Douglass sincerely wanted a more strongly antislavery candidate, but in the face of McClellan, Lincoln would do.
Charles Douglass, struggling to survive Grant's brutal offensive campaign in Virginia, received wonderful (possibly lifesaving) news in the summer of 1864. His unit was to leave the area around Petersburg, Virginia, and report to the vastly safer Point Lookout, Maryland. Although now safe from battle, his sicknesses returned and his body weakened; respiratory problems and high fevers were soon a major concern.
Lewis, recovering on Morris Island in South Carolina from his own health problems, worried about his brother's fever. Would they both make it out of this war? Lewis had had enough of fighting and the southern climate, and wished he could go home to help recruit black troops in New York and to see his beloved Amelia as well.8
Douglass was seemingly powerless to help Charles, as he desperately waited for news of his son. During his first bout with illness in 1863, when he had been on the outskirts of Boston, Charles had often written of the poor treatment a black soldier received. The chance of Charles enduring a second bout was dangerously uncertain—and even more precarious as he was now in a very different environment. Point Lookout was on a desolate, sandy, windswept peninsula where the Potomac River meets the Chesapeake Bay. In close proximity to thousands of suffering Confederate soldiers in an overflowing prison camp in Point Lookout, Charles and these soldiers were bearing up to excessive heat and unsanitary water while living on sandy and soggy ground.
It occurred to Douglass that there was one man who could do something about Charles's fate. For a man as proud as Douglass, it would not have been easy to turn to Lincoln for help, especially regarding favored treatment for his son. But Charles's life was at stake, so on the same day that he sent Lincoln his plan, Douglass sent a second letter. This one was labeled "Private." In it, he confessed, "I hope I shall not presume too much upon your kindness—but I have a very great favor to ask." Thinking that Lincoln might assume this had to do with the other letter he would be receiving simultaneously, Douglass made it clear, "It is not that you will appoint me General Agent to carry out the Plan now proposed—though I would not shrink from that duty." The purpose of this letter was "that you will cause my son Charles R. Douglass. 1st Sergeant of Company I—5th Massachusetts Dismounted Cavalry—now stationed at 'Point Lookout' to be discharged."
It was a rare instance when Douglass took off the mask of national race leader to reveal a father, loving and afraid. Douglass pleaded his case, "He is now sick—He was the first colored volunteer from the State of New York— having enlisted with his Older Brother in the Mass-54th partly to encourage enlistments—He was but 18, when he enlisted—and has been in the service 18 Months. If your Excellency can confer this favor—you will lay me under many obligations."9
Douglass trusted Lincoln enough to open himself and lay bare his fears. Lincoln had disappointed Douglass on many occasions when it had come to the war, but in doing this very personal action, Lincoln gave Douglass an immeasurable gift. Lincoln wrote a simple note, "Let this boy be discharged," and sent it on to the War Department.10
It took less than half a month for Charles to receive word that, thanks to Lincoln, he was being honorably discharged. Though he had spent the majority of his service being quite ill, he had done his duty in battle bravely and endured almost all a body could bear. Charles headed to Washington, D.C., to recover in better conditions as well as to deal with his discharge paperwork, ensuring the government would pay all they owed him. Now he could sign the correspondence to his father, "Charles Douglass civilian."11
Once again, Lincoln did not follow up on all he had discussed with Douglass. Before, it had been the missing commission; now it was the emancipation plan. The reasons were the events of September 2, when the electric news arrived that General William Sherman had taken Atlanta. That long-delayed victory changed everything. For the Union cause, the prior four months had seemed caught in a morass of despair, but now this significant strategic success suddenly revealed that victory was not only possible, but likely. The loss of the great city of Atlanta in the heart of the South doomed the Confederacy in a way that the loss at Gettysburg had not. Sherman's army had battled from Tennessee through Georgia over more than four months, with Atlanta in their sights. The Chicago Tribune read, "The dark days are over. We see our way out . . . The Republic is safe!"12For the first time in months, it seemed as if the man in the White House was not leading the country to ruin.
As the tide turned in September, things worsened for Lincoln's political opponents. McClellan released a public letter on September 8 that expressed his belief that he could not look into the eyes of his old troops and tell them their sacrifices to save the Union had been in vain.13He felt obligated to repudiate the peace platform of his party, which threw the Democrats into disarray. In the Shenandoah Valley, General Philip Sheridan burned a path of victory against Jubal Early, eliminating the Confederate threat to the capital. Another perception of the war had shifted dramatically. It was not certain that Lincoln would carry the election, but the political and military terrain had changed—making the radical and dangerous plan to reach deep into Southern lines no longer necessary.
Though the plan Douglass and Lincoln had formulated was looking less likely, many around the country were learning of Douglass's visits to the White House. Democrats were eager to use this as ammunition against Lincoln. In 1858, Stephen Douglas had used an imagined relationship between Lincoln and Frederick Douglass to bait the voters. Six years later, an actual relationship was an inviting target, and Democrats used it for racial demagoguery. One campaign pamphlet issued by the party reprinted Douglass's quote, " . . . the President of the United States received a black man at the White House just as one gentleman received another." Democrats used the visit to the White House by a figure as reviled as Frederick Douglass as appalling proof that Abraham Lincoln was too radical for the American people, and worse, that this war was being carried on for abolition purposes Americans would not endorse.14
However, Douglass's relationship with the president was a source of pride in the black community, some of whom saw the Democrats' ire over this connection as somewhere between distressing and amusing. James Rapier, a black army surgeon, wrote sarcastically to a friend, "Did you ever see such nonsense!" Mocking racists, he continued, "The President of the United States sending for a 'Nigger' to confer with him on the state of the country!15
Because Democrats were so eager to exploit these types of racist reactions to Douglass's presence, Douglass found that he could not play the type of public role in the Republican campaign he might have wished, because Republican candidates did not want to be labeled as the Negro party. He bitterly described it as being like a child "put out of the room when company comes." He wanted to speak on this injustice but, not wanting to hurt a party whose victory was necessary for the possibility of emancipation, decided it would be best to do so after the election.16
Douglass was shocked to discover that William Lloyd Garrison, his bitter former mentor, ran a letter in the Liberator that Douglass had written in haste to an English friend earlier in the year, when his frustration with Lincoln had been at its highest and before their White House meeting. The unfortunate publication revealed his wish that a more fervent antislavery candidate might replace Lincoln. When Douglass wrote it, he was supporting John Fremont, who had now dropped out of the presidential race, and the Democratic party had not yet nominated George McClellan.
After the unauthorized publication of his letter, Douglass wrote to Garrison and said he did not deny having wanted a man with "a firmer faith in the immediate necessity and practicability of justice and equality for all men, than have been exhibited in the policy of the present administration." He added that he made no secret that, "I, like many other radical men, freely criticized, in private and public, the actions and utterances of Mr. Lincoln, and withheld from him my support." Things were different now, and the choice was clear to Douglass between Lincoln and McClellan. Now, "all hesitation ought to cease and every man who wishes well to the slave and to the country should at once rally with all the warmth and earnestness of his nature to the support of Abraham Lincoln." Douglass believed that the platform the Democrats had set out would be the "heaviest calamity of all these wards of war and blood" because it would "sacrifice and wantonly cast off everything valuable purchased so deeply with the precious blood of our brave sons.17
Douglass, like many other black leaders, fervently believed that the issues most central to the black community needed to be injected into the presidential campaign and heeded by the American public—and that the Republicans' determined silence on slavery and voting rights had to end.
Sixteen South Carolinians, four of whom were black, had shown up at the Republican convention in Baltimore. One was the renowned hero Robert Smalls. Born a slave in South Carolina, Smalls had been working on a 147-foot vessel in Charleston. When the white crew went ashore to sleep for the night, Smalls and a small group of allies took over and set sail for freedom, picking up his family and a number of other enslaved people along with way. By both escaping slavery and robbing the Confederacy of a gunboat, he warranted praise from black and white northerners alike at a crucial time, when men like Douglass were asserting that black men did have the courage to fight in the war.
Yet Smalls's remarkable exploit was not enough to earn official recognition from the Republican convention. The party's platform did endorse the immediate end to slavery by a constitutional amendment as well as the protection of black soldiers; but while the anti-Lincoln radicals gathering in Cleveland had approved of measures offering political equality to black citizens, the Republicans meeting in Baltimore rebuffed the measures and Robert Smalls. The Republicans were making it clear that they would not risk losing this election for any reason.
The National Convention of Colored Men in Syracuse demanded that the rest of the country hear them during this election. The call went out from the Reverend Henry Highland Garnet, a longtime black leader who had lost a leg to a circulatory problem as a young man, but had not let that dull his zealous work for equality. Like Douglass, he was born a slave in the countryside of eastern Maryland. When Garnet was nine, his father, Joseph—a proud man who taught Henry that he was descended from the chiefs of western Africa—packed up the family for a relative's funeral, but that was not their real destination. Through the woods and swamps, they headed on a long, perilous trip to freedom in New York City, the same place that Douglass's journey ended twelve years later.18
Garnet advocated a radical form of black nationalism, and he often found himself clashing with the more charismatic Douglass on a variety of issues, particularly Garnet's support of voluntary colonization projects in Africa and the Caribbean. Their rift was also personal, as Garnet saw Douglass as an opportunistic and vacillating leader, while Douglass saw Garnet as arrogant and wrong for the future of their people. They often battled for leadership at black abolitionist conventions.
Henry Highland Garnet, circa 1881. Photograph by James U. Stead.
Garnet was then serving Washington's Fifteenth Street Presbyterian Church. He had come close to powerful men but was reminded of Douglass's ascendancy: The minister repeatedly called on Lincoln but had never been invited in. Garnet told fellow emigration sympathizer Martin R. Delany that because black people who had tried to get into the White House were "expecting something and coming away dissatisfied," so the president had resolved to "receive no more black visitors."19
The National Convention of Colored Men convened at seven P.M. on October 4 in the Wesleyan Methodist Church. There had been national conventions of black leaders in the antebellum period but none in nine years. About 150 men attended, from eighteen states, including slaveholding states such as Mississippi and North Carolina. Some of these men had fought in the war, some had been enslaved, and many had led free black communities in activism for years. To Garnet's dismay, the convention elected Douglass its president, offering another reminder of his preeminence. That night, as Garnet was walking alone through the streets of Syracuse, a group of Irish-Americans leaving a tavern noticed the disabled black man and knocked him to the ground. They took his silver-plated cane and degraded this dignified man by forcing him to crawl through mud.20
The convention continued the next day in Wieting Hall. When word of Garnet's ordeal filtered through the hall, a collection was raised for him to replace the cane. Rivalries aside, to have one of their own humiliated like this, especially during a conference at which they were asserting full citizenship, was horrifying. It made their business at hand more pressing.
On the platform was the flag of the First Louisiana Native Guards, who had so bravely proved the merit of black soldiers at Port Hudson and elsewhere. This battle flag was a deliberate reminder of the sacrifices that had been made so that the demands the speakers asked for would be heeded. Douglass spoke again on the second night. He discussed the recent disturbing speech by Secretary of State William Seward in Auburn, New York, in which Seward mentioned the possibility that if the war were to end in the autumn (which the fall of Atlanta in September had made possible), the issue of emancipation would end up in the courts. Everyone knew that was not a prospect to be accepted. They needed a constitutional amendment to end slavery forever. It was clear that the Emancipation Proclamation was not enough.
Equal rights through the elective franchise were now firmly on the black agenda. Douglass's address forcefully made this argument, asking, "Are we good enough to use bullets, and not good enough to use ballots?" Delegates thought the speech so effectively conveyed their case that they ordered ten thousand copies printed. After more speakers, the night ended with the singing of "Battle Cry of Freedom."21
Over the course of the next two days, they passed resolutions that were to be sent to the president and Congress affirming their patriotism; thanking them for the gains of the past four years; appealing for equal rights, equal treatment of their soldiers in pay, labor, and promotion; requesting the creation of opportunities and safety for freedmen; and protesting any regeneration of the Union with slavery. John Rock, a remarkable Bostonian who was both a doctor and a lawyer, articulated the feeling of the men in the hall when he proclaimed, "We ask the same for the black man that is asked for the white man; nothing more, and nothing less."
As for the choice in the election, that was clear. There was Lincoln's party "for Freedom and the Republic; and the other, by McClellan, is for Despotism and Slavery . . . The fate of this Republic will be settled in this contest." Some radical abolitionists never came around to supporting Lincoln because of his reconstruction plans, but the black leaders of this convention did not share this opinion. They were lending their support to Lincoln while making their demands of him unambiguous. Douglass was at the helm of a landmark moment in the formulation and advancement of a black political agenda in a presidential election.22
Some black soldiers experienced the same dilemma and ultimate conclusion when it came to the election of Lincoln. Charles W. Singer, stationed in Louisville at the time, wrote, "though we abhor him when we consider the many injustices he has allowed to be practiced on colored men, we cannot but think him a better object than George B. McClellan." Singer referenced discrimination against his comrades in arms, Lincoln's proposal for compensated emancipation in the border states, and colonization as matters that gave him pause, yet these did not outweigh his belief that no man on the continent other than McClellan was "more desirous of seeing the South achieve her independence with human slavery."23
When Election Day came, Douglass felt he had "certainly exerted myself to the uttermost in my small way to secure his reelection . . . by speeches, letters, or other electioneering appliances."24He had been confident since mid-October, after Sherman's and Sheridan's military successes had remade the political equation, that Lincoln would win. Even if Grant was still mired in a great siege outside of Petersburg, the Union would now press on to victory, which meant he had no reason to press Lincoln further on their plan. Once that siege was lifted (something Grant had demonstrated he could do at Vicksburg), then the vastly superior federal troops could smash on to Richmond to seek the final destruction of Robert E. Lee's army.
All over the country, the majority of black men who could vote, and many who could not, supported Lincoln. Though the nation had yet to bestow suffrage on the black community of Nashville, they held their own election in a protest. It would not affect the official tally but it did reveal the depth of support for Lincoln: He finished with 3,193 votes, while McClellan garnered only one.25
It was a glum, rainy day in Washington as the future of the country was decided at polling stations around the country. The White House was quieter than usual, with cabinet members attending to election duties elsewhere and Stanton sick with chills. Journalist Noah Brooks quoted Lincoln as saying, "I am just enough of a politician to know that there was not much doubt about the result of the Baltimore Convention, but about this thing I am far from being certain; I wish I were certain." At seven o'clock, Lincoln went to the War Department to begin receiving telegraphs communicating the results around the country, though it would take another two hours before anything meaningful came into his hands. Positive word came from Maryland, Massachusetts, then Pennsylvania, usually a decisive indicator. But a long wait drew out more suspense before the rest of New England, Ohio, Indiana, Michigan, and Wisconsin came in. Thankfully for Lincoln, Illinois was still faithful. It was clear to Lincoln by midnight that the country had decided it had not given up on him, or on the hope that the country would find deliverance from this violent tempest. Lincoln was subdued when he received the final tally, too worn to be anything but relieved and comforted.26
The institution of slavery in Maryland had come to an end when a revision of the state constitution was ratified on November 1, 1864. Less than a week before the election, a group of black people left their triumphant church service and descended on the White House to pay tribute to this momentous occurrence. Following a torchlight parade and band music, the crowd arrived outside the building and cheered for the president, who eventually appeared. Lincoln called out, "I have to guess, my friends, the object of this call, which has taken me quite by surprise this evening."
A leader of the gathering answered, "The emancipation of Maryland."
Lincoln told the jubilant crowd, "It is no secret that I have wished, and still do wish, mankind everywhere to be free." The crowd applauded, as Lincoln speculated that it would be as much of a good for his race as for theirs. He desired that all would now move forward; "Who have been emancipated, will use this great boon which has been given you to improve yourselves, both morally and intellectually; and now, good night." Lincoln retreated back into White House to shouts of approval.27
It took Douglass only sixteen days after the Maryland emancipation to return to Baltimore for the first time since he had left as a fugitive.
From roughly age eight to thirteen—when his owner sent him back to the fields of the Eastern Shore for the worst years of his life—and then from sixteen to eighteen, Douglass had lived in the labyrinth of cobblestone streets known as Fells Point. It had not been part of the original Baltimore Town and that separateness, a world unto itself, remained in Douglass's memory. Its essence was the water—every inch of the place smelled of it. The land hooked into the harbor, the streets fed into the shipyards, and upbringings led to sailing, caulking, fitting, chandlery, or carpentry on the ships. He had learned to write by copying the names of the ships docked there. Douglass's owners, the Aulds, lived on a road where brick row homes and one-and-a-half-story frame houses stood in a line. But that was only half of Fells Point. The poorer folks lived in the alley houses that packed an elaborate web of dirty back streets, with one water pump for several struggling families.
Walking through the Baltimore streets, Douglass was filled with nostalgia. Despite the pain of his childhood, he had never stopped loving Maryland, and he was always searching to reconnect to or redeem the past. He spoke six times over the next two weeks in Baltimore, but there was one place where he fit in perfectly. Radicalism was part of the fiber of the Bethel AME Church, and their first minister, Daniel Coker, had been born to a white indentured servant mother and slave father in 1780. He had escaped to New York, but after converting to Methodism, had returned to his home state. Coker led a group to form the first independent black congregation and became one of the first African-American antislavery writers with his book, A Dialogue between a Virginian and an African Minister. Bethel's influence and popularity grew in the antebellum period. The congregation's action on slavery was aggressive and their worship style was unrepentantly lively.
Bethel had played a huge role in Douglass's life. His relationship with organized religion become thornier as his life went on, but his early years formed his understanding of black Christianity. Douglass also was reunited with the now elderly Charles Lawson, who had told the strikingly gifted boy he was destined to do great work for the Lord.28
Within the church, Douglass now found congregants packing the room with many guests in the pews, including some white Marylanders, in anticipation of his return. A distinguished-looking Douglass walked down the isle of the church hand in hand with his sister, Eliza Bailey Mitchell. Word about the famous orator Frederick Douglass coming to Baltimore had reached all the way to Talbot County, where she heard the good news. She left home and traveled sixty miles in the hope of reconnecting with a brother whose life had taken a radically different course. Douglass had not seen his sister in almost thirty years. Slavery's rules forbid any correspondence, and he had not known if she was even alive. He wrote, "Our meeting can be better imagined than described."29
After recovering from the shock and emotion of the reunion, he was gratified to find both vigor and warmth left in the fifty-two-year-old woman who was a maternal figure to the whole community around St. Michaels. Douglass knew how effectively slavery could extinguish a person's spirit. That had not happened to Eliza. She was illiterate but had managed to follow his ascending career, naming a daughter, Mary Douglass Mitchell, after him in 1856. Before the recent emancipation, she had been free because earlier her owner Thomas Auld had agreed to sell her and her two children to her husband, Peter Mitchell, for one hundred dollars. This had been a costly manumission in sweat and toil, since she did domestic work for five dollars a month and Mitchell was a field hand, making less than fifteen. They were also raising nine children. But in time, enough had been saved. After emancipation, their children worked in the same menial careers, the sons doing farm labor and the daughters serving households.
This was better news than what had become of Douglass and Eliza's own generation. The siblings talked of family members Douglass remembered, though this was a painful exercise. Story after story ended with a sale into a Deep South slave state, at which point Eliza's knowledge of a loved one ceased. Their family had been thoroughly scattered in a way no one could ever reconstruct.30
The choir sang "Home, Sweet Home!" as the brother and sister stepped forward together. There was magnificent, lengthy, and affecting applause as Douglass reached the dais and surveyed this remarkable scene. Behind him was a "Welcome Home" sign. He was overwhelmed, confessing, "I could not anticipate the extent and depth of this welcome." He reminisced about those who had been at this church more than thirty years before. Many were deceased but they were very alive in Douglass's memory. He saw familiar faces all over the audience and rejoiced not just that they were meeting again, but "especially that we are permitted to meet here on the soil of our birth," for it was a land he loved and wished he had never had to leave. Two days above all others marked a lifetime for him: the day he left Maryland and the day he returned. "No speaker, I think, ever appeared before a public assembly, in circumstances more unusual and striking than I do this evening."
Though there was plenty to say, he did not talk just about the past. The Maryland constitution now ended slavery, but he pressed his audience to ensure there would now be equal rights. Those against it were seeing black people as threats to white people, but Douglass framed this argument as disparaging the ability of white people. He thought that they were fully capable of succeeding while others had full rights, explaining, "I would defend you from yourselves." In his opinion, "The more men you make free, the more freedom is strengthened, and the more men you give an interest in the welfare and safety of the State, the greater is the security of the State." Unfortunately, the vote would not come to Maryland blacks until the Fifteenth Amendment.31
He exhorted the crowd to save, to buy land, and to create strong schools for their children. "You have now the opportunity, and I trust you will improve it." Douglass for nearly three hours invested his address with more emotion than any he had ever given.32
He made speeches at two more Baltimore churches, then at three additional events, before returning to Washington for an oration at the Israel Baptist Church. There he found a message from President Lincoln, inviting him to come to the Soldiers' Home to take tea with him that night.
Douglass was in a bind. It was not every day the president requested one's company, and he understood the power of having access to that man's ear. With Reconstruction looming, there were many more battles to wage, either as allies or contestants. More than that, his later writings about Lincoln make clear that however frustrated this president made him politically, Douglass did feel a personal connection to him and would have enjoyed having tea with him. On the other hand, Douglass respected his audiences and chose never to break a speaking engagement, not wanting to disappoint people desiring to hear him.
The president's invitation was an honor and Douglass gave it considerable thought that afternoon before deciding not to go. His relationship with Lincoln was growing, and Douglass concluded there would be ample time for more conversations in the coming years.
Douglass needed this war to end. Emotionally and physically, his last reserves of energy were close to being exhausted. The constant traveling from place to place began to wear on his iron constitution. He lagged in responding to letters of old friends, obsessed with only his work. Mary Carpenter in England still wrote to him "in the hope of extracting a reply from you." Looking about him, he could see that most of the longstanding antislavery orators were no longer on the road.l
After all the years of travel, he dreamed of a quiet, bucolic farm, where he would set down roots and stay. His fatigue in the latter part of the war was such that when he spoke of the future, he believed he wanted no part of a public life in its aftermath.
However tired his body felt, Douglass knew that this was no time to let up if the abolition war was to result in an abolition peace. In the North, everyone could feel that the war was about to end. In the South, that chilling realization was about to descend upon a hard-pressed populace. For any Confederate who imagined the war could still be won, William Sherman's relentless March to the Sea and capture of Savannah on Christmas put a resounding end to the argument. As Sherman turned his army northward to link up with the stalemated Army of the Potomac outside of Petersburg, the end would not be long in coming.
So Douglass pressed on, spreading this hope in the early part of 1865 from Troy to Albany, New York; Salem to Worcester, Massachusetts; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Wilmington, Delaware; and Hoboken, New Jersey (which he used often as a place of winter rest at Ottilie Assing's home) along the way. When he spoke again at the Cooper Union Institute to around two thousand people, a quarter of them black, he told them of his recent emotional return to Maryland. It had taken nearly four years of war for Maryland, although yoked to the Union as it had been, to finally outlaw slavery. He wanted to share what that return had meant to him personally and in relation to all that this war was about.
His return had been sentimental, but he realized it represented changes that were also historic and world-changing. The Boston address, given when the brutal northeastern weather seemed to miraculously give way to a beautiful night, was entitled, "What the Black Man Wants." Men like Wendell Phillips and William Lloyd Garrison were at the time debating whether their old antislavery organizations should be disbanded at the end of the war or should press on for civil rights. Garrison, who had mostly supported the president during the war, believed his life's work was over when the war was over.
Douglass sided with Phillips on the issue of advocating for full suffrage, telling the crowd, "if Abolitionists fail to press it now, we may not see, for centuries to come, the same disposition that exists at this moment." In a time that could have been celebratory, Douglass never underestimated the risks at hand.2
Douglass asked, "Shall we be citizens in war, and aliens in peace? Would that be just?"3He was acting as a conscience to his nation, refusing to let them forget what black people had achieved. Like Garrison, he was nearly at the end of his mission to kill slavery. He was beginning to sense that slavery would not completely die if the war's conclusion meant that blacks could not vote, serve on a jury, hold political office, or in any sense be a full citizen.
People could be free and yet not equal.
Douglass's mission now included a vision of a nation healed—not just the wounds of North and South, but a new reality of citizens truly part of one nation. This was the only end to the war that could possibly justify the horrific deaths so many had suffered. All had paid the heavy price of the Founding Fathers' failure to end slavery when they could have, before the South began to fully, and fatally, identify its essence with a flawed system of enforced labor.
While Douglass's speaking schedule kept him moving, it was an exciting time in Washington, and his son Charles was taking it all in. He was working in a Freedman's Hospital, as Washington had huge encampments of black people fleeing the South and waiting for the opportunities that were supposed to come with freedom. Charles had not been born in bondage, but he too saw more hope for the days ahead than he had ever felt before. He was thinking about going South with a friend interested in the cotton business around Savannah or Nashville. He was sensitive to being reliant on his wealthy father, proclaiming, "I will not return home a beggar," but the sentiment was as much about the optimism he and many other black people felt with the war drawing to a close. The dreams Douglass had for the America his children would live in must have felt near when Charles wrote to him, "I can see that a black man can be something now . . . all he has to do is make a start.4
But with the war not yet over, Charles was still pursuing justice for the black soldier. He and Lewis, along with eight other men, had written a petition asking the government to create black regiments with exclusively black officers. He was frustrated by Lewis's lack of responses to his letters, grumbling to his father, "I never do any of the boys that way." Lewis was now back home in Rochester where Anna and Rosetta could take care of him and the baby Annie. Rosetta reported, "He still has his sick times though not as violent as in the early part of winter." She anxiously hoped he would go back to his regiment in South Carolina, which he said he was willing to do. Even without his brother's affirmation by mail, Charles wished to move this project forward. He and his colleagues had obtained signatures from senators, congressmen, generals, men such as Sumner, Greeley, James Garfield, Nathaniel Banks, and, of course, his father. Charles hoped to follow his father's example by meeting with President Lincoln to present the document, though there is no evidence that he succeeded.5
The efforts of Douglass and so many others had not been in vain. Policies regarding black men in the military were finally improving. In June of 1864 President Lincoln had asked Attorney General Edward Bates his opinion on what the government legally owed these men in terms of equal payment. That same summer, a House and Senate conference had hammered out language that assured equal payment for black soldiers who had been free men at the start of the war. Senators such as Sumner were indignant that while it was fully retroactive for those who were free at the start of the war, it would only compensate back to the start of 1864 for those who had fled slavery for a Union uniform. Nonetheless, men in the field found a clever solution in the "Quaker oath."6
When asked to swear if they had been free on April 19, 1861, they appealed to a law higher than the government. Those who had been enslaved were asked, "You do solemnly swear that you owed no man unrequited labor on or before the 19th day of April, 1861. So help you God." Former slaves felt justified in simply testifying that they were never anyone else's property, which in their heart, they knew they never were. As men in Lewis's old 54th Massachusetts Regiment stepped out of the paymaster's office with the desperately needed money so long denied to them, they shouted in the air and sang joyous songs.7
These important changes were represented by the experience of Martin Delany, a doctor and writer (and briefly, assistant editor of Douglass's North Star), who had become one of the most prominent black leaders in the country. A strong advocate of black emigration from America, he and Douglass had both collaborated and clashed in the years before the war. Delany met with Lincoln in early February to propose that a group of black men should go into the South to proclaim emancipation and to arm the former slaves, enlarging this black army with black officers. Ironically, Delany's account of the meeting presents Lincoln as never having heard of such an idea when, in fact, he himself had proposed a strikingly similar one to Douglass.8
If some of the details of the meeting, which Delany described to a biographer three years later, may be puzzling, the essence of the meeting corroborates Lincoln's support of the kind of plan he discussed with Douglass. It also shows that Douglass had opened the door of Lincoln's office for other black leaders. Perhaps Delany's open interest in emigration made him a voice in the black community that the Lincoln administration was open to cultivating. He was appointed an officer in the Union army, but by the time he was in the field and actively putting together his regiment, the war had ended.
Change was definitely in the air in Washington. Most notable was the intense lobbying to fulfill the Baltimore convention's stated goal of a Thirteenth Amendment that would finally and completely eradicate slavery. This effort to sway Congress was drawing the newly reelected president's full attention and effort.9The amendment had already passed the Senate easily the previous spring, but the two-thirds majority needed in the House was going to be a challenge. This effort was in line with other evidence of profound growth in Lincoln's views on race as the war neared closure. He signed bills allowing black people to testify in federal courts, to end discrimination in the capital's streetcars, and to raise the pay of black troops, finally settling an issue that had first brought Douglass to his office. When General Sherman issued Special Field Order Number 15, giving freedmen "possessory" rights to forty acres for each family inland stretching from Charleston to Jacksonville, Lincoln did not raise a finger to undo this radical redistribution of land.10
On January 31, the House would try to make this the day to approve the amendment. In the gallery was Ottilie Assing, who described the scene: "From the very start, the visitor galleries are filled, and unusual excitement and tension are in the air." Last-minute converts to the effort and those still holding out for the amendment's defeat gave speeches that Assing found agonizingly boring. Men had been debating slavery in this room for years and she thought the time for this had now passed. Yet, for three long hours, it continued. Assing watched senators enter the hall, along with Supreme Court justices, government officials, and free blacks, who, of course, had the most invested in what was about to happen. The press of prominent citizens pushing their way in and journalists fiercely defending seats they were in danger of losing gave the occasion an unusual intensity.
There was a movement on the floor to table the measure, but Republicans blocked the attempt. Democrats tried to move the vote to the next day, hoping to buy time, to no avail. Finally, Speaker Schuyler Colfax called the vote, reading, "Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as punishment for crime whereof the party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist within the United States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction."
The House clerk called the roll, name by name. For Democrats with the courage to vote in favor of passage, a special applause went up from the crowd. Then, above the anxious silence, Colfax announced the amendment had passed 119 to 56. With the three-fourths approval in the states not in doubt, the meaning of the moment was unmistakable. Thunderous applause erupted. The elated room was full of clapping, hugging, handkerchiefs waving, crying, and shouting.11
From outside came the sound of a hundred cannons. Charles Douglass heard these batteries giving their endorsement of what had occurred, echoes of the battles that had been fought to make this day even conceivable. The animated reactions of white people wholeheartedly in support of the amendment shocked Charles. Writing to the father he wished was there to share the moment, he saw "such rejoicing I never before witnessed." He thought, "if they will only give us the elective franchise and shoulder straps which is only simple justice, that will be all I ask."12
At the start of this war, Congress had debated a thirteenth amendment to preserve slavery forever. Four years later, this Thirteenth Amendment could not have been more different. This was the distance the United States had traveled in the crucible of four years of conflict. From England, Rosine Draz wrote in disbelief to Douglass, "your people are free, forever free!"13
Douglass was not in Washington for the amendment's passage, but he would not miss Lincoln's second inauguration in March, as it was sure to be a day to remember. The night before Lincoln would be sworn in, Douglass had tea with a man suffering from decidedly mixed feelings. Salmon Chase was the new chief justice of the Supreme Court, but the next morning he would swear in Lincoln to the job he had really wanted.
Chase's life had been one of political triumph (excluding the presidency) and stunning personal tragedy. He had had the excruciating fate to bury three wives and four children along his rise to power. Only his daughter Kate survived. Douglass had known him for years, as Chase had "welcomed me to his home and his table when to do so was a strange thing in Washington, and the fact was by no means an insignificant one."14
Chase's creditability in the abolitionist movement began with his life-threatening defense of a Cincinnati antislavery publication. The mob of slavery's advocates he faced down while clinging to the doorway of the printer's building would be the first of many who would not make Chase back down. He defended fugitives in court, advocated civil rights in Ohio, and opposed slavery as a national leader. In the Senate, he and Charles Sumner were the black citizens' eloquent defenders. His consistent and noble stances are often undervalued because he was stiff, slightly pompous, and lacking in the charisma and personal grace of a Lincoln. Chase's greatness and contribution to the success of the war have been obscured by comparison to Lincoln, but Douglass knew well the power of Chase's actions through the years and held him in great respect.
Chase and his daughter Kate had plotted his ascent to the presidency for years, and as Lincoln's secretary of the Treasury, he had never been closer to the seat of power. Though Chase had done a laudable job with the nation's finances, his blatant and easily blunted political ambition finally caused Lincoln to accept his resignation. Chase was not unemployed for long, for Chief Justice Roger Taney passed away on October 12, 1864. New York Republican George Templeton Strong remarked, "The Hon. Old Roger B. Taney has earned the gratitude of his country by dying at last. Better late than never." Pressure from abolitionists immediately descended upon Lincoln to appoint the one man who could be counted on to secure gains to be made on slavery and civil rights in this period. As Lincoln proved many times, personal animus did not distract him from appointing the best person for the job, even if he would rather have "swallowed his buckhorn chair than to have nominated Chase."15
Douglass sat in the living room of Chase's three-story red-brick house, on the corner of Sixth and E Streets in downtown Washington. With a devastating mix of intelligence and beauty, Kate was the belle of Washington and thus the object of Mrs. Lincoln's fierce jealousy. Kate's wedding to the wealthy William Sprague—rumored to be motivated by her wish to use his money for her father's political career—had been the social event of the previous year. Chase could not deny the great opportunities in his new role on the court, but this was far less true of a dejected Kate.16
Yet, in their evening with Douglass, they did their best to focus on what Chase could do as the most powerful man in America's court system. The highlight of the evening for Douglass was helping Kate place Chase's new robe on his broad shoulders. Douglass wrote, "There was a dignity and grandeur about the Chief Justice which marked him as one born great."17
Although the war was drawing to a close, it was not over and there was more death to come. The president weighed this oppressive fact as he prepared his inaugural address, which, to the surprise of many, would be cast in a far from triumphant mode. The war could be won, but after the death of nearly one in ten of the young men who had fought it, victory was a hard word to employ.
As the morning broke on Saturday, the threatening clouds burst open. After this terrible war, Noah Brooks wrote that the rain fell from "tearful skies." Special trains dashed down the Baltimore & Ohio tracks, and Willard's Hotel packed people in the hallways to accommodate the thousands of visitors for the inaugural. At midmorning, Lincoln began the trip down Pennsylvania Avenue, riding alone with the top of his carriage folded down. Douglass maneuvered to walk as close as he could to Lincoln's carriage. Every wink or nod between individuals he saw lining the vast avenue sent Douglass's mind spinning through nightmarish assassination scenarios. He felt a visceral sense of dread, a foreboding in his gut.18
As the wheels of the president's barouche sank into the thick mud along the way to the outdoor ceremony, police ordered the crowds to stay back. This made it easy for Douglass to keep pace with Lincoln's horses. When they reached the Capitol, Douglass felt the president was safe. However, it was later established, and confirmed by a close inspection of photographs taken of the moment of the inaugural address, that John Wilkes Booth was standing close to Lincoln, on a high balcony above the speaker's stand.
Douglass found a place in front of the east portico. Hard winds whipped through the restless crowd. What many noticed about this inauguration day was the large number of black people in the crowd. Washington residents claimed to have never seen so many in the city before. An English correspondent estimated that half the crowd was black.19
Lincoln entered the Capitol and attended Vice President Andrew Johnson's swearing-in ceremony in the white rotunda. The morning had been an inauspicious start to Johnson's tenure. After consuming three full glasses of whiskey straight while awaiting the ceremony, the Tennessean had taken his official oath in an incoherent ramble before horrified members of the administration in the Senate chamber. Before heading back outside, Lincoln made it clear that under no circumstances should they allow Johnson to address the crowd.20
Douglass was close enough to catch Lincoln's eye as the president walked outside to the platform built over the Capitol steps. Lincoln even took a moment to point out the orator to Johnson. As Lincoln pointed to him, Douglass got a glimpse into Johnson's soul he would never forget. The drunken Johnson shot Lincoln an irritated look and gesture. He seemed contemptuous that Lincoln would call his attention to him; Douglass knew well the signals of racial enmity when he saw them. The vice president realized Douglass was gazing right back at him, and Johnson immediately stiffened up into a rigid face of forced affability. The damage was done. Leaning over to a man next to him, Douglass said Johnson "was no friend to my people."21
Douglass found the ceremony "quiet, earnest and solemn," though he also noted "a leaden stillness about the crowd." As Lincoln stepped forward and began his address, the sun broke through the clouds. It was a startling phenomenon, flooding the scene with light as the president's distinctive mid-western twang, high pitched and able to reach out surprisingly far above the crowd, began the shortest inaugural address in our history. There was an emotional poignancy to his voice, and its power grew with conviction. Douglass found it firm and yet inconsolably sad. Lincoln's subject was tragic, but his voice would not quite break.22
The president was an unusual speaker for the times because he rarely gestured or moved on the platform. He did not move his hands in placing emphasis but held them firmly behind his back, the left holding the right. His feet never moved. On this day, the famously awkward Lincoln seemed possessed of a solemn gravitas.23
Lincoln prepared the crowd for a short address, letting them know he would offer neither a forecast for the end of the war, nor congratulatory sentiments over its increasingly evident outcome. He simply hoped that people found the war's progress "satisfactory and encouraging to all," then reminded the crowd of the dire situation that accompanied his first inauguration speech. Lincoln asked his listeners to remember the nation's situation at that time. "Neither party expected for the war the magnitude or the duration which it has already attained," nor that it would end up eradicating slavery.
Lincoln said, "Both read the same Bible and pray to the same God, and each invokes His aid against the other. It may seem strange that any men should dare to ask a just God's assistance in wringing their bread from the sweat of other men's faces; but let us judge not that we be not judged." On other occasions, Lincoln had conjured harsher words for those defending slavery through their Bibles, but that was not his message this day.
Lincoln speaking at the presidential inaugural ceremony, March 4, 1865. (He is standing in the front row on the wooden stage, behind a short white baluster at the center of this photograph.)
The unavoidable truth was that God could not grant two opposing wishes, yet this did not mean that either one would be fully fulfilled. Lincoln surmised, "The Almighty has His own purposes." The president supposed that "American slavery" had been an offense that God was ready to see destroyed. It was no accidental choice of words, for Lincoln defined slavery throughout the speech and throughout his career as a vast national sin owned by the whole nation, refusing to reprimand the South through moral superiority. He said God "gives to both North and South, this terrible war, as the woe due to those by whom the offence came."
He declared, as he closed a speech that likely lasted no more than seven minutes, that a great price had been paid for the burden of slavery, and now was a time of relief and release from the past:
Fondly do we hope, fervently do we pray, that this mighty scourge of war may speedily pass away. Yet, if God wills that it continue until all the wealth piled by the bond-man's two hundred and fifty years of unrequited toil shall be sunk, and until every drop of blood drawn with the lash shall be paid by another drawn with the sword, as was said three thousand years ago, so still it must be said "the judgments of the Lord are true and righteous altogether."
With malice toward none; with charity for all; with firmness in the right, as God gives us to see the right, let us strive on to finish the work we are in; to bind up the nation's wounds; to care for him who shall have borne the battle, and for his widow, and his orphan—to do all which may achieve and cherish a first, and a lasting peace, among ourselves, and with all nations.
As he listened, Douglass was overwhelmed. Even in his highest expectations, he had not imagined Lincoln's speech having this kind of power. As he remembered, "such a sentence I never heard from the lips of any man in his position before." He thought the authority of these words "rang out over that throng" more like a sermon and less like a state paper. Hardly a hero-worshiper, especially of Lincoln, Douglass immediately recognized an element of the ancient prophet in the man in front of him.24
The second inaugural speech, in its essence, was a melding of Lincoln's and Douglass's visions of the Civil War, which had been so long so divergent. Douglass's impact was evident. Still, like so many others who had strived to influence Lincoln, Douglass had been more witness than persuader. The greatest influence by far had been the powerful flood of events washing over them all; as Douglass had said of this war, there were "mighty currents" shifting everything in its path, no single person or voice. Lincoln was an intensely private and inner-directed man, and those who knew him best had long concluded that no one really swayed him—though his reading of his people's mood could do the trick. Yet, this speech did not materialize from a void; it was a realization and culmination of themes that had been emerging in Lincoln's mind for months, even years. Here was their final eloquent expression, and its commonalities with Douglass's messages are unmistakable.
One need only go back to the October 1861 issue of the Douglass Monthly to find the concept of national sin that was at the core of Lincoln's speech. At the time, Lincoln was fighting to keep slavery out of the war, but Douglass said the Americans were failing "to recognize the great and all-comprehensive National Sin to which the calamities deplored owe their existence." Douglass also quoted scripture, "Be not deceived. Whatsoever a man soweth, that shall he reap."25
Lincoln's speech confronted a question that had long tormented him: Was there meaning in the taking of so many lives? Douglass had wrestled with the same question, asking, "Why does the cold and greedy earth now drink up the warm red blood of our patriot sons, brothers, husbands and fathers—carrying sorrow and agony into every household?" The path to the nation's healing was captured in the president's closing entreaty to the people: "With malice toward none; with charity for all; with firmness in the right, as God gives us to see the right, let us strive on to finish the work we are in; to bind up the nation's wounds . . ."26
The inauguration reception was fully open to the public and Douglass resolved that he would be there that evening. To his knowledge, no black person had ever presented himself at such an occasion other than as a servant or waiter. Douglass did not realize that four black men had attended the president's annual New Year's Day reception three months before. He believed that a black man congratulating the president seemed a modest and appropriate thing to do; yet he also knew that in reality, it might not be a light matter "to break in upon the established usage of the country, and run the risk of being repulsed."27
Among black friends Douglass saw after the ceremony, he floated the idea of them joining him at the reception. All were wholeheartedly in favor of Douglass going and breaking this barrier, though they declined to do so. Douglass thought back to days when he had risked his life to desegregate Massachusetts trains, sitting in and absorbing beatings until he was thrown off the train. Other men had praised the undertaking, leaving it to Douglass to carry it out. Someone had to lead. He decided it was his right to see President Lincoln during this illustrious event.
Standing in the vast line, Douglass took in the elite nature of the individuals surrounding him. Douglass felt "a man among men," but harsh reality intruded as the line moved forward, and Douglass reached the door. Two brawny policemen guarding the White House entrance forcibly grabbed his arms and told him to stand back, pushing him hard in that direction. They were to admit no person of color, an order they appeared enthusiastic to obey.28
Douglass had come this far and did not intend to turn back. Ignoring the embarrassment of being singled out in front of so many distinguished people, Douglass told the guards that there must have been some mistake, for "no such order could have emanated from President Lincoln." Douglass boldly predicted, "If he knew I was at the door he would desire my admission."
The officers were now uncomfortable, expecting this issue to have been easily settled instead of resulting in a loud dispute with an indignant black man. Furthermore, Douglass was obstructing the doorway. One security man then spoke in a more polite tone, telling Douglass that a third officer would conduct him in. A satisfied Douglass followed the red-faced, burly man into the White House as he called back to him, "Oh, yes; come this way!" It did not take Douglass long to realize there was something wrong about the path they were taking. The guide was escorting him to a makeshift plank headed into an outside window, a temporary passageway for the White House's extra visitors that evening. Douglass had been led in to be led right out.29
More enraged than ever, Douglass cried, "You have deceived me. I shall not go out of this building till I see President Lincoln." Suddenly, a gentleman moving through the corridor recognized Douglass. Douglass called to him, "Be so kind as to say to Mr. Lincoln that Frederick Douglass is detained by officers at the door." This man rushed in to Lincoln.30
Less than a minute later, Douglass walked into the East Room and beheld a "bewildering sea of beauty and elegance . . . such as my poor eyes had never before seen in any one room at home or abroad." It was a scene of jewelry, gold, silks, and elegance. He later learned that no such order to keep out black people had ever come from Lincoln's White House. The officers were just acting on old customs. But it was no matter to Douglass now, as cabinet members and generals in their finest uniforms mingled while the Marine band played patriotic numbers. Douglass browsed through this immense crowd of guests and saw Lincoln standing with "grand simplicity, and homelike beauty? Douglass thought he looked like a mountain pine above them.31
He started to move toward the president, but before he was near, Lincoln's eyes caught his, and in a voice loud enough for all near him to hear, Lincoln exclaimed, "Here comes my friend Douglass." Douglass weaved through people to reach the president's side.
Lincoln took his hand and told him, "I am glad to see you. I saw you in the crowd today, listening to my inaugural address; how did you like it?" He had already shaken hands with thousands of well-wishers from eight o'clock on, and Douglass could see a long line of impatient faces craving a minute with their leader, and he was embarrassed.32
He responded, "Mr. Lincoln, I must not detain you with my poor opinion, when there are thousands waiting to shake hands with you."
Lincoln replied, "No, no." He added, "You must stop a little, Douglass; there is no man in the country whose opinion I value more than yours." He then asked again of his speech, "I want to know what you think of it?"
Douglass related exactly what he felt: "Mr. Lincoln, that was a sacred effort."
Lincoln's smile was warm, with a sincere sense of affirmation for his efforts. He told Douglass, "I am glad you liked it!"33
Tonight the president did not hide his relationship with a man who had once been political poison. He seemed proud to welcome this controversial man into his home, even to call him friend. It took Douglass's boldness to force his way in, and Lincoln's equal courage to proclaim their bond.
Two nights later, Elizabeth Keckley, whose remarkable life had taken her from slavery to being Mrs. Lincoln's dressmaker (and closest friend in Washington), was dressing her employer. She told the first lady of how she ran into the famous Frederick Douglass at a mutual friend's house after he had left the White House. As she described to Mary Lincoln how delighted Douglass appeared after his exchange with Lincoln, the president walked into his wife's room. She immediately asked him, "Father, why was not Mr. Douglass introduced to me?" Mary Lincoln was from a slaveholding family, but her many days and nights with Keckley were a major factor in her emerging sympathy for and interest in black people.
Lincoln replied, "I do not know, I thought he was presented."
This was not an acceptable answer for his sharp and demanding spouse. She retorted, "But he was not."
All Lincoln could say was, "It must have been an oversight then, Mother, I am sorry you did not meet him."34
The words of encouragement that Douglass gave to Lincoln regarding his speech would have been comforting to him due to the weight he gave Douglass's views and because others around him clearly failed to grasp the greatness of the speech. Former secretary of war Simon Cameron received a letter from his home state of Pennsylvania that called the address "one of the most awkwardly expressed documents I have ever read."35
Lincoln knew what people were saying and that it was not a popular work, at the time. He wrote to Thurlow Weed, "Men are not flattered by being shown that there has been a difference of purpose between the Almighty and them."36Even if it cost him humiliation, he believed it a truth that demanded telling.
That spring, as a war that stained the land was closing and a country was readying to begin anew, spring rains fell unrelentingly in upstate New York. In Rochester, this precipitation loosened the deep snow banks that remained. The Genesee River was rising near the town, and on the morning of March 17, the waters rushed past the riverbanks, over the dam and through the town. By the afternoon, muddy water was coming through Front, State, and Buffalo Streets, overtaking the business district, coming through the floors and ruining expensive houses downtown. Those wishing to reach the center of Rochester for the next few days did so by rowboat. The debris would take weeks to clear.1
While the residents of Douglass's city were trying to put their lives back together, Lincoln and his son Tad stepped ashore in the captured Confederate capital of Richmond after its fall. The first black man to see the president walking the largely deserted streets recognized him from pictures and fell to his knees, crying that the messiah was before him. Lincoln was clearly embarrassed and asked him and others to only praise God, but a crowd delirious with joy was already forming. From the waterfront, Lincoln then walked through the former Confederate capital with a mass of the formerly enslaved that only grew in size and ecstasy. Seeing how the residents responded to Lincoln, one soldier wrote, "To see the colored people, one would think they had all gone crazy."2
Black troops proudly had been the first to enter the city and these men patrolled the streets during Lincoln's crowded walk. The adulation of Richmond blacks aside, the city was a hotbed of animosity toward him, and any window could harbor a sniper. Soon Lincoln was safely back on board a Union steamboat and returned to military meetings that were now more about how to deal with the shattered pieces of the Confederacy than how to defeat it.
After Union forces took the Confederate capital, Douglass told a jubilant Boston audience in Faneuil Hall, a crucial site of the first American revolution, "I, for the first time in my life, have the assurance, not only of a country redeemed, of a country regenerated, but of my race free and having a future in this land." There were times when he had been close to giving up hope, casting his eyes toward Haiti for a moment, but he had elected to keep trust in America. The theme of regeneration he had spoken of in future terms, he now discussed in the present tense. He made a special point of noting that it had been black troops who first entered Richmond, and how the cherished vision he had nurtured seemed so close to completion. Douglass closed by saying his people were the Lazarus of the South: "Here came North, clothed in silk and in satin, and shining with gold, and his breast sparkling with diamonds—his table loaded with the good things of this world. And a certain Lazarus sat at his gate, desiring the crumbs that fell from his table." A change had taken place, for much to the rich man's chagrin, Lazarus was up and in Abraham's bosom: "But Father Abraham says, 'If they hear not Grant nor Sherman, neither will they be persuaded though I send Lazarus unto them." The crowd roared with laughter and approval. They cheered for Douglass to go on, but he resisted the urge, knowing he ended on a perfect moment.3
On April 10, only six days later, even better news reached Rochester. In the evening, word that General Lee had surrendered the Army of Northern Virginia filtered through the city. Most people had turned in for a quiet Sunday night, but Mayor Daniel Moore decided this was cause enough to wake them. At eleven, firefighters sounded City Hall's bell and continued ringing it until two in the morning. Others who owned bells contributed their own chimes of joy, victory, and peace. Residents jumped out of their beds and it was not long until the intersection of Buffalo and State Streets was flooded with celebrating residents. Cheer after cheer went up. People lit rockets that blazed through the sky while their excitement drowned out Mayor Moore's attempts to speak from the steps of Power's Banking Office. Others started bonfires in the street and a cannon was hauled out for a more powerful blast. Only daylight dawning broke up the relieved celebration.4
The next night, another happy throng gathered, this time on the lawn of the White House, demanding that the president address them. The president spoke on the process that Louisiana was experiencing to restore proper relations with the federal government. The new state constitution did not give the black man the vote, and Lincoln commented, "I would myself prefer that it were now conferred on the very intelligent, and on those who serve our cause as soldiers." However, he felt, "The question is, 'Will it be wiser to take it as it is, and help to improve it; or to reject, and disperse it?'" He asserted that it was better to readmit a former Confederate state going through chaos with a constitution ending slavery, and then look to their legislature to settle these voting questions. He asked whether black men would attain the vote sooner "by saving the already advanced steps toward it, than by running backward over them?" Lincoln seemed to be taking his usual cautious and moderate path, one that was likely to set him in conflict with the Radical Republicans and Douglass, but this time he said explicitly that he had a faith in progress and the compassion of people of these states. As he concluded, he made it clear that this was not just a speech about Louisiana, but one that would impact what many more states would undergo during the reconstruction of the nation.5
Had Douglass been among the assembly hearing Lincoln that night, he would have profoundly disagreed with his approach. There were grounds for another critical and forceful debate developing between Douglass and Lincoln. The warmth of their last encounter would not diminish this likely clash. Still, no American president had ever publicly spoken in favor of any black people having the right to vote.
There were people in the crowd that evening listening to Lincoln who were horrified that the president would voice support for black civil rights under any conditions. One such listener was Confederate sympathizer John Wilkes Booth, who despised the second inaugural address he had also witnessed, and he loathed this one more. Lincoln had said nothing on Inauguration Day of whether the black man would vote. Tonight he had crossed that line. A seething Booth uttered to his cohorts, "Now, by God, I'll put him through. That is the last speech he will ever make."6
Three nights later, on April 14, Booth entered the back of the president's viewing box in Ford's Theater and shot him. Lincoln had said just weeks before that God's will would prevail "until every drop of blood drawn with the lash shall be paid by another drawn with the sword." Slumping toward his wife with a bullet through the back of his head, Lincoln too was held under that harsh fate. Under his own conception of the Civil War, Lincoln was one more casualty.
Douglass was in a daze.
He wandered into Rochester's City Hall and sat alone near the back. After the unthinkable news reached their city, Mayor Moore called a meeting for three in the afternoon. Bells tolled in a very different mood than they had a week before. Hundreds of citizens lined up to stand clamoring for a seat inside the memorial gathering. Douglass was here to mourn with others, to process this devastating shock and find solace in common grief.
From Washington to New York City and beyond to California, businesses closed and adults wept like children. There was a sense of deep pain, not just in America but soon enough on the other side of the ocean. From England, Julia Griffiths Crofts and Rosine Draz dashed off letters to Douglass urging him to be careful, to stay in New York, and not to go anywhere near Washington.7Black Americans felt this loss in an exceptionally deep way, as if Lincoln had been a family member or more. One soldier wrote, "God has willed it, that he has taken our beloved father, Abraham Lincoln, from us."8Douglass did not view Lincoln's death in these terms. Lincoln was no father figure to him or any kind of savior. He had not known him deeply, but well enough. Lincoln was no abstraction, no symbol. Their disagreements, the excruciating caution Douglass sensed in him, made Lincoln real, a man like any other—except fate had propelled this man from the people to being the pivot about which turned one of the greatest wars in history. Lincoln called Douglass a friend, and whether or not Douglass would use the same word, Lincoln was certainly a man with whom Douglass felt a keen bond of experience. Douglass felt a genuine personal loss as he sat stupefied in the back of the room.
No one volunteered to speak at first. The room was filled with mourners too stunned to muster words. Eventually, two ministers and a prominent judge said their piece; then Douglass's name went up from the assembly. It carried to every side and filled the room until Douglass had no choice but to rise.
Looking out into the anguish in so many faces he knew, Douglass confessed that he had not expected to speak and found this an almost impossible task. "This is not an occasion for speech making, but for silence." But a lifetime of experience drew him on, and he spoke of encountering friends all this day, who took his hands and asked for words, and how he had found himself wordless. All he could relate now was what he was experiencing: "I feel it as a personal as well as national calamity; on account of the race to which I belong and the deep interest which that good man ever took in its elevation."
As so many leaders and ministers were saying across the nation this day, he wondered if there was some underlying meaning to this death and its strange and disorienting timing, coming as the war was ended. He pondered, "It may be in the inscrutable wisdom of Him who controls the destinies of Nations, that this drawing of the Nation's most precious heart's blood was necessary to bring us back to that equilibrium which we must maintain if the Republic was to be permanently redeemed."
Douglass granted them a glance into his heart when he said, "How I have to-day mourned for our noble President, I dare not attempt to tell. It was only a few weeks ago that I shook his brave, honest hand, and looked into his gentle eye and heard his kindly voice uttering those memorable words." Douglass then quoted a long passage of the second inaugural from memory. As Douglass tried to unite the crowd, to translate sorrow into hope, he would once more return to the theme of national regeneration through brutal sacrifice that he had used for the last four years. If there was a lesson here, Douglass believed it to be "that the blood of our beloved martyred President will be the salvation of our country."
Their president had been killed not just by Booth, but by a society still infected with slavery. Redemption, not just reconstruction, meant, "wherever there is a patriot in the North or South, white or black, helping on the good cause, hail him as a citizen, a kinsman, a clansman, a brother beloved!" In this moment, Douglass's plea was "Let us not remember our enemies and disenfranchise our friends." He asked, "For the safety of all, let justice be done to each." As Douglass stepped down, he had gone from struggling for words to making one of his greatest speeches. "I have heard Webster and Clay in their best moments," one witness wrote, "Channing and Beecher in their highest inspirations; I never heard truer eloquence! I never saw profounder impression. When he finished, the meeting was done."9
Douglass had made many astonishing speeches, touched the hearts of hundreds of audiences, but he had never felt more connected to one. Through the cheers, the complete reversal of mood in the room, from shock and deep pain to a hopeful determination, he had taken a journey with them. Douglass remembered, "We shared in common a terrible calamity, and this 'touch of nature' made us more than countrymen, it made us 'kin.' "10
After the armies had spiked the cannons, staked their arms, and held their last Grand Processions, the Civil War truly ended on December 18, when—despite Delaware, Kentucky, New Jersey, and Mississippi's rejection— twenty-seven states approved the Thirteenth Amendment. The ratification outlawed slavery forever.
A few weeks after the assassination, Mary Lincoln, although prostrate with grief, gathered herself enough to send a few mementos of her husband to several people who had been important to him. She remembered him saying that he wanted to extend to Douglass some token of his regard. A long package arrived in Rochester addressed to Frederick Douglass, and when he opened it, he saw that the widow had sent him Lincoln's "favorite walking staff." Douglass wrote back to her, "this inestimable memento of his Excellency will be retained in my possession while I live—an object of Sacred interest—a token not merely of the kind consideration in which I have reason to know that the President was pleased to hold me personally, but as an indication of this human interest in the welfare of my whole race."1
Years later, when Mrs. Lincoln's financial problems worsened, Douglass offered to lecture to raise money for her, but Mrs. Lincoln was too proud to accept this offer. He took genuine concern in her welfare, writing to Mrs. Lincoln's seamstress Elizabeth Keckley in 1867, "I would gladly see Mrs. Lincoln, if this could be done in a quiet way without the reporters getting hold of it, and using it in some way to the prejudice of that already much-abused lady." Mrs. Lincoln wrote back to Keckley that when Douglass was in Chicago, "Tell him, for me, he must call and see me; give him my number." For his efforts to see that she lived a dignified life, Mrs. Lincoln wrote that Douglass would "always have my most grateful thanks."2
Abraham Lincoln would often be in the thoughts of Douglass in the remaining thirty-seven years of his life, and in hundreds of speeches, articles, interviews, and one final autobiography. However, Douglass's relationship with Lincoln's successor was problematic. On February 7, 1866, Douglass joined a delegation of black men, including his son Lewis, to greet the new president. As Douglass stepped inside the White House for the fourth time, the building had not changed, just the man occupying it. Less than a year earlier, Douglass had walked into this house to be treated by its resident with esteem and respect. He was about to find out how much had changed in that year.
President Andrew Johnson was a man who took great pride in having risen in society from being a tailor and former Tennessee slaveholder to being part of a Union party ticket with Lincoln, and he now presided over a nation at peace. Andrew Johnson slouched in his chair, waiting for the delegates. He did not seem pleased to be greeting them into his office.3
George Downing of Rhode Island spoke first, asking Johnson to see them as friends. Then he appealed for better enforcement of the Thirteenth Amendment, as oppressive Black Codes were cropping up all over the South and new measures were needed to ensure that all could vote.
Douglass spoke next and immediately invoked Lincoln. He reminded Johnson, "Your noble and humane predecessor placed in our hands the sword to assist in saving the Union." Now Johnson had the power to put the ballot in their hands. Douglass declared, "The fact that we are the subjects of the Government and subject to bear the burdens of the State, makes it not improper that we should ask to share in the privileges of this condition."
Johnson began a meandering tirade, speaking of his days as a slaveholder, calling himself a friend to their people because he had never sold a slave, only acquired them. Johnson did little that day to mask his pride at having risen high enough in southern society to be a slaveholder. He told the delegation that he had treated his slaves well before and after emancipation. For this reason, Johnson took as an affront that they would question him on these matters. As he spoke, he moved toward Douglass, standing close to him, laying out each insult. That look of loathing in Johnson's eye that Douglass thought he had seen during the inauguration was now blatant.
The president said he did not like "to be arraigned by some who can get up handsomely-rounded periods and deal in rhetoric, and talk about abstract ideas of liberty, who never periled life, liberty or property. This kind of theoretical, hollow, unpractical friendship amounts to very little." Johnson pronounced that he would not support their efforts toward the voting booth because this would only lead to a race war resulting "in the extermination of one or the other. God forbid that I should be engaged in such a work!" He was pleased that he could call himself a "Moses" to their people, but what he did for them would not be at the expense of the poor whites who resented them.
Johnson accused blacks of being ungrateful for the freedoms the Civil War had brought, especially since it had been poor white southerners who had truly suffered. The president believed that if more was to be given, meaning the ballot, it should come from these new state governments. For him to force anything more would be a catalyst for racial wars of unprecedented bloodshed.
With that, Johnson tried to end the meeting with his visitors by thanking them for their presence, but Douglass would not be bullied out of the White House. He would not leave without some kind of dialogue.
"If you will allow me," Douglass persisted, "I would like to say one or two words in reply." He wanted Johnson to understand "enfranchisement of the blacks as a means of preventing the very thing which your Excellency appears to apprehend—that is a conflict of races."
"I repeat," Johnson curtly spoke, "I merely wanted to indicate my views in reply to your address, and not to enter into any general controversy." Johnson reiterated his belief that "the colored people can live and advance in civilization to better advantage elsewhere than crowded right down there in the South."
Douglass could not let these assertions go unquestioned by a man with such power over their future. He pushed back again, pointing to the former masters writing harsh Black Codes, which when enacted meant "we cannot get away from the plantation."
Johnson feigned ignorance, "What prevents you?"
"We have not the simple right of locomotion through the southern states now."
"Why not?" Johnson claimed the government "furnishes you with every facility."
Douglass tried to convey the present realities of the South, where "his master then decides for him where he shall go, where he shall work, how much he shall work—in fact, he is divested of all political power. He is in the hands of those men."
Johnson conceded nothing and retreated to a familiar idea: "There is this conflict, and hence I suggest emigration. If he cannot get employment in the South, he has it in his power to go where he can get it." After a war in which his own sons had fought to save a nation, Douglass was back to having a president tell a black delegation that they could leave the country.
All Douglass could do was wearily thank Johnson for his time. But before he and his entourage left the room, he issued a subtle challenge, "The President sends us to the people, and we go to the people."
"Yes sir," President Johnson remarked, "I have great faith in the people. I believe they will do what is right."4
Once they were gone, Johnson showed that his emotions for Douglass and his people were even rawer. No doubt, Johnson's mind had centered on Douglass, whom he deemed a man who "would sooner cut a white man's throat as not."5
Since President Johnson had not been open to their thoughts, the delegation drafted a public document in answer to him, deeming "the views and opinions you expressed . . . entirely unsound and prejudicial to the highest interest of our race as well as to the country at large." They rejected the idea that southern prejudices against black people were grounds to not push for enfranchisement. They advised, "Peace between the races is not to be secured by degrading one race and exalting another; by giving power to one race and withholding it from another; but by maintaining a state of equal justice between all classes." The anger in their letter in reply to Johnson is clear: After having fought a war, they believed that they had earned the right to be citizens.6
This ill-fated call to the White House put into perspective the amazing promise of Douglass's three Lincoln visits, as well as capturing the disappointment that Douglass would become greatly familiar with in the years to come. Though the visit with President Johnson was exceptional in its intolerance, subsequent presidents never listened to Douglass in the respectful way that Lincoln had. President Ulysses Grant appointed Douglass secretary of the Santo Domingo Commission, charged with evaluating whether the United States should annex the Dominican Republic. On the ship traveling home, however, Douglass, barred from the dining room, was forced to take his meals in his cabin. Grant knew of this and did nothing. When Grant invited the commission to dine at the White House, Douglass was not allowed to attend.
President Rutherford Hayes effectively ended Reconstruction by removing troops protecting black rights in the South, and he would not hear Douglass's anguished advice. Then President Grover Cleveland asked for Douglass's resignation as Recorder of Deeds of Washington, D.C., in 1886, a symbolic end to a largely symbolic position that finished Douglass's government career. It was a muted culmination to the way that Lincoln's successors took for granted Douglass and the counsel he could have given.7
Thus Lincoln, imperfections and all, continued to hold a special place in Douglass's life. A mark of his continued respect for Lincoln was displayed not only in his popular lectures on his relationship with the Civil War president, but in the prominent placement on his parlor wall in his Anacostia home, Cedar Hill, of a portrait of Abraham Lincoln. At times, the Lincoln-Douglass relationship was remembered; as the Rochester Union and Advertiser wrote in 1886, "Mr. Douglass held the most intimate and friendly relations with the late President, having been specifically invited to the White House by Mr. Lincoln."8
More often, however, this rare and unusual relationship was a bothersome and neglected fact for a nation erasing the reality and memory of black progress in the Civil War and immediately after. The attitude President Johnson demonstrated to Douglass's delegation was indicative of attitudes exhibited by both North and South during Reconstruction, in which old patterns reasserted themselves and the revolutionary aspects of the late war were muted and often reversed. Through new Black Codes, voting restrictions, and the advent of the Ku Klux Klan, black lives were restricted and hemmed in. Slavery was gone, but the old structures found creative and inventive ways to bind the future of black citizens.
Yet, these profound reversals and disappointments did not make the Civil War any less of a transformation in American life. Extraordinary times of hope and change are often followed by countermovements pushing against what has been achieved. These reactions can be strong, as the harsh close of Reconstruction moving into a long Jim Crow era certainly proved. Sometimes a people can almost forget just how much they have accomplished, but not quite and not forever. As much damage as Andrew Johnson did during the crucial months and years after the war, he did not and could not halt all the progress of the Civil War era.
At the end of the war, black troops numbered almost two hundred thousand, roughly a fourth of the entire army, and a tenth of all those who served; thirty-eight thousand black men gave their lives, a mortality rate that was 35 percent higher than white soldiers, an extraordinary number considering that they began to fight only in the latter half of the war.9
Even with the considerable setbacks felt by black America with the rise of Jim Crow laws, the war's impact on black America has often been underestimated. Illiteracy among black Americans stood at 90 percent when the war ended, but was down to 70 percent by 1880 and 50 percent by the turn of the century. Half of all blacks did not experience the minimal social changes Douglass had wished for, but it was an undeniable change from a dire situation. Black land-owning in the South went from almost nothing in 1865 to a quarter of all black farmers owning land in 1910. Numerous black men, some of whom were born slaves, served in Congress and the highest state offices in that era, and although these black politicians were largely forgotten within a hundred years, the black men and women who hold political office today carry on their tradition.10
What was written into the Constitution after the Civil War would be footing upon which future freedom fighters could stand and proclaim justice. In the immediate aftermath of the war, the Thirteenth Amendment's ratification abolished slavery. Congress approved the Fourteenth Amendment in 1866, which made all people born in the country full citizens and promised that the government would protect their rights equally. Ratified in 1868, though its pledge was often betrayed, the amendment would be tested in the twentieth century and beyond for civil rights advancement. Finally, the Fifteenth Amendment of 1869, ratified in 1870, was a further attempt to ensure citizens would not be barred from voting because of their race.
On April 14, 1876, with a great ceremony attended by all of official Washington, the Freedman's Monument was dedicated as a memorial to the martyred president. For more than a decade, a freed black woman named Charlotte Scott had collected money, starting with her own hard-earned contribution of five dollars. Thousands of black citizens contributed small amounts in order to erect a twelve-foot-high bronze statue of Lincoln.
Near Seventh and K Streets, spectators leaned out of windows and packed the square and streets radiating into it to observe the ceremony. Flags were at half-mast in honor of Lincoln. A procession of mounted police, politicians, black soldiers and bands traveled down Pennsylvania Avenue and along East Capital Street to Lincoln Park. President Ulysses Grant sat on the stand in front of his cabinet, Supreme Court justices, and scores of senators and congressmen. As the president officially unveiled the monument, a loud combination of gasps and claps went up from the crowd.11
The famed sculptor Thomas Ball had been commissioned to make a bronze Lincoln standing over a kneeling black man. The man whose picture was used for the black figure, Archer Alexander, had actually escaped slavery in Missouri during the war, bringing vital information to Union lines. Alexander's former owner had pursued him, but Alexander found safety in Alton, Illinois. His son Tom would give his life to the Union cause. Alexander certainly represented the best of the roles his people had assumed during the war.12
Only one man had been considered to deliver the dedicatory address. As Frederick Douglass climbed the platform, he looked over a park packed with bands and banners. No black speaker had ever commanded such an audience, and the profound effects of the war could hardly have been better symbolized. The irony is that Douglass had severe misgivings about the Freedman's Monument itself, with its depiction of a serene president clutching the Emancipation Proclamation in one hand and reaching toward a black slave crouched before him. Douglass hated seeing his people portrayed on their knees.
Freedman's monument (Emancipation by Thomas Ball, Lincoln Park,
Washington, D.C., 1876)
For Frederick Douglass, the Civil War had been the central event of his life. Douglass had been forty-eight when the war ended. Though the annihilation of slavery had been triumphant, Douglass had felt a strange melancholy concerning what his purpose in the world would be, as abolition had defined his life for as long as he could remember. Douglass wrote, "I felt that I had reached the end of the noblest and best part of my life." He had rejected his dream of bucolic retirement, however, and soon was back on the road. Nothing in his later years would match the impact of this day's speech. It was no surprise that it largely dealt with the enigmatic and inscrutable politician who had so unexpectedly affected his life.
He commenced an hour-long oration upon Lincoln, the man he had long pondered, sometimes praised, often condemned. Douglass first lulled his listeners with a noble setting of the scene, reminding them that this would not have been possible under "The spirit of slavery and barbarism, which still lingers to blight and destroy . . . " He employed his considerable skills as a powerful public speaker to relax the crowd with a sense that Union tri-umphalism would be praised this day, but then came words that his esteemed audience did not expect.
"It must be admitted, truth compels me to admit, even here in the presence of the monument we have erected to his memory, that Abraham Lincoln was not, in the fullest sense of the word, either our man or our model. In his interests, in his associations, in his habits of thought and in his prejudices, he was a white man." Douglass was now entering uncharted social territory, with the wounds of war so fresh, with the nation's acute need to transform Lincoln into a figure nearly Christ-like in humble saintliness—for had not the president been killed on a Good Friday?
Douglass went on: "He was preeminently the white man's President, entirely devoted to the welfare of white men. He was ready and willing at any time during the first years of his administration to deny, postpone and sacrifice the rights of humanity in the colored people in order to promote the welfare of the white people of this country. In all his education and feeling he was an American of the Americas."
He then stated what was obvious but seldom said about the execution of the Civil War. "The race to which we belong were not the special objects of his affection . . . First, midst, and last, you and yours were the objects of his deepest affection and his most earnest solicitude. You were the children of Abraham Lincoln. We are at best only his step-children; children by adoption, children by force of circumstances and necessity." When it came to the enslaved, Douglass reminded the crowd that Lincoln had been ready to recapture those escaping and put down those rebelling. Lincoln had told them they should leave the country, then discouraged their military service. Douglass told his listeners, "Our faith in him was often taxed and strained to the uttermost, but it never failed."
Douglass was taking the chance to speak his truth, and he dared those in attendance to hear things they did not want to consider. Reconstruction was failing precisely because they would not. Douglass began to talk about the vast historical forces that the president had transformed through his grim determination to save the Union. Lincoln had eventually enrolled near two hundred thousand of them in the armed services and played the essential role in outlawing slavery in the capital and then in every inch of the country. Douglass recounted, "His great mission was to accomplish two things; first, to save his country from dismemberment and ruin, and second, to free his country from the great crime of slavery."
The first was true, but the second was more a reflection of Douglass's initial mission, one that was taken up over time by Lincoln. In the most incisive estimation of Lincoln that Douglass was ever to make, the speaker reminded his audience that at the time of the beginning of the war, abolitionists (including Douglass) had seen him as "tardy, cold, dull, and indifferent," but when Douglass measured him against the rest of the country at the time, Lincoln was "swift, zealous, radical, and determined." Douglass now fully understood what Lincoln had gone through, balancing public opinion and justice.
In the end, Douglass's people had come to love this president, and for a simple reason: "We came to the conclusion that the hour and the man of our redemption had somehow met in the person of Abraham Lincoln."13
This vital address was skilled and subtle in what it conveyed. Douglass, in emphasizing Lincoln's racist attitudes, actions, and propensities, did not do so in a tone of accusation, blame, or even regret. In the end, Douglass wanted the crowd to know that Lincoln was, in fact, not different from them; even in his evident greatness, he was one of them, sharing the limited views and blindness born of the nation's burden of race—and yet he had done marvelous acts to move this country forward and to give justice to African-Americans. They could do the same.
Everyone in the crowd knew that Lincoln had invited Douglass to the White House to speak with him. He had not given Douglass all he wanted, or all his people deserved, but he had listened. He even did Douglass the courtesy to disagree, to gently argue, to treat him simply as a man. Douglass told white America that their instinctual prejudices were forgivable if their actions reflected an openness to listen and to grow, as Lincoln had. W. E. B. Du Bois took the same meaning from Lincoln's life that this speech reflects: "I love him not because he was perfect, but because he was not and yet triumphed . . . The world is full of folk whose taste was educated in the gutter. The world is full of people born hating and despising their fellows. To these I love to say: See this man. He was one of you and yet became Abraham Lincoln."14
In the meetings of black activists and our presidents, there has more often than not been an edge of conflict and distrust. Theodore Roosevelt invited Booker T. Washington to dinner in the first month of his presidency, though he argued, "As a race and in the mass they are altogether inferior to the whites."15When Woodrow Wilson met with William Monroe Trotter in the White House, they fell into a heated forty-five-minute argument in which the Virginian informed the civil rights leader, "Your tone, sir, offends me."16 John F. Kennedy, who refused to appear in person at the famed March on Washington, met with Martin Luther King Jr. and other black leaders at the White House later in the day, after the speeches at the Lincoln Memorial. He had been reluctant to make a national observance of the anniversary of the emancipation, which may be one reason why King made a special point to use Lincoln's proclamation as a theme in his great speech that day. As usual with Kennedy, he was polite but cool to King; within a week, his brother, Attorney General Robert F. Kennedy, would approve the FBI's secret tapings of the civil rights leader. Yet, this kind of pained dynamic, despite all the hard and harsh words Douglass had poured on Lincoln, had been singularly absent when Douglass decided he should confront the president face-to-face about "complaints of my people."
Across our long racial chasm, Lincoln and Douglass courageously talked. Douglass's Civil War mission was predicated on white and black realizing that they needed each other. Lincoln could not win the Civil War without utilizing the whole country, which meant calling on the bravery of black people, but these men could not fight without Lincoln's approval and his actions curbing discrimination against them. Lincoln and Douglass offered an example that a rebuilding nation could heed.
Indeed, no matter what shortcomings Lincoln possessed as a reformer, Douglass felt that thankfulness toward the president was well earned: he had been "the first American President who . . . rose above the prejudice of his times." Lincoln had shared in much of this prejudice, but had not, in the end, been paralyzed by it. He had entered the war not intending to free the slaves, but he had not stepped away from the challenge or the opportunity when the tide of war demanded it. And he had done so with wisdom and sure political skill. A lesser man in Lincoln's position could never have accomplished the imposing and unlikely task of freeing the slaves in the midst of four years of total war. Certainly, a less skilled and astute politician might have been swamped by the conflicting painful demands of that war, and a headstrong radical would never have survived those whipsaw currents.
He never intended to end slavery—this was something Lincoln stated plainly many times. Still, Lincoln's innate distaste for slavery created an equally clear reality: He never regretted for a moment ending slavery, or having become by circumstance an active agent in its demise. Lincoln never saw any conflict in having been thrust by history into ending an institution he abhorred, even as he was frank in admitting that he had never harbored any intention to be that agent of world-historic change.
A hundred years on, Martin Luther King Jr. stood before Washington's immense memorial to Lincoln and directly referred to the Emancipation Proclamation as a "bad check," a promissory note still not delivered upon.17What remains for us is a pervasive racial divide so great that black and white still hesitate to become friends, to live alongside one another, and to educate their children together. The nation's laws have changed, but the heart's willingness to live out a reasonable common life has not shifted much.
We are still enslaved by distrust. The three meetings of Lincoln and Douglass were, admittedly, small moments in the centuries-old unfolding of the trial of race in America. Their relationship, in its complexity and honesty, still offers an example of engagement, argument, and honesty. There is no need to sentimentalize the relationship, to claim they were friends, or to falsely claim that Douglass somehow made Lincoln into "the Great Emancipator."
They met not as friends but as men able to talk. This relationship, exactly in its twists and even its frustrations, ought not be left behind, but remembered, instructive for a divided America today. The greatness of Lincoln is that he did, through patience, skill, and unwavering firmness, accomplish his mission—to save our country from fragmenting. Disunion not only would have left behind in that resulting chaos a legacy of racial brutality, it would have made our nation's experiment in democracy an irrelevance in the world. He saved the nation, and freed nearly four million people as a necessary condition in doing so. In saving the Union, Lincoln preserved the soul of democracy.
Near the end of his life, Douglass said "my special mission in the world . . . was the emancipation and enfranchisement of the Negro. Mine was a great cause."18Douglass's greatness lies in accomplishing two of his three great missions—the end of slavery and the arming of his people in the fight for their own emancipation. An even more impressive greatness may be seen in his third mission, which he did not achieve in his lifetime but worked and yearned for—full citizenship and simple equality. He hands on to us, for however long it takes, this last mission. The Civil War, in fact, will not be over until it is accomplished. During the centennial of the Civil War, John F. Kennedy said that the agitator was part of the legend of America. He wrote: "As a successful fighter for freedom a century ago, he [Douglass] can give inspiration to people all around the world who are still struggling to secure their full human rights. That struggle must go on until those rights are everywhere secured. By advancing that cause through law, democratic methods and peaceful action, we in America can give an example of the freedom which Frederick Douglass symbolizes."19
Douglass's mission still has not been fully realized. In an 1862 speech, Douglass told the country that Americans cannot escape from each other, as much as we might try. We only damage each other when we succumb to the seduction of believing our destinies are not intertwined, inextricably. We have to acknowledge and engage each other to create equality. It was through excruciating sacrifice that we must learn "lessons of wisdom, power, and goodness," because "Over the bleeding back of the American bondman we shall learn mercy." Douglass summarized his country's situation: "My friends, the destiny of the colored American, however this mighty war shall terminate, is the destiny of America."20
Appendix: Aftermath—The Douglass Family
In the optimism at the close of the Civil War and the frustration in years afterward, the Douglass family reflected much of what black America would experience. The war itself was an anxious and dangerous time for them, with two sons laying their lives on the line, but it could also be seen as their most triumphant years, or at least ones they emerged from with hard-won grounds for optimism. Their father had helped achieve a goal once deemed impossible, the boys had done their duty bravely, and they and Rosetta were starting new families.
Times would not always remain this encouraging. Rosetta's choice of a husband would set the stage for so much of her misfortune. Nathan Sprague failed at every pursuit he tried, putting them into such deep debt in Rochester that they were forced to sell beloved belongings. She watched as her piano was dragged away in the pouring rain. With options exhausted in Rochester, they followed Douglass to Washington. One afternoon when Douglass went to Salmon Chase's daughter's house to play croquet, he found his son-in-law working as their stableman. To make matters worse, Nathan would later cheat Kate Chase on a horse. Tragedy would overshadow embarrassment when the Douglass family lost their second Annie to illness, this time Rosetta's dearly loved daughter at age twenty-eight. And it was not until 2003 that a volunteer archivist in Rochester, Jean Czerkas, discovered Rosetta's own long-obscured grave.1
As for his sons, Douglass biographers have unduly emphasized their lack of achievement; this may be rooted in unfair comparisons to a truly exceptional man who happened to be their father. Douglass had made incredible advances in society, but few around him could achieve similar triumphs. Lewis, Charles, and Frederick Jr. were attempting to compete in an era when the United States, North and South, was building new and more subtle racial barriers. For instance, Lewis spent time in Rochester trying repeatedly to join the Typographical Union so he could find work in the printing industry but was rejected because of his skin color. Douglass had employed countless young white men to help him print his newspaper but watched a depressed son return home day after day when he was turned away from jobs. Though Lewis, Charles, and Frederick Jr. never received college degrees and often relied financially on their father as they shifted from various pursuits in the years following the war, they all eventually found respectable positions, primarily government related, to sustain them and their families through the rest of their days.
The American social upheaval at the close of the war prompted Lewis to explore the Talbot County region where in childhood his father had been in bondage. Lewis met relatives he might have grown up knowing had slavery not severed these contacts. Though separated by education and life experiences, Lewis was trying to reconstruct a family.
When Douglass's sister Eliza saw Lewis, she recognized him as her nephew immediately. She introduced him around town and to the black community of St. Michaels, and they treated him like royalty. He heard stories of his father's youth, scars he earned, remarkably daring feats that were still legendary in these parts. His letters to Douglass were filled with names of people who wanted to convey their regards to a long-lost friend.
Frederick Bailey had attempted to teach people to read the Bible here, but had nearly been killed by angry white residents who broke up the school. Thirty years later, Lewis revived his father's work in the St. Michaels neighborhood. Some of the men that Douglass had tried to teach, now in their fifties, showed up, hoping to finally learn how to read. Thirty young offspring of the generation Douglass had known learned to read from Lewis.2
The Eastern Shore was a microcosm of what was happening around the nation—the human reconnections that were possible but also, sadly, what could go wrong. It remained dangerous territory; as Lewis learned, "The white people will do any thing they can to keep the blacks from buying land." Many of the men earned their money through harvesting oysters, and those who had enough saved to purchase land were thwarted.
Douglass knew quickly what was beginning all over the nation. By December of 1865, Douglass was already feeling that the war had ended too soon—too much of the Confederate spirit had persisted, and was threatening black people in the South.3Rosine Draz wrote to him in August, "I understand you when you say you cannot yet rejoice and I clearly see with you that until the colored people get the franchise they cannot be said to be free." Douglass told another friend, "The negro needs justice more than pity." This meant his quest went on; as he expressed it, "My mission, for the present is, to ask for equal citizenship for the negro—in the State: and equal admission into the state schools. Of course till we get this, we shall be a crippled people."4
Emancipation Proclamation by F. G. Renesch, Chicago, 1919
Though Frederick Douglass may have never again captured the rhetorical power of the abolitionist era in his life, he would recover his voice as a much-needed advocate of civil rights. He ended his days as an agitator with speeches on black lynching as strong and stirring as any he had ever given, as if recapturing his old verve and profound anger at his country's wayward ways.
Still, at the end of his long and eventful life, he admitted to friends that to the world he was still nothing more than a witness to servitude: "It is too late now to do much to improve my relation to the public. I shall never get beyond Frederick Douglass the self-educated fugitive slave."5 Long before W. E. B. Du Bois's searing self-assessment that to live as a black man in America was to exist as a "double soul," as "two souls, two thoughts, two unreconciled strivings; warring ideals in one dark body, whose dogged strength alone keeps it from being torn asunder,"6Douglass lived this persona to the hilt—half white and half black, half freed man and half trapped in a representative symbol of the iniquity of slavery, half devoted family man and half free agent in his sexual relationships, half an American and half a man attracted to the ideal of a Pan-Atlantic black world transcending national borders and boundaries.
Douglass would serve as U.S. marshal and later Recorder of Deeds for the District of Columbia, and Minister Resident and Consul General to Haiti. He was president of the Freedman's Savings and Trust Company, though it was in fatal trouble when he inherited it and he could do nothing to save it. The final years of his life were spent in a beautiful Anacostia home where he could look over the capital. In Douglass's voluminous writings, his marriage to Anna is a cipher and his role as father to his five children is largely passed over with the exception of his sons' service in the war. As could be expected, his close relationships with white women supporters and admirers over forty years is hidden away. Never abandoning Anna in forty-four years of marriage, despite extreme emotional distance and tension as well as extended periods of separation, Douglass offered her continued respect and an odd kind of devotion, contentiously caring for her, their bedrooms across the hall from one another. When Anna died in 1882, Douglass's friend of thirty years, Ottilie Assing, thought they would finally be together. Instead, he married another white woman two years later, his dedicated, loyal, and younger secretary Helen Pitts, with whom he would travel the world. Assing later took her own life. The family schisms that his bold freedom created only became clear after his marriage to Helen, when his children rose up in what appears to have been long-repressed resentments.
Douglass would die five years before the twentieth century began.
In researching this book, we embarked on a trip to several important Lincoln museums and libraries that culminated in poring over the voluminous Frederick Douglass Papers Project in Indianapolis, Indiana. At every step of our pilgrimage, one truth presented itself: The figure of Frederick Douglass is growing increasingly linked in popular culture with that of Lincoln. At our first stop, Fort Wayne's Abraham Lincoln Museum, the story of Douglass as a young slave introduces the section on slavery, and later in the exhibition a wax figure of the adult Douglass stiffly stands next to Lincoln in the slide-show theater, spotlit out of darkness, to illuminate the Emancipation Proclamation.
Dramatic presentations were heightened in the newly opened Abraham Lincoln Presidential Museum and Library in Springfield, Illinois, which is an innovative, high-tech rendering of the Lincoln story. Wax figures at the entrance include Lincoln, John Wilkes Booth, Generals McClellan and Grant drinking tea, and Sojourner Truth and Frederick Douglass (partnered although the two did not much like one another). In publicity photos marking the day of the museum's opening, Douglass looms over the president's shoulder. Douglass also appears in the Emancipation Proclamation section as part of a large cacophonic throng of holographic heads giving advice to the president, and in the next room a projected shadow figure of Douglass further lectures a distressed Lincoln.
It felt as though we were part of Steve Almond's recent short story "Lincoln, Arisen" (found in his The Evil B. B. Chow and Other Stories, Chapel Hill: Algonquin Books, 2005), in which the black abolitionist becomes increasingly part of a troubled Lincoln's dreams. From fairly historically accurate depictions of their meetings, Almond presents the president's night visions growing increasingly disturbed to the point when, like Huck and Jim, Abe and Fred Douglass are floating on a flatboat on the great river to New Orleans, free of all constraints:
"You will understand," Lincoln says. "You are the one man among all of them who must, by needs, understand." He stares at Douglass and Douglass stares back. Each man can hear the other's breath. They are so close they might embrace. Instead, Lincoln takes up his long pole and pushes off from the bank. Douglass stands on the shore, watching, until the figure is but a gangly figment, dead to duty, dead to memoranda, dead to the human struggle and to the wickedness of blood . . .
Douglass researcher Mark Emerson gave us his time and knowledge at the Frederick Douglass Papers Project at Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis (IUPUI). We thank him for that invaluable contribution to our book. The continued publication of the Collected Writings of Frederick Douglass, an epic historical editing saga begun at Yale and continuing today at IUPUI under the leadership of John R. McKivigan, will serve to make the voice of this great figure more central to our self-understanding as a nation as the years go by. This monumental publishing effort is increasing awareness of the significance of the relationship of Frederick Douglass and Abraham Lincoln, itself a remarkable shift in how we view the twisting and tormented saga of race in American life. Previous generations gave little importance to Douglass's role in the Civil War, much less his ongoing battle with Lincoln over the mission of the war, and this book is our addition to the work of previous historians who were part of and contributed to that great shift. Douglass and Lincoln, while telling a story long obscured, draws on the groundbreaking work of historians such as David Blight, James McPherson, Eric Foner, Benjamin Quarles, Maria Diedrich, and, most especially, Philip Foner.
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